Notice of meeting and agenda
Pensions Audit Sub-Committee
2:00pm, Tuesday 25 September 2018
Dunedin Room, City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh
This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to attend

Contact:
Rachel Gentleman, Committee Services
Tel:
0131 529 4107
Email:
rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk

1.

Order of business

1.1

Including any notices of motion and any other items of business submitted as
urgent for consideration at the meeting.

2.

Declaration of interests

2.1

Members of the Committee and members of the Pensions Board should declare
any financial and non-financial interests they have in the items of business for
consideration, identifying the relevant agenda item and the nature of their
interest.

3.

Deputations

3.1

If any

4.

Minute

4.1

Minute of the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee of 26 June 2018 (circulated) submitted for approval as a correct record

5.

Reports

5.1

Agenda Planning – report by the Executive Director of Resources (circulated)

5.2

Audited Annual Report 2018 of the Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses
Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund, including Annual Report by
External Auditor – report by the Executive Director of Resources (circulated)

5.3

LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited Annual report – report by the Executive Director
of Resources (circulated)

5.4

Pensions Administration Data Quality – report by the Executive Director of
Resources (circulated)

5.5

Irrecoverable Overpayment of Pensions – Decisions made under Delegated
Authority – report by the Executive Director of Resources (circulated)

5.6

Fraud Prevention – report by the Executive Director of Resources (circulated)

5.7

Risk Management Summary – report by the Executive Director of Resources
(circulated)
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6.

Motions

6.1

If any

Laurence Rockey
Head of Strategy and Insight

Committee Members
Councillors Rose (Convener) and Child; John Anzani.

Information about the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee
The Pensions Audit Sub-Committee consists of 3 members of the Pensions Committee
of which a minimum of two are City of Edinburgh Councillors and its membership is
appointed by the Pensions Committee.
The Pensions Audit Sub-Committee usually meets in the City Chambers on the High
Street in Edinburgh. The meeting is open to all members of the public.

Further information
If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact
Rachel Gentleman, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre
2:1, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, Tel 0131 529 4107
email rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk .
A copy of the agenda and papers for this meeting will be available for inspection prior
to the meeting at the main reception office, City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh.
The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council
committees can be viewed online by going to www.edinburgh.gov.uk/meetings .
For remaining item of business, likely to be considered in private, see separate
agenda.
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Minutes

Item 4.1

Pensions Audit Sub-Committee of the Pensions
Committee
2.00pm, Tuesday 26 June 2018
Present:
Councillors Rose (Convener) and Child.
Pensions Board Member:
Alan Williamson

1.

Minutes

Decision
To approve the minute of the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee of the Pensions
Committee of 26 March 2018 as a correct record.

2.

Agenda Planning

An overview of potential reports for future Pensions Committee and Pensions Audit
Sub-Committee meetings for September and December 2018 was presented.
Decision
1)

To note the agenda planning document.

2)

To note that the Pension Board were invited to comment on agenda items during
Committee meetings.

(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted.)

3.

Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and
Scottish Homes Pension Fund Annual Report 2016 (and
Financial Statements) Unaudited

The unaudited Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 for the Lothian Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund and the Scottish
Homes Pension Fund were submitted.
Decision
To note the unaudited Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 for the Lothian Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund and the
Scottish Homes Pension Fund.
(References – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted)

4.

Regulatory Update – General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR) and Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
Regulations

An update was provided on the Lothian Pension Fund‘s (LPF) General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) and wider information governance project. Detailed information
was also provided highlighting what LPF had been doing to ensure best practice in this
area, compliant with GDPR and other applicable data protection law and regulation in
force from time to time.
A high-level update was also provided on the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) regulations which came into effect on 1 June 2018.
Decision
1)

To note the update on the Fund’s preparedness for GDPR; and

2)

To note the update on the new LGPS regulations which came into force on 1
June 2018.

(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted)

5.

Lothian Pension Fund Internal Audit Update – Pensions Tax
Review

The Committee, under Section 50(A)(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973,
excluded the public from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds
that it involved the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 6 and 9
of Schedule 7(A) of the Act.
An update was provided on the final outcomes of the Pensions Tax review which was
included in the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF) 2017/18 Internal Audit annual plan.
Decision
1)

To note the outcomes of the review and the management response to the
internal audit findings.

2)

To note that the risk and controls would be reviewed by the Audit SubCommittee as part of the annual review of the risk register.

(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted)

6.

Risk Management Summary

The Committee, under Section 50(A)(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973,
excluded the public from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds
that it involved the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 6 and 9
of Schedule 7(A) of the Act.
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In line with the pension funds’ ongoing risk management procedures, an overview was
provided of the Fund’s risk analysis.
Decision
Detailed in the confidential schedule, signed by the Convener, with reference to this
minute.
(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Resources, submitted)
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Pensions Audit Sub Committee

2.00pm, Tuesday, 25 September 2018

Agenda Planning

Item number

5.1

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
This document provides Committee with an overview of the proposed agendas for future
meetings of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Audit Sub Committee. It also
provides a more general overview of the current cycle of papers for the Committees.
There will, of course, be specific matters and papers which need to be brought to the
attention of the Pensions Committee and the Pensions Audit Sub Committee in addition to
those set out herein.

Report
Agenda Planning
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Note the agenda planning document; and

1.2

Note that the Pension Board are invited to comment on agenda items during
Committee meetings.

2.

Background

2.1

In order for the Committee and Pension Board to gain an overview of the content of
future meetings, it was agreed that an agenda planning document be submitted
each quarter.

3.

Main report

3.1

Based on the Committee cycle and the current position, the proposed agendas for
the next two meetings are set out below.

December 2018
Pensions Committee

Audit Sub Committee

•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Referrals / recommendations from
Pensions Audit-Sub Committee
Benchmarking
Governance Update – revised Pension
Board Constitution
Pensions Administration Strategy
Lothian Pension Fund Strategy Review
Statement of Investment Principles
Stewardship and Engagement
Service Plan Update
Risk management summary

Pensions Audit Sub Committee – 25 September 2018

•
•
•

Internal Audit Reports (if available)
EU Tax Claims & Income Recovery
Investment Income Review-CrossBorder withholding tax
Investment Controls & Compliance
Global Custody Services Performance
Risk Management in-depth review
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March 2019
Pensions Committee
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Referrals / recommendations from Pensions Audit-Sub Committee
Audit plans and reports (internal and external) *
Policies and Strategies Update
Governance Update
Employers Participating in Lothian Pension Fund
Service Plan Update and Budget for 2019/20
Risk management summary

*Draft audits and plan will be developed in consultation with the Convenor of the Audit Sub Committee and
the Independent Professional Observer.

Future Pensions Committee and Audit Sub Committee dates:
Pensions Committee

Pensions Audit Sub Committee

•

Wednesday, 12 December 2018, 2pm,
Dunedin Room, City Chambers

•

Tuesday, 11 December 2018, 2pm,
Dunedin Room, City Chambers

•

Wednesday, 27 March 2019, 2pm,
Dunedin Room, City Chambers

•

Tuesday, 25 June 2019, 2pm,
Dunedin Room, City Chambers

•

Wednesday, 26 June 2019, 2pm,
Dunedin Room, City Chambers

4.

Measures of success

4.1

The Committee and Pension Board have greater clarity regarding the content of the
Committee cycle.

5.

Financial impact

5.1

None.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

There is no direct impact as a result of this report. The forward planning of the
Committees’ agendas should facilitate improved risk management and governance
for the pension funds.

7.

Equalities impact

7.1

There are no equalities implications as a result of this report.
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8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

There are no adverse sustainability impacts arising from this report.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Fund and they are invited to comment on the relevant
matters at Committee meetings.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 None

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: Struan Fairbairn, Chief Risk Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: struan.fairbairn@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4689

11.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Scheme of Committee Papers
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Appendix 1

Frequency

Pensions Committee

Audit Sub Committee

Month

Audit plans and reports (internal and external)

N/A - Draft audits and plan will be developed in consultation
with the Convenor of the Audit Sub Committee.

March

Policies and Strategies Update (including revised Pension
Administration Strategy biennial from March 2016)
Service Plan (every 2 years)
Budget
Governance Update (including Pension Audit SubCommittee appointments)
LPF Annual Report & Accounts Unaudited

Annually

N/A

March

N/A
N/A

March
March

N/A
LPF Annual Report & Accounts Unaudited

March
June

Statement of Investment Principles
Investment Strategy Panel Activity
Annual Investment Updates - Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian
Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund

N/A
N/A

June
June

N/A

June

LPFE limited and LPFI limited Annual Report
Annual Report & Accounts Audited of the Lothian Pension
Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes
Pension Fund, including the Annual Report by External
Auditor.
N/A

LPFE limited and LPFI limited Annual Report
Annual Report & Accounts Audited of the Lothian Pension
Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes
Pension Fund, including the Annual Report by External
Auditor.
Pensions Data Quality
Irrecoverable overpayment of pensions – decisions made
under delegated authority
Fraud Prevention
Annual Report by External Auditor

September

N/A
N/A
Annual Report by External Auditor

Benchmarking
N/A
N/A
Stewardship and Engagement
N/A
N/A

N/A
EU Tax Claims & Income Recovery
Investment Income Review-Cross-Border withholding tax
N/A
Investment Controls & Compliance
Global Custody Services Performance
Risk Management In-depth review

September
September
September
September
December (or
September if
available)
December
December
December
December
December
December
December

Frequency
Semi
Annually
3 Times per
year
Quarterly
Every 3
years

As
required

Pensions Committee

Audit Sub Committee

Month

Employers Participating in Lothian Pension Fund

N/A

March & September

Service Plan Update

N/A

March, September
& December

Referrals / recommendations from Pensions Audit-Sub

N/A

June, September &
December

Risk management summary

Risk management summary

Actuarial Valuation: LPF/LBPF/SHPF
Funding Strategy Statement
Delegated authorities (provider appointments)
Discretions (death grants etc.)
N/A
Regulatory Update
Investment Strategy Reviews (at least every 3 years)
N/A

March, June,
September and
December
December or March

N/A
N/A
Internal Audit Reports
N/A
N/A
Risk management (in depth review)
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Audited Annual Report 2018 of the Lothian Pension
Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish
Homes Pension Fund, including Annual Report by
External Auditor
Item number

5.2

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
The unaudited Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 for the Lothian Pension
Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund has now been
considered by the external auditor, Scott-Moncrieff.
International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 requires the external auditor to communicate
their findings to those charged with governance of the Funds. Accordingly, the ScottMoncrieff “Lothian Pension Funds 2017/18 Annual Audit Report to Members and the
Controller of Audit” is included at Appendix 1.
The review of the unaudited financial statements concluded that no numerical adjustments
were required. Some presentational changes have been reflected in the full revised report at
Appendix 2 – “Audited Annual Report 2018 for the Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses
Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund”
Scott-Moncrieff has provided “an unqualified opinion on the financial statements and other
prescribed matters for Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish
Homes Pension Fund within our independent auditor’s report” and has also stated “that
there were no matters which we were required to report by exception”.

Report
Audited Annual Report 2018 of the Lothian Pension
Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes
Pension Fund, including Annual Report by External
Auditor
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Invite the Pension Board to raise any relevant matters or concerns which the
Committee should consider;

1.2

Note the report by Scott-Moncrieff “Lothian Pension Funds 2017/18 Annual Audit
Report to Members and the Controller of Audit” (at Appendix 1);

1.3

Note the audited Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 for the Lothian
Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund and the Scottish Homes Pension
Fund (at Appendix 2);

1.4

Note that the audited financial statements, for the year ended 31 March 2018, of
both the wholly-owned companies, LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited, were approved
by the respective Board of Directors in May 2018. These statements are shown in
full at Appendices 3 and 4; and

1.5

Highlight any points that it would like to raise at the Pensions Committee on 26
September 2018.

2.

Background
ISA 260 annual report by External Auditor

2.1

Under statutory accounting guidance issued by the Scottish Government,
Administering Authorities are required to issue a separate Annual Report covering
the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds that they are responsible for.
These Annual Reports are subject to a separate external audit.

2.2

International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 260 (ISA 260) requires the
External Auditor to communicate his findings to those charged with governance of
the Funds. This summarises any matters arising from the audit of the financial
statements prior to the formal signing of the independent auditor’s report.

2.3

As part of the standard, the External Auditor is required to provide its view of the
following:
•

Any significant qualitative aspects within the Funds’ accounting practice;
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•
•
•
•
•

Any significant difficulties encountered during the audit;
Any material weakness in the design, implementation or operating
effectiveness of the system of internal control;
Any significant matters arising from the audit discussed with management;
Any representations that have been requested from management; and
Any other matter that is significant.

2.4

City of Edinburgh Council noted the Unaudited Annual Report 2018 for the Lothian
Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund at
its meeting on 28 June 2018.

3.

Main report
Scott-Moncrieff - Lothian Pension Funds 2017/18 Annual Audit report to
Members and the Controller of Audit

3.1

The report by the external auditor on the financial statements is included at
Appendix 1 – “Scott-Moncrieff - Lothian Pension Funds 2017/18 Annual Audit
Report to Members and the Controller of Audit.

3.2

Scott-Moncrieff has stated that its “work has been performed in accordance with the
Audit Scotland Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) and Ethical Standards”.

3.3

This report will be presented to Committee by Nick Bennett, Partner, and Claire
Gardiner, Manager, Public Sector Audit, Scott-Moncrieff.

3.4

Scott-Moncrieff has provided “an unqualified opinion on the financial statements
and other prescribed matters for Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension
Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund within our independent auditor’s report”
and has also stated “that there were no matters which we were required to report
by exception”.

3.5

Appendix 1 (“Appendix 1: Management action plan”, Pages 33 to 39 of that report)
“details the control weaknesses and opportunities for improvement that we (ScottMoncrieff) have identified during our audit”. Planned management actions by
Lothian Pension Fund staff in relation to the points raised by the external auditor
are also stated.

3.6

In addition to members of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Audit SubCommittee, Scott-Moncrieff has also sent the report to the Controller of Audit and
has advised that it will be published on the Audit Scotland web-site in due course.
Audited Annual Report 2018 for Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses
Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund

3.7

With the completion of the work by Scott-Moncrieff, the Audited Annual Report
2018 for the Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish
Homes Pension Fund has been finalised and is included at Appendix 2.
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3.8

No numerical adjustments were required to be made to the unaudited financial
statements following the Fund’s audit. Some presentational changes have been
incorporated.

3.9

As part of the completion of the audit, the auditor seeks written assurances from the
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund, on aspects of the financial statements
and judgements and estimates made. A draft letter of representation under ISA580
is attached at Appendix 5.
Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2018; LPFE
Limited and LPFI Limited

3.10

The consolidated financial statements (within the Annual Report 2018) combine
those of the Fund (the parent entity) and its controlled entities (the investment
staffing company, LPFE Limited, and the investment services company, LPFI
Limited), as defined in International Accounting Standard (IAS) 27. As reported to
Pensions Committee in June 2018, the financial statements of both companies
have been audited by Scott-Moncrieff and were approved by the respective Boards
of Directors on 28 May 2018. In the interests of governance transparency, these
statements are shown in full at Appendices 3 and 4.

3.11

LPFE Limited is the employment vehicle for the Fund’s staff. It provides staffing
services to the City of Edinburgh Council, LPFI Limited and to Falkirk Council. The
company’s financial objective is “to make a modest trading surplus before
adjustments required under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)”.
Such adjustments primarily relate to pension costs, as required by International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 19, and the related deferred tax. For the year ended 31
March 2018, the underlying trading profit of the company was £41,052 (2017:
£30,739).

3.12

LPFI Limited provides Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regulated investment
services, both to Lothian Pension Fund and other pension funds, but does not
employ any staff directly. Its financial objective is “to make a modest trading
surplus”. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the underlying trading profit of the
company was £34,619 (2017: £432).

3.13

A separate report on the two companies on this agenda provides a more detailed
progress update.

4.

Measures of success

4.1

The prime objective of the Council, as administering authority of the Lothian
Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund, is
to ensure an unqualified audit opinion of the Annual Report 2018. This has been
achieved.

4.2

Planned management actions in relation to the points raised by the external auditor,
Scott-Moncrieff, are stated at Appendix 1 (“Appendix 1: Management action plan”,
Pages 33 to 39 of that report).
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5.

Financial impact

5.1

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and also in
compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Scotland Act 1973.

6.2

The annual report summarises the opinions and conclusions of Scott-Moncrieff, in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) and the
principles contained in the revised Code of Practice issued by Audit Scotland in
May 2016. The Scott-Moncrieff report sets out the significant audit risks identified
at the planning stage and how the auditor addressed each risk in arriving at his
opinion on the financial statements. Appendix I (of that report) is the “Management
action plan” “detailing the control weaknesses and opportunities for improvement”
which were identified by the External Auditor during the audit. Officers have
considered the issues and responded in the column headed “Management
Comments”.

7.

Equalities impact

7.1

There are no adverse equalities impacts arising from this report

8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

There are no adverse sustainability impacts arising from this report.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Funds.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 None

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
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Contact: John Burns, Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: john.burns@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3711

11.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Scott-Moncrieff - Lothian Pension Funds 2017/18 Annual Audit Report to
Members and the Controller of Audit, in accordance with International Standard on
Auditing (UK and Ireland) 260 (ISA 260);
Appendix 2 - Audited Annual Report 2018 for the Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses
Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund;
Appendix 3 - LPFE Limited – Financial Statements (Audited) for the year ended 31 March
2018;
Appendix 4 – LPFI Limited – Financial Statements (Audited) for the year ended 31 March
2018;
Appendix 5 – Letter of Representation (ISA 580) by Chief Finance Officer, Lothian
Pension Fund
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Appendix 1

Lothian Pension Funds
2017/18 Annual Audit Report to Members and
the Controller of Audit

August 2018

Contents
Key messages........................................................................................................... 1
Introduction............................................................................................................... 3
Annual report and financial statements ................................................................. 6
Financial management ........................................................................................... 17
Financial Sustainability .......................................................................................... 22
Governance & transparency .................................................................................. 26
Value for money...................................................................................................... 29
Appendix 1: Management action plan .................................................................. 33
Appendix 2: Respective responsibilities of the Pensions Committee and the
Auditor ..................................................................................................................... 40

Key messages
Annual report and financial statements
Lothian Pension Funds will approve the annual report and financial statements for 2017/18 on 26
September 2018. We intend to report unqualified opinions on the financial statements and other
prescribed matters for Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes
Pension Fund (collectively referred to as the “Funds”) within our independent auditor’s report. We also
intend to report that there were no matters which we were required to report by exception.
The annual report and financial statements and supporting schedules were of a high standard. Our
thanks go to staff for their assistance with our work.

Wider Scope
Financial sustainability
The Funds have effective arrangements in place to
ensure the ongoing sustainability of the pension
funds.
The Funding Strategy Statement has been updated to
ensure investment assets are sufficient to meet the
full cost of past service benefits.
There is an ongoing risk that the pension scheme
is not affordable for admitted bodies
and as part of the triennial valuation
Lothian Pension Fund required all
bodies to conduct an affordability
assessment.

Financial management
The Funds have effective arrangements in place for
financial management and the use of resources
Lothian Pension Fund’s investment performance
decreased in 2017/18 and was below the short term
benchmark and national average. Medium and long
term performance, however, remained above
benchmark levels.

Governance & transparency

Value for money

Governance arrangements at the
Funds are deemed to be appropriate.

The Funds’ investment
performance is subject to regular
review by the Pension Committee.

Our assessment has been informed by a
review of the corporate governance arrangements
in place, the information provided to the Board and
Committees as well as the risk management
arrangements in place.

Scott-Moncrieff

The Funds have appropriate arrangements in
place to monitor performance of investments and
the administration of the Funds.
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Key facts
•

The net investment assets of Lothian Pension Fund increased by 1% to £6,628 million (2016/17: £6,568
million).

•

Return on investments in 2017/18 was 1.4%, which was behind the benchmark of 3.6%, however, the
performance over the five and ten year period to 31 March 2018 exceeded the benchmark by an average
of 1.1%.

•

Lothian Pension Fund reported a net withdrawal position for the second consecutive year with the
withdrawal position increasing by 86% to £17,035 million .

•

Membership of Lothian Pension Fund continued to grow to 78,856 members, an increase of 3.8%.

Conclusion
This report concludes our audit for 2017/18. Our
work has been performed in accordance with the
Audit Scotland Code of Audit Practice, International
Standards on Auditing (UK) and Ethical Standards.

Scott-Moncrieff
August 2018

1
Introduction
This report is presented to those charged with governance and the
Controller of Audit and concludes our audit of the Lothian Pension Funds
for 2017/18.
We carry out our audit in accordance with Audit Scotland’s Code of Audit
Practice (May 2016). This report also fulfils the requirements of International
Standards on Auditing (UK) 260: Communication with those charged with
governance.
At the Lothian Pension Funds, the Pensions Committee has been
designated as “those charged with governance”.

2

Introduction
1.

2.

Audit Scotland appointed Scott-Moncrieff as
auditor to the Funds for the five year period
from 2016-17 to 2020-21.

We use this report to summarise our:

The scope of the audit was set out in our
External Audit Annual Plan, which was
presented to the Pensions Committee on 26
March 2018. The audit was planned in
accordance with the revised Code of Audit
Practice issued by Audit Scotland in May 2016.

•

opinion on significant issues arising from
our external audit for the year ended 31
March 2018; and

•

consideration of the wider dimensions of
public audit work, as set out in Exhibit 1,
below.

Exhibit 1: Audit Dimensions within the Code of Audit Practice

Financial
sustainability

Financial
management

Best Value
Governance and
transparency

Value for money

Source: Code of Audit Practice, May 2016

3.

4.

The Funds are responsible for preparing annual
report and accounts that show a true and fair
view and for implementing appropriate internal
control systems. The weaknesses or risks
identified are only those that have come to our
attention during our normal audit work, and may
not be all that exist. Communication in this
report of matters arising from the audit of the
annual report and accounts or of risks or
weaknesses does not absolve management
from its responsibility to address the issues
raised and to maintain an adequate system of
control.
This report contains an action plan with specific
recommendations, responsible officers and

Scott-Moncrieff

dates for implementation. We give each
recommendation has been given a grading to
help the Funds assess its significance and
prioritise the actions required.
5.

We discussed and agreed the content of this
report with the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Finance Officer. We would like to thank
all members of the Fund's management and
staff who have been involved in our work for
their co-operation and assistance during our
audit work.

Confirmation of independence
6.

International Standards on Auditing in the UK
(ISAs (UK)) require us to communicate on a
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timely basis all facts and matters that may have
a bearing on our independence.
7.

We confirm that we have complied with
Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC) Revised
Ethical Standard (June 2016). In our
professional judgement, the audit process is
independent and our objectivity has not been
compromised in any way.

10.

While this report is addressed to SCTS, it will
be published on Audit Scotland’s website
www.audit-scotland.gov.uk

Adding value through the audit
8.

All of our clients demand of us a positive
contribution to meeting their ever-changing
business needs. Our aim is to add value to the
council through our external audit work by being
constructive and forward looking, by identifying
areas of improvement and by recommending
and encouraging good practice. In this way, we
aim to help the Board promote improved
standards of governance, better management
and decision making and more effective use of
resources.

Feedback
9.

Any comments you may have on the service we
provide, the quality of our work and our reports
would be greatly appreciated at any time.
Comments can be reported directly to the audit
team or through our online survey:
www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/S2SPZBX

Scott-Moncrieff
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2
Annual report and
financial statements
The Funds’ annual report and financial statements are the principal means of
accounting for the stewardship of its resources and its performance in the use
of those resources.
In this section we summarise the findings from our audit of the 2017/18 annual
report and accounts.

Annual report and financial statements
The annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 will be
approved by the Pensions Committee on 26 September 2018. We intend to report
unqualified opinions within our independent auditor’s report. We did not identify any
significant adjustments to the unaudited annual report and accounts.
The Funds’ had good administrative processes in place to prepare the annual report and
financial statements and the required supporting working papers.
The governance statement disclosures are deemed to be appropriate and highlights that in
2017/18 internal audit reported that significant enhancements were required to the Funds’
control environment.

line with our agreed audit timetable. Our
thanks go to management and staff for
their assistance.

Overall conclusion
Unqualified audit opinions
11.

12.

The annual report and financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018 will be
considered by the Pensions Committee on
26 September 2018. We reported within
our independent auditor’s report:
•

an unqualified opinion on the financial
statements; and

•

an unqualified opinion on other
prescribed matters.

We are also satisfied that there are no
matters which we are required to report to
you by exception.

Good administrative processes were in place
13.

We received draft financial statements and
supporting papers of a good standard, in

Our assessment of risks of material
misstatement
14.

The assessed risks of material
misstatement described in Exhibit 2 are
those that had the greatest effect on our
audit strategy, the allocation of resources
in the audit and directing the efforts of the
audit team. We designed our audit
procedures relating to these matters in the
context of our audit of the annual report
and accounts as a whole, and not to
express an opinion on individual accounts
or disclosures. Our opinion on the annual
report and financial statements is not
modified with respect to any of the risks
described in Exhibit 2.

Exhibit 2: Our assessment of risks of material misstatement and how the scope of our audit
responded to those risks

1. Revenue Recognition
Under ISA (UK) 240 - The auditor’s responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements there
is a presumed risk of fraud in relation to revenue recognition. The presumption is that the Funds could
adopt accounting policies or recognise income transactions in such a way as to lead to a material
misstatement in the reported financial position.

Scott-Moncrieff
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Excerpt from the 2017/18 External Audit Plan

15.

While we did not suspect incidences of material fraud and error, we evaluated each type of
revenue transaction and documented our conclusions. We have reviewed the controls in
place over revenue accounting and found them to be sufficient.

16.

We have evaluated key revenue transactions and streams to gain assurance over the
completeness and occurrence of income. We are satisfied income in fairly stated in the
financial statements. We also carried out testing to confirm that the Funds’ revenue
recognition policies are appropriate and have been applied consistently throughout the year.

2. Risk of fraud in the recognition of expenditure
The FRC published Practice Note 10 which applies to the audit of financial statements for periods
commencing after June 2016. The Practice Note recognises that most public sector bodies are net
spending bodies and notes that there is an increased risk of material misstatement due to improper
recognition of expenditure.
Excerpt from the 2017/18 External Audit Plan

17.

At the planning stage of our audit cycle, we reported that we did not believe the risk of fraud
in expenditure recognition was material to the financial statements and we therefore rebutted
this risk. This position has been reviewed throughout this audit and this conclusion has
remained appropriate.

3. Management Override
In any organisation, there exists a risk that management have the ability to process transactions or make
adjustments to the financial records outside the normal financial control processes. Such issues could lead
to a material misstatement in the financial statements. This is treated as a presumed risk area in
accordance with ISA (UK) 240 – The auditor’s responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial
statements.
Excerpt from the 2017/18 External Audit Plan

18.

We have not identified any indications of management override in the year. We have
reviewed the Funds’ accounting records and obtained evidence to ensure that transactions
outside the normal course of business were valid and accounted for correctly. We have also
reviewed management estimates and the journal entries processed in the period and around
the year end. We did not identify any areas of bias in key judgements made by
management and judgements were consistent with prior years.

4. Valuation of investments
The Funds held investments of £6.569billion as at 31 March 2017 of which 30% (£2.069 billion) were
classified as level 2 or level 3 financial instruments, meaning the valuation was not based on unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets. Judgements are taken by the Investment Managers to value those
investments whose prices are not publically available. Investments of this nature are complex, difficult to
value and include a significant degree of judgement from the investment manager. The material nature of

Scott-Moncrieff
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this balance means that any error in judgement could result in a material valuation error.
Excerpt from the 2017/18 External Audit Plan

19.

In 2017/18, the value of level 2 and 3 investments rose by 5% to £2.184 billion increasing as
a proportion of overall investments to 33%.(31% in 2016/17). Fair values of investments of
this nature are provided by fund managers and custodian using various bases selected by
the investment manager or custodian. The base of investment values can include reference
to similar companies or bid prices.

20.

We have considered the valuation basis for a sample of investments and concluded that an
appropriate base has been applied in each case. The custodian and investment managers
are deemed to be management experts. In line with ISA (UK) 500 we have considered the
competence, capability and objectivity of the experts used to inform the valuation. In
addition we have reviewed auditor reports on the internal controls at the custodian and at
each key investment manager. Our testing did not raise any issues regarding the
qualifications of or work provided by the management experts employed by the Funds.

21.

For a sample of hard to value investments we reviewed the assumptions and bases of the
fair value. We challenged the Funds on the rationale for selecting the bases and
assumptions and ensured we were satisfied they were appropriate.

22.

The disclosures within the annual report and financial statements are consistent with the
information provided by the custodian.

5. Pension liability assumptions
An actuarial estimate of the pension fund liability is calculated on an annual basis under IAS 19 and on a
triennial funding basis by an independent firm of actuaries with specialist knowledge and experience. The
latest triennial valuation was as at 31 March 2017 and sets rates for the three-year period commencing 1
April 2018. The estimates are based on the most up to date membership date held by the pension fund
and have regard to local factors such as mortality rates and expected pay rises with other assumptions
around inflation when calculating the liabilities. There is a risk that the data provided to the actuary is not
complete and that assumptions used are not appropriate.
Excerpt from the 2017/18 External Audit Plan

23.

We have reviewed the controls in place for providing information to the actuary and found
them to be sufficient. We obtained the information provided to the actuary and agreed to
source documentation to confirm the accuracy of data provided. We did not identify any
issues from the work performed.

24.

The assumptions used by the actuary were compared to the benchmarks across the sector
and we concluded that these were reasonable.

materiality levels will be applied to different
elements of the annual accounts.

Our application of materiality
25.

The assessment of what is material is a matter
of professional judgement and involves
considering both the amount and the nature of
the misstatement. This means that different

Scott-Moncrieff
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On receipt of the draft 2017/18 accounts, we
reassessed materiality which resulted in a
change to the level of materiality applied. Our
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revised assessment of materiality along with
our planning materiality for each Fund is set out
in the table below. A key target for the Funds is
to manage investments appropriately in order to
generate sufficient income to meet the future
pensioner needs. We consider net investment
assets to be one of the principal considerations
for the users of the accounts when assessing
financial performance. We have therefore used
this as a base for our materiality.
27.

28.

As outlined in our External Audit Plan we
considered transactions when dealing with
members (i.e. contributions and expenditure
incurred providing payments to pensioners) to

ISA 320 states that in certain circumstances it is
appropriate to set a materiality amount for
particular classes of transactions for which
lesser amounts than the overall materiality
could influence the decision of the users of the
accounts. We have therefore set a separate
materiality for transactions relating to dealings
with members, based on the expenditure
incurred for providing payments to pensioners.

Overall
planning
materiality

Dealings with
members overall
planning
materiality

Overall
Final
materiality

Dealings with
members overall
final materiality

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Lothian Pension Fund
(group)1

98.5

10.6

100

10.7

Lothian Pension Fund (single
entity)

98.5

10.6

100

10.7

Lothian Buses Pension Fund

7.3

0.6

7.6

0.6

Scottish Homes Pension
Fund

2.6

0.4

2.3

0.4

Performance materiality

29.

Performance materiality is the amount set by
the auditor at less than overall materiality for
the annual accounts as a whole to reduce to an
appropriately low level the probability that the
aggregate of the uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed materiality for the annual
accounts as a whole.

30.

We set a performance (testing) materiality for
each area of work which is based on a risk
assessment for that area. We have performed
audit procedures on all transactions, or groups
of transactions, and balances that exceed our
performance materiality. This means that we

1

also be of key interest to the users. This is
reported in the first section of the Fund Account
and contains information about the day to day
operation of the Funds.

performed a greater level of testing on the
areas deemed to be of significant risk of
material misstatement. Performance testing
thresholds used are set out in the following
table:

Lothian Pension Fund group comprises Lothian Pension Fund, LPFE Ltd and LPFI Ltd

Scott-Moncrieff
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plan is subject to review during the course of
the audit to take account of developments that
arise.

Area risk assessment
£million
High
(50%)

Mediu
m

At the planning stage we identified the
significant risks that had the greatest effect on
our audit. We then designed audit procedures
to mitigate these risks.

36.

Our standard audit approach is based on
performing a review of the key accounting
systems in place, substantive tests and detailed
analytical procedures. Tailored audit
procedures, including those designed to
address significant risks, were completed by the
audit fieldwork team and the results were
reviewed by the audit manager and audit
partner. In performing our work, we have
applied the concept of materiality, which is
explained earlier in this report.

Low
(75%)

(60%)
Lothian Pension
Fund (group and
parent)

50

60

75

Lothian Buses
Pension Fund

3.8

4.6

5.7

Scottish Homes
Pension Fund

1.3

1.5

1.9

31.

35.

We agreed to report any misstatements
identified through our audit that fall into one of
the following categories:
•

All material corrected misstatements;

•

Uncorrected misstatements over £250,000,
less than 1% of the overall materiality
figure;

•

Misstatements below the £250,000
threshold we believe warrant reporting on
qualitative grounds.

Other matters identified during our
audit
37.

During the course of our audit we noted the
following:

Audit differences
32.

We are pleased to report that our audit
identified no material adjustments. In addition
we can confirm there were no unadjusted errors
relating to the 2017/18 financial statements.

33.

We identified some disclosure and
presentational adjustments during our audit,
which have been reflected in the final set of
annual report and financial statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit
34.

We detailed the scope of our audit in our
External Audit Plan. We presented the plan to
the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee on 26
March 2018. The plan explained that we follow
a risk-based approach to audit planning that
reflects our overall assessment of the relevant
risks that apply to the Funds. This ensures that
our audit focuses on the areas of highest risk.
Planning is a continuous process and our audit

Scott-Moncrieff
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The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations
2014

•

KPIs which measure the investment
performance of the Funds’; and

As part of our audit we reviewed the Funds’
compliance with the Local Authority Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2014, in particular with
respect to regulations 8 to 102 as they relate to
the annual report and financial statements.

•

Information on the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the authority.

38.

39.

In 2017/18 we received an objection to the
notice of the public right to inspect. Upon
review there was found to be an inaccuracy
with the inspection notice, which was
subsequently rectified. In addition it was noted
that the accounts were not available through
the Lothian Pension Fund website from the
beginning of the inspection period. While the
financial statements were available on the City
of Edinburgh Council website as part of the
Pensions Committee papers, we would
recommend that in future they are also placed
on the Lothian Pension Fund website following
Committee approval.

43.

Annual governance statement Governance
Compliance Statement

44.

We have reviewed the Funds’ annual
governance statement against the relevant
guidance: Delivering Good Governance in Local
Government.

45.

We consider the coverage of the annual
governance statement to be broadly in line with
expectations.

46.

The annual governance statement highlights
that internal audit provided a ‘red’3 rated
opinion, reflecting significant enhancements
required to the Funds’ control environment.

47.

The internal audit reports highlighted raised
highlighted the need for LPF to ensure that third
party systems suppliers have established
adequate and effective resilience arrangements
that are aligned with LPF recovery objectives;
and effective change management controls to
provide assurance on the ongoing integrity of
their systems.

48.

The governance statement highlights the
actions planned to address the internal audit
issues.

49.

The Chief Executive and Head of Finance of
the City of Edinburgh Council have considered
the internal audit findings and are satisfied that
reasonable assurance can be placed upon the
adequacy and effectiveness of Funds’ systems
of internal control.

50.

We have concluded that the annual governance
statement is in line with the required guidance
and is consistent with the financial statements
and assurances provided in year.

Action plan point 1
40.

Overall we concluded that appropriate
arrangements are in place to comply with these
Regulations.

Management commentary

41.

42.

The management commentary is a requirement
of the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2014 and is intended to assist
readers in understanding the financial
statements and provide an overview of the
organisation and its performance.
Guidance issued by the Scottish Government
(Local Government Finance Circular 5/2015
also provides a guide as to the minimum
required disclosures in the management
commentary including:
•

The context of the annual report and
financial statements;

•

Insight into the priorities of the Funds’ and
strategies adopted to achieve these
priorities and objectives;

•

Information on future plans;

2

Regulations 8 to 10 relates to the preparation and
publication of unaudited accounts, notice of public right to
inspect and object to the accounts and consideration and
signing of the audited accounts.

Scott-Moncrieff

We have concluded that the management
commentary has been prepared in line with the
regulations and Scottish Government guidance
and is consistent with the financial statements.

Governance compliance statement

3

Significant areas of weakness and non-compliance in the
control environment and governance and risk management
framework that puts the achievement of organisational
objectives at risk.
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51.

52.

The Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014 require all pension
funds to prepare a Governance Compliance
Statement. The purpose of this statement is to
compare the Funds’ governance arrangements
with those standards set out in guidance from
the Scottish Ministers.
We have reviewed the Governance Compliance
Statement and we are satisfied the disclosures
comply with guidance issued by Scottish
Ministers and are not inconsistent with our
knowledge of the arrangements in place at the
Funds.

Legality

53.

54.

We have planned and performed our audit
recognising that non-compliance with statute or
regulations may materially impact on the annual
report and financial statements.
It was highlighted during the course of our audit
that the Pension Fund had not been operating
its bank account in line with the Local
Government Pension Scheme (Management
and Investment of Funds) (Scotland)
Regulations 2010. There is a requirement for
administering authorities to hold a separate
bank account for funds and this should be used
to hold pension fund money.

55.

Internal audit noted in November 2015, there
were issues over the use of bank accounts,
particularly that monies were being transferred
into a City of Edinburgh bank account and
payments made from this account.

56.

The Funds noted that the procurement of a new
payroll and ledger system would help resolve
the payment issues but that there was no
proposal to change current procedures.

57.

The use of the Council bank account was to
ensure that any unfunded payment does not
come from a pension fund bank account.

58.

The issue of non-compliance has been
recognised in the Funds’ risk register and work
has commenced to deliver an updated ledger
system, however, significant delays have been
encountered. The issue with regarda to the use
of bank accounts is therefore on going.

Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund.
60.

Lothian Pension Fund accounts are prepared
on a group basis following the creation of two
special purpose vehicles, LPFE Ltd and LPFI
Ltd in October 2014. The companies are wholly
owned and controlled by the City of Edinburgh
Council.

61.

Group accounts were prepared for the Lothian
Pension Fund for the first time in 2015/16
incorporating LPFE Ltd. LPFI Ltd became
operational in 2016/17 after the funds received
Financial Conduct Authority authorisation.

62.

We reviewed the consolidation process in
2017/18 and concluded the subsidiary
companies had been correctly included in the
group accounts of Lothian Pension Fund.

Qualitative aspects of accounting
practices and financial reporting
63.

We have considered the qualitative aspects of
the financial reporting process, including items
that have a significant impact on the relevance,
reliability, comparability, understandability and
materiality of the information provided by the
financial statements. Our findings are
summarised below:

Action plan point 2
Group accounts

59.

The Funds’ annual report includes accounts for
Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension

Scott-Moncrieff
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Qualitative aspect considered

Audit conclusion

The appropriateness of the
accounting policies used.

We have reviewed the significant accounting policies which are
disclosed in the annual report and financial statements of the
Funds. We consider the policies to be appropriate to the Funds,
however, we have noted that the Funds have departed from
CIPFA Guidance in relation to investment management
expenses.
During 2015/16 CIPFA issued guidance stating that pension
funds should only report the direct costs of using investment
managers. The impact of this is that investment management
costs associated with fund of funds transactions would not be
reported. The Funds feel this would detract from the
transparency of the accounts and have reported indirect costs of
£5.574 million for Lothian Pension Fund and £0.34 million for
Lothian Buses (there were no indirect costs for Scottish Homes).
The impact of this accounting treatment is to increase the
investment management expense which is offset by an increase
in the change in market value of investments. The net impact on
the fund account is therefore zero.

The timing of the transactions and
the period in which they are
recorded.

We did not identify any concerns over the timing of transactions
or the period in which they were recognised.

The appropriateness of the
accounting estimates and
judgements used.

The Funds have significant levels of accounting estimates and
judgements used by management in preparing the financial
statements. The principal areas of estimation concern the
valuation of unquoted private equity and infrastructure
investments and the actuarial valuation of promised retirement
benefits. These estimates have been informed by advice from
qualified, independent experts. We evaluated the competence,
objectivity and capability of management experts in line with the
requirements of ISA (UK) 500 and concluded that use of the
expert is appropriate.
We are satisfied with the appropriateness of the accounting
estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements. We have considered the
disclosures around the estimates, including sensitivity analysis
and concluded that they are appropriate.

The appropriateness of the going
concern assumption

We have reviewed the detailed financial forecasts for 2018/19.
Our understanding of the legislative framework and activities
undertaken provides us with sufficient assurance that the Funds’
will continue to operate for at least 12 months from the signing
date.

Qualitative aspect considered

Audit conclusion

The extent to which the financial
statements have been affected by
unusual transactions during the
period and the extent that these
transactions are separately
disclosed.

From the testing performed, we identified no significant unusual
transactions in the period.

Apparent misstatements in the
management commentary or
material inconsistencies with the
financial statements.

The financial statements contain no material misstatements or
inconsistencies with the annual report and financial statements in
the management commentary.

Any significant financial statements
disclosures to bring to your
attention.

There are no significant financial statements disclosures that we
consider should be brought to your attention. All the disclosures
required by relevant legislation and applicable accounting
standards have been made appropriately.

Disagreement over any accounting
treatment or financial statements
disclosure.

At the interim stage of our audit we conducted a review of the
financial statements to identify areas where improvements to be
made to reduce immaterial and surplus disclosures in the
financial statements. Our recommendations were made to
management and included only minor disclosure and
presentational issues. No adjustments were made as a result of
this work, however the impact is not considered to be significant.
Additional disclosure and presentational adjustments were
discussed at the year-end. Over the course of the audit there
was no material disagreement over any significant accounting
treatment or disclosure.

Difficulties encountered in the audit.

Scott-Moncrieff

There were no significant difficulties encountered during the
audit.
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3
Financial
management
Financial management is concerned with financial capacity, sound
budgetary processes and whether the control environment and internal
controls are operating effectively.

Financial management
The Funds have effective arrangements in place for financial management and
the use of resources
Lothian Pension Fund’s investment performance decreased in 2017/18 and
was below the short term benchmark and national average. Medium and long
term performance, however, remained above benchmark levels.
The net assets of Lothian Pension fund and Lothian Buses Pension Fund have
risen at a slower rate than in 2016/17 and Scottish Homes Pension Fund
assets have decreased marginally. The promised retirement benefits have
decreased across all three funds.

behind the 1 year benchmark after reporting
returns above benchmark in 2016/17.

Investment performance in 2017/18
64.

The Funds report their performance with
regards to returns on investments as part of the
annual report and financial statements. As
shown in Exhibit 4 below Lothian Pension fund
has reported performance below the one year
benchmark for the second year. Lothian Buses
Pension Fund is reporting performance above
benchmark and Scottish Homes has dropped

65.

Investment performance across the local
government pension funds in Scotland fell in
2017/18 from a particularly strong year in
2016/17. The average return on investments in
2017/18 was 6.12% a significant decrease
compared to 21.19% in 2016/17.

Exhibit 3: LGPS Funds Returns on investments against benchmark
12.0%
10.0%
8.0%
Return on
Investments
Benchmark

6.0%
4.0%
2.0%
0.0%

66.

Lothian Pension fund was notably below the
national average in 2017/18 and was one of
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only three pension funds to perform below the
benchmark. However, the objective of Lothian
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Pension Fund is that over the short term the
fund should perform better than its strategic
allocation if markets fall significantly.
67.

68.

Investment management outcomes are
required to be considered over the longer term
due to the range of factors which can influence
returns including: risk appetite, asset allocation
and general market performance. It is
therefore important to consider the returns over
a longer term.

69.

The focus on the funds is stability over the long
term which focuses on the medium and long
term. The investment portfolio is geared to
achieve this objective and therefore the short
term returns are not deemed to be a key
performance indicator for the Funds.
As shown in Exhibit 4, all three funds have met
or exceeded the 5 and 10 year benchmarks
which indicates the investment portfolio is being
managed appropriately.

Exhibit 4: Performance against benchmark and compared to prior year
25.00%

20.00%

15.00%

10.00%

5.00%

0.00%
1 year

5 year

10 year

Lothian Pension Fund
2017/18

1 year

2016/17

The movement in net assets of the Funds
varied across each fund as shown in Exhibit 5.
While all three funds reported a net withdrawal
position the net return on investments for
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10 year

Lothian Busses Pension Fund

Financial position
70.

5 year

1 year

5 year

10 year

Scottish Homes Pension Fund

2017/18 benchmark

Lothian Pension Fund and Lothian Buses
Pension Fund exceeded the withdrawals
position. The net investments for Scottish
Homes was significantly below the withdrawals
from dealings with members and this resulted in
an overall decrease in the assets of the Fund.
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Exhibit 5: LGPS Funds Returns on investments against benchmark
Net assets
2017/18

2016/17

£m

£m

%
Movement

6,665

6,595

Lothian Buses

509

Scottish Homes

164

Lothian Pension
Fund

71.

72.

Present value of retirement benefits

£m

£m

%
Movement

1.0%

7,791

8,210

-5.1%

488

4.3%

463

488

-5.12%

171

-4.1%

134

145

-7.6%

Hymans Robertson provided an estimate of the
present value of the promised retirement
benefits. Across all three funds the value of the
obligation had decreased in year with the most
significant decrease on the Scottish Homes
Pension Fund.

73.

We have reviewed the Funds’ budgetary
processes and financial management
arrangements in 2017/18.

74.

The Pensions Committee receive annual
investment updates for each fund in June in line
with a formal long term agenda plan. Over the
course of the financial year the Pensions
Committee has taken reports on the investment
strategy panel, investment principles and the
performance of the Funds.

75.

76.

The Pensions Committee also receive service
updates at each committee which includes
analysis of the financial position from dealings
with members.
In year budgets were for a net withdrawals
position across all three funds and there was
some variation across the year. In all cases the
projected position was a higher withdrawal than
the actual year end position.

2016/17

Exhibit 6: Reported movement as a
percentage of year end position
100%

50%

The actuarial calculations are based on the
2017 actuarial valuation rolled forward. It was
noted by the actuary in their report that asset
returns under the primary investment strategy
over the period have been lower than the
valuation discount rate but that real bond rates
were at a similar level meaning overall funding
level is likely to have fallen slightly since the
2017 formal valuation.

Financial monitoring arrangements

2017/18

0%
Jul

Sep

Dec

Mar

Lothian Pension Fund
Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Scottish Homes Pension Fund

77.

The Lothian Pension Fund predicted position
was in December 2017 was 62.5% higher than
the amount reported in the financial statements
in March 2018. The movement related to
contributions from employers and employees
rising further than predicted and lump sum
payments decreasing.

Prevention and detection of fraud and
irregularity
78.

Our audit was planned to provide a reasonable
expectation of detecting material misstatements
in the financial statements resulting from fraud
and irregularity.

79.

We found the Funds’ arrangements for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities to be adequate.

Standards of conduct
80.

In our opinion the Funds’ arrangements in
relation to standards of conduct and the

prevention and detection of bribery and
corruption are adequate.
81.

Our conclusion has been informed by a review
of the arrangements for adopting and reviewing
standing orders, financial regulations and
schemes of delegation and for complying with
national and local codes of conduct.

Internal Audit
82.

An effective internal audit service is an
important element of the Funds’ governance
arrangements. The City of Edinburgh Council
provide the Funds’ internal audit service. During
our audit we considered the work of internal
audit wherever possible to avoid duplication of
effort and make the most efficient use of the
Funds’ audit resource

83.

In 2017/18 it was noted that the service did not
fully comply with Public Sector Internal Audit
Standards in two areas: follow up and quality
assurance reviews. The Pensions Committee
were advised that the instances of nonconformance have had no direct impact on the
quality of internal audit reviews completed for
the Funds in 2017/18.

84.

Internal audit have taken remedial actions to
put controls in place to address the
weaknesses identified.

85.

In 2017/18 we did not place formal reliance on
the work of internal audit, however, we have
considered their findings in respect of our wider
scope responsibilities and we are grateful to the
internal audit team for their assistance during
the course of our work.

have reported progress against outstanding
actions in appendix 1.
88.

We identified an issue relating to controls over
raising journals as follows:
•

In 2017/18 we noted that any member of
the City of Edinburgh finance team with
ledger access can post to the Funds’
ledger. While any incorrect postings
should be picked up through budget
monitoring, there is a risk that mis-postings
are not detected resulting in errors in the
financial statements.
Action plan point 3

Systems of internal control
86.

We have evaluated the Funds’ key financial
systems and internal financial controls to
determine whether they are adequate to
prevent material misstatements in the annual
accounts. Our approach has included
documenting the key internal financial controls
and performing walkthroughs to confirm that
they are operating as intended.

87.

We identified a number of areas for
improvement in 2016/17 which were followed
up at interim and subsequently at year end. We
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4
Financial
sustainability
Financial sustainability looks forward to the medium and longer term to
consider whether the Funds’ are planning effectively to continue to
deliver services or the way in which they should be delivered.

Scott-Moncrieff

Lothian Pension Funds 2017/18 Annual Audit Report to Members and the Controller of Audit

21

Financial Sustainability
The Funds have effective arrangements in place to ensure the ongoing
sustainability of the pension funds.
The Funding Strategy Statement has been updated to ensure investment
assets are sufficient to meet the full cost of past service benefits.
There is an ongoing risk that the pension scheme is not affordable for
admitted bodies and as part of the triennial valuation Lothian Pension Fund
required all bodies to conduct an affordability assessment.

91.

Funding level
89.

90.

The Funds’ undertook an actuarial valuation in
2017 in line with the requirements of the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations
2014. The 2017 Actuarial Valuation was a
triennial valuation which aims to:
•

assess whether the funding strategy and
assumptions are appropriate;

•

assess the financial health of the Funds;
and

•

set future rates for contributions payable by
employers.

At the 2017 Actuarial Valuation the funding
levels increased for all three funds. Lothian
Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes
Pension Fund were achieving their target
funding levels.

Contribution rates for employers
92.

Contribution rates for employers are set for
each scheduled and admitted employer in to
Lothian Pension Fund and depend on each
body’s unique funding position.

93.

In general, employer contribution rates across
Lothian Pension Fund have increased
compared to the 2014 valuation.

94.

In recognition of the affordability issues facing
many employers within Lothian Pension Fund,
management conducted additional work on the
Funding Strategy Statement, including a
requirement for scheduled and admitted bodies
to confirm their commitment to meeting the
certified minimum contributions.

Exhibit 7: Funding level across the Funds

Lothian Pension
Fund

Lothian Buses

Scottish Homes
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The results of the actuarial valuation show that
Lothian Pension Fund has not met its objective
to hold sufficient assets to meet the full cost of
the past service benefits at 31 March 2017.
The increase of 7% shows that progress has
been made and the deficit has decreased from
£417 million to £145 million.

Actual
2014
(%)

Actual
2017
(%)

Target
(%)

95.

The Fund also prepared a funding agreement to
address repayment of debt on the exit of an
employer from the scheme.

91%

98%

100%

96.

117%

121%

100%

89%

105%

93%

In 2017/18 a number of employers indicated an
intention to leave the Fund. Cessation
contributions increased by £1.204 million
(5.78%) in year to £1.412 million and at 31
March 2018 there is a long term debtor of
£1.525 million related to ceased employers.

97.

In line with our recommendation in 2016/17
additional disclosures have been included
around the long term debtors relating to
employer cessations.
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members being the majority. This differs from
Lothian Buses and Scottish Homes Pension
Funds which are single employer schemes and
have a majority of inactive members (deferred,
pensioners and dependents).

Membership
98.

Lothian Pension Fund is a multi-employer fund
with 14 scheduled bodies, including 4 Councils,
and 72 admitted bodies. The scheme has a
significant membership profile with active

Exhibit 8: Membership trend analysis
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99.

Deferred

The trend analysis shows that for Lothian
Pension Fund the proportion of active members
continues to grow while at Lothian Buses
Pension Fund and Sottish Homes Pension
Fund the level of pensioners and dependents is
growing.

100.

101.

2015/16
Pensioners

2014/15

Dependents

LGPS Consultation
102.

A review of the structure of the Scottish Local
Government Pension Schemes was agreed
with stakeholders and Scottish Government in
2015 when changes to the scheme and
Scheme Advisory Board (‘SAB’) were
introduced.

103.

Key changes to the Funding Strategy included:

In February 2017, SAB produced a review
report which highlighted 4 options for the future
structure of the local government pension
scheme in Scotland:

•

the inclusion of a medium risk strategy
which will be open to employers with
more than 5 members and which are
closed to new members;

•

Retain the current structure with 11 funds;

•

Promote cooperation in investing and
administration between the 11 funds;

written confirmation of ability to meet
contributions are required as outlined
above; and

•

Pool investments between the 11 funds;
and

•

Merge the 11 funds into one or more new
funds.

A revised Funding Strategy Statement was
approved by the Pensions Committee in March
2018, following a consultation exercise in July
2017.

•

•

the creation of alternative options for the
payment of pension strain costs
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104.

These options were presented to the Cabinet
Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work
and in January 2018, it was advised that SAB
should proceed to seek a consultation with
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Scottish LGPS employers and employee
membership bodies on the 4 options. The
consultation launched in June 2018 and will
close in December 2018.
105.

We will continue to monitor the developments
and outcomes arising from the consultation as
part of our 2018/19 audit.

EU withdrawal
106.

Audit Scotland has identified EU withdrawal as
an emerging significant risk facing public bodies
across Scotland. Three streams of potential
impact were identified:
•

Workforce;

•

Funding; and

•

Regulation.

107.

The Funds have considered the impact across
all three areas, and have identified that this is
an area of low risk for the pension fund. The
primary consideration was the impact of the EU
withdrawal on movement in investments and
risk mitigating measures were put in place prior
to the vote.

108.

From an initial assessment of the workforce
stream no significant implications have been
identified.
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5
Governance &
transparency
Governance and transparency is concerned with the adequacy of
governance arrangements, leadership and decision making, and
transparent reporting of financial and performance information.

Scott-Moncrieff
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Governance & transparency
Governance arrangements at the Funds are deemed to be
appropriate.
Our assessment has been informed by a review of the
corporate governance arrangements in place, the information
provided to the Board and Committees as well as the risk
management arrangements in place.

Governance Structure
109.

The Pensions Committee, supported by an
Audit Sub-Committee, has been delegated
responsibility for governance by the City of
Edinburgh Council, the administering authority.

110.

As outlined by the City of Edinburgh Council
Scheme of Delegation the Pensions Committee
has responsibility for the administration,
management and investment strategy for the
Funds.

111.

From 1 April 2015 all pension funds were
required to introduce local pension boards in
line with the Public Service Pension Act 2013.
This is the third year of operation of the Pension
Board.

112.

The Pension Board meet quarterly on a
concurrent basis with the Pension Committee.

113.

The Funds complied with best practice and
appointed an independent professional
observer to the Board and Committee. The
appointed independent observer resigned in
February 2018 and to date the post has not
been filled.

114.

The remit of the Pension Board is to support the
Pension Committee in compliance with
regulations and the requirements of the
Pension Regulator. In line with legislation if
more than half of the members of the Pension
Board disagree with a decision of the Pension
Committee then they can request in writing that
the Pension Committee review that decision.
There have been no requests to review
decisions in 2017/18.

Training and development
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115.

Due to the specialised nature of the Funds, it is
vital that members have the appropriate
knowledge and understanding to provide
appropriate challenge and operate effectively.
Training is therefore seen as a fundamental
requirement for all Committee and Board
members.

116.

Our review found that all current Pension
Committee and Board members met the
requirement to have a minimum of 21 hours
training, however, a member of the Committee
who left in 2017/18 would not have met the full
training requirement for the year.

Openness and Transparency
117.

The Pensions Committee and Pensions Audit
Sub-Committee meetings are held in public,
papers are available in advance and minutes of
the meetings are published on the City of
Edinburgh Council’s website. Information about
the Funds is published on the Funds’ website
including key strategic documents.

118.

During the year, the Pensions Committee has
evaluated whether further steps could be taken
to move to best practice on the accessibility and
openness of meetings held through webcasting
of meetings. While the final decision was not to
webcast meetings, the Committee were
provided detailed information to allow a
thorough evaluation and an informed decision
to be made.

119.

We consider the openness and transparency of
the Funds to be appropriate and in line with
legal requirements.

Risk Management
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120.

A developed and integrated approach to risk
management is a key feature of a robust
system of internal control. The Pension Funds
maintain a risk register in line with the City of
Edinburgh Council Risk Management Policy
and Procedures.

121.

Risk management arrangements are firmly
embedded in the governance process. The
Pensions Committee receive a risk
management update on a quarterly basis which
provides information of the movement in risks
and the actions being taken on the most
notable risks.

122.

From our review of the risk management
arrangements in place we have concluded that
there are adequate arrangements in place at
the Funds.

Information Governance

Action Plan, 2017/18’.
128.

The action plan outlines a number of
requirements that public bodies should be
taking forward. This includes an action for
public bodies to achieve a Cyber Essentials
Plus certification by the end of October 2018.

129.

The Funds currently use City of Edinburgh
Council systems for the financial ledger and can
place reliance on the Council’s assessment.
However, for Fund specific systems there is a
need to complete the Cyber Essentials
accreditation. We recommend that the Funds
make arrangements to achieve the cyber
Essentials certification by 31 October 2018.
Action plan point 4

LGPS Regulations
130.

Revised Local Government Pension Scheme
regulations came into effect from 1 June 2018
with an update on the implications of the new
legislation being presented to the June 2018
Pensions Committee.

131.

The changes to the regulations aim to
consolidate all amendments since April 2015
and include a number of amendments to the
scheme rules including:

General Data Protection Regulations

123.

124.

125.

126.

The General Data Protection Regulations (the
Regulations) came into force on 25 May 2018.
The Regulations replace the Data Protection
Act 1998 and as well as strengthening existing
regulations, the Act has brought in new
legislative requirements for the Funds. The
Regulations bring significant potential penalties
for non-compliance therefore increasing the
importance of compliance.
To ensure compliance, LPF has fully reviewed
its business processes to ensure they were fully
compliant with the new legislation including
review of LPF’s data storage, information
governance, ICT, office procedures and third
party relationships.
The Pensions Committee has received regular
updates on the progress of the project were
primarily reported through quarterly risk
management summaries.
Compliance with the regulations is an ongoing
process, which we will monitor as part of our
annual audit procedures. We have not
identified any significant risks to compliance
with the Regulations at this stage.

132.

•

members of the LGPS 2015 will be able to
elect to take early payment of their pension
from age 55, with an actuarial reduction
and will no longer need their employers
consent;

•

additional flexibility for administering
authorities when employers leave the
scheme and to provide extra credit to
exiting employers if appropriate; and

•

changes to additional voluntary
contributions following the introduction of
the UK governments “freedom and choice
in pensions”, to allow payment from age 55
as a lump sum.

LPF are currently seeking clarification on some
aspects of the regulations and we will consider
implications as part of our 2018/19 audit work.

Cyber Security

127.

In May 2017, a number of health boards across
NHS Scotland were affected by the Wannacry
global ransomware attack. In response to this
the Scottish Government launched ‘A Cyber
Resilience Strategy for Scotland: Public Sector
27

6
Value for Money
Value for money is concerned with using resources effectively and
continually improving services. In this section we report on our audit
work as it relates to the Funds’ reporting of their performance.

Value for money
The Funds’ investment performance is subject to regular
review by the Pension Committee.
The Funds have appropriate arrangements in place to
monitor performance of investments and the administration
of the Funds.

Investment manager operations
133.

Lothian Pension Fund operates two special
purpose vehicles: LPFE Ltd and LPFI Ltd. Both
companies were wholly owned and controlled
by the Council.

134.

The special purpose vehicles were established
to support the investment programme of the inhouse investment team by providing operational
efficiencies.

135.

The proportion of funds managed internally has
remained steady at approximately 85% of
investments since 2015/16.

137.

Management expenses

138.

Lothian Pension Fund reported management
expenses of £35.412 million in 2017/18, an
increase of 19% from the prior year.

139.

Management expenses are split into three main
categories: administrative costs; investment
manager expenses and oversight and
governance costs. Investment management
expenses account for 90% of total management
expenses.

140.

In year Lothian Pension Fund’s investment
manager expenses (excluding indirect
expenses) rose marginally as a proportion of
net assets. This is broadly in line with trends
across the Local Government Pension Funds.

Staff Transfer

136.

In 2015, LPF’s key investment staff transferred
to LPFE Limited. In February 2018, the Funds’
remaining staff also transferred to LPFE Limited
following engagement with staff and trade
unions.

It is anticipated that employing all staff in a
single organisation will enable greater
collaborative efforts with other local government
pension funds as well as helping to ensure a
consistent approach to resourcing.

Exhibit 9: Investment manager expenses (excluding indirect costs) as a proportion of
net assets
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141.

The analysis above does not include indirect
investment management costs as CIPFA
guidance states that only direct investment
management costs i.e. those that the fund can
control should be reported. Lothian Pension
Fund reported £5.574 million of indirect
manager expenses in 2017/18. It is not
possible to benchmark the impact of indirect
management costs across Scottish Local
Government Pension Funds.

142.

Investment manager expenses can vary due to
a number of factors including actual returns on
investments and the nature of the investments
assets held.

143.

The Funds undertake annual benchmarking
exercises using externally provided data,
covering 33 LGPS funds and a wider global
universe of 331 funds.

144.

In 2017/18 Lothian Pension Fund reported an
actual investment cost of 0.41% of net assets
which was below the benchmark of 0.48%

145.

The pension administration cost per member
was £24.37, which is higher than the average
cost of local authority funds of £20.18. The cost
per member is broadly deemed to be in line
with other local authority funds who operate
within the range of costs of £13 to £33 per
member.

advice from an Investment Strategy Panel
made up of:

147.

There is an annual review of investment
performance in June for each of the Funds. The
report provides a detailed analysis of each of
the Fund’s investment performance against its
investment strategy. We concluded that
Pension Committee and Board Members are
engaged in monitoring the performance of
investments.
In addition to monitoring at a Committee level
the Funds’ performance is calculated by an
external provider on a monthly basis. The
external provider compiles information covering
monthly, quarterly, yearly and 3 yearly
performance measures. This information is
presented to the Investment Strategy Panel to
allow for scrutiny investment performance of the
Funds.

Investment Strategy Panel

148.

The Pensions Committee has delegated
responsibility for investment strategy to the
Executive Director of Resource who takes
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Chief Executive, Lothian Pension Fund;

•

Chief Investment Officer, Lothian Pension
Fund; and

•

two external independent investment
consultants.

149.

Lothian Pension Fund set up a joint working
arrangement with Falkirk Pension Fund which
includes a joint Investment Strategy Panel. The
role of this panel will be to advise the Chief
Financial Officers of each administering
authority on the implementation of investment
strategy. Over the last year, Lothian
collaborated with Falkirk Council Pension Fund
on 7 infrastructure investments.

150.

The Investment Strategy Panel considers the
appropriate investment management structure
required to implement the Funds’ investment
strategy. In addition it is responsible for:

151.

Monitoring investment performance
146.

•

•

setting objectives and restrictions for
internally managed investments; and

•

monitoring the risk and performance of all
portfolios.

It is noted in the annual report of the Investment
Strategy Panel that their focus is long term
superior returns rather than short term
fluctuations of the investment market.

Administrative Performance
152.

The Funds’ have a Service Plan in place
covering the period 2016- 2018 . The Pensions
Committee receive updates on the service plan
at each meeting. The annual results for
2017/18 are presented in the Funds’
Management Commentary.

153.

The Performance Report highlights that the
Fund are meeting the majority of their targets
(90%) with only 1 area where performance was
not in line with target levels:
•

The target for the proportion of active
members receiving their annual benefit
statement by 31 August 2017 was 100%
but the Funds’ achieved a level of 99.9%.
This represents an improvement on prior
year performance which was 99.6%. The
issue of annual benefits statements by 31
August is a requirement of the Local
Government Pension Scheme (Scotland)
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2014. The statements not issued related to
members employed on a casual basis prior
to March but who did not contribute to the
scheme up to the end of the year.

Tendering for Services
154.

The Funds make use of a range of service
providers including investment managers, an
actuary and a custodian. In order to ensure the
Funds are achieving value for money it is good
practice to tender for services at set intervals.

155.

The Funds follow the City of Edinburgh Council
procurement procedures and maintain a
contract register.

156.

A paper went to the Pensions Committee in
December 2017 providing an update on the
contracts register and the procurement
decisions which had been made in year.

157.

It was noted that a review of the investment
managers had been conducted, with further
services being brought in house for Scottish
Homes Pension Fund. One investment
manager contract had been extended to allow
more options appraisal work to be considered
on the operation of the property management
portfolio. This work is due to conclude in
2018/19.
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7
Appendices

Appendix 1: Management action plan
Our action plan details the control weaknesses and opportunities for improvement that we have identified during
our audit in both current and previous audits.

It should be noted that the weaknesses identified in this report are only those that have come to our attention
during the course of our normal audit work. The audit cannot be expected to detect all errors, weaknesses or
opportunities for improvements in management arrangements that may exist. The weaknesses or risks identified
are only those which have come to our attention during our normal audit work, and may not be all that exist.

Communication of the matters arising from the audit of the annual report and accounts or of risks or weaknesses
does not absolve management from its responsibility to address the issues raised and to maintain an adequate
system of control.

Action plan grading structure
To assist the Funds in assessing the significance of the issues raised and prioritising the action required to
address them, the recommendations have been rated. The rating structure is summarised as follows:

Grade 5

Very high risk exposure – major concerns requiring Board attention

Grade 4

High risk exposure – material observations requiring senior management attention

Grade 3

Moderate risk exposure – significant observations requiring management attention

Grade 2

Limited risk exposure – minor observations requiring management attention

Grade 1

Efficiency / housekeeping point

Scott-Moncrieff
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Action plan point

Issue, Risk & Recommendation

Management Comments

1. Publication of the
financial statements

Issue

Recommendation is
accepted. Following
consideration of the
Annual Report 2019 (and
Financial Statements)
Unaudited by Pensions
Committee, this will be
posted on the Lothian
Pension Fund website,
supplementing the prior
disclosure of all the reports
to that Committee on the
Council’s website.

Rating

Grade 2

Risk

Paragraph ref
39

In 2017/18 Lothian Pension Fund received objections to
the accounts relating to the public right to inspect the
accounts. The objections related to the wording in the
public inspection notice and the availability of the annual
report and financial statements on the Lothian Pension
Fund website.

There is a risk that Lothian Pension Fund do not meet
their statutory duties in respect of the requirements of the
Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014.
Recommendation
We recommend that the annual report and financial
statements are posted on the Lothian Pension Fund
website, following approval from the Pensions Committee
and in line with the public inspection notice.

Responsible officer:
Chief Executive Officer,
Lothian Pension Fund
Implementation date:
June 2019
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Action plan point

Issue, Risk & Recommendation

Management Comments

Action plan point

Issue, Risk & Recommendation

Management Comments

2. Bank accounts

Issue

Quotation for a standalone ledger for the Funds
was sought from CGI, the
Council’s ICT provider, but
this did not offer a costeffective solution. Whilst
LPF now fully anticipates a
successful project delivery
by the Council and CGI,
with integration of the LPF
requirement in the ledger
specification, the option of
complete separation, i.e.
LPF to procure an
alternative to the Council
solution, is retained as
“last resort”.

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management
and Investment of Funds) (Scotland) Regulations 2010.
require administering authorities to hold a separate bank
account for funds and to be used to hold pension fund
money.

Rating

Grade 3

Paragraph ref
57

There is an ongoing issue that although the Funds’ held
their own bank accounts, monies were transferred to the
City of Edinburgh Council holding account and the money
was managed through this account. Actions were taken in
2017/18 to progress the issue of compliance, however,
significant delays mean that during the year the Funds
were not in fully compliant with the regulations.
Risk
There is a risk that monies for the Funds are not
separately identifiable.
Recommendation
We recommend the Funds put arrangements in place to
ensure compliance with the regulations.

Responsible officer:
Chief Finance Officer,
Lothian Pension Fund
Implementation date:
As soon as possible,
subject to the
implementation of a
revised financial ledger
system by the Council to
incorporate this
functionality, or
alternatively a separate
procurement by LPF.
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Action plan point

Issue, Risk & Recommendation

Management Comments

3. User access
controls

Issue

Recommendation is
accepted.

Rating

Our review of the journals environment identified that all
City of Edinburgh Council staff with access to Oracle, the
financial ledger system, have the ability to post to the
Funds’ financial ledgers.
Risk

Grade 3

There is a risk that incorrect or fraudulent postings could
be made without detection by the Funds’ officers.

Paragraph ref

Recommendation

Responsible officer:
Chief Finance Officer,
Lothian Pension Fund
Implementation date:
March 2019

While our audit review in respect of the 2017/18 financial
year did not identify any indications of user access being
manipulated, we recommend that the Funds’ officers in
conjunction with City of Edinburgh Council review user
access controls for the financial ledger.

85

Action plan point

Issue, Risk & Recommendation

Management Comments

4. Cyber Essentials

Issue

Recommendation is
accepted. LPF is liaising
with the Council’s Chief
Information Officer to
secure requisite
certification.

In 2017/18 In May 2017, a number of health boards
across NHS Scotland were affected by the Wannacry
global ransomware attack. In response to this the
Scottish Government launched ‘A Cyber Resilience
Strategy for Scotland: Public Sector Action Plan,
2017/18’.

Rating

Grade 3

Paragraph ref
126

The action plan outlines a number of requirements that
public bodies should be taking forward. This includes an
action for public bodies to achieve a Cyber Essentials
Plus certification by the end of October 2018. The Funds
are aware of the work but do not have a formal plan to
achieve certification.

Responsible officer:
Chief Executive Officer,
Lothian Pension Fund
Implementation date:
October 2018

Risk
There is a risk that Lothian Pension Fund are not
compliant with Cyber Essentials by the required Scottish
Government deadline.
Recommendation
We recommend that the Funds make arrangements to
ensure Cyber Essentials certification is achieved bt 31
October 2018.
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Outstanding recommendations from previous audit reports
Action plan point

Issue & Recommendation
Observation

1. Authorisation
of journals

Rating

Grade 3

Our review of the journals
environment found that there
was a lack of segregation of
duties over the posting of
journals. Journals are currently
posted by individuals without an
authorisation process. Journals
can be used to override controls
and create fraudulent errors
therefore it is crucial there are
strong controls in place.
Recommendation
Whilst we were able to obtain
alternative audit evidence to
provide assurance that there
were no material issues with
regards to the posting of
journals, we recommend that a
review process for all journals is
put in place.

Management Comments
Agreed the fund will
undertake a review of the
journals processes.
All parties that use the
Council’s financial systems
are affected by this finding.
The Fund awaits the
Council’s response to the
issue.
The Fund is satisfied that
there are sufficient controls
in place to prevent an
actual cash payment
leaving the Fund without full
authorisation and that the
ability to post journals is
limited to staff authorised to
do so. The system also
records the username of
the person posting the
journal.

Follow up
In 2017/18 we noted
that there is no
authorisation process
in place at the Funds.
A compensating
control has been put in
place which requires
reconciliation of
journals and the
ledger by a separate
member of the finance
team.
Action complete

Action owner: John Burns
Due Date: 31 January
2018

Action plan
point

Issue & Recommendation
Observation

2. Annual
Governance
Statement
Rating

Grade 3

We have reviewed the Funds’
Annual Governance Statement
and identified that
improvements could be made.
To be fully compliant with the
Delivering Good Governance in
Local Government guidance an
action plan outlining the actions
the Funds’ will take to progress
improvements in the Funds’
governance process should be
disclosed.

Management Comments
Agreed to review for next
year’s accounts
Action owner: Struan
Fairbairn
Due Date: 31 March 2018

Follow up
The 2017/18 annual
governance statement
includes details of
actions that will be
taken to improve
governance
arrangements and the
system of internal
control.
Action complete.

Recommendation
We recommend the Funds’
consider the disclosures in the
Annual Governance Statement
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to ensure they are meeting
applicable guidance.

Action plan
point

Issue & Recommendation
Observation

3. Employer
cessation
liabilities
Rating

Grade 3

Lothian Pension Fund has
identified that there are
significant pressures facing the
employing body members of the
Fund. This has increased the
risk of employers defaulting on
payments required to cover the
liability attributable to their
employees.

Recommendation
We recommend that increased
disclosure around the nature of
the risk, the level of at risk
employers within the Fund and
the potential impact on the
funding level is included in the
financial statements.

Management Comments

Follow up

Agreed to review
disclosures in management
commentary for next year’s
accounts after the
completion of the 2017
triennial actuarial valuation.

Additional commentary
has been provided
within the debtors
section of the financial
statements
Action complete

Contingent assets in respect
of Funding Agreements for
employers which have
terminated membership of
the Fund are disclosed to
the extent that such default
protection is provided to any
aligned body (as defined in
the Funding Strategy
Statement) or other
employers in the Fund.
Such contingent assets do
not have a material impact
on net liabilities.
Action owner: John Burns
Due Date: 31 March 2018
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Action plan
point

Issue & Recommendation
Observation

4. Annual
benefits
statements
Rating

Grade 2

The issue of all annual benefit
statements by 31 August 2016
is a requirement of the Local
Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014. In
2016/17 the Funds’ achieved
99.6% of the annual benefits
statements by the deadline.
Recommendation
The Pension Committee
members should consider
whether they deem this to be an
issue which should be selfreferred to the Pension
Regulator.

Management Comments

Follow up

The Funds have considered
this in line with the Pensions
Regulator guidance and do
not feel this would be of
material significance and
therefore have deemed it
unnecessary to declare the
breach to the Pensions
Regulator.

The target for the
proportion of active
members receiving
their annual benefit
statement by 31
August 2017 was
100% but the Funds’
achieved a level of
99.9. The statements
not issued related to
members employed on
a casual basis prior to
March but who did not
contribute to the
scheme up to the end
of the year.
The Funds should
consider if this requires
reporting to the
Pension Regulator.
Responsible officer:
Chief Finance Officer
As previously advised
orally to Pensions
Committee, this was
not considered
sufficiently material to
warrant a voluntary
disclosure to The
Pensions Regulator.
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Appendix 2: Respective responsibilities of
the Pensions Committee and the Auditor
Responsibility for the preparation of the annual report and accounts
It is the responsibility of the Pensions Committee and the Chief Finance Officer, as Accountable Officer, to
prepare financial statements in accordance with the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and directions made
thereunder.
In preparing the annual report and accounts, the Pensions Committee and the Chief Finance Officer, as
Accountable Officer are required to:
•

apply on a consistent basis the accounting policies and standards;

•

make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting (the Code) have not been followed where the effect of the departure is material;

•

prepare the accounts on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Lothian
Pension Fund will continue to operate.

The Chief Finance Officer is also responsible for
•

keeping proper accounting records which are up to date; and

•

taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor responsibilities
We audit the annual report and accounts and give an opinion on whether:
•

give a true and fair view, in accordance with applicable law and the Code, of the state of the affairs of the
Funds as at 31 March 2018 and of the income and expenditure of the Council and its group for the year then
ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted
and adapted by the Code;

•

they have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Scotland) Act
1973, the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 and the Local Government in Scotland Act
2003;

•

the information given in the Management Commentary is consistent with the annual report and financial
statements.

We are also required to report by exception if, in our opinion
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept;

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit;

•

there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective.

Wider scope of audit
The special accountabilities that attach to the conduct of public business, and the use of public money, mean that
public sector audits must be planned and undertaken from a wider perspective than in the private sector. This
means providing assurance, not only on the annual report and financial statements, but providing audit
judgements and conclusions on the appropriateness, effectiveness and impact of corporate governance and
performance management arrangements and financial sustainability.

Scott-Moncrieff
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The Code frames a significant part of our wider scope responsibilities in terms of four audit dimensions. As part
of our annual audit we will consider and report against these four dimensions: financial management; financial
sustainability; governance and transparency; and value for money.

Independence
We are required by International Standards on Auditing to communicate on a timely basis all facts and matters
that may have a bearing on our independence. We can confirm that we have complied with the Financial
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard.
In addition to our work on the Funds we are also responsible for the audit of the financial statements of LPFE Ltd
and LPFI Ltd, the subsidiaries of Lothian Pension Fund. In addition to the audit of the subsidiaries, ScottMoncrieff provides accounts preparation, corporation tax services and ad hoc VAT advice to both LPFE Ltd and
LPFI Ltd.
All tax services are provided by an independent tax partner and staff who have no involvement in the audit of the
financial statements.
The accounts are prepared from trial balances provided by LPFE Ltd and LPFI Ltd and no significant policies,
disclosures, adjustments or estimates are decided by Scott-Moncrieff.
Moore Stephens provided a Financial Conduct Authority Compliance review for LPFI Ltd. The team is
independent of Scott-Moncrieff and has no involvement in the audit of Lothian Pension Fund or its subsidiaries.
In our professional judgement the audit process has been independent and our objectivity has not been
compromised. In particular, there have been no relationships between Scott-Moncrieff and the Pensions
Committee or senior management that may reasonably be thought to bear on our objectivity and independence.

Scott-Moncrieff
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Foreword
Report by the Convener of the Pensions Committee

Following the Council Elections in May 2017 I was reappointed as Convener of City
of Edinburgh Council’s Pensions Committee for a second term. I am therefore
delighted, once again to present the Annual Report and Accounts for the three
Funds: Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes
Pension Fund.
This year the Funds completed their 2017 actuarial valuations which set
contribution rates for employers for the three years from 1 April 2018. The funding
levels of all three Funds increased from the actuarial valuation in 2014, with good asset returns offsetting increases
in the value of the liabilities. Lower interest rates continue to be a challenge to the pension funds and its employers.
The actuarial valuations are a significant undertaking from both staff within the Funds, our employers and our Actuary
and I would like to thank them for the months of work involved.
2017 also saw the creation of the Fund’s Joint Investment Strategy Panel, working alongside Falkirk Council Pension
Fund. This is a new phase in our collaborative partnership which should bring further opportunities and efficiencies.
Finally, during the year Sarah Smart stepped down as the Fund’s Independent Professional Observer, a position she
has held since March 2013. I would like to record my thanks and those of all members of the Pensions Committee and
Pension Board for the valuable contribution Sarah made during her time with the Funds.
Councillor Alasdair Rankin
Convener, Pensions Committee, City of Edinburgh Council
Report by the Convener of the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee

The Pensions Audit Sub-Committee, of which I am the Convener, assesses the controls
the Funds have in place to ensure effective, efficient and value for money operations.
Over 2017/18, the Sub-Committee met four times and one of the key duties is to
consider the Funds accounts and the subsequent external audit of them.
Other key areas the Sub-Committee review include the findings from internal audits,
considered risk assurance, fraud prevention, tax recovery on investment income and
investment custodian services. I believe the Audit Sub-Committee plays a valuable role
in the governance of the pension funds and adds value to members and employers.
Councillor Cameron Rose
Convener, Audit Sub Committee, City of Edinburgh Council
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Report by the Chair of the Pension Board

The Pension Board forms part of the governance structure that ensures management and
administration of the pension funds in accordance with the applicable law and regulation,
working together with the Pensions Committee to provide oversight of the Funds
operations in a transparent and collaborative manner. The Board is made up of five
employer and five member representatives and I have had the pleasure of being a
Pension Board member since its establishment in April 2015, serving as Chair this past
year. During this year we saw a number of changes in the make-up of the Board with two
new members joining, Diane Hogarth and Brian Robertson, while Catrina Warren and Eric
Adair both stepped down. I would like to thank both Catrina and Eric for the work they
have done with the Board.
The Board attends all meetings of the Pensions Committee and Audit Sub Committee and actively participates in the
Funds’ governance. Members of the Board undertook 320 hours of training within the year to ensure they are
equipped with the knowledge and understanding to enable them to properly exercise the functions of a pension board
member. This year the Board reviewed its approach to ensuring members have a good understanding and oversight
of the Funds’ compliance with The Pension Regulator’s code of practice. An agenda planning document was
developed to ensure regular Board review of the Funds’ alignment with Pensions Regulator guidance, as well as
extending the quarterly Pension Board meetings, allowing more time for this compliance activity in addition to critical
review of the quarterly Committee papers. Most recently the Board received an update on the Funds’ data quality
from the scheme manager. Each year, the position of Chair of the Pension Board rotates and I am pleased to say that
Jim Anderson was selected to take on the role of Board Chair from 1 April 2018. I look forward to continuing to support
the Funds as a regular Board member in future.
Darren May
Scottish Water employer representative and Chair of the Pension Board
Report by the Independent Professional Observer

The Observer role is to assist the Pensions Committee and Pension Board undertake their
governance responsibilities effectively and efficiently. Over the year, I provided support
to allow them to carry out their roles ensuring the Funds comply with relevant pension
legislation and requirements set by The Pensions Regulator.
As with previous years, I held surgeries before each Committee meeting to allow
Pensions Committee and Pension Board members to raise questions with me, working
collaboratively and efficiently together to ensure their joint oversight of the pension
funds. The issues were wide ranging and included investment, actuarial valuations and
collaboration and these have all been considered alongside the Funds’ normal
business. The quality of engagement and discussion over the year has demonstrated a
high standard of governance within the Funds. This is my final report as Independent Professional Observer for the
Funds. I have enjoyed working with the Pensions Committee and Pension Board and am happy to have contributed
to the Funds’ governance and the Committee and Board’s knowledge on pension matters.
Sarah Smart
Independent Professional Observer to February 2018
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Management commentary
Introduction
2017 Actuarial Valuations

During the year, the triennial assessment of the funding position of the pension funds was undertaken by the Funds’
Actuary. In general, the results showed that despite better than expected asset returns since the 2014 actuarial
valuation, employer costs increased due to a reduction in future expected investment returns. The Funding Strategy
Statement was reviewed and amended following consultation with employers.
For Lothian Pension Fund, the funding level increased from 91% at 31 March 2014 to 98% at this valuation. The deficit
decreased from £417million at 31 March 2014 to £145million at 31 March 2017. Reflecting the differences in the
employers in the Fund, a third investment strategy was introduced for employers which are closed to new entrants
but not close to exiting the Fund. To avoid time-consuming employer appeals of the results of the actuarial valuation,
this year the Fund introduced a requirement for employers to provide written confirmation that minimum
contribution rates set by the Actuary are affordable. It is not in the best interests of the individual employers or the
Fund for employers to continue to accrue unaffordable pension liabilities. Four employers indicated that the
minimum contribution rates are unaffordable and the Fund is working with them to manage their exit from the Fund.
The Fund continues to work with employers to put in place funding agreement to address repayment of debt when
an employer leaves, in order to avoid employer default or insolvency.
For Lothian Buses Pension Fund, the funding level on the ongoing basis has risen from 117% in 2014 to 121% at 31
March 2017, showing a surplus of £84million. In comparison, the funding level on a low risk (gilts) basis was 89%,
with a deficit of £59million. The actuarial valuation was signed by the Actuary on the basis that the company will
continue to pay deficit contributions (if necessary) after the last active member leaves the Fund and it will continue
to adopt a long-term investment approach. The company’s Admission Agreement is being updated accordingly to
strengthen governance and affirm the employer covenant. Further, it was agreed, following consultation with
stakeholders and on completion of the revised Admission Agreement, to transfer the assets and liabilities of the
Lothian Buses Pension Fund into the Lothian Pension Fund. This merger is expected to deliver investment efficiencies
and administrative savings, whilst the assets attributable to this employer retains a bespoke investment strategy.
The funding level for Scottish Homes Pension Fund at 31 March 2017 was 104.7%, increased from 88.8% from the
2014 actuarial valuation. Consultation was undertaken with the Scottish Government on the potential benefits
offered by revising the Funding Agreement for this Fund. However, it advised that it does not wish to revisit this and
as a result the investments of the Fund are now fully invested in index-linked government bonds and cash.
Cashflow & Investment

All three Funds delivered single digit positive performance over the year, with strong global equity market
performance tempered by the strength of sterling. Lothian Pension Fund’s assets have increased by £60million, with
investments returning 1.4% over the year. The internal team manages a significant proportion of assets of all three
pension funds in-house.
For Lothian Pension Fund this includes approximately £3.4billion of listed assets specifically designed to provide
downside protection in times of market stress, together with a currency hedging programme.
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The expenditure of all three pension funds continues to exceed income. The investment strategies of the Funds have
targeted investment income in recent years and this is expected to exceed net cashflow for the foreseeable future.
It is therefore not anticipated that the sale of investments will be required to meet this funding requirement. Changes
in membership of the Funds have implications for cashflow. On retirement there are immediate outflows due to the
payment of tax free lump sums and pensions and a reduction to inflows as contributions cease. However, payment
of strain costs by employers on early retirements helps to mitigate current cashflow pressures.
Lothian Pension Fund is now in a negative cash flow position where payments exceed contributions received. The
Fund has targeted increased investment income in recent years and this is expected to exceed net cashflow for the
foreseeable future. It is therefore not anticipated that the sale of investments will be required to meet this funding
requirement. Lothian Buses and Scottish Homes Pension Funds expenditure continues to exceed income as both
funds are closed to new members with Scottish Homes Pension Fund having no members paying in to the scheme.
Investment income funds these shortfalls, together with asset sales for Scottish Homes Pension Fund.
The Pensions Committee regularly considers the legal responsibilities of administering the Funds and its fiduciary duty
to members and employers. Non-compliance with the fiduciary duty could leave the Council and Pensions Committee
open to legal challenge or otherwise have an adverse impact on the Council, the Funds and their stakeholders. There
continues to be significant lobbying from external interest groups on certain investments and the Funds continue to
engage with these groups as appropriate.
Customer Service

The quality of membership data continues to be a key area of focus for the Funds to ensure we meet standards set
by The Pensions Regulator. All employers are now providing monthly contribution data for each member which is
enabling us to see changes in membership quickly and hence provide a better service. It continues to be a challenge
to obtain information from some employers regarding members who have left the scheme. That said, the service
continues to be rated highly with 95% of customers assessing the service as ‘excellent’.
During the year, the Funds completed a tender for its pensions administration system, combining the current three
systems into one contract to deliver a more integrated, efficient and cost-effective service. Contractual terms and
conditions are being finalised with the preferred supplier.
Good progress continues to be made with reconciling pension records for Guaranteed Minimum Pensions ahead of
the HMRC deadline in December 2018, with notably this being achieved entirely through internal staff resourcing.
Staffing

In 2015, key investment staff were transferred to LPFE Limited in order to introduce new terms and conditions to
reduce retention and recruitment risks facing the Funds. In February 2018, the Funds’ remaining staff transferred to
LPFE Limited following consultation with staff and trades unions.
Employing all staff in one organisation will facilitate the collaborative efforts with other local government pension
funds and ensure a consistent approach to resourcing.
We also undertook a gender pay gap analysis for the first time this year. We have 57 employees split as 24 male and
33 female. The overall mean and median gender pay gap based on hourly rates of pay was 38.9% and 43.9%
respectively.
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The figures excluding the Investment Management Team were 16.4% and 0.0% respectively. This data shows that
men employed by the Fund are paid, on average, more than women. Although this reflects the industry norm for
Investment Management firms, we intend to break that mould and seek innovative ways to achieve gender balance.
Collaboration with other Pension Funds

Collaboration brings tangible benefits to both Lothian Pension Fund and its collaborative partners by investing in
greater scale and for other funds to benefit from the commercial advantage of the in-house team. In addition, sharing
costs between collaborating funds allows reinvestment in systems and the in-house team to improve long-term
sustainability.
Lothian Pension Fund has provided Falkirk Council Pension Fund with support on investment matters, including
assisting with infrastructure investing, over recent years. During the year, a Joint Investment Strategy Panel was
established, advising the Finance Directors of each administrating authority (the City of Edinburgh Council and Falkirk
Council) on implementation of their respective investment strategies. This collaborative structure is expected to
deliver significant efficiencies. The Pensions Committee of the respective Councils continue to retain responsibility
for their investment strategy and the assets of Lothian Pension Funds and Falkirk Council Pension Fund will remain
separate.
Over the last year, Lothian collaborated with Falkirk Council Pension Fund on seven infrastructure investments. A
staff secondment arrangement shares internal staff costs between the Funds and Falkirk, supporting Falkirk’s strategy
to increase its allocation to UK, European and Global infrastructure and giving both Funds greater scale and so access
to opportunities that would not have otherwise been available.
Lothian Pension Fund has also continued its collaboration in private markets investment with other Local Government
Pension Scheme partners, Falkirk Council Pension Fund and Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’
Superannuation Committee and, over the year, Scottish Borders Pension Fund joined the collaboration.
Awards

The Fund retained the Customer Service Excellence award in 2017/18 for the tenth year. A new assessor carried out
the assessment this year. The assessor’s feedback included that “Lothian Pension Fund are long term holders of the
Customer Service Excellence Standard and is to be congratulated in retaining its accreditation and its endorsement of
CSE as a key driver for customer focused development.” In March 2017, the Fund gained accreditation from Pension
Administration Standards Association (PASA), following a three-day visit and our assessment for reaccreditation will
take place in 2019.
The Fund received two pension industry awards this year. At the LAPF Investment Awards 2017, the Fund won LGPS
Fund of the Year (over £2.5billion) for Lothian Pension Fund and at the Professional Pension’s Pension Scheme of the
Year Awards won the DB Scheme of the Year (under £500m) for Lothian Buses Pension Fund.
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Challenges

The Funds’ Service Plan for 2018-2020 shows our plans for the coming years and outlines our ambitions and values:
•

to provide an excellent service to our members and employers;

•

to provide funding and investment strategies for employers to manage affordability and mitigate risk; and

•

to be a partner of choice for other local government pension funds to improve efficiency and sustainability.

The challenge to improve the quality of member data is ongoing. For 2018/19, we have introduced a broader set of
performance measures so that we can continue to improve our service. We will continue to liaise with employers to
improve the speed of transfer.
New data protection legislation comes into force in May 2018 and the Funds are reviewing and updating processes
accordingly. Changes to the Scheme regulations are also expected in 2018 which will bring additional flexibility for
members with early retirement and additional voluntary contributions. We will need to communicate these changes
to members and employers, and change processes accordingly.
A review of the structure of the Scottish LGPS is expected to be carried out in 2018 which will consider the number of
funds across Scotland. We will participate in this consultation and meanwhile we will continue to explore wider
opportunities for collaboration to improve services and sustainability.
There will be further oversight and scrutiny of the Funds when the Government analyses the 2017 actuarial valuations
of all funds in Scotland and the cost of the benefits in relation to the employer cost cap.
There has always been interest from members and specific campaign groups in investments and over recent years
this has increased significantly. There is an ongoing need to be clear, open and transparent in communicating
investment strategy and the way in which the Funds must invest in the best interests of members and employers.

Stephen Moir
Executive Director of Resources
The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018

Clare Scott
Chief Executive
Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018
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Governance
The City of Edinburgh Council is the administering authority for the Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
in the Lothian area. The Council administers the benefits and invests the assets of three LGPS funds, Lothian Pension
Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund.
Lothian Pension Fund is the second largest LGPS fund in Scotland with assets of £6.7 billion, 90 employers with
active members and over 79,000 members.
The Lothian Buses Pension Fund holds assets of £0.5 billion and 3,700 members, while Scottish Homes Pension Fund
investments amount to £0.16 billion with 1,600 members.
The Funds maintains a comprehensive website for easy access to all relevant pension information and this is found at
www.lpf.org.uk. This includes the Annual Report & Accounts of the three pension funds, Statement of Investment
Principles, Funding Strategy Statement and Pensions Administration Strategy and Pensions Discretions Policy.
The Pensions Committee and Pensions Audit Sub-Committee

The day to day running of the Funds is delegated to a specialist team who undertake pension administration,
accounting and investment functions, managing the majority of the Funds’ assets internally.
All pension matters are delegated to the Pensions Committee of the Council, supported by the Audit Sub Committee,
and its members act as ‘quasi trustees’. Both Committees held four meetings during the year. The table below shows
the Committee members before the Local Government elections held on 4 May 2017 and following the appointment
of members by the Council on 29 June 2017.

1 April 2017 to 3 May 2017
Pensions Committee
Councillor Alasdair Rankin (Convener)
Councillor Maureen Child
Councillor Jim Orr
Councillor Bill Cook
Councillor Cameron Rose
John Anzani (member representative, Midlothian
Council)
Richard Lamont (employer representative,
VisitScotland)

From 29 June 2017 to 31 March 2018
Pensions Committee
Councillor Alasdair Rankin (Convener)
Councillor Maureen Child
Councillor Adam McVey (to 14 March 2018)
Councillor Claire Miller
Councillor Cameron Rose
Councillor Neil Ross (from 15 March 2018)
John Anzani (member representative, Midlothian
Council)
Richard Lamont (employer representative,
VisitScotland)

Pensions Audit Sub-Committee

Pensions Audit Sub-Committee

Councillor Cameron Rose (Convener)
Councillor Jim Orr
Councillor Bill Cook

Councillor Cameron Rose (Convener)
Councillor Maureen Child
John Anzani (member representative, Midlothian
Council)
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The Pension Board

The Pension Board was set up on the 1 April 2015 as a result of the Public Services Pensions Act 2013 and the Local
Government Pension Scheme (Governance) (Scotland) Regulations 2014.
The role of the Pension Board is to help ensure that the operation of the Funds is in accordance with the applicable
law and regulation as described above. The Board attends all Pensions Committee meetings and has appointed two
representatives to attend Pensions Audit Sub-Committee meetings. The membership comprises of ten members, five
representatives appointed from the employer bodies and five representatives appointed by trade unions for the
membership of the Funds.
The Pension Board membership for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 was as follows.
vacancies as of 31 March 2018.

There were two

Member representatives
Jim Anderson
Unison
Catrina Warren
Unison (to 20 March 2018)
Thomas Carr Pollock
GMB
Diane Hogarth
Unite (from 13 September 2017)
Brian Robertson Unite (from 4 August 2017)
Employer representatives
Eric Adair
EDI Group (to 26 March 2018)
Darren May (Chair)
Scottish Water
Sharon Dalli
Police Scotland
Paul Ritchie
East Lothian Council
Alan Williamson Edinburgh College
Pensions Committee and Pension Board training

The Committee and Board members must attend no less than 21 hours of training per year as outlined in the Funds’
training policy which is available on our website at www.lpf.org.uk. All new members of the Pensions Committee and
Pension Board attend induction training. Other training provided internally covered topics including governance and
the joint investment strategy panel, climate change and company engagement, actuarial valuation and the FCA, as
well as sessions on collaboration and the LGPS Governance Review.
Committee and Board representatives also attended external conferences including the Pensions and Lifetime Savings
Association Local Authority Investment Conference 2017 and the 2017 Local Authority Pension Fund Forum Annual
conference. Six members of the Committee and all Pension Board members achieved the required training hours
during 2017/18. Pensions Committee members collectively attended 249 hours of training over the year and
members of the Pension Board undertook 320 training hours.
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Joint Investment Strategy Panel

Investment strategy guidance to the Committee is provided by a Joint Investment Strategy Panel (JISP), working in
collaboration with the Falkirk Council Pension Fund. The JISP meets quarterly and includes senior officers and external
investment advisers (currently Scott Jamieson and Gordon Bagot). The Pensions Committee of each pension fund
agree their own investment strategy but delegate the implementation of strategy, including selection of investment
managers, to officers. The JISP advises both pension fund administrating authorities on implementation of investment
strategy. The assets of Lothian Pension Fund and Falkirk Council Pension Fund remain separate.
Lothian Pension Fund staff

The team is employed by an arms-length company, LPFE Limited (LPFE), which is wholly owned by the Council (in its
capacity as administering authority for the Funds) and it is supervised by a board of directors chaired by the Council’s
Executive Director of Resources and includes the Convener of the Pensions Committee. The team requires to carry
out certain of its activities for the Funds through its Financial Conduct Authority authorised vehicle, LPFI Limited (LPFI).
LPFI is also wholly owned by the Council (in its capacity as administering authority for the Funds). LPFI is supervised
by a board of directors chaired by the Council’s Head of Finance. Both the boards of LPFI and LPFE comprise an
independent non-executive director (Leslie Robb). All the operations, costs and liabilities in relation to the Funds,
including those of LPFE and LPFI, are borne by the Funds.
The day-to-day running of the three pension Funds is carried out by the Lothian Pension Fund group, comprising the
investment and pensions team within the City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the administering
authority of the Funds), LPFE and LPFI (the LPF Group). The LPF Group’s functions includes investment, pension
administration, employer liaison, data quality, customer support, accounting, legal, risk and compliance,
communications and general business support. The investment responsibilities include carrying out in-house
investment management and the monitoring and selection of external investment managers, as well as external
facing collaborative initiatives with other like-minded pension funds.
In 2015, key investment staff were transferred to LPFE. As part of the transfer new terms and conditions were
introduced to enable the Funds to more effectively manage the risks and controls around its staff and enable it to
pursue its collaborative initiatives for the benefit of the Fund’s stakeholders within an acceptable tolerance or risk.
The remaining staff were transferred to LPFE in January 2018 so that all staff within the LPF Group are employed by
LPFE.
Over the year, senior officers from the Council were:
Stephen Moir, Executive Director of Resources, The City of Edinburgh Council
Hugh Dunn, Head of Finance, The City of Edinburgh Council
Katy Miller, Head of Human Resources, The City of Edinburgh Council.
And senior officers from LPFE were:
Clare Scott, Chief Executive Officer of Lothian Pension Fund
Bruce Miller, Chief Investment Officer of Lothian Pension Fund
Struan Fairbairn, Chief Risk Officer of Lothian Pension Fund
John Burns, Chief Finance Officer of Lothian Pension Fund
Esmond Hamilton, Financial Controller of Lothian Pension Fund.
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Scheme Advisory Board

The Scheme Advisory Board for the Local Government Pension Scheme in Scotland was set up following the Public
Service Pensions Act 2013. The Board’s main function is to advise Scottish Ministers, when requested, on the
desirability of changes to the Scheme. They can also provide advice to scheme managers and pension boards in
relation to effective and efficient administration and management of the Scheme in Scotland.
The membership of the Scheme Advisory Board comprises of seven member representatives and seven employer
representatives with a Joint Secretary to support each group. During the year, Councillor Rankin was a member and
Vice-Chair of the Scheme Advisory Board and Fund officers have also advised the Board and Joint Secretaries. There
is more information on the Scheme Advisory Board at www.lgpsab.scot.
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Investment
Investment markets

For the 12 months to 31 March 2018, UK equities returned +1.3%, and global equities (in sterling terms) returned
+2.4%. Equity market returns for sterling-based investors were dampened by the strength of the pound over the year
(global equities returned +11.3% in local currency terms), which reversed much of the fall in value that followed the
UK referendum in June 2016. The sharp fall in equity markets during the first quarter of 2018 was also a factor, with
markets falling as much as 10% from their January 2018 highs to their lows in late March, before stabilising at the end
of the quarter.

Market returns
12 months to 31 March 2018
15.0%

10.0%

5.0%

0.0%

-5.0%

Global Equities (MSCI ACWI - GBP)

UK Equities (FTSE All Share)

UK Property

High Yield Bonds (Europe)

Index Linked Gilts (15 years+)

Government bond yields in most major markets were broadly unchanged, before rising in early 2018 as stronger US
inflation data pushed up expectations that the US Federal Reserve would raise rates faster than previously anticipated,
having already raised interest rates three times over 2017. Credit and high yield bond spreads also were broadly
unchanged over the year, with high yield spreads in both the US and Europe trading close to their historic lows.
In the UK, the Bank of England increased its base rate as expected in November 2017. However, this was also
accompanied by commentary at the time suggesting that further rate rises were less imminent given the Bank’s
cautious outlook for the economy as the path to the UK’s exit from the European Union remains unclear. In Europe,
2017 saw significant positive economic momentum, though more recent data emerging in first quarter of 2018
suggested that economic activity was beginning to slow.
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Over the year, the OECD raised its global economic growth forecast for 2017 and for 2018. While the latest global
outlook has turned more positive, there remains significant dispersion at country level with the UK economic outlook
the weakest of the major economies.
Following the passing of Trump’s tax reform programme late in 2017, equities continued to march higher through
January, before volatility in late January sent risk assets sharply lower before stabilising in March. Looking ahead,
investors face the prospect of further tightening of monetary policy in the US, alongside concerns around increased
protectionism and ongoing geo-political tensions concerning Russia, the Middle East and Korea.
Investment strategies

The investment strategies for all three funds reflect the long-term plans to maintain an acceptable balance between
contribution stability and the achievement of positive long term real returns from the assets owned. These plans
were initially set during 2012, and reviewed again in 2015/2016, taking into account the results of the 2014 actuarial
valuations.
At 31 March 2018, the three funds (Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension
Fund) were all invested in range of their target asset allocations, as expected. A review of the Funds’ investment
strategies will be undertaken again over 2018/2019, taking into account the results of the 2017 actuarial valuations.

Lothian Pension Fund
To provide suitable investment strategies for the
differing requirements of employers, Lothian Pension
Fund currently operates two investment strategies.
Most employer liabilities are funded under Strategy 1,
which adopts a long-term investment strategy, aiming
to maximise the investment return within reasonable
and considered risk parameters and hence minimise the
cost to the employer. The investment strategy is set at
the broad asset class level of Equities, Index-Linked Gilts
and Alternatives, which are the key determinants of
investment risk and return.

Lothian Pension Fund - Strategy 1
Actual Asset Allocation (%) at 31 March 2018
1
Equity

29

7

Index Linked Assets

63

Alternatives
Cash

A small number of employers are funded in Strategy 2, which invests in a portfolio of UK index-linked gilts to reduce
funding level and contribution rate risk to a level appropriate to their circumstances. The liabilities funded by Strategy
2 represent less than 1% of total Lothian Pension Fund liabilities.
As part of the 2017 actuarial valuation, an additional investment strategy was implemented at the end of the year.
For employers who are closed to new members but do not yet qualify for Strategy 2 that aims for the middle ground
between Strategy 1 and the lower risk Strategy 2.
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Lothian Buses Pension Fund
A long-term strategy allocation is in place for the Lothian
Buses Pension Fund for the five-year period 2016-21. This
was agreed by the Pensions Committee as part of the
updated 2015/2016 strategy review. This involves making
changes to the asset allocation over that timeframe
reflecting the requirement for greater funding stability as
the Fund grows and matures. (The Fund is closed to new
entrants and is maturing at a faster pace than the Lothian
Pension Fund.) In addition, as Lothian Buses Pension Fund
is defined in regulations as a sub-fund of Lothian Pension
Fund, the Pensions Committee agreed that the option for
it to be merged into Lothian Pension Fund would be
explored in consultation with stakeholders.

Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Actual Asset Allocation (%) at 31 March 2018
8

Equity

3

Index Linked Assets

19
Other Real Assets

55
15

Fixed Income
Assets
Cash

During the year to 31 March 2018, Lothian Pension Fund and Lothian Buses Pension Fund continued to reduce their
equity allocations. This was achieved by redirecting, rather than re-investing, dividend income from equities and
distributions from the Funds’ private equity holdings. There were increased allocations to alternative assets, including
infrastructure investments in the UK and overseas, and further investments in private debt. Over the past 10+ years,
the Funds have built a portfolio of private market assets in equity, debt, real estate, timber and especially in
infrastructure, which is the largest proportion of the private market assets held and is described in more detail below.

Scottish Homes Pension Fund
For Scottish Homes Pension Fund, the year to 31
March 2018 has seen further change. This follows on
from the changes at the end of the prior year in
March 2017, when the bond and equity portfolios
were brought in-house, with the bonds restructured
to improve cash-flow matching of the assets with
future liability payments.

Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Actual Asset Allocation (%) at 31 March 2018
8
Index Linked Assets
Cash

92

In September 2017, the fund’s target equity
allocation was reduced from 15% to 10% as the
estimated funding level improved. Over the year, the
results of the 2017 actuarial valuation showed a funding level of 104%+, significantly ahead of expectations and
achieved primarily through better than anticipated investment returns. Discussions with the Scottish Government, as
guarantor to the Fund confirmed that it preferred that the Fund disinvest its remaining equity and property allocation.
At 31 March 2018, the Scottish Homes Pension Fund was invested in index-linked gilts and cash, structured to broadly
match the expected liability payments as they fall due.
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Strategies for all three funds are implemented and monitored by an experienced internal team of investment
professionals supported by external advisers. Over recent years, the internal team has expanded with very positive
effects on costs and capabilities. This is reflected in two structural shifts. Firstly, the percentage of Lothian Pension
Fund’s listed equity assets managed internally has risen from 23% to 85% and most publicly traded bond assets are
also now managed internally. Secondly, the Fund has altered the construction of the listed equity portfolios,
increasing the global mandates from 32% to more than 85%. Despite these large changes in Lothian Pension Fund,
performance has been ahead of benchmark by 1.0% per year over the last five years and this has been achieved with
lower risk than the benchmark. The Fund’s guiding principle is to use strong internal investment capabilities to their
maximum potential and to retain external managers for specialist mandates.
Infrastructure Investment

Infrastructure investment continues to receive publicity as governments and politicians encourage public pension
funds to increase their investment in this area. Infrastructure investments have the potential to generate attractive
risk-adjusted returns, with cash flows often linked to inflation. The long-term and defensive nature of these assets
also can provide an element of diversification to the Funds’ investment strategies.
Over the last decade, the Fund has developed its reputation, networking and execution capabilities to secure access
to investment opportunities within this market niche. The Funds’ experienced team appraises, and invests in primary
and secondary funds as well as co-investments, to achieve its target allocation in a cost-effective manner. An
important element of the implementation strategy is to work closely with investment managers to ensure execution
certainty and to diligence the commercial and legal terms.
Infrastructure investments represented 11.4% of the value of Lothian Pension Fund assets at 31 March 2018,
comprising one of the largest and most diversified allocations among UK LGPS funds. Lothian Buses Pension Fund
investments in infrastructure accounted for 9.6% at 31 March 2018. Of the combined £795 million (31 March 2017:
£730m) invested in infrastructure across both funds, the majority (64%) is invested in the UK.
During 2017/18, Lothian Pension Fund and Lothian Buses Pension Fund completed one primary fund investment,
acquired two secondary fund interests at discounts to net asset value and invested in five co-investment and/or
specified asset investment vehicles. Approximately £105 million has been invested over the year in UK, European and
Global infrastructure assets. During the same period, £138 million has been distributed to the Funds.
Investments are across a diverse range of projects, in the areas of:
• social infrastructure (including hospitals, schools and roads);
•

regulated utilities (including water and electricity);

•

energy & renewables (including solar, wind and hydro, as well as oil and gas storage and distribution);

•

transportation (including airports, ports and rail); and

•

others (including waste management, car parks and smart meters).
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The geographic and sector exposures for the combined Lothian Pension Fund and Lothian Buses Pension Fund
infrastructure allocations (at 31 March 2018) are shown in the charts below.

The market value of infrastructure investments in the UK at 31 March 2018 was £507 million. The map and table
below shows the location of the Funds’ 20 largest major UK infrastructure investments, representing c74% of the UK
total (c£375m).
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Responsible Investment

The Funds have been a strong proponent of responsible investment for many years. It became a signatory to the
Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) in 2008. The PRI, which is supported by the United Nations, encourages
investors to use responsible investment to enhance returns and better manage risks. By implementing the six
principles (https://www.unpri.org/pri/about-the-pri), the goal of signatories is to develop a more sustainable global
financial system.
The PRI undertakes a detailed annual assessment of each signatory and its responsible investment activities. It
publishes its findings in two reports (Transparency and Assessment) and, for Lothian Pension Fund, these can be found
on the Fund’s website. The Assessment Report benchmarks performance against the Funds’ history and against peers,
and the latest report published in 2017 is very favourable. The Funds are a signatory to the Financial Reporting Council
(FRC) UK Stewardship Code. The UK Stewardship Code provides seven principles that institutional investors should
adhere to. Lothian Pension Fund is classed as a Tier 1 signatory, due to its close adherence to the code. The Funds
also participates in the CDP (Carbon Disclosure Project), an international disclosure system that enables companies,
cities, states and regions to measure and manage their environmental impacts.
The Funds receives queries about its approach to responsible investment on a regular basis. In particular, there are
groups that lobby for the divestment of certain company shares, or those that operate in certain industries or in
certain geographies on ethical grounds. Examples include companies operating in the defense arena, the extraction
of fossil fuels and the sale of tobacco or alcohol, and companies operating in controversial areas of the world, such as
the occupied territories of Palestine. The issues raised by lobby groups often involve complex social, legal and moral
issues.
Whilst the Funds are sympathetic to some of the issues raised, it has its own obligations to fulfil within the constraints
of the legal setting. The Funds’ policy on responsible investment stems from its fiduciary duty to its members and
employers, which was endorsed by a legal opinion in September 2016 on the responsibilities of Scottish Local
Government Pension Scheme funds (available to view at www.lgpsab.scot).
Its approach is widely followed across the industry and reflects the fact that its primary objective is to pay pensions
to its members when they fall due and it strives to do this by investing in a responsible manner, which includes
engagement with companies. It does not have a policy of exclusion. Its policy is to engage with the companies in
which it owns shares with a view to improving corporate behaviour to the benefit of shareholders. By doing this, the
Funds aim to satisfy its most important social responsibility, which is to its members and employers by providing
pensions, and it believes that this approach will also provide wider societal benefits.
It is important to note that the Funds invest only in legal businesses and that it is an active shareholder with a view to
enhancing the long-term value of its investments. Environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues are taken into
consideration in the investment process in a manner which is consistent with its fiduciary duty to provide the highest
standard of stewardship on behalf of the members and employers.
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Investment Process

The Funds’ (and the industry’s) investment processes have evolved over the years to include a greater focus on ESG
issues, risks and opportunities. ESG issues can clearly affect the financial performance of the companies in which the
Funds invests. As a signatory to the Principles for Responsible Investment, the Funds are obliged to incorporate ESG
issues into investment analysis and decision-making processes (Principle 1).
Investment opportunities are assessed with a view to meeting a required level of financial return in the context of
achieving an appropriate level of risk, and ESG issues are part of that assessment. ESG factors are an important
element of investment risk and opportunity, and there is evidence that the shares of companies with improving ESG
ratings are better investments than those that are simply highly rated. As such, engaging with companies to improve
their positions on ESG issues can lead to better long-term outcomes for the Funds. However, it is also important to
note that the Funds do disinvest from shares where it considers financial risk to be unrewarded.
The Funds’ internal portfolios are actively managed using both fundamental and quantitative investment processes.
For the portfolios managed on a fundamental basis, ESG factors are formally assessed as part of the due diligence
process before shares are purchased, supported by the research of a specialist third party service (currently MSCI ESG
Research), which provides ESG specific data, analysis and research to help identify the risks and opportunities that
companies face. This ensures that consideration of ESG factors can be applied to the investment process using data
that has been collated in a consistent manner.
The Funds’ external managers are also selected and appointed after due consideration of their approach to integrating
ESG considerations into their investment processes. Their activities, including scrutiny of how ESG considerations
affected investment decisions, are monitored by the Funds quarterly.
Climate Change

Climate change concerns have prompted governments around the world to implement policies to limit global
temperature increases. The Funds’ recognise that such policies will affect ‘fossil fuel’ companies in a significant way.
However not all ‘fossil fuels’ are equal. Gas is much cleaner than coal - gas and renewables are expected to grow their
share of the energy mix at the expense of coal. Many ‘fossil fuel’ companies are investing heavily in cleaner fuels and
renewables – while they are part of the problem, they are also part of the solution.
Lothian Pension Fund has carried out a carbon footprint exercise to aid research, engagement and monitoring
activities. The results show a footprint almost identical to its benchmark although it should be noted that there are
limitations on the data used in these exercises. The Funds believes that divestment of ‘fossil fuels’ as a policy will have
little or no impact on company operations.
As highlighted above, the Funds have been researching opportunities and invests in the renewable sector within the
private market for several years with renewables, including wind, solar and hydro assets, valued at £113m at 31 March
2018.
Voting and Engagement

Robust arrangements are in place to ensure that the Funds’ shareholdings are monitored and appropriate voting and
engagement activity is undertaken with the aim of bringing about positive long-term change at companies through a
focused and value-oriented approach. Share ownership brings with it the right to engage with management to affect
strategic change in a positive direction. Divestment relinquishes that right.
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During 2017/18, voting and engagement activities related to the Funds’ shareholdings were largely undertaken by
Hermes Equity Ownership Services (EOS), with Baillie Gifford taking responsibility for the investments they manage
on behalf of the Funds. A summary of these activities is provided in the charts below. The Funds’ influence with
investee companies is enhanced through Hermes EOS’ aggregate representation for over £330bn in assets at 31
March 2018.
Hermes EOS collates voting and engagement data for the Funds and reports this for calendar year periods. During
calendar year 2017, the Funds voted at the annual meetings of the 517 companies in which it was invested. There
were votes on 7,446 resolutions, and the Funds opposed 614 of them. In addition, Hermes EOS engaged on the Funds’
behalf with companies across the world on topics such as board structure, executive compensation and climate
change. More details can be found on the Funds’ website www.lpf.org.uk.

191 ongoing company
engagements
by region
11

Environmental

Developed Asia

9

43
41

86

598 engagement objectives by
theme

Emerging and
Frontier Markets
Europe
North America

96

88

Social and ethical
156

Governance

258
Strategy, risk and
communications

UK

Engagement activities are also undertaken on behalf of the Funds and approximately 70 other UK Local Government
Pension Scheme in the UK by the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). Councillor Alasdair Rankin, Convener
of the Pensions Committee, is a member of the Executive Committee of the LAPFF. Membership of the LAPFF
Executive entails meeting with the boards of companies and attending company Annual General Meetings to
represent shareholders’ interests.
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Funding Strategy Statement
The Funding Strategy Statement covers the funding strategies of each of the three Funds and can be viewed on our
website at www.lpf.org.uk.
The purpose of the Funding Strategy Statement is:
•
•
•

to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how employers’ pension
liabilities are best met going forward;
to support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer contribution rates as possible;
and
to take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities.

These objectives are desirable individually but may be mutually conflicting.
The Funding Strategy Statement also ensures that the regulatory requirements to set contributions to ensure the
solvency and long-term cost efficiency of the Funds, (as defined by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013) are met.
The Funding Strategy Statement was revised at the 2017 Actuarial Valuation. In addition to updates required as a
result of changes to the Scheme Regulations and other guidance, changes included:
•
•

the introduction of a new medium risk investment strategy, and;
the requirement for employers to confirm commitment to contribution rates.

As required by Scheme regulations, the Funds consulted with employers as part of the review process.
The Funds must be able to meet all benefit payments as and when they fall due. These payments will be met by
contributions (resulting from the funding strategy), or asset returns (resulting from the investment strategy). A formal
review of the Funds’ investment strategies is undertaken at least every three years to ensure appropriate alignment
with liabilities. Further information on the investment strategies can be found in the Funds’ Statement of Investment
Principles also available at www.lpf.org.uk.
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Financial Performance
Administration expenses

A summary of the Funds’ administrative expenditure for 2017/18, against the budget approved by Pensions
Committee, is shown in the table below. This budget includes adjustment agreed by Pensions Committee as part of
the collaboration business case.
The budget focuses on controllable expenditures and therefore excludes all benefit payments and transfers of
pensions from the Funds. Similarly, income does not include contributions receivable and pension transfers to the
Funds. The total net cost outturn of £27,127k against budgeted of £27,808k represented an underspending of £681k
(2.4%) for the Funds. The key budget variances serving to generate this underspending were:•

Investment management fees - £867k overspend. This budget also includes investment management fees
deducted from capital, but excludes the performance related element of these charges due to their
unpredictable nature. During the year there was higher than expected deal flow for infrastructure and private
debt assets which contributed to the overspend. Broker commission for the first three quarters of the period
included research costs which had been budgeted separately in third party payments.

•

Other third-party payments - £549k underspend. The rollout of direct investment broker research invoicing
was delayed until the final quarter of the year. From April to December 2017 these charges continued to be
paid via commission, with approximately £325k of this underspend offsetting the investment management
fees for the year. The Funds did not suffer any broken deal costs in relation to its co-investment
infrastructure investments during the period which contributed to the underspend.

•

Supplies and Services - £606k underspend. Delays in the implementation of the investment front office
system and further collaboration work resulted in the underspend for the period.

•

Employees - £467k underspend. This arose from savings in unfilled posts, partly due to the timing of
recruitment during the financial year.
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Approved budget

Actual outturn

Variance

£000

£000

£000

3,210

2,747

(463)

201

195

(6)

41

33

(8)

1,594

988

(606)

Investment Managers Fees*

22,300

23,167

867

Other Third-Party Payments

1,404

855

(549)

82

80

(2)

28,832

28,065

(767)

286

250

(36)

Income

(1,310)

(1,188)

(122)

Total net controllable cost to the Funds

27,808

27,127

(681)

Employees
Property
Plant and Transport
Supplies and Services

Capital funding - Depreciation
Direct Expenditure
Support Costs

*Does not include performance elements

Reconciliation to total costs
Actual outturn
£000
Actual outturn on budgeted items above

27,127

Add back securities lending revenue included in income above
Investment management fees deducted from capital – performance related
element

9,322

IAS19 LPFE retirement benefits

1,030

LPFE deferred tax on retirement benefits

(175)

Total cost to the Funds (inclusive of full investment management fees)

865

38,169

Per Fund Accounts
Lothian Pension Fund group

35,412

Lothian Buses Pension Fund

2,523

Scottish Homes Pension Fund

234

Total

38,169
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Cash-flow

Cashflow to and from a pension fund is very dependent upon the profile of its membership. Specifically, a maturing
membership, where the proportion of active to deferred and pensioner members is reducing, would be expected to
see a reduction in contributions received, together with additional outlays on payments to pensioners.
Lothian Pension Fund continued to experience a net reduction in value from its dealings with members. Despite active
membership numbers rising marginally, reflecting pensions auto-enrolment, pensioner numbers increased more
significantly, driven by demographic and economic factors. Outlays exceeded receipts by £17.0million representing a
£7.9million change in position from 31 March 2017 (net withdrawals of £9.1million).
As a fund which is closed to new entrants, the income and expenditure of Lothian Buses Pension Fund reflect this
relative maturity. As at 31 March 2018, outlays from dealing with members remained in excess of receipts, by
£2.8million for 2017/18. This represents a change of £0.1million on the position as at 31 March 2017, where net
outlays totaled £2.7million. Primarily, this was the result of significant outgoings due to the early payment of
retirement benefits.
Scottish Homes Pension Fund is a mature fund with no active members. As a result, pension outlays are met from
investment income and funding from the Scottish Government, supplemented by asset sales. Net pension outlays
were £6.9million which is consistent with the previous year.
It is anticipated that for the next few years these cash flow trends will remain broadly consistent.
Membership statistics for the three Funds and funding statements from the Actuary are provided in the Fund accounts
sections.
Investment management cost transparency

Local authorities are required to account for pension funds in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). The Code is based on approved accounting standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee, except where these are inconsistent with specific statutory requirements. The Code also draws on
approved accounting standards issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board and the UK
Financial Reporting Council where these provide additional guidance. The Code now requires that preparers have
regard to CIPFA guidance “Accounting for Local Government Pension Scheme Management Costs”.
CIPFA published this guidance in July 2014, which promoted greater transparency of investment management fees.
These principles were adopted as best practice in the presentation of the Lothian Pension Fund audited Annual Report
2015. In June 2016, CIPFA revised its guidance including the following “Investment costs incurred by a separate legal
entity, or in respect of investment decisions over which the pension fund has no control, should not be included in
the Fund Account.” The revised guidance changed the disclosure of fees for fund of funds investment arrangements.
A “fund of funds” is an investment holding a portfolio of other investment funds rather than investing directly in
funds. Typically, fees are payable to the “fund of funds” manager as well as to the managers of the underlying funds.
Generally, under the revised guidance from CIPFA, the second and third layer of fees would not be disclosed with just
the fees from the “fund of funds” manager stated.
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In the preparation of the Funds’ Annual Report for 2014/15 and 2015/16, the Funds made efforts to be completely
transparent on the totality of costs incurred for managing its investment assets. The Funds’ disclosures included all
layers of fees. At its meeting on 28 September 2016, the Pensions Committee agreed to instruct the Committee Clerk
to communicate to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), Audit Scotland and the Scottish
Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board (SLGPSAB), the Committee’s and Convener’s disquiet with the
relaxation of the principle of full cost transparency of investment management fees, as explicit in CIPFA’s revised
guidance “Accounting for Local Government Pension Scheme Management Costs”.
On 18 November 2016, the Scottish LGPS Scheme Advisory Board issued Circular 01/2016, entitled “Transparency
Code”. This stated that it welcomed the “Code of Transparency for LGPS Asset Managers”, as developed by its
counterpart in England and Wales, and asked “pension funds in Scotland to promote the code with their own asset
managers”. This Code is voluntary with asset managers encouraged to demonstrate their commitment to transparent
reporting of costs.
In May 2018, CIPFA published “Proposals for LGPS Fund Reporting in a ‘Pooled World’”. “This …. sets out proposals
for revised reporting for LGPS pension funds to meet a number of objectives”, including “to further enhance reporting
of costs reflecting the introduction of the LGPS SAB Code of Transparency for asset managers, and initiatives underway
by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) which aim to create more
transparent and granular reporting standards for both providers and trustees …. This paper has been issued by CIPFA
as good practice which is to be incorporated into 2018/19 Annual Report guidance for local government pension
funds. It would be helpful however if funds could also apply the guidance when preparing their 2017/18 annual
reports and feedback any practical issues encountered. Proposals can then be refined as necessary before the Annual
Report guidance is finalised.” Although this contains explicit reference to the SAB in England and Wales and to the
applicable pooling arrangements, it is anticipated that CIPFA Guidance will be revised on a UK wide basis.
The financial statements of Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund
continue to include full transparency of all investment management fees.

Lothian Pension Fund
Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Scottish Homes Pension Fund
TOTAL

Investment
management
expenses in
compliance with
CIPFA guidance

Investment
management
expenses per
2017/18 financial
statements

Disclosure in
excess of CIPFA
guidance

£000

£000

£000

27,687

33,261

5,574

2,086

2,424

338

165

165

0

29,938

35,850

5,912
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Investment cost benchmarking

In an effort to provide stakeholders with some comfort that the Fund is carefully managing and fully understands
investment costs, Lothian Pension Fund provides data to a benchmarking expert for analysis. Investment strategy
focuses on risk adjusted returns, net of costs. The Fund has participated in investment cost benchmarking provided
by CEM, an independent benchmarking expert for global pension funds with a database of 331 global pension funds
representing £6.2 trillion in assets. To provide a fair comparison, CEM calculates a benchmark based on fund size and
asset mix, which are key drivers of investment costs.
The latest analysis shows Lothian Pension Fund’s investment costs of 0.41% of Fund assets are significantly lower than
CEM’s benchmark cost of 0.48%, an equivalent annual saving of approximately £4.3m. This saving largely reflects the
fact that the Funds manage a relatively high percentage of assets internally compared with other similar pension
funds and that it has low exposure to fund-of-fund investment vehicles.
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Risk
An extensive risk register is maintained covering a wide range of issues across investments and benefit operations.
The register is subject to internal review each quarter and a summary is reported to the Pensions Committee and
Pensions Audit Sub-Committee. On an annual basis the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee reviews the register.
Risk Management

The LPF Group is committed to a strong control environment to ensure that risks are identified, understood,
managed and monitored appropriately. The risks faced by the LPF Group and the Funds change over time and
ongoing management of risk is crucial. The LPF Group also has a compliance policy and each manager is responsible
for ensuring compliance within their area of responsibility.
As at 31 March 2018, the most significant risks (after taking account of risk reduction controls), as assessed using a
score out of 100 by the Funds’ management team, were as follows:
Description

Impact

Likelihood

Risk score

Adverse investment performance leading to pressure on employer
contributions

5

4

20

Adverse movement against non-investment funding assumptions
leading to pressure on employer contributions

5

7

35

Recruitment and retention of appropriate key staff

6

6

36

Collapse/restructuring of an employer body leading to pressure on
other employers

4

8

32

Failure of IT leading to poor ICT responsiveness, legal exposure and
cost/risk implications

8

8

64

Human Resource within the Division not sufficient to carry out core
task in conjunction with active or anticipated projects.

6

6

36

Risk Assurance

The Funds operate a bespoke assurance framework designed to ensure they meets their objectives, are adequately
resourced, managed to high professional standards, meet legislative requirements and have high customer
satisfaction.
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Performance
The Funds have a strong commitment to customer service which drives the continual development of our services to
ensure the best possible service for customers whilst recognising potential demands of the future. We set challenging
performance standards and measure these through key indicators reported to our Pensions Committee and Pension
Board and internal indicators reported to internal management.
Key Performance indicators 2017/18

We achieved all but one key indicator in 2017/18 except for the issuing of benefits statements. The table shows our
performance against these indicators with a narrative on the performance highlights.

Target

Actual

Retain

Yes

Overall satisfaction of employers, active members and pensioners with
our services as measured by surveys

89%

95.2%

Proportion of active members receiving a benefit statement by 31
August 2017

100%

99.9%

Greater than 90%

94.8%

Yes

Yes

Less than 4%

1.55%

75%

82%

Unqualified opinion

Yes

Yes

Yes

Fully compliant

met

99.0%

99.7%

Maintain Customer Service Excellence Standard

Proportion of critical pensions administration work completed within
standards
All staff complete at least two days training a year
Level of sickness absence
Staff survey satisfaction
Audit of Annual Report and Financial Statements
Monthly pension payroll paid on time
Data quality - compliance with best practice as defined by The
Pensions Regulator
Contributions received within 19 days of the end of the month to
which they relate
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Key achievements in 2017/18
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Set up Joint Collaborative working with Falkirk Council Pension Fund
Maintained Customer Service Excellence and Pensions Administration Standards Association accreditation
Transferred remaining staff to LPFE
Successfully completed the Actuarial Valuation 2017
Completed 90% Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) reconciliation with HMRC carried out inhouse.
Provide other Scottish LGPS funds access to alternative investment through club deals
Retained Customer Service Excellence for 10th year
Winner – Professional Pension Scheme of the Year Awards 2017 (to £500m).

Customer feedback

Listening to feedback is key to our services, with the
Funds carrying out surveys to monitor individual and
overall satisfaction. Our overall satisfaction question
is included in all our surveys and continues to
improve rising to 95% this year from 90% in 2016/17.
This exceeds the target of 89%.

Overall satisfaction
100%

87

86

88

89

75%

50%

We also monitor complaints and ensure we respond
and resolve where possible, within 20 working days.
We investigate and learn from both formal and
informal complaints to ensure we are continuously
improving our services. Complaints are split by those
about the service we provide and those about how
scheme regulations are applied.

89

86

90

95

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

actual

target

25%

0%

We carried out 23,500 processes in 2017/18 and there were very few complaints made, less than 0.1%.
Complaints covered a broader range of issues including taking small pensions as a cash lump sum and the time it took
to pay a CETV to new pension providers.

Complaints
47

50

30
20

41

37

40

36

28

11

10

10

7

7

7

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

0
2013/14

2014/15

Series1

Series2
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Our data

We issued 99.9% of benefit statements by the
statutory deadline of 31 August 2017 with the
remaining 26 statements being issued after. All
employers are submitting contribution data
monthly and the majority had cleaner membership
data and fewer queries at the end of the year. The
data of some employers continues to require
significant attention.
Our in-house pension administration team provides
a dedicated service for the three pension Funds. We
monitor the time taken to complete our
procedures. Key procedures include processing of
retirement and dependent benefits, providing
information for new members, transfers and
retirement quotes.

Critical pension admin work in
standard
100%

90

90

90

90

90

93

93

95

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

80%
60%
40%
20%
0%
Actual

Target

We measure our pension record keeping standards against The Pension Regulator’s best practice guidance. Poor
record-keeping can lead to significant additional costs in areas such as administration, error correction, claims from
members as well as fines from The Pensions Regulator. Over the year, we have continued data cleansing with our
employers and carried out significant additional work as part of the Actuarial Valuation. We are also carrying out
external tracing of members where we do not hold a current address.

Common data
Conditional and numerical data
Fund specific measurement including date of joining, pensionable
remuneration, date of leaving and reasons for leaving etc.

Target

Actual

100%

99.9%

98%

99.9%

For 2018/19, we are planning to use new tools that will provide more comprehensive analysis of membership data.
This should allow us to identify and improve data quality and the service to our members.
Pension Administration

The introduction of the career average pension scheme in April 2015 has meant that pension administration has
become more complex for both the Funds and employers.
We continue to review our processes to improve our performance so that the Funds can meet new challenges and
deliver an excellent service to members.
Despite the challenging environment, 95% of key procedures in 2017/18 were completed in target.
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Employer performance

The Pensions Administration Strategy sets out the roles and responsibilities of both the Funds and employers,
specifying the levels of services the parties will provide to each other and referring to four key areas where the Funds
will pass on the costs of poor performance from employers:
•
•
•
•

Late payment of contributions;
Late submission of membership information at the end of the year;
Failure to supply the Funds with information required to provide members with pensions savings
statements; and
Failure to provide details of member contributions monthly.

These areas are particularly important to ensure compliance with legislation, including accurate data to administer
the new career average pension scheme and the requirement to provide members with a pension forecast by 31
August each year. Charges for late payment of contributions are as stated in the Scheme regulations whilst other
charges have been set to reflect the additional time spent in resolving queries and pursuing late information.
The Funds monitor employer performance against the standards set out in the Pension Administration
Strategy. Results are reported to employers by way of an annual performance report, with more regular reporting
for larger employers.
Overall employer performance for 2017/18 is shown below, with 2016/17 shown for comparison purposes.
2016/17

Case type

New
members
Leavers

Retirements
Deaths in
Service

2017/18

Target
(working
days)

Number
received

Number
within
target

% within
target

Number
received

Number
within
target

% within
target

20

4,764

4,074

86%

6,204

5,439

88%

20

3,425

1,421

42%

2,460

1,058

43%

20

1,244

440

35%

1,050

427

41%

10

29

21

72%

26

13

50%

The majority of new starter information continues to be received within target in most cases and the increase in
number received is due to auto-enrolment regulations. For leavers, whilst the provision of leaver information in target
has increased slightly, the majority continue to be received out of target. We continue to target historical cases with
employers and provide missing leaver queries to employers monthly.
Unfortunately, most retirement information continues to be provided out of target. This year we saw a large increase
in the number of ‘early’ retirements where members are over age 60 but are taking their pension benefits with a
permanent actuarial reduction.
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Payment of employer contributions

We monitor the payment of employer contributions as employers are required under the Pensions Act 1995 to pay
contributions by the 19th of the month after the deduction was made. This is a key performance indicator with a
target of was 99% contributions paid in time.
99.77% of contributions by value were paid on time. Of the 1,152 payments made, 21 were paid later than the 19th
and these are shown in the table below.

Number of late
payments

Employer

Number of late
payments

Employer

Dean Orphanage & Cauvins Trust

2

Cyrenians

1

Enjoy East Lothian

2

Four Square

1

Homeless Action Scotland

2

Into Work

1

ISS UK Ltd

2

Open Door Accommodation Project

1

Skanska

2

Scotland’s Learning Partnership

1

Barony Housing Association Ltd

1

Scottish Police Services Authority

1

Centre for the Moving Image

1

Visit Scotland

1

Children’s Hearing Scotland

1

Young Scot Enterprise

1

TOTAL

21

____________________________________________________________________________
Management commentary approved by:

ANDREW KERR
Chief Executive
The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018

CLARE SCOTT
Chief Executive
Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018

JOHN BURNS
Chief Financial Officer
Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018
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Lothian Pension Fund
Lothian Pension Fund membership
31 March 2015 arch 2016 arch 2017 arch 2018
90,000
Active
32,079
32,457
33,528
80,000 32,273
70,000 15,916
Deferred
17,444
17,299
18,384
60,000
Pensioners 50,000 20,636
21,371
22,315
23,119
Dependants 40,000
3,810
3,849
3,842
3,825
30,000
75,913
78,856
Total
74,743
20,000 72,635
10,000
0
Active
Deferred
Pensioners

Dependants

Total

31 March 2015

32,273

15,916

20,636

3,810

72,635

31 March 2016

32,079

17,444

21,371

3,849

74,743

31 March 2017

32,457

17,299

22,315

3,842

75,913

31 March 2018

33,528

18,384

23,119

3,825

78,856

Investment Strategy

In order to provide suitable investment strategies for the differing requirements of employers, the Fund currently
operates two investment strategies. Most employer liabilities are funded under Strategy 1, which adopts a long‐
term investment strategy, aiming to maximise the investment return within reasonable and considered risk
parameters and hence minimise the cost to the employer. The investment strategy is set at the broad asset class
level of Equities, Index‐Linked Assets and Alternatives, which are the key determinants of investment risk and
return.
A small number of employers are funded in Strategy 2, which invests in a portfolio of UK index‐linked gilts to
reduce funding level and contribution rate risk as these employers approach exit from the Fund. The liabilities
funded by Strategy 2 represent less than 1% of total liabilities.
The plan for the Fund’s investment strategy was initially set during 2012, and reviewed again in 2015/2016, taking
into account the results of the 2014 actuarial valuation. A review of investment strategy will be undertaken again
over the coming months, taking into account the results of the latest 2017 actuarial valuation.
The Fund’s strategy incorporates a gradually changing risk profile for the Fund, but retains significant exposure to
real investments, such as Index‐Linked Assets and Equities, which have a history of protecting or enhancing
purchasing power, after the effects of inflation have been taken into account. Prior to the 2012‐17 investment
strategy, the targeted allocation was 71.5% Equities, 5% Index‐Linked gilts, 22.5% Alternatives and 1% Cash. The
2012‐17 strategy is shown in the table below.

Strategy 1

Equities
Index Linked Assets
Alternatives
Cash
Total

Long term Strategy

Permitted ranges

2012 ‐ 2017
%
65

%
50 ‐ 75

7
28
0
100

0 ‐ 20
20 ‐ 35
0 ‐ 10
n/a
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Actual Asset Allocation (%) at 31 March 2018
1

29

Actual Asset Allocation 31 March 2018
Equities
Index Linked Assets
Alternatives

63

Cash

1

63

7.0

Cash
2016

7.0
29Equities

Index Linked Assets
100
Alternatives

in

Cash

A key objective of the Fund’s investment strategy is to reduce risk and this is largely achieved by reducing risk
within the equity pool of assets. Implementation of the strategy has involved a shift from a regional to a global
manager structure. Significant steps have been taken in this regard in prior years with the introduction of the
internally managed global equity portfolios. As such, 2017/18 represented much more of a “steady state” in terms
of the structure within the equity exposure.
The activity in recent years has been to increase the proportion of internally managed global equity strategies to
reduce investment risk. The resultant equity pool of assets is expected to perform relatively well when equity
markets are weak and produce good positive absolute returns in rising equity markets.
Almost 85% of the Fund’s listed equities are managed internally with the majority of these in low cost, low
turnover strategies, which are expected to enhance the Fund’s risk‐adjusted returns over the long term. The Fund
also hedges exposures to the currencies of overseas listed equities with the explicit aim of reducing volatility rather
than seeking to generate improved returns. The Fund therefore maintains exposure to currencies that are
expected to reduce volatility, such as the US Dollar and Japanese Yen which tend to fall as equities rise, and hedges
exposure to currencies that are expected to increase volatility, such as the Australian Dollar which tends to rise as
equities rise.
Investment performance
The Fund’s performance over the last year and over longer‐term timeframes is shown in the table below.
Annualised returns to 31 March 2018
(% per year)
10 years
1 year
5 year
8.7
1.4
10.3
Lothian Pension Fund ‐ Strategy 1
Benchmark*
3.6
9.3
0.5
‐
Lothian Pension Fund ‐ Strategy 2 (from 2015 )
0.5
‐
Benchmark
Actuarial Valuation Assumptions ‐ Strategy 1 **
3.2
4.8
Actuarial Valuation Assumptions ‐ Strategy 2 **
1.7
2.3
3.3
Retail Price Index (RPI)
2.5
1.4
Consumer Price Index (CPI)
2.4
2.6
National Average Earnings
*Comprises equity, index‐linked gilts and cash indices as well as an inflation‐linked index for the alternatives
allocation
**estimated
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‐
‐
5.4
2.8
2.3
1.6
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Annualised 5 yearly returns ending 31 March for Strategy 1 (%
per year)

Annualised 5 yearly returns ending 31 March (% per year)
2009
Fund
Benc
hma
rk
Rela
tive
(RHS
)

4.1

14.0 2010
12.0

8.3

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

4.0
2018

4.7

3.6

7.1

12.7

9.5

9.1

12.9

3.5

10.3

3.0

10.0
2.1

8.0

6.5

3.0

2.1

5.7

13.0

8.8

7.1

2.5

11.4

2.0

9.3

6.0

1.5

4.0
2.0

2.0

1.0
1.8

1.7

1.5

1.4

(0.3)

0.7

1.9

1.5

0.5

‐

‐

(2.0)
(4.0)

1.0

(0.5)
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Fund

4.1

8.3

4.7

3.6

7.1

12.7

9.5

9.1

12.9

10.3

Benchmark

2.1

6.5

3.0

2.1

5.7

13.0

8.8

7.1

11.4

9.3

Relative (RHS)

2.0

1.8

1.7

1.5

1.4

(0.3)

0.7

1.9

1.5

1.0

(1.0)

The objectives of the Fund are:
▪ over long‐term economic cycles (typically 5 years or more) the achievement of the same return as that
generated by the strategic allocation
▪ over shorter periods, the Fund should perform better than the strategic allocation if markets fall significantly.

The performance of Strategy 2 was in line with benchmark over the year, returning +0.5%. Performance of this
strategy has also been in line with benchmark since inception (29 March 2016), with a return of +10.1% per annum.
The Fund’s return has exceeded its objective of meeting the benchmark return over the economic cycle, with both
the 5 and 10 year return ahead of benchmark. The direction of the Fund’s performance when markets are
increasing and decreasing is one way of measuring volatility. The lower volatility objective and strategy for
Strategy 1 was put in place in December 2013 and over this period market volatility has been relatively benign, for
the most part. Nevertheless, performance since the change in structure (with the launch of the global low volatility
equity portfolio and the shift from regional passive to active) indicates that the Fund is delivering returns with
lower volatility than its benchmark.
For Strategy 1, fund performance since January 2014 to March 2018 has been:
▪ better than the strategic allocation when markets fell (17 out of 51 months) with average performance of
0.32% better than the strategic benchmark and,
▪ very marginally worse than the strategic allocation when markets were rising (34 out of 51 months) with
average performance 0.03% behind the strategic benchmark.
Risk analysis also shows that the portfolio is positioned well if markets fall significantly.
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Lothian Pension Fund
Fund Account for year ended 31 March 2018
This statement shows a summary of the income and expenditure that the Pension Fund has generated and consumed in
delivering the Local Government Pension Scheme. Included is the income generated from employers’ and employees’
contributions and investment income, as well as the cost of providing benefits and administration of the Fund.
Lothian
Pension Fund
Parent
2016/17
£000
153,735
42,578
5,536
201,849
141,778
48,895
6,384
615
361
11,098
1,895
211,026
(9,177)

Lothian
Pension Fund
Group
2016/17
£000
153,735
42,578
5,536
201,849
141,778
48,895
6,384
615
361
11,098
1,954
211,085
(9,236)

Lothian
Pension Fund
Parent
2017/18
£000

Lothian
Pension Fund
Group
2017/18
£000

4
5
6

148,821
43,421
4,191
196,433

148,821
43,421
4,191
196,433

7
8
9

149,384
42,533
6,359
596
129
12,517
1,950
213,468

149,384
42,533
6,359
596
129
12,517
2,151
213,669

(17,035)

(17,236)

163,869

163,869

(43,288)
(32,643)
87,938

(43,288)
(33,261)
87,320

70,903

70,084

Note
Income
Contributions from employers
Contributions from members
Transfers from other schemes
Less: expenditure
Pension payments including increases
Lump sum retirement payments
Lump sum death benefits
Refunds to members leaving service
Premiums to State Scheme
Transfers to other schemes
Administrative expenses

10
11b

Net (withdrawals)/additions from dealing with
members
Returns on investments
Investment income

153,016
1,044,952

153,016
1,044,952

(27,375)
1,170,593

(27,712)
1,170,256

12
Change in market value of investments 14, 19b
11c
Investment management expenses
Net returns on investments

1,161,416

1,161,020

Net increase in the Fund during the year

5,434,014

5,433,871

Net assets of the Fund at 1 April 2017

6,595,430

6,594,891

6,595,430

6,594,891

Net assets of the Fund at 31 March 2018

6,666,333

6,664,975
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Lothian Pension Fund
Net Assets Statement as at 31 March 2018
This statement provides a breakdown of type and value of all net assets at the year end.
Lothian
Pension Fund
Parent

Lothian
Pension Fund
Group

Lothian
Pension Fund
Parent

Lothian
Pension Fund
Group

31 March
2017

31 March
2017

31 March
2018

31 March
2018

£000

£000

Note

£000

£000

6,570,547
(1,798)
6,568,749

6,570,547
(1,798)
6,568,749

13

6,633,467
(5,112)
6,628,355

6,633,467
(5,112)
6,628,355

259
248
50
‐
557

259
248
‐
117
624

1,525
168
60
‐
1,753

1,525
168
‐
292
1,985

2,784
47,024
15,564
65,372

2,784
47,117
15,634
65,535

4,467
27,278
14,938
46,683

4,467
27,362
14,965
46,794

‐
‐

(685)
(685)

(20,559)
(20,559)

(20,591)
(20,591)

6,595,430

6,594,891

Investments
Assets
Liabilities
Net investment assets
Non current assets
Debtors
Computer systems
Share Capital
Deferred tax

23

28a

Current assets
The City of Edinburgh Council
Cash balances
Debtors

27
20, 27
24

Non current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligation

29

‐
‐

(1,715)
(1,715)

Current liabilities
Creditors

25

(29,147)
(29,147)

(29,185)
(29,185)

6,666,333

6,664,975

Net assets of the Fund at 31 March

The unaudited accounts were issued on 27 June 2018 and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on
26 September 2018.

JOHN BURNS FCMA CGMA
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018
Notes to the net asset statement
The financial statements summarise the transactions of the Fund during the year and its net assets at the year end. They
do not take account of the obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the year. The
actuarial position of the Fund, which does take account of such obligations, is discussed in the Actuarial Valuation
section of this report and these financial statements should be read in conjunction with that information. In addition,
as required by IAS26, the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits is disclosed in the notes to these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Accounts
1

Statement of Accounting Policies
The statement of accounting policies for all Funds can be found on page 114.

2

Lothian Pension Fund Group
Basis of consolidation, presentation of financial statements and notes
Commencing with the year ended 31 March 2017, Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared for
Lothian Pension Fund. The Financial Statements of Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund
continue to be prepared on a single entity basis.
The Consolidated Financial Statements for Lothian Pension Fund are prepared by combining the Financial
Statements of the Fund (the parent entity) and its controlled entities (LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited) as defined in
accounting standard IAS27 ‐ Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Consistent accounting policies are
employed in the preparation and presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. All inter‐entity balances
and transactions between entities, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on
consolidation.
Because the controlled entities activities are primarily focused on the provision of services to the Fund, its
consolidation has a limited impact on the figures included in the Fund Account and Net Assets Statement of Lothian
Pension Fund. An additional column has been added in both the Fund Account and Net Assets Statement, with the
figures prior to consolidation being identified as “Parent” and after consolidation as “Group”. In the notes to the
accounts, where there is a difference between the parent and group figures they are identified as either “Parent “
or “Group”.
Note Description
27 Related party transactions and balances
Describes transactions during the year and balances at year end which relate to the parent and the
companies.
28a

Consolidated Lothian Pension Fund group ‐ LPFE Limited ‐ deferred tax
Describes the deferred tax non‐current asset of the Company. See 2 f) ii) in the Statement of Accounting
Policies and General notes for more information.

28b
29

Consolidated Lothian Pension Fund group ‐ LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited ‐ share capital
Describes the share capital of the Company.
Retirement benefits obligation ‐ group
Provides the information on the retirement benefits obligation of the Company as required under IAS19 ‐
Employee Benefits. See 2 q) ii) in the Statement of Accounting Policies and General notes for more
information.

Prior to the consolidation of the group accounts the LPFE and LPFI boards met on the 28th May 2018 and approved
their respective audited financial statements for 2017/18. The figures used in the consolidation are from these
audited financial statements.
3

Events after the Reporting Date
There have been no events since 31 March 2018, and up to the date when these accounts were authorised, that
require any adjustments to these accounts.
At its meeting on 26 March 2018, the Pensions Committee approved the merger of the assets and liabilities of the
Lothian Buses Pension Fund into the Lothian Pension Fund at the earliest suitable date (to be determined by the
Executive Director of Resources), subject to the satisfactory completion of a revised admission agreement and
shareholder guarantee.
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Notes to the Accounts
4

Contributions from employers
The total contributions receivable for the administering authority, other scheduled bodies and admitted bodies
were as follows:‐
By category
Future service rate
Past service deficit
Strain costs
Cessation contributions

2016/17
£000
133,301
7,668
12,558
208
153,735

2017/18
£000
136,968
7,694
2,747
1,412
148,821

By employer type
Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies

2016/17
£000
63,542
71,426
18,312
455
153,735

2017/18
£000
55,041
73,692
19,629
459
148,821

Employer contributions, as calculated by the Fund Actuary, comprise two elements:
•

An estimate of the cost of benefits accruing in the future, referred to as the “future service rate”, which is
expressed as a percentage of payroll and;

•

an adjustment for the solvency of the Fund based on the benefits already accrued. If there is a surplus,
there may be a contribution reduction; if there is a deficit there may be a contribution increase. For all
employers, contributions to cover any Past Service Deficit are expressed as a fixed monetary sum, rather
than as a percentage of payroll and are payable on a monthly basis that is one twelfth of the annual total.

Where an employer makes certain decisions which result in benefits being paid early, this results in a "strain" on the
Fund. The resulting pension strain costs are calculated and recharged in full to that employer.
Any employer that ceases to have at least one actively contributing member is required to pay cessation
contributions.
5

Contributions from members

By employer type
Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies

2016/17
£000
15,345
20,993
6,099
141
42,578
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2017/18
£000
15,633
21,475
6,161
152
43,421
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Notes to the Accounts
6

Transfers in from other pension schemes

Group transfers
Individual transfers

7

2016/17
£000
‐
5,536
5,536

2017/18
£000
‐
4,191
4,191

2016/17
£000
70,547
58,364
12,687
180
141,778

2017/18
£000
73,922
61,729
13,537
196
149,384

Pensions payable

By employer type
Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies

Local Government (Discretionary Payments and Injury Benefits) (Scotland) Regulations 1998 [Section 31] allows
employers to pay additional pensions on a voluntary basis.
As is typical within the Local Government Pension Schemes (LGPS), arrangements exist whereby additional teachers'
pensions and employee pensions are paid with the payment of funded pensions. In order that such are not
regarded as “unauthorised payments” by HMRC these pension payments are met by the administering authority
through a general fund bank account and recharged to the body or service which granted the benefits.
As “unfunded payments” are discretionary benefits, they are not relevant to the sums disclosed in the Fund
accounts. As such Lothian Pension Fund provides payment and billing services to certain employers on a no charge
agency agreement basis.
8

Lump sum retirement benefits payable

By employer type
Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies

9

2016/17
£000
26,340
18,503
3,900
152
48,895

2017/18
£000
16,623
20,650
5,131
129
42,533

2016/17
£000
2,578
3,312
488
6
6,384

2017/18
£000
3,375
2,571
413
‐
6,359

Lump sum death benefits payable

By employer type
Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies
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Notes to the Accounts
10 Transfers out to other pension schemes

2016/17
£000
173
10,925
11,098

Group transfers
Individual transfers

2017/18
£000
‐
12,517
12,517

11a Total management expenses
In accordance with CIPFA, the below analysis looks at the combined administration and investment management
expenses in notes 11b and c and splits out the costs to include a third category covering oversight and governance
expenditure. Administration costs such as Actuarial fees and Investment Management expenses such as investment
consultancy would instead be shown in the Oversight and governance costs category.

Administrative costs
Investment management expenses
Oversight and governance costs

LPF
Parent
2016/17
£000
1,686
26,345
1,239
29,270

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000
1,719
26,592
1,355
29,666

LPF
Parent
2017/18
£000
1,615
31,620
1,359
34,594

LPF
Group
2017/18
£000
1,801
31,918
1,693
35,412

LPF
Parent
2016/17
£000
1,093
132
231
64
41
60
79
57
110
28

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000
1,098
132
231
64
49
60
79
57
110
18
66
(10)
‐
1,954

LPF
Parent
2017/18
£000
1,143
‐
292
116
65
2
115
57
102
58
‐
‐
‐
1,950

LPF
Group
2017/18
£000
1,167
‐
293
116
71
2
115
57
102
57
206
(35)
‐
2,151

11b Administrative expenses

Employee Costs
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ other support costs
System costs
Actuarial fees
External/Internal audit fees
Legal fees
Printing and postage
Depreciation
Office costs
Sundry costs less sundry income
IAS19 retirement benefit adjustments ‐ see note 29
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligation ‐ see note 28a
Corporation tax losses utilised by CEC group ‐ see note 27

‐
1,895

LPFE Ltd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, is responsible for providing the staffing resource to
administer the three pension Funds. The Service receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council. In turn the
Service allocates administration and investment costs to the three pension funds. Costs directly attributable to a
specific fund are charged to the relevant Fund, costs that are common to all three funds are allocated on a defined
basis. Other costs are allocated on the basis of the number of members in each pension fund.
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11c Investment management expenses

External management fees ‐
invoiced
deducted from capital (direct investment)
deducted from capital (indirect investment)
Securities lending fees
Transaction costs ‐ Equities
Property operational costs
Employee costs
Custody fees
Engagement and voting fees
Performance measurement fees
Consultancy fees
Research fees
System costs
Legal fees
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ other support costs
Depreciation
Office costs
Sundry costs less sundry income
IAS19 retirement benefit adjustments ‐ see note 29
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligation ‐ see note 28
Corporation tax losses utilised by CEC group ‐ see note 27

LPF
Parent
2016/17
£000

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000

LPF
Parent
2017/18
£000

LPF
Group
2017/18
£000

3,970
15,245
4,157
155
956
558
1,116
300
82
50
64
‐
245
210
111
7
85
64
‐
‐
‐
27,375

3,970
15,245
4,157
155
956
558
1,149
300
82
50
64
‐
245
210
111
7
85
(1)
439
(70)
‐
27,712

4,270
18,642
5,574
173
1,148
337
1,272
368
86
62
49
65
299
61
‐
7
78
152
‐
‐
‐
32,643

4,270
18,642
5,574
173
1,148
337
1,375
368
86
62
49
65
300
89
‐
7
78
(54)
824
(140)
8
33,261

Investment costs directly attributable to a specific fund are charged to the relevant Fund, costs that are common to
all three funds are allocated based on the value of the Funds as at the year end.
Any indirect costs incurred through the bid‐offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are reflected in the
cost of investment acquisitions or in the proceeds of investment sales (see note 14 ‐ Reconciliation of movements in
investments and derivatives).
The external investment management fees (deducted from capital) above include £8.9m (£6.6m direct, £2.3m
indirect) in respect of performance‐related fees compared to £4.0m in 2016/17 (£3.9m direct, £0.1m indirect).
It should be noted that Lothian Pension Fund's disclosure on investment management fees goes further than
CIPFA's LGPS Management Cost revised guidance on cost transparency which came into effect from 1st April 2016.
Consistent with previous years, the Fund recognises fees deducted from investments not within its direct control
(such as fund of fund fees) to give a full picture of its investment management costs. Further details can be found
on page 25. This further disclosure highlights an extra £5.6m in costs (2017 £4.2m).
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12 Investment income

Income from fixed interest securities
Dividends from equities
Unquoted private equity and infrastructure
Income from pooled investment vehicles
Gross rents from properties
Interest on cash deposits
Stock lending and sundries
Irrecoverable withholding tax

2016/17
£000
3,589
120,326
5,646
1,111
23,085
597
775
155,129
(2,113)
153,016

2017/18
£000
4,006
131,588
7,601
5,130
23,079
675
865
172,944
(9,075)
163,869

Included within the dividend from equities income for the year is cross border withholding tax yet to be received.
These reclaims have a high certainty of success and are completed and managed by the Fund’s custodian Northern
Trust. For the period of 2017/18 £4,014k of the stated income relates to tax yet to be received. At the 31st March
2018 £7,135k (including prior periods) of investment income receivable related to cross border withholding tax.
The Fund monitors these claims to ensure its optimum tax efficiency and provides an annual progress report to the
Pensions Audit Sub‐Committee.
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13 Net investment assets
Region
Investment Assets

31 March 2017

31 March 2018

£000

£000

156,876
502,439
659,315

153,585
508,572
662,157

Bonds
Public sector fixed interest
Public sector index linked gilts quoted

UK
UK

Equities
Quoted
Quoted

UK
Overseas

655,522
3,564,953
4,220,475

528,882
3,481,292
4,010,174

Pooled investment vehicles
Private equity, infrastructure, private debt & timber
Private equity, infrastructure, private debt & timber
Property
Other

UK
Overseas
UK
UK

457,647
556,623
67,969
19,191
1,101,430

495,441
567,141
66,638
867
1,130,087

Properties
Direct property

UK

356,741
356,741

392,743
392,743

1,081
1,081

12,121
12,121

216,036
216,036

407,689
407,689

1,320
14,521
15,841
6,570,919

2,677
15,819
18,496
6,633,467

(424)
(424)

(204)
(204)

(1,746)
(1,746)

(4,908)
(4,908)

(2,170)

(5,112)

6,568,749

6,628,355

Derivatives
Derivatives ‐ forward foreign exchange
Cash deposits
Deposits
Other investment assets
Due from broker
Dividends and other income due
Total investment assets
Investment liabilities
Derivatives
Derivatives ‐ forward foreign exchange
Other financial liabilities
Due to broker

Total investment liabilities
Net investment assets
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14a Reconciliation of movement in investments
aaaand derivatives

Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Property
Derivatives ‐ futures
Derivatives ‐ forward foreign exchange
Other financial assets / liabilities
Cash deposits*
Broker balances*
Investment income due*

Net financial assets

Market Purchases
value at 31 at cost &
March derivative
2017 payments
£000
659,315
4,220,475
1,101,430
356,741
‐
657
6,338,618

£000
38,157
878,940
64,330
40,758
11
2,968
1,025,164

Sale &
derivative
receipts
£000
(35,692)
(929,194)
(145,328)
(17,329)
163
(3,711)
(1,131,091)

Market
value
at 31
Change in
March
market
2018
value
£000
£000
377
662,157
(160,047) 4,010,174
109,655 1,130,087
12,573
392,743
(174)
‐
11,917
12,003
(25,613) 6,207,078

216,036
(426)
14,521
230,131

(17,667)
(8)
‐
(17,675)

407,689
(2,231)
15,819
421,277

6,568,749

(43,288)

6,628,355

The change in market value of investments during the year comprises all increases and decreases in the market
value of investments held at any time during the year, including profits and losses realised on sales of investments
during the year.

Any indirect costs incurred through the bid‐offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are reflected in the
cost of investment acquisitions and in the proceeds from sales and are therefore included in the tables above.
Market Purchases
value at 31 at cost &
March derivative
2016 payments
Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Property
Derivatives ‐ futures
Derivatives ‐ forward foreign exchange
Other financial assets / liabilities
Cash deposits*
Broker balances*
Investment income due*

Net financial assets

£000
534,030
3,448,949
815,893
356,280
‐
(13,183)
5,141,969

£000
596,611
591,687
266,289
4,675
(484)
42,385
1,501,163

Sale &
derivative
receipts
£000
(595,768)
(573,782)
(140,168)
(2,358)
(7,113)
(8,823)
(1,328,012)

Market
value
at 31
Change in
March
market
2017
value
£000
£000
124,442
659,315
753,621 4,220,475
159,416 1,101,430
356,741
(1,856)
‐
7,597
657
(19,722)
1,023,498 6,338,618

227,409
17,205
12,380
256,994

21,837
(383)
‐
21,454

216,036
(426)
14,521
230,131

5,398,963

1,044,952

6,568,749

* As per CIPFA disclosures the change in market value intentionally does not balance opening/closing market values
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14d Reconciliation of fair value measurements within level 3

Pooled investments
Infrastructure
Property
Private Equity
Timber
Private debt
Freehold Property

Market
value at 31
March
2017

Level 3
transfers
in

Purchases
Sales & Unrealised
at cost &
gains /
derivative
out derivative
(losses)
receipts
payments

Market
Realised
value at 31
gains /
March
(losses)
2018

663,194
67,969
129,311
132,532
89,233

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

107,269
‐
297
‐
53,368

(111,609)
(3,204)
(50,137)
(15,114)
(15,317)

31,841
6,801
(24,246)
(9,241)
5,704

36,874
(4,928)
35,178
3,220
230

727,569
66,638
90,403
111,397
133,218

356,741
1,438,980

‐
‐

‐
‐

40,758
201,692

(17,329)
(212,710)

5,842
16,701

6,731
77,305

392,743
1,521,968

Unrealised and realised gains and losses are recognised in the profit and losses on disposal and changes in the
market value of investments line of the fund account.
15 Derivatives ‐ forward foreign exchange
Summary of contracts held at 31 March 2018

Contract settlement within

Up to one month
Up to one month
Up to one month
Up to one month
Up to one month
One to six months

Currency
bought
GBP
AUD
GBP
JPY
ZAR
USD

Currency
sold
AUD
GBP
CAD
USD
USD
CHF

Local
currency
bought
000
48,179
6,793
108,389
33,328
4,359
9,264

Local
currency
sold Asset value
000
£000
82,284
3,213
3,915
‐
8,875
180,036
314
‐
‐
369
8,695
33

Open forward currency contracts at 31 March 2018
Net forward currency contracts at 31 March 2018
Prior year comparative
Open forward currency contracts at 31 March 2017
Net forward currency contracts at 31 March 2017

Liability
value
£000
‐
(202)
‐
(1)
(1)
‐

12,121

(204)
11,917

1,081

(424)
657

The above table summarises the contracts held by maturity date, all contracts are traded on an over‐the‐counter
basis.
In order to maintain appropriate diversification of investments in the portfolio and take advantage of wider
opportunities, the Lothian Pension Fund invests over half of the fund in overseas markets. A currency hedging
programme, using forward foreign exchange contracts, has been put in place to reduce the extent to which the
Fund is exposed to certain currency movements.
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16 Investment managers and mandates

Manager
In‐house
In‐house
Total UK equities

Mandate
UK all cap equities
UK mid cap equities

Market value
at 31 March
2017
£000
130,362
121,061
251,423

% of total
31 March Market value at
2017 31 March 2018
%
£000
2.0
139,655
131,607
1.8
271,262
3.8

% of total
31 March
2018
%
2.1
2.0
4.1

In‐house
European ex UK equities
In‐house
US equities
Total regional overseas equities

120,393
150,941
271,334

1.8
2.3
4.1

130,696
146,279
276,975

2.0
2.2
4.2

In‐house
In‐house
In‐house
Harris
Nordea
Total global equities

Global high dividend
Global low volatility
Global multi factor value
Global equities
Global equities

928,720
1,162,921
985,286
263,263
280,815
3,621,005

14.1
17.7
15.0
4.0
4.3
55.1

856,911
1,097,057
934,708
273,298
268,444
3,430,418

12.9
16.6
14.1
4.1
4.0
51.7

In‐house
Total currency overlay

Currency hedge

708
708

0.0
0.0

11,885
11,885

0.2
0.2

4,144,470

63.1

3,990,540

60.2

129,311
75,902
205,213

2.0
1.2
3.2

90,403
61,885
152,288

1.4
0.9
2.3

4,349,683

66.3

4,142,828

62.5

450,833
19,652
470,485

6.9
0.3
7.2

455,930
‐
455,930

6.9
‐
6.9

Total listed equities
In‐house
In‐house
Total private equity

Private equity unquoted
Private equity quoted

Total equity
In‐house
Index linked gilts
In‐house
Gold
Total inflation linked assets
In‐house
Standard Life
Total property

Property
Property

38,038
414,574
452,612

0.6
6.3
6.9

37,447
454,430
491,877

0.6
6.8
7.4

In‐house
In‐house
In‐house
Total other real assets

Infrastructure unquoted
Infrastructure quoted
Timber

663,194
23,548
132,532
819,274

10.1
0.4
2.0
12.5

727,569
18,981
111,397
857,947

11.0
0.3
1.7
13.0

In‐house
In‐house
In‐house
Total debt assets

Secured loans
Private debt
Sovereign bonds

14,142
89,233
159,307
262,682

0.2
1.4
2.4
4.0

‐
133,218
158,280
291,498

0.0
2.0
2.4
4.4

Audited Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
Lothian Pension Fund

48

Notes to the Accounts
16 Investment managers and mandates (cont)

Manager

Mandate

In‐house
Cash
In‐house
Transitions
Total cash and sundries
Strategy 1 financial assets
Mature employer gilts
In‐house
Strategy 2 financial assets
Net financial assets

Market value
at 31 March
2017
£000

% of total
31 March Market value at
2017 31 March 2018
£000
%

% of total
31 March
2018
%

159,645
92
159,737

2.4
0.0
2.4

332,090
1,614
333,704

5.0
0.0
5.0

6,514,473

99.2

6,573,784

99.2

54,276
54,276

0.8
0.8

54,571
54,571

0.8
0.8

6,568,749

100.0

6,628,355

100.0

Over the last two years no single investment represented more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund.
17 Securities lending
During the year Lothian Pension Fund participated in a securities lending arrangement with the Northern Trust
Company. As at 31 March 2018, £254.9m (2017 £220.3m) of securities were released to third parties. Collateral
valued at 105.5% (2017 104.6%) of the market value of the securities on loan was held at that date.
18 Property holdings
Opening balance
Additions
Disposals
Net change in market value
Closing balance

2016/17
£000
356,280
4,675
(2,358)
(1,856)
356,741

2017/18
£000
356,741
40,875
(17,329)
12,456
392,743

As at 31 March 2018, there were no restrictions on the realisability of the property or the remittance of income or
sale proceeds. The Fund is not under any contractual obligations to purchase or construct any of these properties.
However, at year end the Fund does have funding approval in place of £850,000 for the planning, design and
contractor procurement to potentially re‐develop 100 St John Street, London
The future minimum lease payments receivable by the Fund are as follows
2016/17
£000
22,526
Within one year
67,195
Between one and five years
99,741
Later than five years
189,462
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19 Financial Instruments
19a Classification of financial instruments
Accounting policies describe how different asset classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income
and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following table analyses the fair value
amounts of financial assets and liabilities by category and net assets statement heading. No financial assets were
reclassified during the accounting period.
All financial instruments are marked to market (at fair value) in the Fund's accounting records, hence there is no
difference between the carrying value and fair value.
31 March 2017
31 March 2018
Classification of financial
Designated
as
Designated
as
instruments ‐ parent
fair value
Financial
Financial
fair value Loans and
liabilities at
liabilities at through fund Loans and
through fund receivable
account receivables amortised cost
s amortised cost
account
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Investment assets
‐
Bonds
659,316
‐
‐
662,156
‐
Equities
‐
4,220,475
‐
‐
4,010,174
‐
‐
1,101,430
‐
‐
1,130,087
‐
Pooled investments
‐
6,243
‐
‐
4,376
‐
Property Leases
‐
1,081
‐
‐
12,121
‐
Derivative contracts
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
Margin balances
‐
‐
407,689
‐
216,036
‐
Cash
‐
‐
‐
18,496
Other balances
‐
15,841
‐
5,988,545
231,877
‐
5,818,914
426,185
Other assets
‐
‐
‐
2,784
‐
4,467
City of Edinburgh Council
‐
‐
‐
47,024
‐
27,278
Cash
‐
‐
50
‐
‐
60
Share Capital
Debtors ‐ current
‐
14,937
‐
‐
15,564
‐
‐
‐
‐
1,525
‐
Debtors ‐ non‐current
259
‐
‐
‐
46,991
‐
66,957
‐
278,868
5,818,914
493,142
Assets total
‐
5,988,545
Financial liabilities
Investment liabilities
Derivative contracts
Other investment balances

(424)
(1,746)
(2,170)

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

(204)
(4,908)
(5,112)

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

Other liabilities
Creditors
Liabilities total

‐
(2,170)

‐
‐

(20,559)
(20,559)

‐
(5,112)

‐
‐

(29,147)
(29,147)

Total net assets

5,986,375

278,868

(20,559)

5,813,802

493,142

(29,147)

Total net financial instruments
Amounts not classified as financial instruments
Total net assets ‐ parent

6,244,684
348,707
6,593,391
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19a Classification of financial instruments (cont)
Classification of financial instruments ‐ adjustments to parent to arrive at group
31 March 2017

31 March 2018

Designated as
Designated as
fair value Loans and
Financial
fair value
Financial
through fund receivable
liabilities at
liabilities at through fund Loans and
account
s amortised cost
account receivables amortised cost
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Other assets
Cash
Share Capital
Debtors ‐ current
Debtors ‐ non‐current
Assets total

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

84
(50)
27
117
178
178

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

93
(60)
70
292
395
395

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Other liabilities
Retire. benefit obligation
Creditors
Liabilities total

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

(685)
(32)
(717)

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

(1,715)
(38)
(1,753)

Total net assets

‐

178

(717)

‐

395

(1,753)

Total adjustments to net financial instruments
Total net assets ‐ group

(539)
6,592,852

(1,358)
6,664,975

19b Net gains and losses on financial instruments

Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Total

2016/17
£000
1,025,354
21,454
‐
1,046,808

2017/18
£000
(38,186)
(17,675)
‐
(55,861)

Gains and losses on directly held freehold property
Change in market value of investments per fund account

(1,856)
1,044,952

12,573
(43,288)
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19c Fair Value Hierarchy
The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of
information used to determine fair values.
Level 1
Financial instruments at Level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Products classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities and unit trusts.
Quoted investments are shown at bid prices. The bid value of the investment is based on the bid market quotation
of the relevant stock exchange.
Level 2
Financial instruments at Level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for example, where an
instrument is traded in a market that is not considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to
determine fair value and where these techniques use inputs that are based significantly on observable market data.
Level 3
Financial instruments at Level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation is not based on observable market data. Such instruments would include unquoted equity
investments, which are valued using various valuation techniques that require significant judgement in determining
appropriate assumptions.
The values of the investments in unquoted private equity, infrastructure, timber and European real estate are based
on valuations provided by the general partners to the funds in which the Fund has invested.
These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation
Guidelines or similar guidelines provided by the British Venture Capital Association, which follow the valuation
principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The valuations are typically undertaken annually at
the end of December. Cash flow adjustments are used to roll forward the valuations to 31 March as appropriate.

Level 1
£000
Investment assets
Designated as fair value through fund account
Non‐financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss
Loans and receivables
Total investment assets
Investment liabilities
Designated as fair value through fund account
Total investment liabilities
Net investment assets

31 March 2018
Level 2
Level 3
£000
£000

Total
£000

4,023,162

662,156

1,135,464

5,820,782

‐

‐

386,500

386,500

426,185
4,449,347

‐
662,156

‐
1,521,964

426,185
6,633,467

(5,112)
(5,112)
4,444,235

‐
‐
662,156

‐
‐
1,521,964

(5,112)
(5,112)
6,628,355
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19c Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1
£000
Investment assets
Designated as fair value through fund account

31 March 2017
Level 3
Level 2
£000
£000

Total
£000

4,269,539

659,316

1,059,690

5,988,545

‐

‐

350,498

350,498

Loans and receivables
Total investment assets

231,877
4,501,416

‐
659,316

‐
1,410,188

231,877
6,570,920

Investment liabilities
Designated as fair value through fund account
Total investment liabilities
Net investment assets

(2,171)
(2,171)
4,499,245

‐
‐
659,316

‐
‐
1,410,188

(2,171)
(2,171)
6,568,749

Non‐financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss

20 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments
Risk and risk management
The Fund’s primary aim is to ensure that all members and their dependants receive their benefits when they
become payable. Investment strategy A aims to maximise the returns from investments within reasonable risk
parameters and hence minimise the long‐term cost to employers. It achieves this by investing in a diverse range of
assets to reduce risk to an acceptable level. In addition, the Fund ensures that sufficient cash is available to meet all
liabilities when they are due to be paid.
Responsibility for the Fund’s overall investment strategies rests with the Pensions Committee. The Investment
Strategy Panel and the internal investment team monitor investment risks on a regular basis. Investment risk
management tools are used to identify and analyse risks faced by the Fund’s investments.
Consideration of the Fund’s investment risk is part of the overall risk management of the pensions operations. Risks
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in activity and market conditions.
Types of investment risk
There are various ways of considering investment risks for pension funds. For the purposes of this note, market risk
is the potential for an investor to experience losses from falls in the prices of investments. All financial instruments,
including cash deposits, present a risk of loss of capital and risks vary depending on different asset classes.
Market risk also changes over time as economic conditions and investor sentiment change. The Fund considers
overall fluctuations in prices arising from a variety of sources: market risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, etc. The different risks may, to some extent, offset each other.
The overall market risk of the Fund depends on the actual mix of assets and encompasses all the different elements
of risk.
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20 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
The Fund manages these risks in a number of ways:
•

assessing and establishing acceptable levels of market risk when setting overall investment strategy.
Importantly, risk is considered relative to the liabilities of the Fund

•

diversification of investments in terms of type of asset, investment styles, investment managers, geographical
and industry sectors as well as individual securities

•

taking stewardship responsibilities seriously and pursuing constructive engagement with the companies in
which we invest

•
•

monitoring market risk and market conditions to ensure risk remains within tolerable levels
using equity futures contracts from time to time to manage market risk. Options are not used by the Fund.

Sensitivity analysis
Asset prices have a tendency to fluctuate. The degree of such fluctuation is known as “volatility” and it differs by
asset class. The table sets out the long‐term volatility assumptions used in the Fund’s asset‐liability modelling
undertaken by the Fund’s investment adviser KPMG:
Asset type
Equities ‐ Developed Markets
Equities ‐ Emerging Markets
Private Equity
Timber and Gold
Secured Loans
Fixed Interest Gilts
Index‐Linked Gilts
Infrastructure
Property
Cash

Potential price movement (+ or ‐)
20.5%
30.0%
30.0%
18.0%
10.0%
6.5%
11.0%
12.0%
13.0%
1.0%

Volatility is the standard deviation of annual returns. Broadly speaking, in two years out of three, the asset’s
change in value (which could be a gain or a loss) is expected to be lower than the volatility figure, but in one year
out of three, the change in value is expected to be higher than the volatility figure.
Asset classes do not always move in line with each other. The extent to which assets move together is known as
their “correlation”. A lower correlation means that there is less risk of assets losing value at the same time.
The overall Fund benefits from “diversification“ because it invests in different asset classes, which don’t all move in
line with each other. Consequently, the aggregate risk at the Fund level is less than the total risk from all the
individual assets in which the Fund invests. The following table shows the risks at the asset class level and the
overall Fund level, with and without allowance for correlation.
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20 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Value at 31
March
2018
£m
3,770
208
152
111
133
158
511
747
492
346
6,628

% of fund
%
56.9
3.1
2.3
1.7
2.0
2.4
7.7
11.3
7.4
5.2
100.0

Equities ‐ Developed Markets
Equities ‐ Emerging Markets
Private Equity
Timber and Gold
Secured Loan
Fixed Interest Gilts
Index‐Linked Gilts
Infrastructure
Property
Cash and forward foreign exchange
Total [1]
Total [2]
Total [3]
[1] No allowance for correlations between assets
[2] Including allowance for correlations between assets
[3] Including allowance for correlation between assets and liabilities.

Potential
Change
+/‐
%
20.5
30.0
30.0
18.0
10.0
6.5
11.0
12.0
13.0
1.0
17.2
13.8
13.9

Value on
increase
£m
4,542.9
270.4
197.6
131.0
146.3
168.3
567.2
836.6
556.0
349.5
7,765.8
7,545.6
7,551.4

Value on
decrease
£m
2,997.2
145.6
106.4
91.0
119.7
147.7
454.8
657.4
428.0
342.5
5,490.3
5,710.4
n/a

The value on increase/decrease columns illustrate the monetary effect of the percentage change in the volatility
column. The actual annual change in value is expected to be lower than this in two years out of three, but higher in
one year out of three.
It can be seen that the risk to the overall Fund assets [2] is lower than the total of the risks to the individual assets.
However, because the purpose of a pension scheme is to make payments to scheme beneficiaries, the true risk of a
pension scheme is not measured in absolute terms, but relative to its liabilities [3].
This risk analysis incorporates volatility from market, interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, and all other sources of
risk, and, importantly, makes allowance for how these risks may offset each other.
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to discharge
an obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss. The market values of investments generally reflect an
assessment of credit risk in their pricing and consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the value of
the Fund's assets and liabilities (as outlined in Market Risk above).
In essence, the Fund’s entire investment portfolio is exposed to some sort of credit risk. However, through the
selection of counterparties, brokers and financial institutions the Fund reduces the credit risk that may occur
through the failure to settle a transaction in a timely manner.
Cash deposits, derivatives and securities lending are the major areas of credit exposure where credit risk is not
reflected in market prices.
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20 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Cash deposits
At 31 March 2018, cash deposits represented £454.7m, 6.82% of total net assets. This was held with the following
institutions:
Balances at
Balances at
Moody's Credit
31 March 2017 31 March 2018
Rating at 31
March 2018
£000
£000
Held for investment purposes
Northern Trust Global Investment Limited ‐ liquidity funds
Northern Trust Company ‐ cash deposits
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ treasury management
Total investment cash
Held for other purposes
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ treasury management
Total cash ‐ parent
Cash held by LPFE/LPFI Limited
Royal Bank of Scotland
Total cash ‐ group

Aaa‐mf
Aa2
See below

83,249
40,697
92,090
216,036

8,075
308,831
90,783
407,689

See below

27,278
243,314

47,024
454,713

A3

84
243,398

93
454,806

The majority of Sterling cash deposits of the Fund are managed along with those of the administering authority (the
City of Edinburgh Council) and other related organisations which are pooled for investment purposes as a treasury
cash fund. Management of the cash fund is on a low risk basis, with security of the investments the key
consideration.
Balances at
Balances at
Moody's Credit
31 March 2017 31 March 2018
Rating at 31
March 2018
£000
£000
Money market funds
Deutsche Bank AG, London
Goldman Sachs
Standard Life Investments Sterling Liquidity Fund
Bank call accounts
Bank of Scotland
Royal Bank of Scotland
Santander UK
Barclays Bank
Svenska Handelsbanken
HSBC Bank PLC
UK Pseudo‐Sovereign risk instruments
Other Local Authorities [1]

652
14
‐

596
1
20,424

Aa3
A3
Aa3
A1
Aa2
Aa3

11,911
169
30
2
23
4

13,606
501
361
11
676
51

Aa1

106,563
119,368

101,580
137,807

Aaa‐mf
Aaa‐mf
Aaa‐mf

[1] Very few Local Authorities have their own credit rating but they are generally assumed to have a pseudo‐
sovereign credit rating (which in the UK at 31 March 2018 was 'Aa1').

Audited Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
Lothian Pension Fund

56

Notes to the Accounts
20 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
The Council has in place institutional restrictions on investments and counterparty criteria. These include ‐
(a) UK Government and other UK local Authorities with no limit, other public bodies up to £20 million per
(b) Money market funds (MMFs) no more than £30 million or 15% with any one Fund.
(c) Financial Institutions: Banks and Building Societies with multiple criteria based on a range of short and long
term credit ratings, as well as any security, provided from maximum of £60 million / 20% of assets under
management (AUM) for institutions with the highest criteria to £10 million / 5% of AUM for institutions
with the lowest acceptable criteria.
No breaches of the Council's counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting period and the Fund does not
expect any losses from non‐performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits.
Securities lending
The Fund participates in a securities lending programme as described above. The Fund is potentially exposed to
credit risk in the event of the borrower of securities defaulting. This risk is mitigated by the contractual commitment
that borrowers provide collateral in excess of 100% of the value of the securities borrowed. In addition, Northern
Trust has signed an agreement requiring it to make good any losses arising from the lending programme.
Derivatives
The Fund transacts foreign currency derivatives over‐the‐counter and hence is exposed to credit risk in the event of
a counterparty defaulting on the net payment or receipt that remains outstanding. This risk is minimised by the use
of counterparties that are recognised financial intermediaries with acceptable credit ratings and by netting
agreements. At 31 March 2018, the Fund was owed £11.9m on over‐the‐counter foreign currency derivatives.
Refinancing risk
Refinancing risk is the risk that the Fund will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its pension fund
financial instruments at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The Fund is not bound by any obligation to replenish
its investments and hence is not exposed to refinancing risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk reflects the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Fund therefore ensures that there is adequate cash and liquid resources to meet its commitments. Cash flow
projections are prepared on a regular basis to understand and manage the timing of the Fund’s cash flows.
The majority (estimated to be approximately 77% (2017 78%)) of the Fund’s investments could be converted to cash
within three months in a normal trading environment.
21 Actuarial statement
The Scheme Actuary has provided a statement describing the funding arrangements of the Fund. This can be found
at the end of this section.
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22 Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
The actuarial value of promised retirement benefits at the accounting date, calculated in line with International
Accounting Standard 19 (IAS19) assumptions, is estimated to be £7,791m (2017 £8,210m). This figure is used for
statutory accounting purposes by Lothian Pension Fund and complies with the requirements of IAS26. The
assumptions underlying the figure match those adopted for the Administering Authority's FRS17/IAS19 reports at
each year end.
The figure is only prepared for the purposes of IAS26 and has no validity in other circumstances. In particular, it is
not relevant for calculations undertaken for funding purposes and setting contributions payable to the Fund.
31 March 2017
% p.a.
2.4
4.4
2.6

Inflation / pensions increase rate
Salary increase rate
Discount rate

31 March 2018
% p.a.
2.4
4.1
2.7

Longevity assumptions
The life expectancy assumption is based on Fund specific statistical analysis with improvements in line with the CMI
2016 model, assuming that the current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a long term
rate of 1.25% p.a.. Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies, in years, at age 65 are
summarised below:

Current pensioners
Future pensioners (assumed to be currently 45)

31 March 2017
Males
Females
23.7 years
22.1 years
24.2 years
26.3 years

31 March 2018
Males
Females
21.7 years
24.3 years
24.7 years
27.5 years

Commutation assumption
An allowance is included for future retirements to elect to take 50% of the maximum additional tax‐free cash up to
HMRC limits for pre‐April 2009 service and 75% of the maximum tax‐free cash for post‐April 2009 service.

23 Non‐current Debtors

LPF
Parent
31 March
2017
£000
259
259

Contributions due ‐ employers' cessation

LPF
Group
31 March
2017
£000
259
259

LPF
Parent
31 March
2018
£000
1,525
1,525

LPF
Group
31 March
2018
£000
1,525
1,525

In accordance with the Funding Strategy Statement and in recognition of severe affordability constraints facing the
charitable sector, “Funding Agreements” have been put in place to allow certain former employers to repay
cessation valuation debt over longer terms (up to twenty years), to avoid potential default or insolvency.

The above debtors all relate to community admission bodies.
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24 Debtors

Contributions due ‐ employers
Contributions due ‐ members
Benefits paid in advance or recoverable
Sundry debtors
Corporation tax losses utilised by CEC group
Prepayments
LPFE & LPFI Limited Loan facility ‐ see note 28

Analysis of debtors

Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies
Other Local Authorities
Central Government Bodies
Other entities and individuals

25 Creditors

Benefits payable
VAT, PAYE and State Scheme premiums
Contributions in advance
Miscellaneous creditors and accrued expenses
Office ‐ operating lease
LPFE Loan facility ‐ see note 28
Intra group creditor ‐ see note 28

LPF
Parent
31 March
2017
£000
11,434
3,304
‐
160
‐
283
16
15,197

LPF
Group
31 March
2017
£000
11,434
3,304
‐
193
1
292
‐
15,224

LPF
Parent
31 March
2018
£000
11,586
3,517
33
92
‐
325
11
15,564

LPF
Group
31 March
2018
£000
11,586
3,517
33
163
‐
335
‐
15,634

LPF
Parent
31 March
2017
£000
6,081
6,477
2,158
35
22
‐
424
15,197

LPF
Group
31 March
2017
£000
6,081
6,477
2,158
35
56
‐
417
15,224

LPF
Parent
31 March
2018
£000
6,122
7,061
1,926
33
7
‐
415
15,564

LPF
Group
31 March
2018
£000
6,122
7,061
1,926
33
43
‐
449
15,634

LPF
Parent
31 March
2017
£000
5,745
2,940
8,719
2,760
266
24
105
20,559

LPF
Group
31 March
2017
£000
5,745
3,052
8,719
2,809
266
‐
‐
20,591

LPF
Parent
31 March
2018
£000
6,914
1,432
18,290
1,982
243
‐
287
29,148

LPF
Group
31 March
2018
£000
6,914
1,571
18,290
2,167
243
‐
‐
29,185
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25 Creditors (cont)
Analysis of Creditors

Administering Authority
Other Scheduled Bodies
Community Admission Bodies
Transferee Admission Bodies
Central Government Bodies
Other entities and individuals

LPF
Parent
31 March
2017
£000
51
11,715
19
‐
2,889
5,885
20,559

LPF
Group
31 March
2017
£000
51
11,715
19
‐
3,001
5,805
20,591

LPF
Parent
31 March
2018
£000
295
18,251
28
‐
1,432
9,142
29,148

LPF
Group
31 March
2018
£000
295
18,251
28
1,571
9,040
29,185

26 Additional Voluntary Contributions
Active members of the Lothian Pension Fund have the option to pay additional voluntary contributions (AVCs).
These AVCs are invested separately from the main funds, securing additional benefits on a money purchase basis
for those members that have elected to contribute. The investment of the AVCs is managed by Standard Life and
Prudential.
In accordance with regulation 4 (2) (b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of
Funds) (Scotland) Regulations 2010, AVCs are not included in the pension fund financial statements.
Total contributions during year for
Lothian Pension fund
Standard Life
Prudential

Total value at year end for
Lothian Pension Fund
Standard Life
Prudential

2016/17
£000
339
1,816
2,155
31 March 2017
£000
5,041
5,097
10,138

2017/18
£000
305
1,983
2,288
31 March 2018
£000
4,705
6,259
10,964

27 Related parties
The City of Edinburgh Council
The Lothian Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund and the Scottish Homes Pension Fund are administered
by the City of Edinburgh Council. Consequently there is a strong relationship between the Council and the Pension
Funds.
LPFE Ltd which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council is responsible for administering the three Pension Funds.
The Service receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council, based on the amount of central services
consumed. In turn, the Service allocates its costs to the three Pension Funds. Costs directly attributable to a
specific Fund are charged to the relevant Fund; costs that are common to all three Funds are allocated on a defined
basis.
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27 Related parties (cont)
Transactions between the Council and the Fund are managed via a holding account. Each month the Fund is paid a
cash sum leaving a working balance in the account to cover the month's pension payroll costs and other expected
costs.
31 March 2017
£000
4,467
4,467

Year end balance of holding account

31 March 2018
£000
2,784
2,784

Part of the Fund's cash holdings are invested on the money markets by the treasury management operations of the
Council, through a service level agreement. During the year to 31 March 2018, the fund had an average investment
balance of £117.1m (2016/17 £105.7m). Interest earned was £482k (2016/17 £427.4k).
Year end balance on treasury management account
Held for investment purposes
Held for other purposes

31 March 2017
£000
92,090
27,278
119,368

31 March 2018
£000
90,783
47,024
137,807

Scheme employers
All scheme employers to the fund are (by definition) related parties, a full list of employers can be found on page
69. The employer contributions for the ten largest scheme employers are as follows ‐

City of Edinburgh Council
West Lothian Council
East Lothian Council
Midlothian Council
Scottish Water
Edinburgh Napier University
Heriot‐Watt University
Scottish Police Authority
Edinburgh College
Audit Scotland

31 March 2017
£000
63,542
22,214
13,267
11,849
9,191
5,001
3,077
3,519
2,924
2,020

31 March 2018
£000
50,041
22,895
13,812
13,148
9,526
4,938
3,324
2,945
2,289
1,944

Governance
As at 31 March 2018, all members of the Pensions Committee, with the exception of Richard Lamont, and all
members of the Pension Board, were members of the Lothian Pension Fund or Lothian Buses Pension Fund, with
one member of the Pension Board in reciept of pension benefits from Lothian Pension Fund.
Each member of the Pensions Committee and Pension Board is required to declare any financial and non‐financial
interests they have in the items of business for consideration at each meeting, identifying the relevant agenda item
and the nature of their interest.
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27 Related parties (cont)
During the period from 1 April 2017 to the date of issuing of these accounts, a number of employees of the City of
Edinburgh Council and its wholly owned subsidiary, LPFE Limited, held key positions in the financial management of
the Lothian Pension Fund. With effect from 1 May 2015, all the employees listed below, with the exception of the
City of Edinburgh Council members of staff, were employed by LPFE Limited. These employees and their financial
relationship with the Fund (expressed as cash‐equivalent transfer values or CETV) are set out below:
Accrued CETV
as at 31
March 2017

Accrued CETV
as at 31
March 2018

£000

£000

‐

22

Name

Position held
Executive Director of Resources,
Stephen Moir*
City of Edinburgh Council
Head of Finance, City of Edinburgh Council
Hugh Dunn*
Head of Human Resources,
Katy Miller*
City of Edinburgh Council **
Clare Scott*
Chief Executive Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Chief Investment Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Bruce Miller
Struan Fairbairn
Chief Risk Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
John Burns
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Esmond Hamilton
Financial Controller, Lothian Pension Fund
* Also disclosed in the financial statements of the City of Edinburgh Council.
** Appears due to being a Director in LPFE Ltd

1,251

949

29

51

221
267
46
538
200

270
334
64
624
238

Total compensation paid in relation to key management personnel employed by LPFE Limited during the period was
as follows:

Short‐term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits ‐ employer pension contributions

31 March 2017
£000
380
78

31 March 2018
£000
415
85

Key management personnel employed by LPFE, had accrued pensions totalling £97,456 (1 April 2017: £81,825) and
lump sums totalling £110,889 (1 April 2017: £100,185 ) at the end of the period.
Staff are either employed by City of Edinburgh Council or LPFE Ltd, and their costs reimbursed by the Pension Fund.
The Councillors, who are members of the Pensions Committee, are also remunerated by City of Edinburgh Council.
LPFE Limited & LPFI Limited‐ loan facility
LPFE & LPFI Limited are wholly owned by the City of Edinburgh Council as administrating authority of Lothian
Pension Fund and have entered into a shareholder agreement with the Council to address governance matters. The
companies have a loan facility agreement with the City of Edinburgh Council for the purpose of the provision of
short term working capital. The current agreement covers the period to 1 May 2020 and provides that interest is
payable at 2% above the Royal Bank of Scotland base lending rate on the daily balance. In order to minimise the
amount of interest payable, the companies return any cash not immediately required and this can result in short
periods when the companies have returned more cash than has been drawn. On such days the loan interest is
negative, reducing the amount of interest payable.
Interest payable by LPFE Limited during the period was £1,380 of which £198 was due at the year end and for LPFI
Limited interest payable was £168 of which there was none due at year end. At 31 March 2018, the balance on the
loan facility was £10k due to LPFE Limited and a zero balance from LPFI Limited.
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27 Related parties (cont)
LPFE Limited ‐ staffing services
Staffing services are provided to Lothian Pension Fund for the purposes of administering the Funds under a intra‐
group resourcing agreement. The agreement also provides for the running costs of the company to be covered as
part of a service charge and allows for the provision of staffing services to LPFI Limited. During the year to 31 March
2018, the Fund was invoiced £1,450k (2017 £1,073k) for the services of LPFE Limited staff, £288k (2017 £105k) of
this remained payable at year end.

28a Consolidated Lothian Pension Fund Group ‐ LPFE Limited & LPFI Limited ‐ deferred tax

Movement in deferred tax asset (Non‐current asset)
At 1 April 2017
Credit for year to Fund Account
At 31 March 2018
Elements of closing deferred tax asset

Pension liability

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000
36
81
117

LPF
Group
2017/18
£000
117
175
292

LPF
Group
31 March
2017
£000
117
117

LPF
Group
31 March
2018
£000
292
292

28b Shares in group companies ‐ LPFE Limited & LPFI Limited
31 March 2017 31 March 2018
£
£
Allotted, called up and fully paid Ordinary shares of £1 each ‐ LPFE Limited*
1
1
Allotted, called up and fully paid Ordinary shares of £1 each ‐ LPFI Limited
50,000
60,000
50,001
60,001
*One ordinary share of £1 was issued to Lothian Pension Fund at par value on incorporation. Due to the low value
this does not show on the Net Assets Statement.
29 Retirement benefits obligation ‐ group
The retirement benefit obligation described in this note relates only to the employees of LPFE Limited. This is
because obligation in respect of the staff employed by the City of Edinburgh Council is accounted for in the City of
Edinburgh Council's Financial Statements.
On 1 May 2015 LPFE Limited commenced trading and its staff transferred their employment from the City of
Edinburgh Council to the Company on that date. At that time, the Company also entered into appropriate
admission arrangements with the City of Edinburgh Council with respect to the transferring individuals continuing
to be members of the Lothian Pension Fund and in relation to its obligations as an employer in that Fund.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and related current service cost and past service cost, were
measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
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29 Retirement benefits obligation ‐ group (cont)
Fund assets
The LPFE Limited’s share of the fair value of the Fund’s assets which are not intended to be realised in the short
term and may be subject to significant change before they are realised, were comprised as follows:

Asset
Equity securities:

Consumer
Manufacturing
Energy and utilities
Financial institutions
Health and care
Information
technology
Other

Debt securities:

Corporate Bonds
UK Government
Other

Private equity:

All

Real property

UK property
Overseas property

Investment
trusts:

funds

and

Derivatives:

unit Equities
Commodities
Bonds
Infrastructure
Other
Foreign Exchange

Cash and cash equivalents:

All

Fair value at 31
March 2017
£000
425
429
210
197
166

% of total
31 March Fair value at 31
2017
March 2018
£000
%
15.0
1,185
1,288
15.2
7.4
541
769
7.0
424
5.9

% of total
31 March
2018
%
14.0
15.0
6.0
9.0
5.0

140

4.9

528

6.0

195

6.9

543

6.0

‐
284
6

0.0
10.0
0.2

169
839
‐

2.0
10.0
0.0

91

3.2

158

2.0

191
‐

6.7
0.0

556
9

6.0
0.0

‐
8
42
253
60
‐

0.0
0.3
1.5
8.9
2.1
0.0

83
‐
‐
1,025
20
4

1.0
0.0
0.0
12.0
0.0
0.0

131
2,828

4.8
100.0

511
8,652

6.0
100.0

Amounts recognised in the Net Assets Statement

Fair value of Fund assets
Present value of Fund liabilities

LPF
LPF
Group
Group
31 March 31 March
2017
2018
£000
£000
2,828
8,652
(10,367)
(3,513)
(685)
(1,715)
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29 Retirement benefits obligation ‐ group (cont)
Movement in the defined benefit obligation during the period

Brought forward
Current service cost
Interest cost on obligation
Fund participants contributions
Benefits paid
Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions
Other actuarial losses
Balance at year end

Movement in the fair value of Fund assets during the period

Brought forward
Benefits paid
Interest income on Fund assets
Contributions by employer
Contributions by member
Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits
Unfunded benefits paid
Effect of business combinations and disposals
Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest
Balance at year end
Amounts recognised in the Fund Account

Interest received on Fund assets
Interest cost on Fund liabilities
Current service costs
Transfer of opening retirement benefit obligation on 1 May 2015
Actuarial gains due to re‐measurement of the defined benefit obligation
Return on Fund assets (excluding interest above)
Net cost recognised in Fund account
Less ‐ cash flows
Increase in retirement benefit obligations

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000
2,277
172
86
76
‐
902
‐
‐
3,513

(788)

10,367

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000
2,097
‐
80
156
76
‐
‐
‐
419
2,828

LPF
Group
2017/18
£000
2,828

LPF
Group
2016/17
£000
(80)
86
172
‐
902
(419)
661
(156)
505

LPF
Group
2017/18
£000
(104)
131
336
‐
(788)
282
(143)
(204)
(347)
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Group
2017/18
£000
3,513
336
131
7,175

104
204
91
‐
(4)
5,711
(282)
8,652
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29 Retirement benefits obligation ‐ group (cont)
Principal actuarial assumptions used in this valuation
Inflation / pensions increase rate
Salary increase rate
Discount rate

31 March 2017
% p.a.
2.4
4.4
2.7

31 March 2018
% p.a.
2.3
4.0
2.7

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions
which, due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. Best estimate has been
interpreted to mean that the proposed assumptions are ‘neutral’ – there is an equal chance of actual experience
being better or worse than the assumptions proposed.
The financial assumptions used for reporting in the financial statements are the responsibility of the employer.
These assumptions are largely prescribed at any point and reflect market conditions at the reporting date. Changes
in market conditions that result in changes in the net discount rate can have a significant effect on the value of the
liabilities reported.
A reduction in the net discount rate will increase the assessed value of liabilities as a higher value is placed on
benefits paid in the future. A rise in the net discount rate will have an opposite effect of a similar magnitude. There
is also uncertainty around life expectancy of the UK population – the value of current and future pension benefits
will depend on how long they are assumed to be in payment.
Life expectancy is based on Fund specific statistical analysis with improvements in line with the CMI 2012 model
assuming current rates of improvements have peaked and will converge to a long term rate of 1.25% p.a.
Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:
31 March 2017
Males
Females
22.1 years
23.7 years
24.2 years
26.3 years

Current pensioners
Future pensioners

31 March 2018
Males
Females
21.7 years
24.3 years
24.7 years
27.5 years

Expected employer contributions to the defined benefit plan for the year ended 31 March 2019 are £415,000,
based on a pensionable payroll cost of £1,742,000.
30 Contractual commitments
Investment commitments
The Fund has commitments relating to outstanding call payments due on unquoted funds held in the private equity,
timber, property and infrastructure parts of the portfolio. The amounts ‘called’ by these funds are irregular in both
size and timing, taking place over a number of years from the date of each original commitment. The outstanding
commitments at the year end are as follows:

Outstanding investment commitments

31 March 2017
£000
235,565
235,565

31 March 2018
£000
202,723
202,723

Audited Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
Lothian Pension Fund

66

Notes to the Accounts
30 Contractual commitments (cont)
Office accommodation ‐ 144 Morrison Street, Edinburgh
The Investment and Pensions Service is committed to making the following future payments.
31 March 2017
31 March 2018
£000
£000
115
115
Within one year
345
345
Between one and five years
877
762
After five years
1,222
1,337
Recognised as an expense during the year

92

92

The above expense has been allocated across the three Funds, Lothian Pension Fund’s share is £85.1k.
31 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contribution refunds
At 31st March 2018, Lothian Pension Fund had £894k in unclaimed refunds due to members.
Employer Cessations
As stated in note 23, “In accordance with the Funding Strategy Statement and in recognition of severe affordability
constraints facing the charitable sector, “Funding Agreements” have been put in place with certain former
employers to repay cessation valuation debt”…. In exceptional circumstances, this includes “repayment of less than
the cessation debt in order to avoid employer insolvency, with an appropriate agreement which allows the Fund to
revisit the repayment of the remaining debt at a future date (i.e. the debt would be a contingent liability and hence
not recognised on an employer’s balance sheet); and seeking, where appropriate, suitable “anti‐embarrassment”
provisions in legal agreement covering future increase in employer asset values”. At 31 March 2018, such
contingent assets of the Fund totalled £1,635k.
EU Tax claims & income recovery
The Fund participates in various claims to recover withheld investment income. EU tax claims relate to the recovery
of tax deducted from dividend payments prior to receipt or payable tax credits thereon. The claims can be divided
into three main types – “Manninen” / Foreign Income Dividends (Fids), “Fokus Bank” and Manufactured Dividends.
Given the high level of uncertainty as to the eventual success of such claims from EU tax authorities, no accrual of
income is made in the financial statements. The value of these outstanding claims is approximately £9.8m. To date,
the amount of tax recovered exceeds the cost of pursuing claims. Legal costs are shared across a pool of claimants
and the Fund has the right to cease participation without incurring further costs. An annual progress report is
provided to Pensions Audit Sub‐Committee.
32 Impairment losses
During the year the Fund recognised an increase in impairment losses in respect of specific benefit over payments
for which reimbursement has been requested of £4.9k. This increased the impairment to £27.7k at the year end.
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Lothian Pension Fund
Actuarial Statement for 2017/18
This statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 55(1)(d) of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014. It has been prepared at the request of the Administering Authority of the Fund for the
purpose of complying with the aforementioned regulation.

Description of Funding Policy
The funding policy is set out in the Administering Authority’s Funding Strategy (FSS), dated March 2018. In summary,
the key funding principles are as follows:
• to ensure the long‐term solvency of the overall Fund;
• to ensure the solvency of each individual employers’ share of the Fund based on their expected term of
participation in the Fund;
• to minimise the degree of short‐term change in employer contribution rates;
• maximise the returns from investments within reasonable and considered risk parameters, and hence minimise
the cost to the employer;
• to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet all liabilities as they fall due for payment;
• to help employers manage their pension liabilities; and
• where practical and cost effective, to make allowance for the different characteristics of different employers
and groups of employers.
The FSS sets out how the Administering Authority seeks to achieve these objectives.

Funding Position as at the last formal funding valuation
The most recent actuarial valuation carried out under Regulation 60 of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014 was as at 31 March 2017. This valuation revealed that the Fund’s assets, which at 31 March
2017 were valued at £6,598 million, were sufficient to meet 98% of the liabilities (i.e. the present value of promised
retirement benefits) accrued up to that date. The resulting deficit at the 2017 valuation was £145 million. For the
avoidance of doubt, these results are based on the assumptions that apply to the Fund’s Primary investment strategy.

Each employer had contribution requirements set at the valuation with the aim of achieving full funding within a given
time horizon. Contribution rates were set using one of two approaches depending on each employer’s circumstances:
• Certain low risk and open employers participate in a contribution stability mechanism which limits annual
changes in contribution rates. The mechanism is tested at each valuation to make sure it achieves the desired
funding objectives.
• Other employers pay the contributions required to cover the cost of future service benefits and to recover the
deficit/surplus identified as at 31 March 2017 over a given time period.
Individual employers’ contributions for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021 were set in accordance with the
Fund’s funding policy as set out in its FSS, which includes further detail on the approaches mentioned above.

Principal Actuarial Assumptions and Method used to value the liabilities
Full details of the methods and assumptions used are described in the 2017 valuation report.
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Lothian Pension Fund
Actuarial Statement for 2017/18
Method
The liabilities were assessed using an accrued benefits method which takes into account pensionable membership up to
the valuation date, and makes an allowance for expected future salary growth and inflation to retirement or expected
earlier date of leaving pensionable membership.

Assumptions
A market‐related approach was taken to valuing the liabilities, for consistency with the valuation of the Fund assets at
their market value.

The key financial assumptions adopted under the Primary investment strategy for the 2017 valuation were as follows:
31 March 2017
% p.a.
5.0%
5.0%
2.7%

Financial assumptions
Discount rate
Pay increases*
Price inflation/Pension increases

The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. The life expectancy assumption was based on
the Fund's Vita Curves alongside future improvements based on the CMI 2016 model with an allowance for smoothing
of recent mortality experience and a long term rate of improvement of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions, the
average future life expectancies at age 65 are as follows:

Current Pensioners
Future Pensioners *

Males

Females

21.7 years
24.7 years

24.3 years
27.5 years

*Aged 45 as at 31 March 2017
Copies of the 2017 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are available on request from the Administering
Authority to the Fund.

Experience over the period since 31 March 2017
Asset returns under the Primary investment strategy over the period have been lower than the valuation discount rate
but real bond yields at 31 March 2018 are at a similar level to 31 March 2017. Combining the impact of these may mean
that the overall funding level at 31 March 2018 has fallen slightly since the last formal valuation.
The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2020. The Funding Strategy Statement will also be
reviewed at that time.

Richard Warden FFA
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
20 Waterloo Street, Glasgow, G2 6DB
28 April 2018
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List of active employers at 31 March 2018
Scheduled Bodies
City of Edinburgh Council (The)

Scottish Fire and Rescue Service

East Lothian Council
Edinburgh College

Scottish Police Authority
Scottish Water

Heriot‐Watt University

SESTRAN

Lothian Valuation Joint Board

Visit Scotland

Midlothian Council

West Lothian College

Scotland’s Rural College (SRUC)

West Lothian Council

Admitted Bodies
Homeless Action Scotland

Amey Services
Audit Scotland

Homes for Life Housing Partnership

Barony Housing Association Ltd

HWU Students Association

Baxter Storey

Improvement Service (The)

Bellrock Property and Facilities Management

Into Work

Canongate Youth Project

ISS UK Ltd

Capital City Partnership
Centre for Moving Image (The)

LPFE Ltd
Melville Housing Association

CGI UK Ltd

Mitie PFI

Children’s Hearing Scotland

Morrison Facilities Services Ltd

Children’s Hospice Association Scotland

Museums Galleries Scotland

Citadel Youth Centre

Newbattle Abbey College

Compass Chartwell

North Edinburgh Dementia Care

Convention of Scottish Local Authorities

NSL Ltd

Dacoll Limited

Open Door Accommodation Project

Dean Orphanage and Cauvin’s Trust

Penumbra

Donaldson’s Trust

Pilton Equalities Project

EDI Group Ltd

Queen Margaret University

Edinburgh Business School

Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo

Edinburgh Cyrenians Trust

Royal Society of Edinburgh

Edinburgh Development Group

Scotland's Learning Partnership

Edinburgh International Festival Society

Scottish Adoption Agency

Edinburgh Leisure

Scottish Futures Trust

Edinburgh Napier University

Scottish Legal Complaints Commission

Edinburgh World Heritage Trust

Scottish Schools Education Research Centre (SSERC)

ELCAP

Skanska UK

Enjoy East Lothian

St Andrew’s Children’s Society Limited

Family Advice and Information Resource

St Columba’s Hospice

Family and Community Development West Lothian

Stepping Out Project

First Step

Waverley Care

Forth and Oban Ltd
Four Square (Scotland)

University of Edinburgh (Edinburgh College of Art)
Weslo Housing Management

Freespace Housing Association

West Granton Community Trust

Granton Information Centre

West Lothian Leisure

Handicabs (Lothian) Ltd

Wester Hailes Land and Property Trust

Hanover (Scotland) Housing Association

Young Scot Enterprise

Health in Mind

Youthlink Scotland
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Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Lothian
Buses Pension Fund membership
######## ######## ######## ########
Active
Deferred
Pensioners
Dependants
Total

4,500
4,000
3,500
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
0

1,196
1,131
1,222
332
3,881

1,130
1,104
1,253
350
3,837

1,069
1,082
1,280
360
3,791

1,000
1,053
1,311
370
3,734

Active

Deferred

Pensioners

Dependants

Total

31 March 2015

1,196

1,131

1,222

332

3,881

31 March 2016

1,130

1,104

1,253

350

3,837

31 March 2017

1,069

1,082

1,280

360

3,791

31 March 2018

1,000

1,053

1,311

370

3,734

Investment Strategy
The Fund adopts a long‐term investment strategy, aiming to maximise the investment return within reasonable
and considered risk parameters and hence minimise the cost to the employer. A new Investment Strategy 2016‐21
was agreed by Committee in March 2016. This aims to better align the risk assets held by the Fund with its
maturing liability profile by reducing equity exposure to 40%, increasing the index‐linked asset allocation to 20%,
and increasing investments in real (18%) and fixed income (22%) assets to 40% in a phased manner over the 5‐year
time horizon.
A decision to merge Lothian Buses Pension Fund with the Lothian Pension Fund was made by the Pensions
Committee in March 2018 subject to the satisfactory completion of a revised admission agreement and
shareholders’ guarantees. Progress is being made on putting in place the agreement and guarantees. The merger
is expected to be enacted in the coming months, facilitated by the new employer unitisation accounting system
and with the creation of a bespoke strategy for Lothian Buses in the main Lothian Pension Fund.
The implementation of the strategy progressed over the financial year 2017/18 as investment opportunities in real
assets (largely infrastructure) and fixed income assets became available and as research on opportunities was
completed. Implementation progress must also consider the fact that the actual asset allocation changes as
markets fluctuate
The changes to the interim strategy allocations and actual allocations over the financial year 2017/18 are shown in
the table below:
Strategic Allocation Long term Strategy

Equities
Index Linked Assets
Other Real Assets
Fixed Income Assets
Cash
Total

31/03/2018
%
55.5

2016 ‐ 2021
%
40.0

16.0
18.0
10.5
‐
100.0

20.0
18.0
22.0
‐
100.0
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Actual Asset Allocation (%) at 31 March 2018
8

Actual Asset Allocation 31 March 2018

2

Equities
Index Linked Assets
Other Real Assets

20

Fixed Income Assets

Cash
55

55
15
20

Equities
Index Linked Assets
Other Real Assets

8
2
100

Fixed Income Assets
Cash

15

Investment performance
The objectives of the Fund are:
▪ over long‐term economic cycles (typically 5 years or more) the achievement of the same return as that
generated by the strategic allocation
▪ over shorter periods, the Fund should perform better than the strategic allocation if markets fall significantly.
Overall, the Fund produced a return of 4.9% over the year, ahead of the benchmark return of 3.5%. Over five
years, the Fund returned 10.9% per annum, ahead of benchmark by 1.4% per annum.
The Fund investment return of 4.9% was dragged down by the impact of Sterling strength on overseas
investments (global equities returned 15% in US$ terms but only 2% when converted to Sterling). The return
exceeded that of the strategy allocation benchmark over the last year, due mainly to the strong performance of the
Baillie Gifford Global Equity portfolio. The Fund continues to meet its main objective of achieving a return
consistent with that of its strategic allocation over long‐term economic cycles.
The Fund continues to meet its main objective of achieving a return consistent with that of its strategic allocation
over long‐term economic cycles. The five‐year return was 10.9% per annum and the 10‐year return was 10.1% per
annum (compared to benchmark returns of 9.5% and 8.6% respectively).

Annualised returns to 31 March 2018 (% per year)
Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Benchmark
Actuarial Valuation Assumptions *
Retail Price Index (RPI)
Consumer Price Index (CPI)
National Average Earnings
*estimate

1 year
4.9
3.5

5 year
10.9
9.4

3.2
3.3
2.5
2.4

4.8
2.3
1.4
2.6
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The Fund continues to meet its main objective of achieving a return consistent with that of its strategic allocation
over long‐term economic cycles. The five‐year return was 10.9% per annum and the 10‐year return was 10.1% per
annum (compared to benchmark returns of 9.5% and 8.6% respectively).
The Fund’s shorter‐term objective, to perform better than the strategic allocation if markets fall significantly, is yet
to be tested. The Fund’s return (+4.9%) over the year was ahead of the benchmark return (+3.6%) due to the
strong performance of the Baillie Gifford Global Equity portfolio.
The Fund’s equity investments delivered more muted, though still positive, returns (+5.1%) in comparison to last
year’s exceptionally strong levels. However, the return was very strong compared to the benchmark return
(+2.4%). Baillie Gifford’s Global Alpha portfolio in particular contributed strongly, returning 13.2% (much better
than benchmark), while the much smaller Private Equity portfolio rose 5.6% (also better than benchmark). The
performance of the internally‐managed Global High Yield Equity portfolio tempered this somewhat, returning ‐
2.1% over the year as high yielding, “safe haven” stocks lagged the wider market. As these stocks are lower risk
than the benchmark, this is consistent with expectations.
The Fund’s internally‐managed index‐linked assets produced a modest 1.1% gain over the year, in line with the
benchmark return as expected as the portfolio is passively managed.
The chart below shows the rolling 5‐year performance of the Fund against its strategic benchmark over the last 10
years. The Fund has consistently outperformed its benchmark over rolling 5‐year periods, with the average excess
return over the last 10 years being 1.5% pa.
2011
2012
2013returns
2014 ending
2015 312016
Annualised
5 yearly
March 2017
9.6
6.0
6.1
15.9
11.0
(%9.3per year)
9.6
13.2

2009
Fun
d
Ben
chm
ark

2010

4.2
2.5

3.50

2.0 8.4

4.9

4.6

7.8

13.6

9.2

7.8

1.5

Rela
tive
(LHS
)

11.5

1.0

1.7

0.5

0.7

0.0

1.1

1.1

1.4

1.5

2.3

1.8

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Fund

4.2

9.6

6.0

6.1

9.3

15.9

Benchmark

3.50

8.4

4.9

4.6

7.8

13.6

Relative (LHS)

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.4

1.5

2.3

1.8
2016

2017

2018

11.0

9.6

13.2

10.9

9.2

7.8

11.5

9.4

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.4
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Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Fund Account for year ended 31 March 2018
This statement shows a summary of the income and expenditure that the Pension Fund has generated and consumed in
delivering the Local Government Pension Scheme. Included is the income generated from employers’ and employees’
contributions and investment income, as well as the cost of providing benefits and administration of the Fund.

2016/17
£000
7,731
2,060
10
9,801
8,425
3,277
295
9
418
98
12,522
(2,721)

Note
Income
Contributions from employer
Contributions from members
Transfers from other schemes
Less: expenditure
Pension payments including increases
Lump sum retirement payments
Lump sum death benefits
Refunds to members leaving service
Transfers to other schemes
Administrative expenses

4b

(1,880)
96,433
93,712

Net increase in the Fund during the year

7,581
1,988
13
9,582
8,755
2,584
283
4
657
99
12,382
(2,800)

Net withdrawals from dealing with members
Returns on investments
Investment income
Change in market value of investments
Investment management expenses
Net returns on investments

7,641
90,672

3

2017/18
£000

5
7, 11b
4c

8,079
17,749
(2,424)
23,404
20,604

394,431

Net assets of the Fund at 1 April 2017

488,143

488,143

Net assets of the Fund at 31 March 2018

508,747
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Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Net Assets Statement as at 31 March 2018
This statement provides a breakdown of type and value of all net assets at the year end.
31 March
2017
£000
73,313
273,603
122,566
14,074
1,398

Note
Investment Assets
Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Cash Deposits
Other investment assets

6
6
6, 19
12

484,954
(18)
(18)
484,936

385
2,440
744
3,569

(362)
(362)
3,207
488,143

31 March
2018
£000
74,321
277,290
134,466
18,691
1,614
506,382

Investment Liabilities
Other investment assets

Net investment assets
Current assets
The City of Edinburgh Council
Cash balances
Debtors

Current liabilities
Creditors

(250)
(250)
6, 7, 8, 9, 11

506,132

18
12, 18
15

299
1,809
842
2,950

16

(335)
(335)
2,615

Net current assets
Net assets of the Fund at 31 March 2018

11

508,747

The unaudited accounts were issued on 27 June 2018 and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on
26 September 2018.

JOHN BURNS FCMA CGMA
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018
Notes to the net asset statement
The financial statements summarise the transactions of the Fund during the year and its net assets at the year end. They
do not take account of the obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the year. The
actuarial position of the Fund, which does take account of such obligations, is discussed in the Actuarial Valuation
section of this report and these financial statements should be read in conjunction with that information. In addition,
as required by IAS26, the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits is disclosed in the notes to these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Statement of Accounting Policies
The statement of accounting policies for all three Funds can be found on page 114.

2

Events after the Reporting Date
There have been no events since 31 March 2018, and up to the date when these accounts were authorised, that
require any adjustments to these accounts.
At its meeting on 26 March 2018, the Pensions Committee approved the merger of the assets and liabilities of the
Lothian Buses Pension Fund into the Lothian Pension Fund at the earliest suitable date (to be determined by the
Executive Director of Resources), subject to the satisfactory completion of a revised admission agreement and
shareholder guarantee.

3

Contributions from employer

By category
Normal (ongoing contributions)
Deficit contribution
Strain costs and augmentation contributions

2016/17
£000
7,516
‐
215
7,731

2017/18
£000
7,581
‐
‐
7,581

The Lothian Buses Pension Fund is a single employer pension fund for employees of Lothian Buses Limited. The
Lothian Buses Pension Fund was set up in 1986 under the Local Government Superannuation (Funds) (Scotland)
Regulations 1986 (SSI 115/1986).
The employer contribution rate was 24.1% for the financial year.
Where the employer makes certain decisions which result in additional benefits being paid out to a member, or
benefits being paid early, this results in a "strain" on the Fund. The resulting pension strain costs are calculated and
recharged in full to the employer.
4a Total management expenses

Restated

In accordance with CIPFA, the analysis below looks at the combined administration and investment management
expenses in notes 4a and b and splits out the costs to include a third category covering oversight and governance
expenditure. Administration costs such as Actuarial fees and Investment Management expenses such as investment
consultancy would instead be shown in the Oversight and governance costs category.
2016/17
£000
78
Administrative costs
1,814
Investment management expenses*
86
Oversight and governance costs
1,978
* as per note 4c, includes £325k (2016/17 £3325k) in costs above CIPFA guidance

2017/18
£000
78
2,323
122
2,523
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Notes to the Financial Statements
4b Administrative expenses

Employee Costs
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ other support costs
System costs
Actuarial fees
Internal and External audit fees
Legal fees
Printing and postage
Depreciation
Office costs
Sundry costs less sundry income

2016/17
£000
55
6
13
9
2
‐
4
3
5
1
98

2017/18
£000
55
‐
14
11
3
‐
5
3
5
3
99

LPFE Ltd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, is responsible for providing the staffing resource to
administer the three pension Funds. The Service receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council. In turn the
Service allocates administration and investment costs to the three pension funds. Costs directly attributable to a
specific fund are charged to the relevant Fund, costs that are common to all three funds are allocated on a defined
basis.
4c Investment management expenses

External management fees ‐
invoiced
deducted from capital (direct investment)
deducted from capital (indirect investment)
Securities lending fees
Transaction costs
Employee costs
Custody fees
Engagement and voting fees
Performance measurement fees
Consultancy fees
System costs
Legal fees
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ other support costs
Depreciation
Office costs
Sundry costs less sundry income

2016/17
£000

2017/18
£000

616
694
325
20
33
82
33
6
19
5
18
9
8
2
6
4
1,880

661
1,135
338
18
59
96
28
7
23
3
23
10
‐
1
6
16
2,424

Any costs incurred through the bid‐offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are reflected in the cost of
investment acquisitions or in the proceeds of investment sales (see note 7 ‐ Reconciliation of movements in
investments and derivatives).
The external investment management fees above include £0.5m in respect of performance‐related fees (2016/17
£0.3m).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
4c Investment management expenses (cont)
It should be noted that Lothian Buses Pension Fund's disclosure on investment management fees goes further than
CIPFA's LGPS Management Cost revised guidance on cost transparency which came into effect on 1st April 2016.
Consistent with recent years, the Fund recognises fees deducted from investments not within its direct control
(such as fund of fund fees) to give a full picture of its investment management costs. Further details can be found
on page 25. This further disclosure highlights an extra £338k in costs (2016/17 £325k)

5

Investment income
2017/18
£000
261
6,996
1,077
33
92
8,459
(380)
8,079

2016/17
£000
186
7,026
452
18
103
7,785
(144)
7,641

Income from bonds
Dividends from equities
Income from pooled investment vehicles
Interest on cash deposits
Stock lending and sundries
Irrecoverable withholding tax

Included within the dividend from equities income for the year is cross border withholding tax yet to be received.
These reclaims have a high certainty of success and are completed and managed by the Fund’s custodian Northern
Trust. For the period of 2017/18 £245k of the stated income relates to tax yet to be received. At the 31st March
2018 £525k (including prior periods) of investment income receivable related to cross border withholding tax. The
Fund monitors these claims to ensure its optimum tax efficiency and provides an annual progress report to the
Pensions Audit Sub‐Committee.
6

Analysis of investments
Region

31 March 2017

31 March 2018

£000

£000

73,313
73,313

74,321
74,321

Investment Assets
Bonds
Public sector index linked gilts quoted

UK

Equities
Quoted
Quoted

UK
Overseas

33,935
239,668
273,603

28,853
248,437
277,290

Pooled investment vehicles
Managed funds ‐ property
Managed funds ‐ other bonds
Timber funds ‐ unquoted
Infrastructure ‐ unquoted
Infrastructure ‐ unquoted
Private debt funds ‐ unquoted
Private debt funds ‐ unquoted

UK
UK
Overseas
UK
Overseas
UK
Overseas

38,146
30,100
8,361
26,636
12,607
2,266
4,450
122,566

41,487
30,490
6,838
28,850
16,774
2,881
7,146
134,466
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7

Reconciliation of movement in investments and
derivatives

Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Derivatives ‐ fwd foreign exchange
Other financial assets / (liabilities)
Cash deposits*
Broker balances*
Investment income due*

Net financial assets

Market
Market Purchases
value at 31 at cost &
Sales & Change in value at 31
March
March derivative derivative
market
2018
2017 payments
value
receipts
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
73,313
4,043
(3,613)
578
74,321
273,603
28,779
(32,933)
7,841
277,290
122,566
5,736
(3,764)
9,928
134,466
(11)
(4)
‐
‐
15
469,482
38,573
18,343
486,077
(40,321)
14,074
(18)
1,398
15,454

(605)
11
(594)

18,691
20
1,344
20,055

484,936

17,749

506,132

The change in market value of investments during the year comprises all increases and decreases in the market
value of investments held at any time during the year, including profits and losses realised on sales of investments
during the year.
Any costs incurred through the bid‐offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are reflected in the cost of
investment acquisitions and in the proceeds from sales and are therefore included in the tables above.

Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Derivatives ‐ fwd foreign exchange
Derivatives ‐ futures
Other financial assets / (liabilities)
Cash deposits*
Broker balances*
Investment income due*

Net financial assets

Market Purchases
Market
value at 31 at cost &
value
at 31
Sales & Change in
March derivative derivative
March
market
2016 payments
2017
value
receipts
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
19,661
87,284
(49,714)
16,082
73,313
236,417
15,473
273,603
(41,164)
62,877
11,178
122,566
121,923
18,969
(29,504)
(32)
604
(265)
(307)
‐
‐
3
(692)
689
‐
122,333 (121,339)
469,482
377,969
90,519
11,811
(73)
1,081
12,819

69
84
‐
153

14,074
(18)
1,398
15,454

390,788

90,672

484,936

* As per CIPFA disclosures the change in market value intentionally does not balance opening/closing market values
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8

Investment managers and mandates

Manager
Baillie Gifford
In‐house
In‐house
Total global equities

Mandate
Global equities
Global high dividend
Private equity quoted

% of total
31 March
2017
%
25.7
29.3
1.3
56.3

Market value
at 31 March
2018
£000
141,217
131,248
5,605
278,070

% of total
31 March
2018
%
27.9
25.9
1.1
54.9

In‐house
Index linked gilts
Total index linked assets

73,793
73,793

15.2
15.2

74,630
74,630

14.7
14.7

Baillie Gifford
Corporate bonds
In‐house
Secured loans unquoted
Total fixed income assets

30,100
6,716
36,816

6.2
1.4
7.6

30,490
10,027
40,517

6.0
2.0
8.0

Standard Life
In‐house
In‐house
In‐house
Total other real assets

38,146
39,243
3,661
8,361
89,411

7.9
8.1
0.8
1.7
18.5

41,487
45,625
2,950
6,838
96,900

8.2
9.0
0.6
1.4
18.5

11,762
11,762

2.4
2.4

16,015
16,015

3.2
3.2

484,936

100.0

506,132

100.0

Property
Infrastructure unquoted
Infrastructure quoted
Timber unquoted

In‐house
Cash
Total cash and sundries
Net financial assets
9

Market value
at 31 March
2017
£000
124,570
142,297
6,287
273,154

Investments representing more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund

Standard Life Property Fund
Baillie Gifford Inv Grade Bond Fund

Market value
at 31 March
2017
£000
38,146
30,100

% of net
assets
31 March
2017
7.9
6.2

Market value
at 31 March
2018
£000
41,487
30,490

% of net
assets
31 March
2018
8.2
6.0

10 Securities lending
During the year Lothian Buses Pension Fund participated in a securities lending arrangement with the Northern
Trust Company. As at 31 March 2018, £16.8m (2017 £17.4m) of securities were released to third parties. Collateral
valued at 106.19% (2017 105.24%) of the market value of the securities on loan was held at that date.
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11 Financial Instruments
11a Classification of financial instruments
Accounting policies describe how different asset classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income
and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following table analyses the fair value
amounts of financial assets and liabilities by category and net assets statement heading. No financial assets were
reclassified during the accounting period.
All financial instruments are marked to market (at fair value) in the Fund's accounting records, hence there is no
difference between the carrying value and fair value.

31 March 2017

31 March 2018

Designated as
Designated as
Financial
fair value
fair value
Financial
liabilities at
through fund Loans and
liabilities at through fund Loans and
account receivables amortised cost
account receivables amortised cost
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000

Financial assets
Investment assets
Bonds
Equities
Pooled investments
Cash
Other balances

73,313
273,603
122,566
‐
‐
469,482

‐
‐
‐
14,074
1,398
15,472

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

74,321
277,290
134,466
‐
‐
486,077

‐
‐
‐
18,691
1,614
20,305

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
469,482

385
2,440
744
3,569
19,041

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
486,077

299
1,809
842
2,950
23,255

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

(18)
(18)

‐
‐

‐
‐

(250)
(250)

Other liabilities
Creditors

‐

‐

(362)

‐

‐

(335)

Liabilities total

‐

‐

(380)

‐

‐

(585)

469,482

19,041

(380)

486,077

23,255

(585)

Other assets
City of Edinburgh Council
Cash
Debtors
Assets total
Financial liabilities
Investment liabilities
Other investment balances

Total net assets
Total net financial assets

488,143
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11b Net gains and losses on financial instruments
Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Total

2016/17
£000
90,519
153
‐
90,672

2017/18
£000
18,343
(594)
‐
17,749

11c Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value
The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of
information used to determine fair values.
Level 1
Financial instruments at Level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Products classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities and unit trusts.

Quoted investments are shown at bid prices. The bid value of the investment is based on the bid market quotation
of the relevant stock exchange.
Level 2
Financial instruments at Level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for example, where an
instrument is traded in a market that is not considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to
determine fair value and where these techniques use inputs that are based significantly on observable market data.

Level 3
Financial instruments at Level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation is not based on observable market data. Such instruments would include unquoted equity
investments, which are valued using various valuation techniques that require significant judgement in determining
appropriate assumptions.
The values of the investments in unquoted private debt, infrastructure and timber are based on valuations provided
by the general partners to the funds in which the Fund has invested.

These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation
Guidelines or similar guidelines provided by the British Venture Capital Association, which follow the valuation
principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The valuations are typically undertaken annually at
the end of December. Cash flow adjustments are used to roll forward the valuations to 31 March as appropriate.
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11c Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value (cont)
Level 1
£000

31 March 2018
Level 2
Level 3
£000
£000

Total
£000

Investment assets
Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Total investments assets

349,267
20,305
369,572

74,321
‐
74,321

62,489
‐
62,489

486,077
20,305
506,382

Investment liabilities
Designated as fair value through fund account
Total investment liabilities
Net Investment assets

(250)
(250)
369,322

‐
‐
74,321

‐
‐
62,489

(250)
(250)
506,132

31 March 2017
Level 2
Level 3
£000
£000

Total
£000

Level 1
£000
Investment assets
Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Total investments assets

341,849
15,472
357,321

73,313
‐
73,313

54,320
‐
54,320

469,482
15,472
484,954

Investment liabilities
Designated as fair value through fund account
Total investment liabilities
Net Investment assets

(18)
(18)
357,303

‐
‐
73,313

‐
‐
54,320

(18)
(18)
484,936

11d Reconciliation of fair value measurements within level 3

Pooled investments
Infrastructure
Timber
Secured loans

Market
value at 31
March
2017
39,243
8,361
6,716
54,320

Level 3
transfers
in
‐
‐
‐
‐

Purchases
Sales &
at cost &
derivative Unrealised
out derivative
gains /
receipts
payments
(losses)
‐
7,026
(6,215)
4,050
‐
‐
(1,124)
(641)
‐
429
4,018
(1,153)
(8,492)
3,838
‐
11,044

Market
value
at 31
Realised
March
gains /
2018
(losses)
1,520
45,624
242
6,838
17
10,027
1,779
62,489

Unrealised and realised gains and losses are recognised in the profit and losses on disposal and changes in the
market value of investments line of the fund account.
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12 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments
Risk and risk management
The Fund’s primary aim is to ensure that all members and their dependants receive their benefits when they
become payable. The investment strategy aims to maximise the returns from investments within reasonable risk
parameters and hence minimise the long‐term cost to employers. The Fund achieves this by investing in a diverse
range of assets to reduce risk to an acceptable level. In addition, the Fund ensures that sufficient cash is available
to meet all liabilities when they are due to be paid.
Responsibility for the Fund’s overall investment strategy rests with the Pensions Committee. The Investment
Strategy Panel and the internal investment team monitor investment risks on a regular basis. Investment risk
management tools are used to identify and analyse risks faced by the Fund’s investments.
Consideration of the Fund’s investment risk is part of the overall risk management of the pensions operations. Risks
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in activity and market conditions.
Types of investment risk
There are various ways of considering investment risks for pension funds. For the purposes of this note, market risk
is the potential for an investor to experience losses from falls in the prices of investments. All financial instruments,
including cash deposits, present a risk of loss of capital and risks vary depending on different asset classes.
Market risk also changes over time as economic conditions and investor sentiment change. The Fund considers
overall fluctuations in prices arising from a variety of sources: market risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, etc. The different risks may, to some extent, offset each other.
The overall market risk of the Fund depends on the actual mix of assets and encompasses all the different elements
of risk.
The Fund manages these risks in a number of ways:
• assessing and establishing acceptable levels of market risk when setting overall investment strategy.
Importantly, risk is considered relative to the liabilities of the Fund
•
•
•
•

diversification of investments in terms of type of asset, investment styles, investment managers, geographical
and industry sectors as well as individual securities
taking stewardship responsibilities seriously and pursuing constructive engagement with the companies in
monitoring market risk and market conditions to ensure risk remains within tolerable levels
using equity futures contracts from time to time to manage market risk. Options are not used by the Fund.
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12 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Sensitivity analysis
Asset prices have a tendency to fluctuate. The degree of such fluctuation is known as “volatility” and it differs by
asset class. The table sets out the long‐term volatility assumptions used in the Fund’s asset‐liability modelling
undertaken by the Fund’s investment adviser KPMG:
Asset type
Equities ‐ Developed Markets
Private Equity
Timber and Gold
Secured Loans
Corporate Bonds
Index‐Linked Gilts
Infrastructure
Property
Cash

Potential price movement (+ or ‐)
20.5%
30.0%
18.0%
10.0%
5.6%
11.0%
12.0%
13.0%
1.0%

Volatility is the standard deviation of annual returns. Broadly speaking, in two years out of three, the asset’s
change in value (which could be a gain or a loss) is expected to be lower than the volatility figure, but in one year
out of three, the change in value is expected to be higher than the volatility figure.
Asset classes do not always move in line with each other. The extent to which assets move together is known as
their “correlation”. A lower correlation means that there is less risk of assets losing value at the same time.
The overall Fund benefits from “diversification“ because it invests in different asset classes, which don’t all move in
line with each other. Consequently, the aggregate risk at the Fund level is less than the total risk from all the
individual assets in which the Fund invests. The following table shows the risks at the asset class level and the
overall Fund level, with and without allowance for correlation.
Value at 31
March
2018
£000
272,465
5,605
6,838
10,027
30,490
74,630
48,574
41,487
16,016
506,132

Equities ‐ Developed Markets
Private Equity
Timber and Gold
Secured Loan
Corporate Bonds
Index‐Linked Gilts
Infrastructure
Property
Cash and forward foreign exchange
Total [1]
Total [2]
Total [3]
[1] No allowance for correlations between assets
[2] Including allowance for correlations between assets
[3] Including allowance for correlation between assets and liabilities.

% of fund
%
55.1
1.1
1.4
2.0
6.0
14.7
9.6
8.2
3.2
100.0

Potential
Change
+/‐
%
20.5
30.0
18.0
10.0
5.6
11.0
12.0
13.0
1.0
16.0
12.6
12.6

Value on
increase
£000
328,320
7,287
8,069
11,030
32,185
82,802
54,403
46,880
16,174
587,150
569,766
570,062
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decrease
£000
216,610
3,924
5,607
9,024
28,795
66,458
42,745
36,094
15,858
425,114
442,498
n/a
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12 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
The value on increase/decrease columns illustrate the monetary effect of the percentage change in the volatility
column. The actual annual change in value is expected to be lower than this in two years out of three, but higher in
one year out of three.
It can be seen that the risk to the overall Fund assets [2] is lower than the total of the risks to the individual assets.
However, because the purpose of a pension scheme is to make payments to scheme beneficiaries, the true risk of a
pension scheme is not measured in absolute terms, but relative to its liabilities [3].
This risk analysis incorporates volatility from market, interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, and all other sources of
risk, and, importantly, makes allowance for how these risks may offset each other.
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to discharge
an obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss. The market values of investments generally reflect an
assessment of credit risk in their pricing and consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the value of
the Fund's assets and liabilities (as outlined in Market Risk above).
In essence, the Fund’s entire investment portfolio is exposed to some sort of credit risk. However, through the
selection of counterparties, brokers and financial institutions the Fund reduces the credit risk that may occur
through the failure to settle a transaction in a timely manner.
Cash deposits, derivatives and securities lending are the major areas of credit exposure where credit risk is not
reflected in market prices.
Cash deposits
At 31 March 2018, cash deposits represented £17.8m, 3.5% of total net assets. This was held with the following
institutions:

Balances at
Balances at
Moody's Credit
Rating at 31 31 March 2017 31 March 2018
March 2018
£000
£000
Held for investment purposes
Northern Trust Global Investment Limited ‐ liquidity funds
Northern Trust Company ‐ cash deposits
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ treasury management
Total investment cash

Aaa‐mf
A2
See below

3,270
9,882
922
14,074

2,496
15,269
926
18,691

Held for other purposes
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ treasury management
Total cash

See below

2,440
16,514

1,809
20,500

The majority of Sterling cash deposits of the Fund are managed along with those of the administering authority (the
City of Edinburgh Council) and other related organisations which are pooled for investment purposes as a treasury
cash fund. Management of the cash fund is on a low risk basis, with security of the investments the key
consideration.
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12 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
The Council has in place institutional restrictions on investments and counterparty criteria. These include ‐
(a) UK Government and other UK local Authorities with no limit, other public bodies up to £20 million per
(b) Money market funds (MMFs) no more than £30 million or 15% with any one Fund.
(c) Financial Institutions: Banks and Building Societies with multiple criteria based on a range of short and long
term credit ratings, as well as any security provided, from maximum of £60 million / 20% of assets under
management (AUM) for institutions with the highest criteria to £10 million / 5% of AUM for institutions
with the lowest acceptable criteria.
Balances at
Balances at
Moody's Credit
31
March
2017
31
March
2018
Rating at 31
March 2018
£000
£000
Money market funds
Deutsche Bank AG, London
Standard Life Investments Sterling Liquidity Fund
Bank call accounts
Bank of Scotland
Royal Bank of Scotland
Santander UK
Barclays Bank
Svenska Handelsbanken
HSBC Bank PLC
UK Pseudo‐Sovereign risk instruments
Other Local Authorities [1]

Aaa‐mf
Aaa‐mf

18
‐

12
406

Aa3
A3
Aa3
A1
Aa2
Aa3

336
5
1
‐
1
1

270
10
7
‐
13
1

Aa1

3,001
2,016
3,363
2,735
[1] Very few Local Authorities have their own credit rating but they are generally assumed to have a pseudo‐
sovereign credit rating (which in the UK at 31 March 2018 was 'Aa1').
No breaches of the Council's counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting period and the Fund does not
expect any losses from non‐performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits.
Securities lending
The Fund participates in a securities lending programme as described above. The Fund is potentially exposed to
credit risk in the event of the borrower of securities defaults. This risk is mitigated by the contractual commitment
that borrowers provide collateral in excess of 100% of the value of the securities borrowed. In addition, Northern
Trust has signed an agreement requiring it to make good any losses arising from the lending programme.
Derivatives
The Fund transacts foreign currency derivatives over‐the‐counter and hence is exposed to credit risk in the event of
a counterparty defaulting on the net payment or receipt that remains outstanding. This risk is minimised by the use
of counterparties that are recognised financial intermediaries with acceptable credit ratings and by netting
agreements. At 31 March 2018, the Fund had no over‐the‐counter foreign currency derivatives.
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12 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Refinancing risk
Refinancing risk is the risk that the Fund will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its pension fund
financial instruments at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The Fund is not bound by any obligation to replenish
its investments and hence is not exposed to refinancing risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk reflects the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Fund therefore ensures that there is adequate cash and liquid resources to meet its commitments. Cash flow
projections are prepared on a regular basis to understand and manage the timing of the Fund’s cash flows.
The majority (estimated to be approximately 88% (2017 89%)) of the Fund’s investments could be converted to cash
within three months in a normal trading environment.
13 Actuarial statement
The Scheme Actuary has provided a statement describing the funding arrangements of the Fund. This can be found
at the end of this section.
14 Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
The actuarial value of promised retirement benefits at the accounting date, calculated in line with International
Accounting Standard 19 (IAS19) assumptions, is estimated to be £463m (2017 £488m). This figure is used for
statutory accounting purposes by Lothian Buses Pension Fund and complies with the requirements of IAS26.

The figure is only prepared for the purposes of IAS26 and has no validity in other circumstances. In particular, it is
not relevant for calculations undertaken for funding purposes and setting contributions payable to the Fund.
Financial assumptions

31 March 2017
% p.a.
2.4
4.4
2.6

Inflation/pensions increase rate
Salary increase rate
Discount rate

31 March 2018
% p.a.
2.4
4.1
2.7

Longevity assumptions
The life expectancy assumption is based on Fund specific statistical analysis with improvements in line with the CMI
2016 model, assuming that the current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a long term
rate of 1.25% p.a.. Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies, in years, at age 65 are
summarised below:

Current pensioners
Future pensioners (assumed to be currently 45)

31 March 2017
Males
Females
20.4 years
22.9 years
23.5 years
25.9 years

31 March 2018
Males
Females
19.7 years
22.3 years
21.9 years
24.8 years

Commutation assumption
An allowance is included for future retirements to elect to take 50% of the maximum additional tax‐free cash up to
HMRC limits for pre‐April 2009 service and 75% of the maximum tax‐free cash for post‐April 2009 service.
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15 Debtors

2016/17
£000
581
153
10
744

Contributions due ‐ employer
Contributions due ‐ members
Sundry debtors

Analysis of debtors
Administering Authority
Lothian Buses Limited
Other entities and individuals

16 Creditors
Benefits payable
Miscellaneous creditors and accrued expenses

Analysis of creditors
Central Government Bodies
Other entities and individuals

2017/18
£000
664
173
5
842

31 March 2017
£000
1
733
10
744

31 March 2018
£000
1
837
4
842

31 March 2017
£000
201
161
362

31 March 2018
£000
149
186
335

31 March 2017
£000
‐
362
362

31 March 2018
£000
11
324
335

17 Additional Voluntary Contributions
Active members of the Lothian Buses Pension Fund have the option to pay additional voluntary contributions
(AVCs). These AVCs are invested separately from the main funds, securing additional benefits on a money purchase
basis for those members that have elected to contribute. The investment of the AVCs is managed by Standard Life
and Prudential.
In accordance with regulation 4 (2) (b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of
Funds) (Scotland) Regulations 2010, AVCs are not included in the pension fund financial statements.

Total contributions during year
Standard Life
Prudential

Total value at year end
Standard Life
Prudential

2016/17
£000
8
70
78
31 March 2017
£000
155
294
449

2017/18
£000
7
76
83
31 March 2018
£000
145
375
520
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18 Related party transactions
The City of Edinburgh Council
The Lothian Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund and the Scottish Homes Pension Fund are administered
by the City of Edinburgh Council. Consequently there is a strong relationship between the Council and the Pension
LPFE Ltd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, is responsible for providing the staffing resource to
administer the three pension Funds. The Service receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council, based on
the amount of central services consumed. In turn, the Service allocates its costs to the three Pension Funds. Costs
directly attributable to a specific Fund are charged to the relevant Fund; costs that are common to all three Funds
are allocated on a defined basis.
Transactions between the Council and the Fund are managed via a holding account. Each month the Fund is paid a
cash sum leaving a working balance in the account to cover the month's pension payroll costs and other expected
costs.
31 March 2017
£000
385
385

Year end balance of holding account

31 March 2018
£000
299
299

Part of the Fund's cash holdings are invested on the money markets by the treasury management operations of the
Council, through a service level agreement. During the year to 31 March 2018, the fund had an average investment
balance of £2.8m (2017 £3.0m). Interest earned was £10.5k (2017 £12.1k).

Year end balance on treasury management account
Held for investment purposes
Held for other purposes

31 March 2017
£000
922
2,440
3,362

31 March 2018
£000
926
1,809
2,735

Scheme employer ‐ Lothian Buses Limited
Lothian Buses Limited are (by definition) a related party to the scheme. The employer contributions to the Fund
can be found in note 3 (page 75) of the notes to the Financial Statements.
Governance
As at 31 March 2018, all members of the Pensions Committee, with the exception of Richard Lamont, and all
members of the Pensions Board, were members of the Lothian Pension Fund or Lothian Buses Pension Fund, with
one member of the Pensions Board in reciept of pension benefits from Lothian Pension Fund.
Each member of the Pensions Committee and Pension Board is required to declare any financial and non‐financial
interests they have in the items of business for consideration at each meeting, identifying the relevant agenda item
and the nature of their interest.

Audited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017/18
Lothian Buses Pension Fund

90

Notes to the Financial Statements
18 Related party transactions (cont)
With effect from 1 May 2015, all the employees listed below, with the exception of the City of Edinburgh Council
members of staff, were employed by LPFE Limited. These employees and their financial relationship with the Fund
(expressed as cash‐equivalent transfer values or CETV) are set out below:

Position held
Executive Director of Resources,
Stephen Moir*
City of Edinburgh Council
Head of Finance, City of Edinburgh Council
Hugh Dunn*
Head of Human Resources,
Katy Miller*
City of Edinburgh Council **
Clare Scott*
Chief Executive Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Bruce Miller
Chief Investment Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Struan Fairbairn
Chief Risk Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
John Burns
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Esmond Hamilton
Financial Controller, Lothian Pension Fund
* Also disclosed in the financial statements of the City of Edinburgh Council.
** Appears due to being a Director in LPFE Ltd

Name

Accrued CETV
as at 31
March 2017

Accrued CETV
as at 31
March 2018

£000

£000

‐

22

1,251

949

29

51

221
267
46
538
200

270
334
64
624
238

Total compensation paid in relation to key management personnel employed by LPFE Limited during the period was
as follows:

Short‐term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits ‐ employer pension contributions

31 March 2017
£000
380
78

31 March 2018
£000
415
85

Key management personnel employed by LPFE, had accrued pensions totalling £97,456 (1 April 2017: £81,825) and
lump sums totalling £110,889 (1 April 2017: £100,185 ) at the end of the period.
Staff are either employed by City of Edinburgh Council or LPFE Limited, and their costs reimbursed by the Pension
Funds. The Councillors, who are members of the Pensions Committee, are also remunerated by City of Edinburgh
Council.
19 Contractual commitments
The Fund has commitments relating to outstanding call payments due on unquoted funds invested in private debt,
timber and infrastructure. The amounts ‘called’ by these funds are irregular in both size and timing, taking place
over a period of years from the date of each original commitment. The outstanding commitments at the year end
are as follows:

Outstanding investment commitments

31 March 2017
£000
12,462
12,462

31 March 2018
£000
11,051
11,051
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20 Contingent assets and liabilities
At 31 March 2018 the Fund does not have any exposure to any contingent assets/liabilities.
21 Impairment losses
No impairment losses have been identified during the year.
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Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Actuarial Statement for 2017/18
This statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 55(1)(d) of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014. It has been prepared at the request of the Administering Authority of the Fund for the
purpose of complying with the aforementioned regulation.
Description of Funding Policy
The funding policy is set out in the Administering Authority’s Funding Strategy (FSS), dated March 2018. In summary,
the key funding principles are as follows:
•
•
•
•

To ensure solvency of the Fund;
To minimise the degree of short‐term change in employer contribution rates;
Reduce risk of the investment strategy over time;
To ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet all liabilities as they fall due for payment

The FSS sets out how the Administering Authority seeks to balance the conflicting aims of securing the solvency of the
Fund and keeping employer contributions stable.
Funding Position as at the last formal funding valuation
The most recent actuarial valuation carried out under Regulation 60 of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014 was as at 31 March 2017. This valuation revealed that the Fund’s assets, which at 31 March
2017 were valued at £488 million, were sufficient to meet 121% of the liabilities (i.e. the present value of promised
retirement benefits) accrued up to that date. The resulting surplus at the 2017 valuation was £84 million.

On the more prudent gilts basis, the Fund’s assets at 31 March 2017 were sufficient to meet 89% of the liabilities
accrued to that date. The resulting deficit at the 2017 valuation, on the gilts basis, was £59 million.
The required contributions for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021 were set at the 2017 valuation in accordance
with the Fund’s funding policy as set out in its FSS.
Principal Actuarial Assumptions and Method used to value the liabilities
Full details of the methods and assumptions used are described in the 2017 valuation report.
Method
The liabilities were assessed using an accrued benefits method which takes into account pensionable membership up to
the valuation date, and makes an allowance for expected future salary growth and inflation to retirement or expected
earlier date of leaving pensionable membership.
Assumptions
A market‐related approach was taken to valuing the liabilities, for consistency with the valuation of the Fund assets at
their market value.
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Lothian Buses Pension Fund
Actuarial Statement for 2017/18
The key financial assumptions adopted for the 2017 valuation were as follows:
31 March 2017
% p.a.
3.2 %
4.1%
2.4%

Financial assumptions
Discount rate
Salary increase assumption
Benefit increase assumption (CPI)

The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. The life expectancy assumption was based on
the Fund's Vita Curves alongside future improvements based on the CMI 2016 model with an allowance for smoothing
of recent mortality experience and a long term rate of improvement of 1.25% p.a. Based on these assumptions, the
average future life expectancies at age 65 are as follows:

Current Pensioners
Future Pensioners *

Males

Females

19.7 years
21.9 years

22.3 years
24.8 years

*Aged 45 as at 31 March 2017
Copies of the 2017 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are available on request from the Administering
Authority to the Fund.
Experience over the period since 31 March 2017
Asset returns over the period have been lower than the valuation discount rate and real bond yields at 31 March 2018
are at a similar level to 31 March 2017. Combining the impact of these may mean that the funding level at 31 March
2018 has fallen slightly since the last formal valuation.

The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2020. The Funding Strategy Statement will also be
reviewed at that time.

Richard Warden FFA
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
20 Waterloo Street
Glasgow
G2 6DB
27 April 2018
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Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Scottish
Homes Pension
Fund membership
31 March 2015
31 March 2016
31 March 2017
Active
Deferred
Pensioners
Dependants
Total

2,000
1,800
1,600
1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200
‐

‐
562
928
293
1,783

‐
522
922
291
1,735

‐
478
919
289
1,686

31 March 2018
‐
433
908
269
1,610

Active

Deferred

Pensioners

Dependants

Total

31 March 2015

‐

562

928

293

1,783

31 March 2016

‐

522

922

291

1,735

31 March 2017

‐

478

919

289

1,686

31 March 2018

‐

433

908

269

1,610

Investment strategy
The funding level of the Scottish Homes Pension Fund at 31 March 2017 was 104.7%, an increase from 88.8% at the
2014 valuation.
The Fund’s actuary monitors the intra‐valuation fluctuations in the funding level using a system that reflects movements
in interest rates and asset markets. Over the year to 2018, these fluctuations have been small as the mix of assets
owned by the Fund are mostly index‐linked gilts, which move proportionately with liability values.

Equities
Bonds
Property
Cash
Total

Strategic Allocation
31 March 2017
%
17.5
77.5
5.0
‐
100.0

Strategic Allocation
31 March 2018
%
‐
100.0
‐
‐
100.0

The initial changes to the strategy allocation were triggered by movements in interest rates and asset prices that
affected the actuary’s funding level estimate. However, the final change increasing Bonds to 100% was prompted by
the results of the triennial Actuarial Valuation at 31 March 2017, which indicated that the funding level was higher than
previously estimated. This was partly because the actuary made some revisions to the financial and demographic
assumptions to reflect actual experience over the intervening three years.
The Fund’s Equity and Bond portfolios were managed by the internal team over the last year. The Property portfolio
was managed by Schroder in a pooled fund of UK commercial real estate. Over the year, the Equity allocation was
invested in a portfolio of shares of global companies that generate robust and growing dividends. The Bond allocation
was invested in a portfolio of UK index‐linked gilts designed to match the liability payments of the Fund as closely as
possible.

Audited Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18
Scottish Homes Pension Fund

95

Actual Asset Allocation 31 March 2018
3 5

Index Linked
Assets

Actual Asset Allocation 31 March 2018
Index Linked
Assets
Property

Cash

Property

92
3
5

Cash
92

Investment performance
The objectives of the Fund over the past year, were:
• over long‐term economic cycles (typically 5 years or more), the achievement of the same return as that generated by
the strategic allocation;
• over shorter periods, the Fund should perform better than the strategic allocation if markets fall significantly.
The Fund’s benchmark comprises global equity, index‐linked gilt and property indices. Over 2017/18, these returned
+2.4%, ‐0.2% and +11.3% respectively.
The Fund's annualised performance over the year and longer‐term periods is shown in the table below.

Annualised returns to 31 March 2018
(% per year)
Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Benchmark
Actuarial Valuation Assumptions *
Retail Price Index (RPI)
Consumer Price Index (CPI)
National Average Earnings
* estimated

1 year

5 years

0.3
0.7
1.7
3.3
2.5
2.4

8.2
8.2
3.2
2.3
1.4
2.6

10 years

8.5
8.5
3.8
2.8
2.3
1.6

The Fund has performed in line with its strategic allocation (benchmark) over the long run. The difference between the
Fund return and the benchmark over the last year reflects the fact that the equity allocation was invested in a portfolio
of low risk shares that lagged the higher risk benchmark. This equity portfolio was funded during 2016/17 to generate
higher income with which to pay pensions, following analysis of the Fund’s cash flow requirements. Over 2017/18, it
generated a significantly higher income yield (3.8%) than the benchmark (2.5%).
Now that the Fund has achieved full funding faster than expected and the Fund is fully invested in index‐linked gilts to
minimise funding level risk, it is appropriate to change the investment objectives.
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Annualised 5 yearly returns ending 31 March (% per year)
Fund
Benchmark
Relative
(LHS)

2012 ###
7.4 8.8
7.5 8.8
0.2
‐
0.1
‐

2017
10.8
10.7

2015
2016
Annualised2014
5 yearly
returns
ending
31
March
11.8
10.9
9.6
11.7
10.8
9.6
(% per year)

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.1
‐
‐0.1
‐0.2

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Fund

8.8

11.8

10.9

9.6

10.8

8.2

Benchmark

8.8

11.7

10.8

9.6

10.7

8.2

‐

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.1

‐

Relative (LHS)
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Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Fund Account for year ended 31 March 2018
This statement shows a summary of the income and expenditure that the Pension Fund has generated and consumed in
delivering the Local Government Pension Scheme. Included is the income generated from investment dealings and the
Scottish Government's annual contributions, as well as the cost of providing benefits and administration of the Fund.
2016/17
£000

Note

2017/18
£000

Income
675
‐
675
6,789
563
‐
120
68
7,540

Contributions from the Scottish Government
Transfers from other schemes
Less: expenditure
Pension payments including increases
Lump sum retirement payments
Lump sum death benefits
Transfers to other schemes
Administrative expenses

3

4
5b

Net withdrawals from dealing with members

877
26,569
(212)
27,234

Returns on investments
Investment income
Change in market value of investments
Investment management expenses
Net returns on investments

20,369

Net increase/(decrease) in the Fund during the year
Net assets of the Fund at 1 April 2017

170,644

Net assets of the Fund at 31 March 2018

6,666
767
4
47
69
7,553
(6,878)

(6,865)

150,275

675
‐
675

6
7, 10b
5c

2,474
(1,615)
(165)
694
(6,184)
170,644

10
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Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Net Assets Statement as at 31 March 2018
This statement provides a breakdown of type and value of all net assets at the year end.
31 March
2017
£000
127,970
4,450
23,771
7,998
3,602
459

Note
Investment Assets
Bonds
Equities ‐ UK
Equities ‐ Overseas
Pooled investment vehicles ‐ UK property
Cash Deposits
Other investment assets

148,064
‐
‐
‐
9,094
4,904
162,062

168,250
‐
‐
168,250
146
2,232
31
2,409
(15)
(15)
2,394
170,644

31 March
2018
£000

Investment Liabilities
Other investment liabilities
Net investment assets
Current assets
The City of Edinburgh Council
Cash balances
Debtors
Current liabilities
Creditors

‐
‐
8
16
11, 16
14

15

194
2,240
12
2,446
(48)
(48)
2,398

Net current assets
Net assets of the Fund at 31 March 2018

162,062

10

164,460

The unaudited accounts were issued on 27 June 2018 and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on
26 September 2018.

JOHN BURNS FCMA CGMA
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018
Note to the net asset statement
The financial statements summarise the transactions of the Fund during the year and its net assets at the year end. They
do not take account of the obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the year. The
actuarial position of the Fund, which does take account of such obligations, is discussed in the Actuarial Valuation
section of this report and these financial statements should be read in conjunction with that information. In addition,
as required by IAS26, the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits is disclosed in the notes to these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1

Statement of Accounting Policies
The statement of accounting policies for all Funds can be found on page 114.

2

Events after the Reporting Date
There have been no events since 31 March 2018, and up to the date when these Financial Statements were
authorised, that require any adjustments to these Financial Statements.

3

Contributions from the Scottish Government
Deficit funding
Administration expenses

2016/17
£000
575
100
675

2017/18
£000
575
100
675

The Scottish Homes Pension Fund is a single employer pension fund for former employees of Scottish Homes. The
Scottish Homes Pension Fund was set up under (Scottish) Statutory Instrument 315/2005, when Scottish Homes
became Communities Scotland, an agency of the Scottish Government.
Following the actuarial valuation at 31 March 2014, deficit funding of £575,000 per year is being paid by the
Scottish Government over the period April 2015 to March 2018. In addition, the Scottish Government agreed to
pay £100,000 every year towards the cost of ongoing administration. After 31 March 2017 actuarial valuation
Scottish Government will not provide deficit funding for the period April 2018 to March 2021 but have agreed to
pay £70,000 every year towards the administration of the Fund.
The Fund consists of only deferred and pensioner members, hence no employee contributions were paid during the
year.
4

Transfers out to other pension schemes
Group transfers
Individual transfers

2016/17
£000
‐
120
120

2017/18
£000
‐
47
47

2016/17
£000
38
149
93
280

2017/18
£000
35
107
92
234

5a Total Management expenses

Administrative costs
Investment management expenses
Oversight and governance costs

This analysis of costs for the Scottish Homes Pension Fund has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA guidance.
The analysis looks at the combined administration and investment management expenses in note 5b and c and
splits out the costs to include a third heading covering oversight and governance expenditure.
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5b Administrative expenses

Employee costs
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ other support costs
System costs
Actuarial fees
External audit fees
Printing and postage
Depreciation
Office costs
Sundry costs less sundry income

2016/17
£000
26
3
7
24
1
2
1
3
1
68

2017/18
£000
24
‐
8
30
1
2
1
2
1
69

LPFE Ltd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, is responsible for providing the staffing resource to
administer the three pension Funds. The Division receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council. In turn the
Division apportioned administration and investment costs to the three pension funds. Costs directly attributable to
a specific fund are charged to the relevant Fund, costs that are common to all three funds are apportioned on a
defined basis.
5c Investment management expenses

External management fees ‐ invoiced
External management fees ‐ deducted from capital (direct)
External management fees ‐ deducted from capital (indirect)
Transaction costs
Employee costs
Custody fees
Engagement and voting fees
Performance measurement fees
Consultancy fees
System costs
Legal fees
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ other support costs
Office costs
Sundry costs less sundry income

2016/17
£000
50
55
‐
40
29
14
2
5
2
6
3
3
2
1
212

2017/18
£000
‐
54
‐
30
31
7
2
10
16
7
1
‐
2
5
165

Any indirect costs incurred through the bid‐offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are reflected in the
cost of investment acquisitions or in the proceeds of investment sales (see note 7 ‐ Reconciliation of movements in
investments).
The Fund has not incurred any performance‐related investment management fees in 2017/18 or 2016/17.
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6

Investment income

2016/17
£000
536
62
265
16
879
(2)
877

Income from fixed interest securities
Dividends from equities
Income from pooled investments ‐ property
Interest on cash deposits and sundries
Irrecoverable withholding tax

7

Reconciliation of movement in investments

Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Other financial assets / (liabilities)
Cash deposits*
Investment income due/amounts payable*

Net financial assets

Market
value at 31
March Purchases
2017
at cost
£000
£000
127,970
33,345
28,221
932
7,998
‐
164,189
34,277

2017/18
£000
1,449
799
270
29
2,547
(73)
2,474

Sales &
proceeds
£000
(11,838)
(28,451)
(8,621)
(48,910)

Market
Change in value at 31
March
market
2018
value
£000
£000
148,064
(1,413)
(702)
‐
623
‐
(1,492)
148,064

3,602
459
4,061

(123)
‐
(123)

9,094
4,904
13,998

168,250

(1,615)

162,062

The change in market value of investments during the year comprises all increases and decreases in the market
value of investments held at any time during the year, including profits and losses realised on sales of investments
during the year.
Any indirect costs incurred through the bid‐offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are reflected in the
cost of investment acquisitions and in the proceeds from sales and are therefore included in the tables above.
Market
value at 31
March Purchases
2016
at cost
£000
£000
59,749
97,017
‐
28,285
9,569
88,661
148,410
134,871

Bonds
Equities
Pooled investment vehicles
Other financial assets / (liabilities)
Cash deposits*
Investment income due/amounts payable*

Net financial assets

Sales &
proceeds
£000
(37,319)
‐
(108,262)
(145,581)

Market
Change in value at 31
March
market
2017
value
£000
£000
8,523
127,970
(64)
28,221
18,030
7,998
26,489
164,189

11
177
188

80
‐
80

3,602
459
4,061

148,598

26,569

168,250

* As per CIPFA disclosures the change in market value intentionally does not balance opening/closing market values
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8

Investment managers and mandates

Manager
In‐house
Total global equities

Mandate
High Div Equity

In‐house
Total bonds

UK Index linked gilts

Schroders
Total property
In‐house
Total cash

% of total
31 March
2017
%
17.3
17.3

Market value
at 31 March
2018
£000
87
87

% of total
31 March
2018
%
0.1
0.1

128,477
128,477

76.4
76.4

148,858
148,858

91.9
91.9

Property

7,998
7,998

4.8
4.8

4,363
4,363

2.7
2.7

Cash

2,738
2,738

1.6
1.6

8,754
8,754

5.4
5.4

168,250

100.0

162,062

100.0

Net financial assets

9

Market value
at 31 March
2017
£000
29,037
29,037

Investments representing more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund

UK Gov 4.125% Index Linked 22/11/17
UK Gov 2.5% Index Linked 17/07/24
UK Gov 2.5% Index Linked 16/04/20
UK Gov 1.875% Index Linked 22/11/22
UK Gov 1.125% Index Linked 22/11/27
UK Gov 1.125% Index Linked 22/11/37
UK Gov 1.25% Index Linked 22/11/27

Market value
at 31 March
2017
£000
10,955
10,637
10,538
10,517
9,003
7,800
11,905

% of total
31 March
2017
%
6.4
6.2
6.2
6.2
5.3
4.6
7.0

Market value
at 31 March
2018
£000
21,410
12,431
12,309
12,530
11,149
12,465

% of total
31 March
2018
%
13.0
7.6
7.5
7.6
6.8
7.6
‐

10 Financial Instruments
10a Classification of financial instruments
Accounting policies describe how different asset classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income
and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following table analyses the fair value
amounts of financial assets and liabilities by category and net assets statement heading. No financial assets were
reclassified during the accounting period.
All financial instruments are marked to market (at fair value) in the Fund's accounting records hence there is no
difference between the carrying value and fair value.
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10a Classification of financial instruments (cont)
31 March 2017

Financial assets
Investment assets
Bonds
Equities
Pooled investments
Cash
Other balances

31 March 2018

Designated as
Designated as
fair value
Financial
Financial
fair value
liabilities at through fund Loans and
liabilities at
through fund Loans and
account receivables amortised cost
account receivables amortised cost
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
127,970
28,221
7,998
‐
‐
164,189

‐
‐
‐
3,602
459
4,061

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

148,064
‐
‐
‐
‐
148,064

‐
‐
‐
9,094
4,904
13,998

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
164,189

146
2,232
31
2,409
6,470

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐
148,064

194
2,240
12
2,446
16,444

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Creditors

‐

‐

(15)

‐

‐

(48)

Liabilities total

‐

‐

(15)

‐

‐

(48)

164,189

6,470

(15)

148,064

16,444

(48)

Other assets
City of Edinburgh Council
Cash
Debtors
Assets total

Total net assets
Total net financial instruments

170,644

10b Net gains and losses on financial instruments
Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Total

164,460
2016/17
£000
26,489
80
‐
26,569
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10c Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value
The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of
information used to determine fair values.
Level 1
Financial instruments at Level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Products classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities and unit trusts.
Quoted investments are shown at bid prices. The bid value of the investment is based on the bid market quotation
of the relevant stock exchange.
Level 2
Financial instruments at Level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for example, where an
instrument is traded in a market that is not considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to
determine fair value and where these techniques use inputs that are based significantly on observable market data.
Level 3
Financial instruments at Level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation is not based on observable market data. Such instruments would include unquoted equity
investments, which are valued using various valuation techniques that require significant judgement in determining
appropriate assumptions.
The values of the investments in unquoted private equity, infrastructure, timber and real estate are based on
valuations provided by the general partners to the funds in which the Fund has invested.
These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation
Guidelines or similar guidelines provided by the British Venture Capital Association, which follow the valuation
principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The valuations are typically undertaken annually at
the end of December. Cash flow adjustments are used to roll forward the valuations to 31 March as appropriate.

Level 1
£000

31 March 2018
Level 3
Level 2
£000
£000

Total
£000

Investment assets
Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Total investment assets

‐
13,998
13,998

148,064
‐
148,064

‐
‐
‐

148,064
13,998
162,062

Investment liabilities
Designated as fair value through fund account
Total investment liabilities
Net investment assets

‐
‐
13,998

‐
‐
148,064

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
162,062
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10c Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value (cont)
Level 1
£000

31 March 2017
Level 2
Level 3
£000
£000

Total
£000

Investment assets
Designated as fair value through fund account
Loans and receivables
Total financial assets

36,219
4,061
40,280

127,970
‐
127,970

‐
‐
‐

164,189
4,061
168,250

Investment liabilities
Designated as fair value through fund account
Total financial liabilities
Net investment assets

‐
‐
40,280

‐
‐
127,970

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
168,250

11 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments
Risk and risk management
The Fund’s primary aim is to ensure that all members and their dependants receive their benefits when they
become payable. The investment strategy aims to maximise the returns from investments within reasonable risk
parameters and hence minimise the long‐term cost to employer. The Fund achieves this by investing in a diverse
range of assets to reduce risk to an acceptable level. In addition, the Fund ensures that sufficient cash is available
to meet all liabilities when they are due to be paid.
Responsibility for the Fund’s overall investment strategy rests with the Pensions Committee. The Investment
Strategy Panel and the internal investment team monitor investment risks on a regular basis. Investment risk
management tools are used to identify and analyse risks faced by the Fund’s investments.
Types of investment risk
There are various ways of considering investment risks for pension funds. For the purposes of this note, market risk
is the potential for an investor to experience losses from falls in the prices of investments. All financial instruments,
including cash deposits, present a risk of loss of capital and risks vary depending on different asset classes.

Market risk also changes over time as economic conditions and investor sentiment change. The Fund considers
overall fluctuations in prices arising from a variety of sources: market risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, etc. The different risks may, to some extent, offset each other. The overall market risk of the Fund
depends on the actual mix of assets and encompasses all the different elements of risk.
The Fund manages these risks in a number of ways:
•

assessing and establishing acceptable levels of market risk when setting overall investment strategy.
Importantly, risk is considered relative to the liabilities of the Fund

•

diversification of investments in terms of type of asset, investment styles, investment managers, geographical
and industry sectors as well as individual securities

•

taking stewardship responsibilities seriously and pursuing constructive engagement with the companies in
which we invest

•

monitoring market risk and market conditions to ensure risk remains within tolerable levels.
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11 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Sensitivity analysis
Asset prices have a tendency to fluctuate. The degree of such fluctuation is known as “volatility” and it differs by
asset class. The table sets out the long‐term volatility assumptions used by the Fund’s investment adviser KPMG:
Asset type
Index‐Linked Gilts
Cash

Potential price movement (+ or ‐)
11.0%
1.0%

Volatility is the standard deviation of annual returns. Broadly speaking, in two years out of three, the asset’s
change in value (which could be a gain or a loss) is expected to be lower than the volatility figure, but in one year
out of three, the change in value is expected to be higher than the volatility figure.
Asset classes don’t always move in line with each other. The extent to which assets move together is known as
their "correlation". A lower correlation means that there is less risk of assets losing value at the same time. The
overall Fund benefits from "diversification" because it invests in numerous different asset classes, which don’t all
move in line with each other. Consequently, the aggregate risk at the Fund level is less than the total risk from all
the individual assets in which the Fund invests.
The following table shows the risks at the asset class level and the overall Fund level.
Value at 31
March
2018
£000
148,856
13,204
162,060

Index‐Linked Gilts
Cash
Total [1]
Total [2]
Total [3]
[1] No allowance for correlations between assets
[2] Including allowance for correlations between assets
[3] Including allowance for correlation between assets and liabilities.

% of fund
%
91.9
8.1
100.0

Potential
Change
+/‐
%
11.0
1.0
10.1
10.1
9.1

Value on
increase
£000
165,157
13,334
178,491
178,387
176,847

Value on
decrease
£000
132,555
13,074
145,629
145,733
n/a

The value on increase/decrease columns illustrate the monetary effect of the percentage change in the volatility
column. The actual annual change in value is expected to be lower than this in two years out of three, but higher in
one year out of three.
It can be seen that the risk to the overall Fund assets [2] is lower than the total of the risks to the individual assets
[1].
However, because the purpose of a pension scheme is to make payments to scheme beneficiaries, the true risk of a
pension scheme is not measured in absolute terms, but relative to its liabilities [3]. The risk is lower than the
absolute asset risk, due to the impact of correlation with the discount rate used to value the liabilities.
This risk analysis incorporates volatility from market, interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, and all other sources of
risk, and, importantly, makes allowance for how these risks may offset each other.
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11 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to discharge
an obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss. The market values of investments generally reflect an
assessment of credit risk in their pricing and consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the value of
the Fund's assets and liabilities (as outlined in Market Risk above).
In essence, the Fund’s entire investment portfolio is exposed to some sort of credit risk. However, through the
selection of counterparties, brokers and financial institutions the Fund reduces the credit risk that may occur
through the failure to settle a transaction in a timely manner.
Cash deposits are the major areas of credit exposure where credit risk is not reflected in market prices.
Cash deposits
At 31 March 2018, cash deposits represented £20.4m, 12.5% of total net assets. This was held with the following
institutions:
Balances at
Balances at
Moody's Credit
Rating at 31 31 March 2017 31 March 2018
March 2018
£000
£000
Held for investment purposes
Northern Trust Company ‐ cash deposits
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ treasury management
Held for other purposes
The City of Edinburgh Council ‐ treasury management
Total cash

A2
See below

3,602
‐
3,602

1,077
8,017
9,094

See below

2,232
9,436

2,240
20,428

The majority of Sterling cash deposits of the Fund are managed along with those of the administering authority (the
City of Edinburgh Council) and other related organisations which are pooled for investment purposes as a treasury
cash fund. Management of the cash fund is on a low risk basis, with security of the investments the key
consideration. The Council has in place counterparty criteria.
The Council has in place institutional restrictions on investments and counterparty criteria. These include ‐
(a) UK Government and other UK local Authorities with no limit, other public bodies up to £20 million per
organisation.
(b) Money market funds (MMFs) no more than £30 million or 15% with any one Fund.
(c) Financial Institutions: Banks and Building Societies with multiple criteria based on a range of short and long
term credit ratings, as well as any security provided, from maximum of £60 million / 20% of assets under
management (AUM) for institutions with the highest criteria to £10 million / 5% of AUM for institutions
with the lowest acceptable criteria.
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11 Nature and extent of risk arising from financial instruments (cont)
Balances at
Balances at
Moody's Credit
Rating at 31 31 March 2017 31 March 2018
March 2018
£000
£000
Money market funds
Deutsche Bank AG, London
Standard Life Investments
Bank call accounts
Bank of Scotland
Royal Bank of Scotland
Santander UK
Barclays Bank
HSBC Bank
Svenska Handelsbanken
UK Pseudo‐Sovereign risk instruments
Other Local Authorities [1]
UK Government Treasury Bills

Aaa‐mf
Aaa‐mf

12
‐

44
1,520

A1
A3
Aa3
A1

223
3
1
‐
‐
‐

1,013
37
27
1
4
50

1,993
‐
2,232

7,561
‐
10,257

Aa2
Aa1
Aa1

[1] Very few Local Authorities have their own credit rating but they are generally assumed to have a pseudo‐
sovereign credit rating (which in the UK at 31 March 2018 was 'Aa1').
No breaches of the Council's counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting period and the Fund does not
expect any losses from non‐performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits.
Refinancing risk
Refinancing risk is the risk that the Fund will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its pension fund
financial instruments at a time of unfavourable interest rates. The Fund is not bound by any obligation to replenish
its investments and hence is not exposed to refinancing risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk reflects the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Fund therefore ensures that there is adequate cash and liquid resources to meet its commitments. Cash flow
projections are prepared on a regular basis to understand and manage the timing of the Fund’s cash flows.
All of the Fund’s investments could be converted to cash within three months in a normal trading environment.
12 Actuarial statement
The Scheme Actuary has provided a statement describing the funding arrangements of the Fund. This can be found
at the end of this section.
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13 Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
The actuarial value of promised retirement benefits at the accounting date, calculated in line with International
Accounting Standard 19 (IAS19) assumptions, is estimated to be £134m (2017 £145m). This figure is used for
statutory accounting purposes by Scottish Homes Pension Fund and complies with the requirements of IAS26. The
assumptions underlying the figure match those adopted for the Administering Authority's FRS17/IAS19 reports at
each year end.
The figure is only prepared for the purposes of IAS26 and has no validity in other circumstances. In particular, it is
not relevant for calculations undertaken for funding purposes and setting contributions payable to the Fund.
31 March 2017
% p.a.
2.4%
2.6%

Inflation/pensions increase rate
Discount rate

31 March 2018
% p.a.
2.4%
2.7%

Longevity assumptions
The life expectancy assumption is based on Fund specific statistical analysis with improvements in line with the CMI
2016 model, assuming that the current rate of improvements has reached a peak and will converge to a long term
rate of 1.75% p.a.. Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies, in years, at age 65 are
summarised below:

Current pensioners
Future pensioners (assumed to be currently 45)

31 March 2017
Males
Females
24.5 years
25.4 years
26.8 years
28.6 years

31 March 2018
Males
Females
22.4 years
24.8 years
24.8 years
27.8 years

Commutation assumption
An allowance is included for future retirements to elect to take 50% of the maximum additional tax‐free cash up to
HMRC limits for pre‐April 2009 service and 75% of the maximum tax‐free cash for post‐April 2009 service.

14 Debtors
Sundry debtors

Analysis of debtors
Administering Authority
Other entities and individuals

31 March 2017
£000
31
31

31 March 2018
£000
12
12

31 March 2017
£000
1
30
31

31 March 2018
£000
1
11
12
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15 Creditors
Benefits payable
Miscellaneous creditors and accrued expenses

Analysis of creditors
Other entities and individuals

31 March 2017
£000
‐
15
15

31 March 2018
£000
3
45
48

31 March 2017
£000
15
15

31 March 2018
£000
48
48

16 Related party transactions
The City of Edinburgh Council
The Lothian Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund and the Scottish Homes Pension Fund are administered
by the City of Edinburgh Council. Consequently there is a strong relationship between the Council and the Pension
Funds.
LPFE Ltd which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council is responsible for administering the three Pension Funds.
The Service receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council, based on the amount of central services
consumed. In turn, the Service allocates its costs to the three Pension Funds. Costs directly attributable to a
specific Fund are charged to the relevant Fund; costs that are common to all three Funds are allocated on a defined
basis.
Transactions between the Council and the Fund are managed via a holding account. Each month the Fund pays a
cash sum to the Council leaving a working balance in the account.

Year end balance of holding account

31 March 2017
£000
146
146

31 March 2018
£000
194
194

Part of the Fund's cash holdings are invested on the money markets by the treasury management operations of the
Council, through a service level agreement. During the year to 31 March 2018, the fund had an average investment
balance of £6.3m (2017 £2.1m). Interest earned was £29k (2017 £8k).
Year end balance on treasury management account
Held for investment purposes
Held for other purposes

31 March 2017
£000
‐
2,232
2,232

31 March 2018
£000
8,011
2,240
10,251

Scheme Guarantor
The scheme guarantor (by definition) is a related party to the scheme. The Scottish Government's contributions to
the Fund can be found in note 3 (page 99) of the notes to the Financial Statements.
Governance
As at 31 March 2018, all members of the Pensions Committee, with the exception of Richard Lamont, and all
members of the Pensions Board, were members of the Lothian Pension Fund or Lothian Buses Pension Fund, with
one member of the Pensions Board in receipt of pension benefits from Lothian Pension Fund.
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16 Related party transactions (cont)
Each member of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board is required to declare any financial and non‐financial
interests they have in the items of business for consideration at each meeting, identifying the relevant agenda item
and the nature of their interest.
With effect from 1 May 2015, all the employees listed below, with the exception of the City of Edinburgh Council
members of staff, were employed by LPFE Limited. These employees and their financial relationship with the Fund
(expressed as cash‐equivalent transfer values or CETV) are set out below:
Accrued CETV
as at 31
March 2017

Accrued CETV
as at 31
March 2018

£000

£000

‐

22

Name

Position held
Executive Director of Resources,
Stephen Moir*
City of Edinburgh Council
Hugh Dunn*
Head of Finance, City of Edinburgh Council
Head of Human Resources,
Katy Miller*
City of Edinburgh Council **
Clare Scott*
Chief Executive, Lothian Pension Fund
Bruce Miller
Chief Investment Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Struan Fairbairn
Chief Risk Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
John Burns
Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
Esmond Hamilton
Financial Controller, Lothian Pension Fund
* Also disclosed in the financial statements of the City of Edinburgh Council.
** Appears due to being a Director in LPFE Ltd

1,251

949

29

51

221
267
46
538
200

270
334
64
624
238

Total compensation paid in relation to key management personnel employed by LPFE Limited during the period was
as follows:

Short‐term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits ‐ employer pension contributions

31 March 2017
£000
380
78

31 March 2018
£000
415
85

Key management personnel employed by LPFE, had accrued pensions totalling £97,456 (1 April 2017: £81,825) and
lump sums totalling £110,889 (1 April 2017: £100,185 ) at the end of the period.
Staff are either employed by City of Edinburgh Council or LPFE Limited, and their costs reimbursed by the Pension
Funds. The Councillors, who are members of the Pensions Committee, are also remunerated by City of Edinburgh
Council.
17 Contingent assets/liabilities and contractual commitments
There were no contingent liabilities or contractual commitments at the year end.
18 Impairment losses
No impairment losses have been identified during the year.
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Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Actuarial Statement for 2017/18
This statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 55(1)(d) of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014. It has been prepared at the request of the Administering Authority of the Fund for the
purpose of complying with the aforementioned regulation.

Description of Funding Policy
The Administering Authority’s Funding Strategy Statement (FSS), dated March 2018, states that a bespoke funding
strategy has been adopted for the Fund.
The strategy aims for the Fund to be 100% solvent by 2044 using a discount rate based on government bonds. It
includes target funding levels at each actuarial valuation. Contributions from the Scottish Government are determined
by reference to the target funding levels. The deficit recovery period is 8 years.
As the Fund was well ahead of its Target Funding Level at the 2017 valuation, it took the decision to derisk its
investment strategy and now invests 100% of its assets in index‐linked gilts.

Funding Position as at the last formal funding valuation
The most recent actuarial valuation carried out under Regulation 60 of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations 2014 was as at 31 March 2017. This valuation revealed that the Fund’s assets, which at 31 March
2017 were valued at £170.6 million, were sufficient to meet 104.7% of the liabilities (i.e. the present value of promised
retirement benefits) accrued up to that date. The resulting surplus at the 2017 valuation was £7.7 million.
The Guarantor’s contributions for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2021 were set in accordance with the Fund’s
funding policy as set out in its FSS.

Principal Actuarial Assumptions and Method used to value the liabilities
Full details of the methods and assumptions used are described in the 2017 valuation report.

Method
The liabilities were assessed using an accrued benefits method which takes into account pensionable membership up to
the valuation date.

Assumptions
A market‐related approach was taken to valuing the liabilities, for consistency with the valuation of the Fund's assets at
their market value.
The key financial assumptions adopted for the 2017 valuation were as follows:
Financial assumptions

31 March 2017

Benefit increase assumption (CPI)

Bank of England nominal yield curve

Discount rate

Bank of England implied (RPI) curve less 1.0% p.a.
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Scottish Homes Pension Fund
Actuarial Statement for 2017/18
The key demographic assumption was the allowance made for longevity. The life expectancy assumption was based on
the Fund's Vita Curves alongside future improvements based on the CMI 2016 model with an allowance for smoothing
of recent mortality experience and a long term rate of improvement of 1.75% p.a.

Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancies at age 65 are as follows:
Males
24.5 years
26.8 years

Current Pensioners
Future Pensioners *

Females
25.4 years
28.6 years

*Aged 45 as at 31 March 2017
Copies of the 2017 valuation report and Funding Strategy Statement are available on request from the Administering
Authority to the Fund.

Experience over the period since 31 March 2017
Asset returns over the period have been slightly higher than the valuation discount rate and real bond yields at 31
March 2018 are at a similar level to 31 March 2017. Combining the impact of these leads to a broadly similar overall
funding position at 31 March 2018 compared to the last formal valuation.
The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2020. The Funding Strategy Statement will also be
reviewed at that time.

Richard Warden FFA
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
20 Waterloo Street
Glasgow
G2 6DB

27 April 2018
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Statement of Accounting
Policies and General Notes
1

Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting
in the United Kingdom 2017/18 which is based upon International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as amended
for the UK public sector.
The Financial Statements summarise the transactions of the Funds for the 2017/18 financial year and report on the
net assets available to pay pension benefits as at 31 March 2018. The Financial Statements do not take account of
obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year. The actuarial present values
of promised retirement benefits, valued on an International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 basis, are disclosed in the
Notes to the Financial Statements.
2

Summary of significant accounting policies

General
a) Basis of consolidation
Commencing with the year ended 31 March 2016, Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared for Lothian
Pension Fund. The Financial Statements of Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund continue
to be prepared on a single entity basis.
The Consolidated Financial Statements for Lothian Pension Fund are prepared by combining the Financial Statements
of the Fund (the parent entity) and its controlled entities (LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited) as defined in accounting
standard IAS27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Consistent accounting policies are employed in
the preparation and presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. All inter-entity balances and transactions
between entities, including any unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.
Further details of the consolidation are provided in the Notes to the Financial Statements of Lothian Pension Fund.
LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited are wholly owned by the City of Edinburgh Council in its capacity as administering
authority for the Local Government Pension Scheme in the Lothian area. The purpose of LPFE Limited is to provide
staff services in respect of management of the Funds. LPFI Limited’s purpose is to provide FCA regulated services to
the Funds and other Local Government Pension Scheme funds. It is considered appropriate to consolidate the
Financial Statements of the two companies with those of Lothian Pension Fund.
Fund account - revenue recognition
b) Contribution income
Normal contributions, both from the members and from employers, are accounted for on an accruals basis at the rate
certified by the Scheme Actuary in the payroll period to which they relate.
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Similarly, employer deficit funding contributions are accounted for on the due date on which they are payable as
certified by the Scheme Actuary.
Employers’ pensions strain contributions are accounted for in the period in which the liability arises. Any amount due
but unpaid will be classed as a current financial asset. Amounts not due until future years are classed as long-term
financial assets.
c) Transfers to and from other schemes
Transfer values represent the amounts received and paid during the year for members who have either joined or left
the Funds during the financial year and are calculated in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations.
Individual transfers in/out are accounted for when received/paid, which is normally when the member liability is
accepted or discharged.
Transfers in from members wishing to use the proceeds of their additional voluntary contributions to purchase
scheme benefits are accounted for on a receipts basis and are included in transfers in.
Bulk (group) transfers are accounted for on an accruals basis in accordance with the terms of the transfer agreement.
d) Investment income
i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the Funds accounts as it accrues, using the effective interest rate of the financial
instrument as at the date of acquisition or origination. Income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium,
transaction costs or other differences between the initial carrying amount of the instrument and its amount at
maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis.
ii) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised on the date the shares are quoted ex-dividend. Any amount not received by the end
of the reporting period is disclosed in the Net Assets Statement as a current financial asset.
iii) Distributions from pooled funds
Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the date of issue. Any amount not received by the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in the Net Assets Statement as a current financial asset.
iv) Income from unquoted private equity and infrastructure investments
Income from the above sources is recognised when it is notified by the manager. Distributions are split into capital
and income elements with the latter being included under investment income in the Fund Account.
v) Property related income
Property-related income consists primarily of rental income. Rental income from operating leases on properties
owned by Lothian Pension Fund is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Any lease incentives
granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease.
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Rental income is reported gross with the operational costs of the properties included in investment management
expenses.
Contingent rents based on the future amount of a factor that changes other than with the passage of time, such as
turnover rents, are only recognised when contractually due.
vi) Movement in the net market value of investments
Changes in the net market value of investments (including investment properties) are recognised as income and
comprise all realised and unrealised profits/losses during the year.
Fund Account - expense items
e) Benefits payable
Pensions and lump sum benefits payable include all amounts known to be due as at the end of the financial year. Any
amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the Net Assets Statement as current liabilities.
f)

Taxation
i) Pension Funds

The Local Government Pension Scheme is a registered public service scheme under section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the
Finance Act 2004 and as such is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and from capital gains tax on the
proceeds of investments sold. Income from overseas investments suffers withholding tax in the country of origin,
unless exemption is permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a fund expense as it arises.
ii) Controlled entities - LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited
The Companies are mutual traders and are therefore not liable to corporation tax on any surpluses generated from
services provided in respect of the Funds. The tax charges for the period are based on any profit for the period from
non-mutual trade, adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. They are calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or are substantively enacted by the period end date.
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements. No deferred
tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where
there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability
is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to items that may be credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The amount of benefit brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no
adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the economic entity will derive
sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility
imposed by the law.
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g) Administrative expenses
All administrative expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. The Lothian Pension Fund is responsible for
administering the three Funds. The costs include charges from LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited for services rendered.
The Fund receives an allocation of the overheads of the Council, this is based on the amount of central services
consumed. In turn, these costs are allocated to the three Funds.
Costs directly attributable to a specific fund are charged to the relevant Fund. Investment management costs that
are common to all three Funds are allocated in proportion to the value of the Funds as at the end of the year. Other
administration costs are allocated in proportion to the number of members in each of the Funds at the end of the
year.
h) Investment management expenses
All investment management expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.
Fees of the external investment managers and custodian are agreed in the respective mandates governing their
appointments. Broadly, these are based on the market value of the investments under their management and
therefore increase or reduce as the value of these investments change. For some investment managers, an element
of their fee is performance related. The amount of any performance related fees paid is disclosed in the note to the
accounts on investment management expenses provided for each Fund.
The cost of administering the Local Government Pension Scheme in the UK has come under increasing scrutiny in
recent years. As a result, it has been decided to recognise investment management costs that are deducted from the
value of an investment and recognised this as a cost in the Fund Account rather than as a reduction in the change in
market value of investments. Investment transaction costs that are added to an investment purchase price or
deducted from the proceeds of a sale are also recognised as a cost in the Fund Account rather than as a reduction in
the change in market value of investments.
In June 2016, CIPFA revised and updated its guidance “Accounting for Local Government Pension Scheme
Management Costs”. Whilst the underlying principle of transparency of investment costs remains unchanged, there
has been a degree of relaxation to full cost disclosure. Specifically, for complex “fund of funds” structures, the new
guidance states that “Investment costs incurred by a separate legal entity, or in respect of investment decisions over
which the pension fund has no control, should not be included in the (Pension) Fund Account......If pension funds wish
to provide information about the total cost of “fund of fund” investments, this should be included as part of the
Investments section in the Annual Report”.
The impact of this is that investment management costs deducted from any underlying fund in a "fund of funds"
investment would not be included in the costs disclosed in the Fund Account. As this would significantly under-report
investment management costs the decision has been made not to adopt this element of the CIPFA guidance.
However, this type of cost is separately identified as "external management fees - deducted from capital (indirect)"
in the notes on investment management expenses.
Any indirect costs incurred through the bid-offer spread on some pooled investment vehicles are not treated as an
expense. Such costs are accounted for as part of the acquisition costs or sale proceeds.
The cost of obtaining investment advice from external consultants is included in investment management charges.
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The costs of the in-house investment management team are charged to the Funds. The basis of allocation is as
described in section g.
Securities lending revenue is reported gross and their fees are disclosed in investment management expenses.
i)

Operating lease

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. In accordance with Standard Interpretations Committee (SIC) 15, subsequently endorsed by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), lease incentives are recognised as a reduction in the lease expense over the term
of the lease on a straight-line basis.
Net Assets Statement
j)

Financial assets

Financial assets are included in the Net Assets Statement on a fair value basis as at the reporting date. A financial
asset is recognised in the Net Assets Statement on the date the fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of
the asset. From this date, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of asset are recognised by the fund.

The values of investments as shown in the Net Assets Statement have been determined at fair value in accordance
with the requirements of the Code and IFRS13. For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, the Funds
has adopted the classification guidelines recommended in Practical Guidance on Investment Disclosures
(PRAG/Investment Association, 2016).
The basis of the valuation of each class of investment assets is set out below. There has been no change in the
valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent
the highest and best price available at the reporting date.
Description
asset

of

Valuation
hierarchy

Basis of valuation

Level 1

Closing bid value
published exchanges

Exchange traded
pooled
investments

Level 1

Closing bid value
published exchanges

Future derivative
contracts

Level 1

Market quoted
investments
Equities

-

Observable
and
unobservable inputs

Key
sensitivity
affecting
the
valuations
provided

on

Not required

Not required

on

Not required

Not required

Determined using exchange
prices at the reporting date.
Amounts due from or owed
to the broker are the
amounts outstanding in
respect of the initial margin
and variation margin.

Not required

Not required

Audited Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18

119

Description
asset

of

Valuation
hierarchy

Basis of valuation

Observable
and
unobservable inputs

Key sensitivity
affecting
the
valuations
provided

Forward foreign
exchange
derivatives

Level 1

Based on market forward
exchange rates at the yearend date and determined as
the gain or loss that would
arise if the outstanding
contract were matched at
the year-end with an equal
and opposite contract.

Not required

Not required

Government
bonds - fixed
interest / index
linked gilts

Level 2

Recorded at net market
value based on their current
yields.

Evaluated price feeds

Not required

Freehold
leasehold
properties

and

Level 3

Valued at fair value at the
year-end
using
the
investment
method
of
valuation by John SymesThompson
FRICS
of
independent valuers, CBRE
Ltd in accordance with RICS
Valuation – Global Standards
2017

Existing lease terms
and rentals.
Independent market
research.
Nature of tenancies.
Covenant strength for
existing tenants.
Assumed vacancy
levels.
Estimated rental
growth.
Discount rate.

Significant changes
in rental growth,
vacancy levels or
the discount rate
could
affect
valuations as could
more
general
changes to market
price

Unquoted Pooled
investments
–
Private
Equity,
Infrastructure,
Timber,
Private
Secured Loans &
Property

Level 3

Comparable valuation of
similar
companies
in
accordance
with
International Private Equity
and
Venture
Capital
Guidelines (2015)

EBITDA
multiple
Revenue
multiple.
Discount for lack of
marketability.
Control premium.

Valuations could
be affected by
material
events
occurring between
the date of the
financial
statements
provided and the
Funds’
own
reporting date, by
changes
to
expected
cashflows, and by
any
differences
between audited
and
unaudited
accounts.

Audited Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18

120

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3
Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with independent investment advisers, the
Funds have determined that the valuation methods described above are likely to be accurate to within the following
ranges, and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31 March
2018.
Assessed
Valuation
range (+ or -)

Lothian Pension Fund

Unquoted

Value on
increase

Value on
decrease

£m

£m

£m

Value at
31 March
2018

Private Equity

30%

90.4

117.5

63.3

Infrastructure

12%

727.6

814.9

640.3

Timber

18%

111.4

131.5

91.3

Private Secured Loans

10%

133.2

146.5

119.9

Property

13%

459.3

519.0

399.6

1,403.9

1,643.6

1,163.6

Value at 31
March 2018

Value on
increase

Value on
decrease

£m

£m

£m

Lothian Buses Pension Fund

Assessed
Valuation
range (+ or -)

Unquoted
Infrastructure

12%

45.6

51.1

40.1

Timber

18%

6.8

8.0

5.6

Private Secured Loans

10%

10.0

11.0

9.0

54.3

63.4

45.2

Scottish Homes Pension Fund has no assets valued at Level 3.
k) Foreign currency transactions and balances
Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of investments in foreign currencies have been accounted for at the spot
market rates at the date of the transaction. End-of-year spot market exchange rates are used to value cash balances
held in foreign currency bank accounts, market values of overseas investments and purchases and sales outstanding
at the end of the reporting period.
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l)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to minimal risk of changes in value.
m) Financial liabilities
The Funds recognise financial liabilities at fair value as at the reporting date. A financial liability is recognised in the
Net Assets Statement on the date the Funds becomes party to the liability. From this date, any gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of the liability are recognised.
n) Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits of each of the Funds is assessed on an annual basis by
the Scheme Actuary in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 and relevant actuarial standards.
As permitted under IAS26, the Funds have opted to disclose the actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits by way of a note to the Net Assets Statements.
o) Additional voluntary contributions
The Lothian Pension Fund and Lothian Buses Pension Fund provide an additional voluntary contributions (AVC)
scheme for their members, the assets of which are invested separately from those of the Funds. The Funds have
appointed Standard Life and Prudential as their AVC providers. AVCs are paid to the AVC providers by employers and
are specifically for providing additional benefits for individual contributors. Each AVC contributor receives an annual
statement showing the amount held in their account and the movements in the year.
In accordance with regulation 5(2)(b) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of
Funds) (Scotland) Regulations 1998, AVCs are not included in pension fund financial statements. Details of
contributions paid and the total value of funds invested are disclosed by way of note.
p) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place prior to the year-end giving rise to a possible financial
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events. Contingent
liabilities can also arise in circumstances where a provision would be made, except that it is not possible at the balance
sheet date to measure the value of the financial obligation reliably.
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place giving rise to a possible asset whose existence will only be
confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events.
Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Net Assets Statement but are disclosed by way of narrative
in the notes.
q) Employee benefits
The employees of LPFE Limited are eligible to participate in Lothian Pension Fund.
In the Consolidated Financial Statements, the current service cost for the period is charged to the Fund Account. The
assets of Lothian Pension Fund are held separately from those of the Company. The Company has fully adopted the
accounting principles as required by IAS19 – Employee Benefits.
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The liability recognised in the Net Asset Statement in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, together with
adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually, by the Scheme
Actuary, using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined
by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in a currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the
terms of the related pension obligations.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or
credited to the Fund Account in the period in which they arise.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the Fund Account, unless the changes to the pension plan are
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the
past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
3

Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted

The Code requires the disclosure of information relating to the impact of an accounting change that will be required
by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted. This applies to the adoption of the following new or
amended standards within the 2017/18 Code:
The Code requires implementation from 1 April 2018 and there is therefore no impact on the 2017/18 financial
statements.


IFRS 9 Financial Instruments



IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers including amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to
IFRS 15 Revenue Contracts with Customers



amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses



amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative

The amendments are generally minor or principally providing clarification. Overall, these new or amended standards
are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
4

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Unquoted private equity and infrastructure investments
It is important to recognise the highly subjective nature of determining the fair value of private equity and
infrastructure investments. They are inherently based on forward-looking estimates and judgements involving many
factors. These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital
Valuation Guidelines or similar guidelines provided by the British Venture Capital Association, which follow the
valuation principles of IFRS.
For the Lothian Pension Fund, the value of unquoted private equity, infrastructure, timber and secured loan
investments at 31 March 2018 was £1,062.5m (2016 £1,014.2m).
For the Lothian Buses Pension Fund, the value of unquoted private equity, infrastructure and timber investments at
31 March 2018 was £62.5m (2017 £54.3m).
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Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits
Each Fund is required to disclose the estimated actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits as at the end
of the financial year. These estimates are prepared by the Funds’ Actuary. These values are calculated in line with
International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS19) assumptions and comply with the requirements of IAS26. However, the
results are subject to significant variances based on changes to the underlying assumptions.
The figures are only prepared for the purposes of IAS26 and has no validity in other circumstances. In particular, it is
not relevant for calculations undertaken for funding purposes and setting contributions payable to the Funds.
5

Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty

The Financial Statements contain estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Council; private equity
and infrastructure managers; other providers of valuation information; and the Scheme Actuary about the future or
that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other
relevant factors. However, because amounts cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially
different from the assumptions and estimates.
The items in the Net Assets Statement at 31 March 2018 for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in
the forthcoming financial year are as follows:
a)

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits

Uncertainties
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount
rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and
expected returns on the Funds’ assets. The Funds’ Actuary advises on the assumptions to be applied and prepares the
estimates.
Effect if actual results differ from assumptions - Lothian Pension Fund
The effects on the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be illustrated as follows:
Approx %
increase in
liabilities

Approx
monetary
amount

%

£m

0.5% decrease in the real discount rate

10

814

1 year increase in member life expectancy

4

334

0.5% increase in salary increase rate

2

167

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate

7

582

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 2018
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Effect if actual results differ from assumptions - Lothian Buses Pension Fund
The effects on the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be illustrated as follows:
Approx %
increase in
liabilities

Approx
monetary
amount

0.5% decrease in the real discount rate

%
10

£m
48

1 year increase in member life expectancy

4

20

0.5% increase in salary increase rate

2

10

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate

7

48

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 2018

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions - Scottish Homes Pension Fund
The effects on the net pension liability of changes in individual assumptions can be illustrated as follows:
Approx %
increase in
liabilities

Approx
monetary
amount

0.5% decrease in the real discount rate

%
5

£m
7

1 year increase in member life expectancy

4

6

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate

5

7

Change in assumptions - year ended 31 March 2018

b)
Valuation of unquoted private equity and infrastructure investments
Uncertainties
These investments are not publicly listed and therefore there is a degree of estimation involved in their valuation, see
2j above for more details on the valuation methodology.
Effect if actual results differ from assumptions
There is a risk that these investments may be under or overstated in the accounts at any point in time. The actual
financial return of this type of investment is only known with certainty when they reach the end of their lifecycles and
the final distributions are made to investors. A sensitivity analysis can be found in note 2j above.
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c)

Quantifying the cost of investment fees deducted from capital

Uncertainties
Section 2 h) describes the accounting policy for investment management expenses in relation to expenses deducted
from the capital value of investments. Quantification of these costs involves asking the relevant managers for
information and only some of this information can be independently verified. In cases where the charges relate to an
investment as a whole, an estimate needs to be made of the costs applicable to the holding owned by the relevant
Fund.
Effect if actual results differ from assumptions
There is a risk that the cost of investment fees deducted from capital may be under or overstated. However, as the
costs are included in the Fund Account by adjusting the change in market value of investments, any inaccuracy in the
cost estimate will not change the reported net change in the Fund for the year.
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Statement of responsibilities
for the Annual Accounts
The responsibilities of the Administering Authority
The Administering Authority's responsibilities require it to:







Make arrangements for the proper administration of the financial affairs of the Funds in its charge and to
secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. The Head of
Finance serves as the Section 95 Officer for all the Council’s accounting arrangements, including those of
Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund. For the Funds, this
Section 95 responsibility has been delegated to the Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund.
Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of its resources and safeguard its assets.
Ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local Authority Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2014) and, so far as is compatible with that legislation, in accordance with proper
accounting practices (section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003).
Approve the Audited Annual Accounts for signature.

HUGH DUNN
Head of Finance of The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018
The responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund

The Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund, is responsible for the preparation of the Funds’ Financial Statements
which, in terms of the CIPFA / LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18
(the Code of Practice), is required to present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Funds at the
accounting date and their income and expenditure for the year (ended 31 March 2018).
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund, has:
 Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently
 Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent
 Complied with the Code of Practice.
The Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund, has also:
 Kept proper accounting records which were up to date
 Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Funds as at 31 March 2018,
and their income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018.

JOHN BURNS, FCMA CGMA
Chief Finance Officer of Lothian Pension Fund
26 September 2018
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of City of Edinburgh Council as administering authority for Lothian Pension Fund
Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund and the Accounts Commission

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland)
Act 1973 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts
Commission, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third
parties.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
We certify that we have audited the financial statements in the annual report of Lothian Pension Fund and its group, Lothian
Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund (the funds) for the year ended 31 March 2018 under Part VII of the
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. The financial statements comprise the Lothian Pension Fund Fund Account, the
Lothian Pension Fund Net Assets Statement, the Lothian Buses Fund Account, the Lothian Buses Net Asset Statement, the
Scottish Homes Fund Account, the Scottish Homes Net Asset Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted
and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 (the 2017/18 Code).
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:
• give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable law and the 2017/18 Code of the financial transactions of the
funds during the year ended 31 March 2018 and of the amount and disposition at that date of their assets and
liabilities;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the 2017/18 Code; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, The Local
Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the funds in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you
where:
• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or
• the Chief Finance Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the funds' ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period
of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer and the City of Edinburgh Council for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal
control as the Chief Finance Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for assessing the funds' ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless deemed inappropriate.
The City of Edinburgh Council is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Other information in the annual report
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information comprises the
information other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters
prescribed by the Accounts Commission to the extent explicitly stated later in this report.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read all the other information in the annual
report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Report on other requirements
Opinions on matters prescribed by the Accounts Commission
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit
• the information given in the Management Commentary for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with
statutory guidance issued under the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003;
• the information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in
accordance with the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016); and
• the information given in the Governance Compliance Statement for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been prepared in
accordance with The Local Government Pension Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required by the Accounts Commission to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
adequate accounting records have not been kept; or
•
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or
•
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Nick Bennett, (for and on behalf of Scott-Moncrieff)
Exchange Place 3, Semple Street, Edinburgh, EH3 8BL
26 September 2018
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Annual Governance Statement
Roles and responsibilities

The City of Edinburgh Council (the Council) has statutory responsibility for the administration of the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS) in the Lothian area of Scotland. This responsibility is for three separate funds: the Lothian
Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund (the Funds). The Lothian Pension Fund
group comprises the investment and pensions team employed by LPFE Limited (LPFE) supporting the Council in its
separate statutory capacity as the administering authority of the Funds (Administering Authority) and LPFI Limited
(LPFI), the groups regulated investment vehicle (together the LPF Group).
The main functions of the Administering Authority are administration of scheme benefits and the investment of the
assets of the Funds. These functions are conducted in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Scotland) Regulations which are statutory instruments made under the Superannuation Act 1972. The role of
Administering Authority is carried out via:





the Pensions Committee and the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee;
the Pension Board;
the Joint Investment Strategy Panel; and
the LPF Group.

Further details on the above arrangements can be found in the Governance section of the Management Commentary
towards the front of this document.
Scope of responsibility

As the Administering Authority of the Funds, the Council is responsible for ensuring that its business in administering
the Funds, is conducted in accordance with the law and appropriate standards, and that monies are safeguarded,
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council also has a statutory duty under
the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003, to make arrangements to secure best value, which is defined as
continuous improvement in the way its functions are carried out.
In discharging these overall responsibilities, elected members, senior officers and external representatives are
responsible for implementing effective arrangements for governing the affairs of the LPF Group, and facilitating the
effective exercise of its functions, including arrangements for the management of risk. The Pensions Committee
oversees the operational administration of the Funds by the LPF Group.
The LPF Group has adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance that is consistent with the principles of the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and Society of Local Authority Chief Executives
(SOLACE) framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’. This statement explains how the LPF Group
has complied with the Local Code of Corporate Governance and how it meets the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.
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The governance framework

The LPF Group operates within the wider governance framework of the Council but within specific ringfenced
governance structures focused on the Funds themselves. The governance framework comprises the systems,
processes, cultures and values by which the LPF Group directs and controls the Funds. It also describes the way the
LPF Group engages with and accounts to its stakeholders in relation to the management of the administration of the
Funds. It enables the LPF Group to monitor the achievement of its objectives and consider whether those objectives
have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. The framework also applies to any subsidiary
companies which are members of the LPF Group, namely LPFI and LPFE. The LPF Group is also directly regulated by
The Pensions Regulator, the Financial Conduct Authority (regarding its regulated investment activity), the Scottish
Information Commissioner and is subject to other corporate and public sector rules and regulations.
The LPF Group’s ongoing compliance with its governance framework and regulatory obligations is monitored on an
ongoing basis by the Pensions Committee, the Audit Sub-Committee and the Pension Board.
The wider Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance is regularly reviewed and considered by the Governance,
Risk & Best Value Committee. It has implemented arrangements for monitoring each element of the framework and
providing evidence of compliance. The Council’s Democracy, Governance and Resilience Senior Manager reviewed
the arrangements and is satisfied that the Code continues to be adequate and effective. Internal Audit has also
reviewed the annual assurance questionnaire process in relation to Arms-Length Companies and has found that this
provides the Chief Executive with a level of assurance on the adequacy of the governance arrangements. The Council’s
Corporate governance framework meets the principles of effective governance.
The LPF Group places reliance upon certain of the internal financial controls within the Council’s financial systems and
the monitoring in place to ensure the effectiveness of these controls. The relevant key elements of the LPF Group and
the Funds governance framework within the Council, include:













Identifying the objectives of the Funds in the Funding Strategy Statement, Statement of Investment Principles
and Service Plan.
Since April 2015, The Pensions Regulator has been responsible for setting standards of governance and
administration for the Local Government Pension Scheme. The LPF Group has taken steps to fully integrate
compliance with these standards within the overall governance framework.
A systematic approach to monitoring service performance by the Pensions Committee, Pensions Audit SubCommittee, Pension Board (each including external stakeholder representation), Independent Professional
Observer and senior officers.
A structured programme to ensure that Pensions Committee and Pension Board members have the required
standard of knowledge and understanding of Local Government Pension Scheme matters.
Operating within clearly established investment guidelines defined by the Local Government Pension Scheme
Investment Regulations and the Funds’ Statement of Investment Principles.
Compliance with the CIPFA Principles for Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government
Pension Scheme.
With the exception of managed funds, unlisted investments and property, all investments are held under
custody by a global custodian. The Funds benefit from the custodian's extensive internal control framework.
Benchmarking of services in terms of standards and cost against other pension funds.
LPFE and LPFI operating within their respective constitutional documentation and the relevant companies
regulations.
LPFI operating within the relevant governance policies and procedures to ensure compliance with the
Financial Conduct Authority’s rules, regulations and guidance.
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For LPF Group and Fund matters, the Pensions Committee, Pensions Audit Sub-Committee and Pension Board
are responsible for scrutiny and challenge and a quarterly risk reporting process is in place to ensure full
consideration of such matters.
Officers of the LPF Group are managed separately through the processes and procedures of LPFE, overseen
by its board of directors, with terms and conditions and a human resources performance review and
management strategy tailored to the express needs of the Funds and their stakeholders.
The directors of LPFE and LPFI have obligations to report to the Pensions Committee as the governing body
for the Funds and Council in being the sole shareholder. In addition, the board and staff of LPFI are each
individually regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and so bound by the associated Principles and
Standards of governance best practice.

Elements of the governance framework of the Council that are relevant to the LPF Group and Funds include:


















The Council is embedding a culture of commercial excellence to ensure that its services always deliver Best
Value. That is ongoing and seeks to improve standards in buying practices and processes across the Council
including, to the extent applicable, the LPF Group and the Funds which bear the cost of its operation and
administration.
The submission of reports, findings and recommendations from the external auditor, other inspectorates and
internal audit, to the Pensions Committee, Pensions Audit Sub-Committee for all matters affecting the LPF
Group and Funds and, in certain circumstances strictly for Council wide oversight purposes, the Corporate
Leadership Group, Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee and wider Council.
The roles and responsibilities of Elected Members and Officers are defined in Procedural Standing Orders,
Committee Terms of Reference and Delegated Functions, Contract Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegation to
Officers, the Member/officer protocol and Financial Regulations. These are subject to annual review.
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility to Council, for all aspects of operational management and
overall responsibility for ensuring the continued development and improvement of systems and processes
concerned with ensuring appropriate direction, accountability and control.
The Section 95 Officer has overall responsibility for ensuring appropriate advice is given to the Council and
the LPF Group on all financial matters, keeping proper financial records of accounts and maintaining an
effective system of internal financial control. For the Funds, the Section 95 officer responsibility has been
sub-delegated to the Chief Finance Officer of the LPF Group.
The Chief Internal Auditor has overall responsibility to review, appraise and report to management and the
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee, and for matters relating to the LPF Group and Funds to the
Pensions Committee and Pensions Audit Sub-Committee, on the adequacy of relevant internal control and
corporate governance arrangements and on risks relating to approved policies, programmes and projects.
The Council’s Democracy, Governance and Resilience Manager, reporting to the Head of Strategy and Insight,
has responsibility for advising the Council on corporate governance arrangements and supports the LPF
Group on certain aspects of its governance arrangements.
The Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee, and for LPF Group and Fund matters the Pensions
Committee and Pensions Audit Sub-Committee, provides the Council with independent assurance of the
adequacy of the governance and risk management frameworks and internal control environment. Also
providing independent scrutiny of financial and non-financial performance, approving and monitoring the
progress of the Internal Audit risk based plan, and monitoring performance of the internal audit service.
The risk management policy and framework set out the responsibilities of elected members, Governance,
Risk and Best Value Committee, and for LPF Group and Fund matters the Pensions Committee and Pensions
Audit Sub-Committee, management and staff for the identification and management of risks to corporate
and service related priorities;
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The Resources Senior Management Team Risk Register and Council Risk Register all identify risks and
proposed treatment and actions. These registers are regularly reviewed, updated and reported to the
Corporate Leadership Group, which reviews Council-wide risk and reports to the Governance, Risk and Best
Value Committee for scrutiny and challenge.
Resilience and business continuity plans are in place for all essential Council services. These set out
arrangements for continuing to deliver essential services in the event of an emergency or other disruption.
Senior management and Heads of Service have formal objectives, with performance reviewed by the
appropriate chief officer. Officers have personal work objectives, and receive feedback on their performance
through the Council-wide performance review and development process.
An Elected Members remuneration and expenses scheme is in place and is consistent with the Scottish
Government’s ‘Councillors Remuneration: allowances and expenses – Guidance’. Information on the
amounts and composition of elected members salaries, allowances and expenses is published on the
Council’s website.
The Council’s Governance and Democratic Services Manager ensures that induction training on roles and
responsibilities, and ongoing development opportunities, are provided for Elected Members. A separate
policy on Pensions Committee and Pension Board member training has been adopted and is overseen by the
LPF Group’s officers.
Mandatory training for Councillors newly appointed to the Pensions Committee is programmed within the
Induction and Training programme for Elected Members. This focuses on governance, investment
management and strategy and how the LPF Group and Funds work. Committee members are reminded of
the requirement to undertake a minimum of 21 hours of training per financial year to fulfil their role on the
Pensions Committee.
Codes of Conduct, that set out the standards of behaviour expected from Elected Members and officers, are
in place.
The Employee Code of Conduct, Anti Bribery Policy and Policy on Fraud Prevention set out the responsibilities
of officers and Elected Members in relation to fraud and corruption, and are reinforced by the Councillors’
Code of Conduct, the Code of Ethical Standards and the Financial Regulations. The LPF Group has adapted
policies to take into account the specific nature of its business and regulation.
The Whistleblowing policy provides a process for disclosure in the public interest about the Council and its
activities by officers, Elected Members and others. The LPF Group has an adapted policy to take into account
the specific nature of its business and regulation.
A Register of Members’ Interests and Registers of Officers’ interests are maintained and available for public
inspection.

A significant element of the governance framework is the system of internal controls, which is based on an ongoing
process to identify and prioritise risks to the achievement of the Council’s objectives, including those relevant to the
LPG Group and Funds. Following the establishment of the wholly-owned subsidiary companies, LPFE and LPFI, the
Council continues to have appropriate assurance processes and procedures in relation to the responsible officers
involved in the administration of those companies and so the wider LPF Group administering the Funds.
Review of Effectiveness

The Local Code of Governance details the Council’s arrangements for monitoring each element of the framework and
providing evidence of compliance. The Council’s Governance and Democratic Services Manager has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Code.
The Chief Internal Auditor has also provided an assurance statement on the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. The opinion in the assurance statement states: “Internal Audit considers that significant enhancements are
required to the LPF control environment and governance and risk management frameworks, and is raising a ‘red’
rated opinion, with our assessment towards the middle of this category.”
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In compliance with standard accounting practice, the Head of Finance, of the City of Edinburgh Council has provided
the Chief Executive with a statement of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial control system for the year
ended 31st March 2018. It is the Head of Finance’s opinion that “reasonable assurance can be placed upon the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal control”.
The Chief Finance Officer of the LPF Group has provided a statement of the effectiveness of the internal financial
control system for the year ended 31st March 2018 for the Funds. It is the Chief Finance Officer’s opinion “that based
on internal audit work undertaken during the year, has highlighted a need for significant enhancements to the control
environment and associated governance and risk management frameworks. The control improvements implicit in
this opinion will be examined and corresponding required improvements as they relate to financial systems
implemented as a matter of urgency.”
Certification

It is our opinion, in light of the foregoing, that reasonable assurance can be placed upon the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems of governance that operate within the LPF Group in its administration of the Funds. We
consider the governance and internal control environment operating during the financial year from 1 April 2017 to 31
March 2018 to provide reasonable and objective assurance that any significant risks impacting on the LPF Group and
its ability to achieve its objectives in properly administering the Funds have and will continue to be identified and
suitably proportionate actions have and will be taken to avoid or mitigate the impact of any such risks.
The LPF Group has identified certain key areas for improvement, summarised as follows:













ICT: Continuing to engage with ICT service provider and the City of Edinburgh Council to monitor and drive
improvements in the ICT services which the LPF Group receives, whilst in tandem continuing to assess the
position around the LPF Group procuring a separate ICT provider to solely and independently service its
specific ICT requirements in support of its strategic business plan.
Human resources: To continue to implement the new human resources strategy specific to LPF Group’s
requirements.
Independent professional observer: To appoint a replacement Independent Professional Observer in support
the work and governance of the Pensions Committee and the Pension Board.
Pension Board: To ensure that vacancies in the Pension Board are filled timeously and by suitable candidates
and that this body of external stakeholder representatives receives the training and support that it requires
on an ongoing basis.
Business continuity: To continue to assess and refresh the business continuity plan on an ongoing basis
ensuring sufficient engagement with staff.
Information governance: Having completed a full information governance compliance project prior to the
implementation of new data protection laws on 25 May 2018, to continue to implement ongoing actions to
ensure continuing best practice information governance and security within the LPF Group, including
monitoring and engaging with third party suppliers where appropriate.
Financial services regulatory compliance: To continue to instruct external compliance audits on the
operations and governance of LPFI in order to ensure best practice compliance and assurance around its
existing operations (and in preparation for its extended collaborative business model) and take action to
address the recommendations from those audits on an ongoing basis.
Wider governance: To continue to maintain and reinforce separate governance and controls specific to the
needs of the LPF Group, the pensions funds it administers and its distinct duties to employer and member
stakeholders; consistently throughout the LPF Group’s governance structures. To ensure that oversight by
the City of Edinburgh Council is supported in a manner consistent with these duties.
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The LPF Group will ensure that these are treated as a priority and that progress towards implementation will be
reviewed through the governance structures and processes established for the LPF Group and summarised herein.

ANDREW KERR
Chief Executive
The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018

STEPHEN MOIR
Executive Director of Resources
The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018
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Governance Compliance
Statement
The Regulations that govern the management of Local Government Pension Scheme in Scotland require that a
Governance Compliance Statement is published. This statement sets out the extent to which governance
arrangements comply with best practice.
The statement below describes arrangements at 31 March 2018 and over the financial year.

Principle
Structure

The management of the
administration of benefits
and strategic management
of fund assets clearly rests
with the main committee
established
by
the
appointing Council.

Full
Compliance
Yes

Comments
The City of Edinburgh Council acts as
administering authority and delegates all
pension scheme matters to a committee of
seven members (Pensions Committee) made
up as follows:
- Five City of Edinburgh Council elected
members
- Two external members, one drawn from the
membership of the Funds and one drawn from
the employers that participate in the Funds.

Structure

That representatives of
participating
LGPS
employers, admitted bodies
and scheme members
(including pensioner and
deferred members) are
members of either the main
or secondary committee
established to underpin the
work
of
the
main
committee.

Yes

The Pensions Committee includes two external
places for pension fund stakeholders i.e. one
each from the employer and member
representatives.
Fund members and employers are also
represented within the Funds’ Pension Board.
Membership
includes
five
employer
representatives
and
five
member
representatives.
All members of the Pension Board are invited
to attend the meeting of the Pensions
Committee and receive the relevant papers
prior to those meetings.
Two members of the Pension Board attend the
Pensions Audit Sub-Committee.
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Principle
Structure

That where a secondary
committee or board has
been established, the
structure ensures effective
communication across both
levels.

Full
Compliance
Yes

Comments
The Pensions Audit Sub-Committee, consisting
of three members of the Pensions Committee,
report to the Pensions Committee on their
findings and recommendations. Two members
of the Pension Board attend the Pensions Audit
Sub-Committee in a non-voting capacity. The
Pension Board attends the Pensions
Committee meetings and takes part in training
events.
Implementation of investment strategy is
delegated to the Executive Director of
Resources who then delegates to the Head of
Finance, who takes advice from the Joint
Investment Strategy Panel. The Panel meets
quarterly and reports to the Pensions
Committee annually.
The Joint Investment Strategy Panel consists of
the Head of Finance of the City of Edinburgh
Council and the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Finance Officer, Chief Investment Officer of the
LPF Group plus three experienced external
industry advisers.
The Pensions Committee receives annual
updates from LPFE and LPFI.

Representation

That all key stakeholders
are
afforded
the
opportunity
to
be
represented within the
main
or
secondary
committee
structure.
These include employing
authorities (including nonscheme employers, e.g.
admitted
bodies)
and
scheme
members
(including deferred and
pensioner
scheme
members).

Yes

The Pension Board consists of a mix of
representatives:
- Five employer representatives from nonadministering authority employers;
- Five member representatives appointed by
the Trade Unions in accordance with the
approach required under Scottish statute.
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Principle
Representation

Where
appropriate,
independent professional
observers, and expert
advisers (on an ad-hoc
basis).

Full
Compliance
Yes

Comments
An Independent Professional Observer was
appointed in March 2013 to help Committee
scrutinise advice. This contract expired in
February 2018 and a selection process is
underway to reappoint this role.
As above, external investment advisers sit on
the Joint Investment Strategy Panel.
A separate specialist Pensions Audit SubCommittee consisting of three members
(including at least two elected members from
the City of Edinburgh Council) undertake the
audit scrutiny of the funds.
A non-executive director was appointed to the
board of LPFI on 7 February 2017 and LPFE on
19 March 2018.
An external compliance consultant supports
the LPF Group on its ongoing compliance with
the Financial Conduct Authority rules,
regulations and guidance.

Selection and
Role of Lay
Members

That where lay members sit
on a main or secondary
committee,
they
are
treated equally in terms of
access to papers and
meetings, training and are
given full opportunity to
contribute to the decisionmaking process, with or
without voting rights.

Yes

That committee or board
members are made fully
aware of the status, role
and function that they are
required to perform on
either a main or secondary
committee.

Yes

The Pension Board attends the Pensions
Committee meetings to help ensure that the
operation of the pension funds is in
accordance with the applicable law and
regulation. The Pension Board takes part in all
Committee training events.
The Pensions Committee takes account of the
views of the Pension Board when making
decision.
A comprehensive training programme
including induction is in place. Members of the
Pensions Committee and Pension Board are
expected to attend no less than three days of
training (21 hours) per year.
The non-elected members confirm that they
have read, signed and will abide by a Code of
Conduct (specifically tailored for the Pensions
Committee and Pension Board) prior to their
appointment to those bodies. The elected
members are required to read, sign and abide
by the Councillors’ Code of Conduct.
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Full
Compliance

Principle
Selection and
Role of Lay
Members

That at the start of any
meeting,
committee
members are invited to
declare any financial or
pecuniary interest related
to specific matters on the
agenda.

Yes

Comments
The declaration of members’ interests is a
standard item on the agenda for meetings of
the Pensions Committee, Pensions Audit SubCommittee and Pension Board.
A Code of Conduct also applies to all members
of the Pensions Committee and the Pension
Board.
The declaration of board members interest is a
standard item on the agenda for the meetings
for the LPFE and LPFI board meetings.

Voting

The policy of individual
administering authorities
on voting rights is clear and
transparent, including the
justification
for
not
extending voting rights to
each body or group
represented on main LGPS
committees.

Yes

Five of the seven places of the Pensions
Committee are held by elected members of the
City of Edinburgh Council, which is required to
retain a 2/3 majority in line with the Local
Government (Scotland) Act 1973.
The
LPF
Group’s
Nomination
and
Appointments Policy clearly documents how
employer and member representatives will be
elected to the Pensions Committee and
Pension Board.
LPFI and LPFE board members conduct
meetings and other matters in accordance
with their respective articles of association and
shareholders’ agreements.

Training /
Facility Time /
Expenses

a) That in relation to the
way in which statutory and
related decisions are taken
by
the
administering
authority, there is a clear
policy on training, facility
time and reimbursement of
expenses in respect of
members involved in the
decision-making process.

Yes

A Training and Attendance Policy is in place
covering
training
requirements
and
reimbursement of expenses. The policy is
available on the LPF Group’s website
www.lpf.org.uk.
Board members and staff working for LPFI and
LPFE also attend separate training for the
purposes of their knowledge, understanding
and (where appropriate) compliance with
Financial Conduct Authority regulations.
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Full
Compliance

Principle
Training /
Facility Time /
Expenses

Meetings
frequency

Comments

b) That where such a policy
exists, it applies equally to
all members of committees,
sub-committees, advisory
panels or any other form of
secondary forum.

Yes

The Training and Attendance Policy applies to
both the Pensions Committee and the Pension
Board. Advisers have their own professional
development obligations.

c) That the administering
authority considers the
adoption of annual training
plans for committee and
board
members
and
maintains a log of all such
training.

Yes

Each Pensions Committee and Pension Board
member is expected to attend no less than
three days training per year (21 hours) per
year. Attendance at meetings and training is
monitored and reported.

a) That an administering
authority’s main committee
or committees meet at least
quarterly.

Yes

The Pensions Committee meets at least four
times a year.

b) That an administering
authority’s
secondary
committee or panel meet at
least twice a year and is
synchronised with the dates
when the main committees
sits.

Yes

The Pensions Audit Sub-Committee is held
before the Pensions Committee at least three
times a year with further meetings held if
necessary.
The Joint Investment Strategy Panel meets
quarterly or more frequently as required.
The Pension Board attends all the Pensions
Committee meetings and separately meets in
advance of such meetings. Further meetings
are held if necessary.
The LPFE board now meet five time a year (in
February, May, August, October and
December) and the LPFI board meet monthly.

c) That an administering
authority who does not
include lay members in
their formal governance
arrangements must provide
a forum outside of those
arrangements by which the
interests
of
key
stakeholders
can
be
represented.

Not
applicable
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Full
Compliance

Principle
Access

Scope

Publicity

Comments

That subject to any rules in
the council’s constitution,
all members of main and
secondary committees or
boards have equal access to
committee
papers,
documents and advice that
falls to be considered at
meetings of the main
committee.
That
administering
authorities have taken
steps to bring wider scheme
issues within the scope of
their
governance
arrangements.

Yes

Pensions Committee papers and minutes are
publicly available on the Council’s website and
all Pensions Committee and Pension Board
members have equal access. Members of the
Pensions Committee and Pension Board have
equal access to the Independent Professional
Observer who holds surgeries ahead of
Committee meetings.

Yes

The Pensions Committee deals with all matters
relating to both the administration and
investment of the Funds and the LPF Group.

That
administering
authorities have published
details of their governance
arrangements in such a way
that stakeholders with an
interest in the way in which
the scheme is governed,
can express an interest in
wanting to be part of those
arrangements.

Yes

ANDREW KERR
Chief Executive
The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018

A separate specialist Pensions Audit SubCommittee consisting of three members
(including at least two elected members from
the City of Edinburgh Council) undertake the
audit scrutiny of the Funds.

Governance documents, policies and details of
Pension Board membership are on the LPF
Group’s website.
The LPF Group also
communicates regularly with employers and
scheme members.

STEPHEN MOIR
Executive Director of Resources
The City of Edinburgh Council
26 September 2018
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Additional information
Key documents online

You can find further information on what we do and how we do it, on our website at www.lpf.org.uk.
- Actuarial Valuation reports

- Communications strategy

- Pension Board constitution

- Funding Strategy Statement

- Annual Report and Accounts

- Service Plan

- Statement of Investment Principles

- Training and attendance policy

- Pension Administration Strategy

Fund advisers

Actuaries:

Hymans Robertson LLP

Bankers:

Royal Bank of Scotland

Investment consultancy:

KPMG LLP, Gordon Bagot and Scott Jamieson

Investment custodians:

The Northern Trust Company

Investment managers:

Details can be found in the notes to the accounts.

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) managers:

Standard Life and Prudential

Property valuations:

CB Richard Ellis Limited

Solicitors:

In-house

Comments and suggestions

We appreciate your comments and suggestions on this report. Please let us know which sections you found useful
and if you have any suggestions for items to be included in the future. Please email your comments to
pensions@lpf.org.uk.
Accessibility

You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various computer formats if you ask us. Please contact
the Interpretation and Translation Service (ITS) on 0131 242 8181 and quote reference number 00819. The ITS can
also give information on community language translations.
Contact details

If you would like further information about Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Home
Pension Fund, please contact us the details on the back page.
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0131 529 4638
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Lothian Pension Fund, Atria One, 144 Morrison Street, Edinburgh EH3 8EX
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LPFE LIMITED
Directors’ report
For the year ended 31 March 2018

The directors present their report and audited financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018.
Principal activity
The principal activity of the company is the provision of seconded staff to the City of Edinburgh Council and LPFI
Limited in support of the administration of the Lothian Pension Fund and the Scottish Homes Pension Fund (“the
Funds”) and, separately, to Falkirk Council in their capacity as the administering authority of the Falkirk Council
Pension Fund. All pension funds are part of the Local Government Pension Scheme in Scotland.
Results, dividends and mutual trading surplus
The loss for the year after tax was £1,535,060 (2017 - £6,275 profit) and after allowing for items included under
“Other comprehensive income” a loss of £853,960 (2017 - £396,275 loss). The directors do not recommend
payment of dividend.
The company’s aim is to make a modest trading surplus before adjustments required under IFRS. After allowing
for an addition to costs of £40,112 (2017 - £2,464) in respect of accrued holiday pay and £1,536,000 (2017 £22,000) for adjustments to pension costs under IAS19, the underlying trading profit is £41,052 (2017 - £30,739).
The £1,536,000 IAS19 pension adjustment includes a net liability of £1,377,000 in respect of the accrued pension
benefits of the staff that transferred their employment from the City of Edinburgh Council during the year. The
additional gains recognised under “Other comprehensive income” amounting to £681,100 (2017: £402,550
additional costs) all relates to further adjustments required by IAS19 and the related deferred tax.
Under the mutual trading agreement with the City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the administering
authority of the Lothian Pension Fund), the company is required to consider if any of the profit arising from the
mutual trade can be returned to the Council. Although there was an underlying trading profit of £40,858 (2017:
£30,739), Company Law requires that only “distributable profits” are available for distribution. The company’s
auditor has confirmed that the various adjustments required under IFRS must be taken into account when
determining if profits are distributable. As a result, there are no distributable profits available for return to the
Council (acting in its capacity as the administering authority of the Lothian Pension Fund) in respect of the period.
Business review
The company is wholly owned by the City of Edinburgh Council and has entered into a shareholder agreement
with the Council to appropriately address certain governance matters. The company also has a loan facility
provided by the City of Edinburgh Council for the purpose of the provision of short term working capital.
Staffing services are provided to the City of Edinburgh Council for the purposes of administering the Funds under
an intra-group resourcing agreement. The agreement also provides for the running costs of the company to be
covered as part of a service charge and anticipates the provision of staffing services to LPFI Limited (also wholly
owned by the City of Edinburgh Council) on that entity beginning to trade during the year.
In February 2018, the transfer of the employment of 43 staff from the City of Edinburgh to the company under
TUPE arrangements was completed. This means that the entire staff working for Lothian Pension Fund are now
employed by LPFE Limited. Having the whole team together under the same employer will provide more
opportunities to develop services for Lothian Pension Fund’s members and employers. The company has entered
into an appropriate admission arrangement with the City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the
administering authority of the Lothian Pension Fund) to enable the employees of the company to be members of
the Lothian Pension Fund and in relation to the company’s obligations as an employer in that fund.
HMRC has agreed that any profits arising as a result from trade between the company and the City of Edinburgh
Council will be covered by the “Mutual Trading” rules and so not subject to Corporation Tax.
The company also has a secondment agreement with Falkirk Council to provide investment staff to assist with
certain aspects of the administration of the Falkirk Council Pension Fund as part of a mutually beneficial
collaboration between those LGPS funds.
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LPFE LIMITED
Directors’ report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Future prospects
The company’s future prospects are primarily linked to the needs of the City of Edinburgh Council in its
administration of the Funds. The company is securely funded by the City of Edinburgh Council which means that
it is in a position to adapt to any future staffing requirements.
Directors
The directors who served during the period were:
Hugh Dunn
Clare Scott
Alasdair Rankin
Katy Miller
Stephen Moir
Leslie Robb

Appointed 6 September 2017
Appointed 19 March 2018

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and
of its results for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Disclosure of information to auditor
As far as each of the directors at the time the report is approved are aware:
a)
b)

there is no relevant information of which the company’s auditor is unaware, and
the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of the information.
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LPFE LIMITED
Directors’ report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Auditor
The auditor, Scott-Moncrieff, is deemed to be reappointed under Section 487 (2) of the Companies Act 2006.
Small company provisions
This report has been prepared in accordance with the special provisions for small companies under Part 15 of the
Companies Act 2006.
This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

Date: 28 May 2018
Stephen Moir
Chairperson
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LPFE LIMITED
Independent auditor’s report to the members of LPFE Limited
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of LPFE Limited (‘the company’) for the year ended 31 March 2018
which comprise the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position,
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and related notes. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union.
In our opinion:
•
give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and its loss for the year
then ended;
•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you
where:
•

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate, or

•

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for
a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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LPFE LIMITED
Independent auditor’s report to the members of LPFE Limited (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report on this regard.
Opinion on Other Matter(s) Prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
to you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

•

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
LPFE LIMITED
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of LPFE Limited (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Councils website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.

Nick Bennett, Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Scott-Moncrieff, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Exchange Place 3
Semple Street
Edinburgh
EH3 8BL

Date:28 May 2018
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LPFE LIMITED
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2018
£

Note
Continuing Operations
Revenue

1e

Gross profit
Administrative expenses

2017
£

1,592,314
───────
1,592,314

1,189,855
───────
1,189,855

(3,099,188)
───────
(1,056,874)

(1,176,881)
───────
12,974

(Loss)/profit from operations

2

Finance costs

3

(28,380)
───────
(1,535,254)

(6,720)
───────
6,254

4

194
───────
(1,535,060)
───────

21
───────
6,275
───────

15
10

506,000
175,100
───────

(483,000)
80,450
───────

(853,960)
═══════

(396,275)
═══════

(Loss)/profit before tax
Corporation tax credit
(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Those that are not recyclable net of tax:
Actuarial gains/(losses) on retirement
benefit obligation
Deferred tax charge thereon
Total comprehensive loss for the year

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 form part of these financial statements
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LPFE LIMITED
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2018
As at 31
March
2018
£

As at 31
March
2017
£

10

291,550
───────
291,550
───────

116,450
───────
116,450
───────

7
8

340,881
10,450
───────
351,331
───────

166,801
13,381
───────
180,182
───────

642,881
═══════

296,632
═══════

1

1

12

(1,392,689)
───────
(1,392,688)
───────

(538,729)
───────
(538,728)
───────

15

1,715,000
───────
1,715,000
───────

685,000
───────
685,000
───────

9

320,569
───────
320,569
───────
2,035,569
───────

150,360
───────
150,360
───────
835,360
───────

───────
642,881
═══════

───────
296,632
═══════

Note
Non-current assets
Deferred tax asset
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Total assets
Equity and Liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital
11
Retained earnings

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefits obligation
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 May 2018
And were signed on its behalf by:
Stephen Moir
Director
Registered number SC497543
The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 form part of these financial statements
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LPFE Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 31 March 2018

Share
Capital
£

Note

Retained
Earnings
£

Total
£

(142,454)

(142,453)

Balance at 1 April 2016
1
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Actuarial losses on retirement
benefit obligation in year
Deferred tax on retirement
benefit obligation

-

-

6,275

(483,000)

6,275

(483,000)

15
-

80,450

80,450

10
────── ───────
─
1
(538,729)
══════ ═══════
═

Balance at 31 March 2017

Share
Capital
£

Note

───────
(538,728)
═══════

Retained
Earnings
£

Total
£

Balance at 1 April 2017

1

(538,729)

(538,728)

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

- (1,535,060)

(1,535,060)

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial losses on retirement
benefit obligation in year
Deferred tax on retirement
benefit obligation

-

506,000

506,000

-

175,100

175,100

15
10
────── ───────
─
1 (1,392,689)
══════ ═══════
═

Balance at 31 March 2018

───────
(1,392,688)
═══════

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 form part of these financial statements
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LPFE LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018
£

2017
£

(1,535,060)

6,275

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Defined benefit pension – current service cost
Defined benefit pension – employer contribution
Defined benefit pension – business combinations
Defined benefit pension – finance costs
Other finance costs
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in receivables and other financial assets
Increase in payables
Cash flows from operations
Interest paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flows from investing activities

336,000
(204,000)
1,377,000
27,000
1,380

172,000
(156,000)
6,000
720

(174,080)
135,285
───────
(36,475)

(19,008)
17,342
───────
27,329

(1,195)
───────
(37,670)
───────
───────
───────

(901)
───────
26,428
───────
───────
───────

34,739
───────
34,739
───────

(18,112)
───────
(18,112)
───────

(2,931)
13,381
───────
10,450
═══════

8,316
5,065
───────
13,381
═══════

10,450
═══════

13,381
═══════

Cash flow from financing activities
Movement in loan facility
Net cash flows from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Cash at bank and in hand

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 28 form part of these financial statements
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018

1.

Statement of significant accounting policies
LPFE Limited is a limited company incorporated in Scotland. The address of its registered office and principal
place of business are disclosed on page 1. The principal activities of the company are described within the
directors’ report on pages 2 to 4.
The financial statements of LPFE Limited have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS), IFRIC Interpretation and the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
Adoption of new and revised standards
The company has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs as of 1 April 2017:
•

IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows

No changes have materially impacted the calculation of the figures in the statement of cash flows in the financial
statements but where relevant disclosures have been made in the notes to comply with the standard.

Guidance in issue but not in force
IAS 8 requires disclosure of guidance in issue but not in force. The minimum disclosure relates to guidance
issued by 31 March 2017, and with potential effect.
International Accounting Standards and
Interpretations

Effective for annual periods beginning
on or after

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts With Customers
IFRS 16, Leases
IAS 12, Income Taxes*

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2019
1 January 2019

*Not yet adopted for use in the European Union

The directors have reviewed the requirements of the new standards and interpretations listed above and their
effects are as follows:
IAS 1 has been amended after the issue of IFRS 9 with the main effect on the company being to amend the
presentation and disclosure of assets held at amortised cost. Given the nature of the company’s financial
assets this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s financial statements in the
period of initial application.
IAS 39 requirements will be replaced by IFRS 9 on Financial Instruments, with the main effect on the company
being to re-categorise financial assets and liabilities together with IFRS 7 on Financial Instruments Disclosures.
The disclosures will be amended in the company’s financial statements as required.
IFRS 16 on leases is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements as the company
currently has no material lessee or lessor transactions.
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
Guidance in issue but not in force (continued)
IAS 12 on income taxes has been amended with reference to recognition of income tax on dividends paid. The
company currently is not expected to pay a dividend therefore this amendment is not expect to affect the
financial statements.
IFRS 15 deals with contracts to provide goods or services in recording income from service contracts the
company currently recognises costs, particularly staff costs, when incurred. The service contract has no
performance obligations and there is little ambiguity surrounding the transaction price as services are charged
for purely to cover costs incurred. Therefore the directors consider the company already compliant with IFRS
15 and expect little change on implementation.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£) as that is the company’s functional currency and the
currency in which the majority of the company’s accounting policies. The financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s
accounting policies.
The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless otherwise
stated, have been adopted in the preparation of this report:
a.

Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the company has adequate resources to enable it to
undertake its planned activities for a period of at least one year from the date that the financial
statements are approved.

b.

Current and deferred income tax
The company is a mutual trader and is therefore not liable to corporation tax on surpluses
generated from mutual trade. The tax charge for the period is based on the profit for the year from
non-mutual trade, adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or are substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or
taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it
relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted
directly against equity.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
b.

Current and deferred income tax (continued)
The amount of benefit brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation
that the economic entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be
realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

c.

Impairment
The carrying value of all assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.
The recoverable amount of all assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, unless the asset's value in use can
be estimated to be close to its fair value.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating units exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its
recoverable amount.

d.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at call deposits
with banks or financial institutions, investments in money market instruments maturing within less
than two months and is net of bank overdrafts.

e.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being
made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking
into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.
Revenue is derived wholly from the provision of seconded staff in the United Kingdom. Revenue
is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customer.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of value added tax (VAT).
f.

Value added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax (VAT),
except:

ii.

i.
Where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
For receivables and payables, which are recognised inclusive of VAT.
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part
of receivables or payables.
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
f.

Value added tax (continued)
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The VAT component of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is classified as operating cash flows.

g.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

h.

Employee benefits
The company contributes to a defined benefits scheme operated on behalf of its employees.
The employees of LPFE Limited participate in the Lothian Pension Fund, which is part of the Local
Government Pension Scheme in Scotland and is administered by the City of Edinburgh Council.
The current service cost for the period is charged to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the company in
independently administered funds. The company has fully adopted the accounting principles as
required by International Accounting Standard 19 – Employee Benefits.
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plan is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets,
together with adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value
of defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in a currency in which the benefits
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension
obligations.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to equity through other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In
this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

i.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company has become party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.
Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
i.

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into.
An instrument will be classified as a financial liability when there is a contractual obligation to deliver
cash or another financial asset to another enterprise.
Loans
All interest bearing loans and other borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, which represents
the fair value of the consideration received, net of any issue costs associated with other borrowings.
Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption, are accounted for on an
amortised cost basis to the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method,
being recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the term of such instruments at a
constant rate on the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the
year in which they arise.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

j.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

k.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the company.
Key estimates – defined benefit pension obligation
IAS 19, Employee Benefits requires that certain assumptions are made in order to determine the amount
to be recorded for retirement benefit obligations and pension plan assets. These are mainly actuarial
assumptions such as expected inflation rates, long-term increase in health care costs, employee turnover,
expected return on plan assets and discount rates. Substantial changes in the assumed development of
any one of these variables may significantly change the group’s retirement benefit obligation and pension
assets (see note 15 for further details).
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2.

(Loss)/profit from operations

(Loss)/profit from operations has been
determined after deducting:
Auditor’s remuneration:
Audit services
Non-Audit services

3.

2017
£

4,900
8,100
═══════

4,800
3,798
═══════

2018
£

2017
£

1,380
27,000
───────
28,380
═══════

720
6,000
───────
6,720
═══════

Finance costs

Loan interest payable to group entities (note
14)
Pension interest costs (note 15)

4.

2018
£

Corporation tax credit
2018
£
Current tax:
Corporation tax credit

(194)
───────
(194)
═══════

Tax on profits for the year

2017
£
(21)
───────
(21)
═══════

Corporation tax credit is calculated at 19% (2017: 20%) of the assessable profits for the year.
The credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows:

(Loss)/profit for the year before taxation

(Loss)/profit for the year at the effective rate
of corporation tax of 19% (2017 – 20%)
Effects of:
Mutual trade adjustment
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Trading losses carried forward
Other adjustments

2018
£

2017
£

(1,535,254)
───────

6,254
───────

(291,698)

1,251

265,242
26,262
───────
(194)
═══════

Current tax credit

17

(1,753)
438
42
1
───────
(21)
═══════

LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

5.

Employee benefits expense
The average number of persons employed by the company (including directors) during the year was 20
(2017: 11).
The aggregate payroll costs were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Defined benefit pension obligation - current service cost

6.

2018
£
1,136,832
134,079
336,000
───────
1,606,911
═══════

2017
£
849,767
104,078
172,000
───────
1,125,845
═══════

Directors’ remuneration
Two directors received emoluments from the company during the period. The directors’ emoluments for the
period were as follows:
2018
2017
£
£
Aggregate emoluments
102,801
92,000
Employer pension contributions
20,685
18,860
════════ ════════
One director had an accrued pension entitlement of £20,225 (2017: £16,799) and a lump sum entitlement
of £12,938 (2017: £11,843) at the end of the year. The other director does not have any pension provision
provided by the company.
All other directors are employed by the City of Edinburgh Council.

7.

Trade and other receivables
2018
£
35,927
295,304
9,650
───────
340,881
════════

Trade receivables
Amounts due from group entities
Prepayments and accrued income

2017
£
29,433
137,354
14
───────
166,801
════════

The directors consider the fair value of receivables to be in line with carrying values.
8.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

18

2018
£

2017
£

10,450
═══════

13,381
═══════

LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

9. Current liabilities
2018
£
13,315
140,782
155,804
10,668
────────
320,569
════════

Trade payables
Accruals and deferred income
Social security and other taxes
Amounts due to group entities

2017
£
3,109
39,813
107,425
13
───────
150,360
════════

10. Deferred tax

At 31 March 2017

2018
£
116,450

2017
£
36,000

Charge for the year to other comprehensive income

175,100

80,450

──────
291,550
══════

──────
116,450
══════

291,550
──────
291,550
══════

116,450
──────
116,450
══════

At 31 March 2018
The elements of deferred tax are as
follows:
Defined benefit pension scheme liability

11. Share Capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £1 each

19

2018
£

2017
£

1
───────
1
═══════

1
───────
1
═══════

LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
12. Reserves
Retained
Earnings
£
At 31 March 2016

(142,454)

Profit for the year
Actuarial (loss) on retirement benefit obligation
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligation

6,275
(483,000)
80,450
──────
(538,729)

At 31 March 2017
(Loss) for the year
Actuarial gain on pension plan
Deferred tax on retirement benefit obligation

(1,535,060)
506,000
175,100
──────
(1,392,689)
══════

At 31 March 2018

13. Controlling interest
The City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the administering authority of the Lothian Pension Fund)
owns all the issued share capital of the company. The company itself has been established to support the
administration of the Lothian Pension Fund. Administering authorities are required to prepare separate financial
statements for the Local Government Pension Scheme funds that they administer and so it is considered
appropriate to consolidate the company’s individual financial statement into Lothian Pension Fund’s consolidated
financial statements.
Group accounts are available to the public from the following address:
Account Dept.
Lothian Pension Fund
Atria One
144 Morrison Street
Edinburgh
EH3 8EX
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

14. Related party transactions
2018
£

2017
£

1,449,997

1,073,448

Receivables at the period end

287,782

104,803

Loan facility balance (payable)/receivable at the period end

(10,470)

24,269

Lothian Pension Fund (pension fund administered by City of Edinburgh Council)
Sale of services during the period

Interest payable during the period
Interest payable but still accruing at the period end

1,380

720

198

13

-

1,321

20,236

6,940

7,306

6,940

215

21

Lothian Buses Limited (company under common control)
Balance receivable for group tax losses surrendered
LPFI Limited (company under common control)
Sale of services during the period
Receivables at the period end
Balance receivable for group tax losses surrendered

The company has a loan facility agreement with Lothian Pension Fund for the purpose of the provision of
short term working capital. The current agreement covers the period to 1 May 2020 and provides that
interest is payable at 2% above the Royal Bank of Scotland base lending rate on the daily balance. In order
to minimise the amount of interest payable, the company returns any cash not immediately required and
this can result in short periods when the company has returned more cash than has been drawn. On such
days the loan interest is negative, reducing the amount of interest payable.
Total compensation paid in relation to key management personnel during the period was as follows:
2018
2017
£
£
Short-term employee benefits
472,188
432,805
Post-employment benefits - employer pension contributions
84,962
77,616
───────
───────
557,150
510,421
═══════
═══════
Key management personnel had accrued pensions totalling £97,456 (2017: £81,825) and lump sums totalling
£110,889 (2017: £100,185) at the end of the period.
All other key management personnel are employed by the City of Edinburgh Council.
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
15. Retirement benefits obligation
The Lothian Pension Fund, which is administered by the City of Edinburgh Council, is part of the Local Government
Pension Scheme in Scotland. This is a pension scheme providing benefits based on pensionable pay, contributions
being charged to the profit or loss so to spread the cost of pensions over employees’ working lives. The contributions
are determined by a qualified actuary.
The valuation of the pension fund is carried out triennially. The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the
present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at 31 March 2017 by Hymans Robertson LLP. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation, and related current service cost and past service cost, were measured
using the Projected Unit Credit Method.
Scheme assets
The group’s share of the fair value of the scheme’s assets which are not intended to be realised in the short term and
may be subject to significant change before they are realised, were comprised as follows:

%

2018
£’000

%

2017
£’000

Equity Securities:
Consumer
Manufacturing
Energy and Utilities
Financial Institutions
Health and Care
Information Technology
Other

14%
15%
6%
9%
5%
6%
6%

1,187
1,288
542
769
425
528
543

15%
15%
7%
7%
6%
5%
7%

425
429
210
197
166
140
195

Debt Securities:
Corporate Bonds (investment grade)
Corporate Bonds (non-investment grade)
UK Government
Other

0%
2%
10%
0%

169
839
-

0%
0%
10%
0%

284
6

Private Equity:
All

2%

158

3%

91

Real Estate
UK Property
Overseas property

6%
0%

556
9

7%
0%

191
-

1%
0%
0%
12%
0%

83
1,025
20

0%
0%
1%
9%
2%

8
42
253
60

6%

511

5%

131

───────
100%
═══════

───────
8,652
═══════

───────
100%
═══════

───────
2,828
═══════

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts:
Equities
Commodities
Bonds
Infrastructure
Other
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
All
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

15.

Retirement benefits obligation (continued)

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as
follows:
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of scheme liabilities
Net pension liability

2018
£’000
8,652
(10,367)
───────
(1,715)
═══════

2017
£’000
2,828
(3,513)
───────
(685)
═══════

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

3,513
336
131
91
(4)
7,088
(536)
120
(372)
───────
10,367
═══════

2,277
172
86
76
902
───────
3,513
═══════

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

2,828
(4)
5,711
104
204
91
(282)
───────
8,652
═══════

2,097
80
156
76
419
───────
2,828
═══════

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

Brought forward
Current service cost
Interest cost on obligation
Plan participants contributions
Benefits paid
Effects of business combinations
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions
Other actuarial (gains)
Balance at year end

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

Brought forward
Benefits paid
Effect of business combinations
Interest income on plan assets
Contributions by employer
Contributions by member
Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest
Balance at year end
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LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
15.

Retirement benefits obligation (continued)

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss are as follows:

Interest received on pension scheme assets
Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities
Finance (income)/cost
Current service cost
Effect of business combinations

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

(104)
131
───────
27
336
1,377
───────
1,740
═══════

(80)
86
───────
6
172
───────
178
═══════

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

788
(282)
───────
506
═══════

(902)
419
───────
(483)
═══════

2018
2.3%
4.0%
2.7%

2017
2.4%
4.4%
2.7%

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:

Actuarial gains/(losses) in the defined benefit obligation
Actuarial (losses)/gains in the fair value of defined benefit assets

The principal actuarial assumptions used in this valuation were:
Inflation/pension increase rate
Salary increase rate
Discount rate

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions
which, due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. Best estimate has been interpreted
to mean that the proposed assumptions are ‘neutral’ – there is an equal chance of actual experience being better or
worse than the assumptions proposed.
The financial assumptions used for reporting in the financial statements are the responsibility of the employer. These
assumptions are largely prescribed at any point and reflect market conditions at the reporting date. Changes in
market conditions that result in changes in the net discount rate can have significant effect on the value of the liabilities
reported.
A reduction in the net discount rate will increase the assessed value of liabilities as a higher value is placed on
benefits paid in the future. A rise in the net discount rate will have the opposite effect of a similar magnitude. There
is also uncertainty around life expectancy of the UK population – the value of current and future pension benefits will
depend on how long they are assumed to be in payment.
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15.

Retirement benefits obligation (continued)

The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Change in assumption

0.5% decrease in real discount rate
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate
0.5% increase in the pension increase rate

Approximate % increase to
employer liability
2018
2017
13%
4%
8%

14%
7%
7%

Approximate increase to
employer liability (£’000)
2018
2017
1,354
455
859

508
237
252

Mortality rates:
Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s Vita Curves with improvements in line with the CMI 2012 model assuming
current rates of improvements have peaked and will converge at to a long term rate of 1.25% p.a.
Based on these assumptions, the average future life expectancy at age 65 are summarised below:

Current pensioners
Future pensioners

Male

Female

21.7
24.7

24.3
27.5

Expected employer contributions to the benefit plans for the year ended 31 March 2019 are £415,000, based on a
pensionable payroll cost of £1,742,000.
16.

Financial Risk Management

The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks and accounts receivable and payable.
Financial instruments do not include prepayments, VAT, taxation, social security and deferred income.
The company did not enter into any transactions that would be classed derivative financial instruments during the
period.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with IAS 39 and detailed in the
accounting policies, are as follows:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total Financial Liabilities

25

2018
£

2017
£

10,450
333,531
───────
343,981
═══════

13,381
166,787
───────
180,168
═══════

164,765
───────
164,765
═══════

42,935
───────
42,935
═══════

LPFE LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

16.

Financial Risk Management (continued)
Financial Risk Management Policies
The company aims to manage its overall capital structure to ensure it continues to operate as a going concern.
The company’s capital structure represents the equity attributable to the shareholders of the company together
with cash equivalents.
The Board is charged with the overall responsibility of establishing and monitoring the company’s risk
management policies and processes in order to identify, analyse and monitor the risks that are faced by the
company. The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments for speculative purposes.
The main risks that the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk
and market risk. These are managed as follows:
a.

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by
counterparties of contractual obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the company.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance
sheet date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment
of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.
As at 31 March 2018 none of the company’s financial assets were past due or impaired.
Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by senior management. It mainly arises from amounts
owed by customers.
The nature of the company’s business means that it currently only has three customers. By far the
largest customer is the City of Edinburgh Council and the company is securely funded by the Council.
Falkirk Council is a smaller customer. The third customer is LPFI Limited which is a related party. Given
the financial stature of both Councils and LPFI Limited the credit risk faced by the company is considered
to be very small.

b.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its debts
or otherwise meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The company manages this risk through
the following mechanisms:
• preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and financing
activities; and
• ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained.
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16.

Financial Risk Management (continued)
b.

Liquidity Risk (continued)
The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities.
Financial liability and financial asset
maturity analysis

Note

Within 1
Year
2018
£

1 to 5 Years
2018
£

Total
2018
£

(164,765)

-

(164,765)

────────
(164,765)
════════

────────
════════

───────
(164,765)
═══════

10,450
333,531
────────
343,981
════════

────────
════════

10,450
333,531
───────
343,981
═══════

────────
179,216
════════

────────
════════

───────
179,216
═══════

Financial liabilities due for payment
Trade and other payables

Total expected outflows
Financial assets — cash flows
realisable
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Total anticipated inflows

Net inflow of financial instruments

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows as presented
in the table (to settle financial liabilities) reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates.
The company has been granted a £385,000 unsecured revolving loan facility by its parent, The City of
Edinburgh Council. The ceiling of the facility has been set at a level to ensure sufficient cash is available
to meet the company’s short-term cash flow needs, should there be a delay in the City of Edinburgh
Council settling invoices for seconded staff.
c.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the company’s financial position. The company has no direct exposure to
movements in foreign exchange or equity prices, and has very little exposure to interest rate movements,
due to the low level of borrowing. The company monitors this risk but the directors are of the opinion
that it is very unlikely to have a significant effect on the company’s financial position.
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17.

Movements in financing (assets)/liabilities arising from financing activities
Current loans &
borrowings

At 1 April 2016
Cash flows
Repayment of financing loans from group companies

(6,157)
(18,112)
─────────
(24,269)
═════════

At 31 March 2017

Current loans &
borrowings
At 1 April 2017
Cash flows
Financing loans from group companies drawdown

(24,269)
34,739
─────────
10,470
═════════

At 31 March 2018
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LPFI LIMITED
Directors’ report
For the year ended 31 March 2018

The directors present their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.
Principal activity
The current principal activity of the company is the provision of Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”)
regulated investment services to the Lothian Pension Fund and other Local Government Pension Scheme
funds in Scotland and Northern Ireland.
Results, dividends and mutual trading surplus
The profit for the year after tax was £34,619 (2017: £432). The directors do not recommend payment of a
dividend.
The company’s aim is to make a modest trading surplus.
Under the mutual trading agreement with the City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the
administering authority of the Lothian Pension Fund) (“Lothian”), the company is required to consider if any of
profit arising from the mutual trade can be returned to the Council. Company Law requires that only
“distributable profits” are available for distribution. None of the profit for the year is attributable to the mutual
trade.
Business review
The company is wholly owned by Lothian and has entered into a shareholder agreement with the Council to
appropriately address certain governance matters. The company also has a loan facility provided by Lothian for
the provision of short term working capital.
LPFI Limited does not employ staff directly. Staffing and business support services are provided to the
company under separate intra-group agreements with LPFE Limited and Lothian respectively. LPFE Limited is
also wholly owned by Lothian. The company provides certain investment services to Lothian via an intra-group
investment services agreement.
HMRC has agreed that any profits arising from trade between the company and the City of Edinburgh Council
will be covered by the “Mutual Trading” rules and so not subject to Corporation Tax.
The company was granted authorised status by the FCA on 24 June 2016. During the year the company
provided services in relation to a number of infrastructure investments
Future prospects
The company’s prospects are linked to Lothian Pension Fund’s requirement for FCA regulated investment
services and the Fund’s plans to work with other LGPS funds in the collaborative provision of such services.
The company is securely funded by the City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the administering
authority of the Lothian Pension Fund) which means that it can adapt to future trading needs.
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Directors’ report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Directors
The directors who served during the year were:
Hugh Dunn
Struan Fairbairn
John Burns
William Bruce Miller
Clare Scott
Leslie Robb
Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of
its results for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Disclosure of information to auditor
As far as each of the directors at the time the report is approved are aware:
a)
b)

there is no relevant information of which the company’s auditor is unaware, and
the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of the information.

Auditor
The auditor, Scott-Moncrieff, is deemed to be reappointed under Section 487 (2) of the Companies Act 2006.
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Directors’ report (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Small company provisions
This report has been prepared in accordance with the special provisions for small companies under Part 15 of the
Companies Act 2006.
This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

Date: 28 May 2018
Hugh Dunn
Chairman
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LPFI LIMITED
Independent auditor’s report to the members of LPFI Limited
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of LPFI Limited (‘the company’) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which
comprise the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement
of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union.
In our opinion:
•
give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018 and its profit for the year
then ended;
•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you
where:
•

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate, or

•

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of LPFI Limited (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact.
We have nothing to report on this regard.
Opinion on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report
to you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

•

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of LPFE Limited (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Councils website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.

Nick Bennett, Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of Scott-Moncrieff, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Exchange Place 3
Semple Street
Edinburgh
EH3 8BL
Date: 28 May 2018
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LPFI LIMITED
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2018
£

Note
Continuing Operations
Revenue

1e

Gross profit
Administrative expenses

2017
£

130,212
───────
130,212

23,988
───────
23,988

(87,305)
───────
42,907

(23,348)
───────
640

Profit from operations

2

Finance costs

3

(168)
───────
42,739

(100)
───────
540

4

(8,120)
───────
34,619
───────

(108)
───────
432
───────

───────

───────

34,619
═══════

432
═══════

Profit before income tax expense
Corporation tax charge
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the
year

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements
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LPFI LIMITED
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2018
As at 31
March
2018
£

As at 31
March
2017
£

58,965
83,209
───────
142,174
───────

13,246
70,661
───────
83,907
───────

142,174
═══════

83,907
═══════

10
11

60,000
35,051
───────
95,051
───────

50,000
432
───────
50,432
───────

9

───────
───────

16,000
───────
16,000
───────

8

47,123
───────
47,123
───────
47,123
───────

17,475
───────
17,475
───────
33,475
───────

───────
142,174
═══════

───────
83,907
═══════

Note
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

6
7

Total current assets
Total assets
Equity and Liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of
the parent
Share capital
Retained earnings

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 May 2018 and
were signed on its behalf by:

Hugh Dunn
Director
Registered number SC497542

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements
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LPFI LIMITED
Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 31 March 2018

Share
Capital
£

Note

Retained
Earnings
£

Total
£

Balance at 1 April 2016

1

-

1

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

-

432

432

49,999

-

49,999

─────── ───────
50,000
432
═══════ ═══════

───────
50,432
═══════

Share movements
Shares allotted during the year

10

Balance at 31 March 2017

Share
Capital
£

Note
Balance at 1 April 2017
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Share movements
Shares allotted during the year

10

Balance at 31 March 2018

Retained
Earnings
£

Total
£

50,000

432

50,432

-

34,619

34,619

10,000

-

10,000

─────── ───────
60,000
35,051
═══════ ═══════

───────
95,051
═══════

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements
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LPFI LIMITED
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2018
£

2017
£

Cash flow from operating activities:
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in receivables and other financial assets
Increase in payables
Cash flows from operations
Interest paid
Net Cash flows from operating activities

34,619

432

168

100

(45,719)
29,737
───────
18,805

(13,246)
17,386
───────
4,672

(257)
───────
18,548
───────

(11)
───────
4,661
───────

Cash flow from financing activities:
Loans (repaid)/received from group entities
Share capital issued

(16,000)
10,000

16,000
49,999

Net cash flows from financing activities

───────
(6,000)
───────

───────
65,999
───────

12,548
70,661
───────
83,209
═══════

70,660
1
───────
70,661
═══════

83,209
═══════

70,661
═══════

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Cash at bank and in hand

The accompanying notes on pages 12 to 22 form part of these financial statements
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LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies
LPFI Limited is a limited company incorporated in Scotland. The address of its registered office and
principal place of business are disclosed on page 1. The principal activities of the company are described
within the directors’ report on pages 2 to 4.
The financial statements of LPFI Limited have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS), IFRIC Interpretation and the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
Adoption of new and revised standards
The company has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs as of 1 January 2017:
•

IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows

No changes have materially impacted the calculation of the figures in the statement of cash flows in the
financial statements but where relevant disclosures have been made in the notes to comply with the
standard.
Guidance in issue but not in force
IAS 8 requires disclosure of guidance in issue but not in force. The minimum disclosure relates to guidance
issued by 31 March 2017, and with potential effect.
International Accounting Standards and
Interpretations

Effective for annual periods beginning
on or after

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement
IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts With Customers
IFRS 16, Leases
IAS 12, Income Taxes*
*Not yet adopted for use in the European Union

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2019
1 January 2019

The directors have reviewed the requirements of the new standards and interpretations listed above and
their effects are as follows:
IAS 1 has been amended after the issue of IFRS 9 with the main effect on the company being to amend the
presentation and disclosure of assets held at amortised cost. Given the nature of the company’s financial
assets this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s financial statements in the
period of initial application.
IAS 39 requirements will be replaced by IFRS 9 on Financial Instruments, with the main effect on the
company being to re-categories financial assets and liabilities together with IFRS 7 on Financial Instruments
Disclosures. The disclosures will be amended in the company’s financial statements as required.
IFRS 16 on leases is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements as the company
currently has no lessee or lessor transactions.
IAS 12 on income taxes has been amended with reference to recognition of income tax on dividends paid.
The company currently has no intention of paying a dividend therefore this amendment is not expect to
affect the financial statements.
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LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
Guidance in issue but not in force (continued)
IFRS 15 deals with contracts to provide goods or services, in recording income from service contracts the
company currently recognises costs, particularly staff costs, when incurred. The service contract has no
performance obligations and there is little ambiguity surrounding the transaction price as services are
charged for purely to cover costs incurred. Therefore the directors consider the company already compliant
with IFRS 15 and expect little change on implementation.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£) as that is the company’s functional currency and the
currency in which the majority of the company’s accounting policies. The financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s
accounting policies.
The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless otherwise
stated, have been adopted in the preparation of this report:
a.

Going concern
The directors are of the opinion that the company has adequate resources to enable it to undertake its
planned activities for a period of at least one year from the date that the financial statements are
approved.

b.

Current and deferred income tax
The charge for income tax expense for the year is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any
non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit
or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates
to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly
against equity.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The amount of benefit brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that
the economic entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised
and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
c.

Impairment
The carrying value of all assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.
The recoverable amount of all assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, unless the asset's value in use can be
estimated to be close to its fair value.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating units exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its
recoverable amount.

d.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at call deposits with
banks or financial institutions, investments in money market instruments maturing within less than two
months and is net of bank overdrafts.

e.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.
Revenue is derived wholly from the provision of FCA-regulated service in the United Kingdom.
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of
the contract. The stage of completion of the contract is determined with reference to contractual rates
as labour hours and direct expenses are incurred.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of value added tax (VAT).

f.

Value added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax (VAT), except:
i.
ii.

Where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
For receivables and payables, which are recognised inclusive of VAT.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The VAT component of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.
g.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
1.

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
h.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company has become party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment
of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the
provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into.
An instrument will be classified as a financial liability when there is a contractual obligation to
deliver cash or another financial asset to another enterprise.
Loans
All interest bearing loans and other borrowings are initially recorded at fair value, which
represents the fair value of the consideration received, net of any issue costs associated with
other borrowings. Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption, are accounted for on
an amortised cost basis to the statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest
method, being recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the term of such
instruments at a constant rate on the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are
not settled in the year in which they arise.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

i.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

j.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the company. The directors are satisfied that the accounting policies are
appropriate and that there are no significant estimates or judgements used in the preparation of
the financial statements.
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LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
2.

Profit from operations

Profit from operations has been determined after deducting:
Auditor’s remuneration:
Audit services
Non-Audit services
3.

2017
£

3,400
6,470
═══════

3,250
1,600
═══════

2018
£

2017
£

168
───────
168
═══════

100
───────
100
═══════

Finance costs

Loan interest payable to group entities
(note 13)

4.

2018
£

Corporation tax charge

Current tax:
Corporation tax charge
Inter- company tax
Tax on profits for the year

2018
£

2017
£

7,926
194
───────
8,120
═══════

87
21
───────
108
═══════

Corporation tax expense is calculated at 19% (2017: 20%) of the assessable profits for the year.
The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the income statement as follows:

Profit for the year before taxation

Profit for the year at the effective rate of
corporation tax of 19% (2017 – 20%)

16

2018
£

2017
£

42,739
───────

540
───────

8,120
───────

108
───────

LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
5.

Employee Benefits Expense
The aggregate payroll costs for the year consisted of fees paid to a non-executive director. These were as
follows:
2018
£
12,000
651
───────
12,651
═══════

Wages and salaries
Social security costs

2017
£
2,000
89
───────
2,089
═══════

No pension benefits were accrued by the director during the year. All other staff are employed by LPFE Limited,
a company under common control, and an appropriate portion of their employment costs recharged. All other
directors are employed by LPFE Limited, a company also under the control of Lothian Pension Fund
(administered by the City of Edinburgh Council), and the City of Edinburgh Council. In addition to the payroll
costs noted above, the company was also charged £5,116 (2017: £2,344) for services provided by directors
employed by LPFE Limited during the year.
6.

Trade and other receivables
2018
£
34,200
24,765
───────
58,965
════════

Trade debtors
Prepayments
VAT recoverable

2017
£
3,988
9,258
───────
13,246
════════

The directors consider the fair value of receivables to be in line with carrying values.
7.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

8.

2018
£

2017
£

83,209
═══════

70,661
═══════

Trade and other payables
2018
£
508
30,084
7,926
8,605
───────
47,123
═══════

Trade creditors
Accruals
Social security and other taxes
Corporation tax
Amounts due to group entities

17

2017
£
5,745
4,233
87
7,410
──────
17,475
══════

LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
9.

Non-current liabilities
2018
£
───────
═══════

Amounts due to group entities

10.

2017
£
16,000
───────
16,000
══════

Share Capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £1 each

2018
£

2017
£

60,000
───────
60,000
═══════

50,000
───────
50,000
═══════

The company issued 10,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each during the year at par value.
11.

Reserves
Retained
Earnings
£
-

At 31 March 2016
Profit for the year

432
───────
432

At 31 March 2017
Profit for the year

34,619
───────
35,051
═══════

At 31 March 2018

12.

Controlling interest
The City of Edinburgh Council (acting in its capacity as the administering authority of the Lothian Pension Fund)
owns all the issued share capital of the company. The company itself has been established to support the
administration of the Lothian Pension Fund. Administering authorities are required to prepare separate financial
statements for the Local Government Pension Scheme funds that they administer and so it is considered
appropriate to consolidate the company’s individual financial statement into Lothian Pension Fund’s consolidated
financial statements.
Group accounts are available to the public from the following address:
Account Dept.
Lothian Pension Fund
Atria One
144 Morrison Street
Edinburgh
EH3 8EX
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LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
13.

Related parties
2018
£

2017
£

Business support costs

1,083

360

Payables at the period end

1,083

360

-

16,000

Loan facility repaid during the year

16,000

-

Interest payable during the period

168

100

-

89

20,236

6,940

7,306

6,940

Group tax losses utilised

194

21

Balance payable for group tax losses utilised

215

21

Lothian Pension Fund (pension fund administered by City of Edinburgh Council)

Loan facility balance payable at the period end

Interest payable but still accruing at the period end
LPFE Limited (company under common control)
Staff and other cost recharges
Payables at the period end

The company has a loan facility agreement with Lothian Pension Fund for the purpose of the provision of
short term working capital. The current agreement covers the period to 1 May 2020 and provides that
interest is payable at 2% above the Royal Bank of Scotland base lending rate on the daily balance. In order
to minimise the amount of interest payable, the company returns any cash not immediately required and this
can result in short periods when the company has returned more cash than has been drawn. On such days
the loan interest is negative, reducing the amount of interest payable.
Compensation paid in relation to key management personnel during the period was as follows:
2018
£
12,651
───────
12,651
═══════

Short-term benefits (note 5)

2017
£
2,089
───────
2,089
═══════

All other key management personnel are employed by LPFE Limited, a company also under the control of
Lothian Pension Fund (administered by the City of Edinburgh Council), and the City of Edinburgh Council. In
addition to the compensation noted above, the company was also charged £5,116 (2017: £2,344) for
services provided by key management personnel employed by LPFE Limited during the year.
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LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
14.

Financial Risk Management
The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks and accounts receivable and
payable. Financial instruments do not include prepayments, VAT, taxation, social security and deferred tax.
The company did not enter into any transactions that would be classed derivative financial instruments
during the period.
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with IAS 39 and detailed in the
accounting policies, are as follows:

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Current liabilities - Trade and other payables
Non-current liabilities - Trade and other payables
Total financial liabilities

2018
£

2017
£

83,209
34,200
───────
117,409
═══════

70,661
3,988
───────
74,649
═══════

15,197
───────
15,197
═══════

13,155
16,000
───────
29,155
═══════

Financial risk management policies
The company aims to manage its overall capital structure to ensure it continues to operate as a going
concern. The company’s capital structure represents the equity attributable to the shareholders of the
company together with cash equivalents.
The Board is charged with the overall responsibility of establishing and monitoring the company’s risk
management policies and processes in order to identify, analyse and monitor the risks that are faced by the
company. The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments for speculative purposes.
The main risks that the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk
and market risk. These are managed as follows:
a.

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by
counterparties of contractual obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the company.
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at
balance sheet date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the
financial statements. As at 31 March 2018 none of the company’s financial assets were past due or
impaired.
Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by senior management. It mainly arises from amounts
owed by customers. Given the financial stature of its customers the credit risk faced by the company
is considered to be very small.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018
14.

Financial Risk Management (continued)
b.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its
debts or otherwise meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The company manages this
risk through the following mechanisms:
• preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing and
financing activities; and
• ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained.
The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities.

Financial liability and financial asset
maturity analysis
Within 1
Year
2018
£

1 to 5 Years
2018
£

Total
2018
£

(15,197)

-

(15,197)

────────
(15,197)
════════

────────
════════

────────
(15,197)
════════

83,209
34,200
────────
117,409
════════

────────
════════

83,209
34,200
────────
117,409
════════

────────
102,212
════════

────────
════════

────────
102,212
════════

Financial liabilities due for payment
Trade and other payables

Total expected outflows
Financial assets — cash flows realisable
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Total anticipated inflows

Net inflow of financial instruments

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows as
presented in the table (to settle financial liabilities) reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates.
The company has been granted a £250,000 unsecured revolving loan facility by its parent, The City of
Edinburgh Council. The ceiling of the facility has been set at a level to ensure sufficient cash is
available to meet the company’s short-term cash flow needs, should there be a delay in customers
settling invoices for services provided.
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LPFI LIMITED
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the period ended 31 March 2018
14.

Financial Risk Management (continued)
c.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices will affect the company’s financial position. The company has no direct exposure to
movements in foreign exchange or equity prices, and has very little exposure to interest rate
movements, due to the low level of borrowing. The company monitors this risk but the directors are of
the opinion that it is very unlikely to have a significant effect on the company’s financial position.

15.

Movements in financing (assets)/liabilities arising from financing activities
Share capital

At 01 April 2016
Cash flows
Financing loans from group companies withdrawn
Issue of share capital

1

At 31 March 2017

At 01 April 2017
Cash flows
Repayment of financing loans from group companies
Issue of share capital
At 31 March 2018

22

Current loans &
borrowings

Total

-

1

49,999

16,000
-

16,000
49,999

─────────
50,000
═════════

─────────
16,000
═════════

─────────
66,000
═════════

Share capital

Current loans &
borrowings

Total

50,000

16,000

66,000

10,000
─────────
60,000
═════════

(16,000)
─────────
═════════

(16,000)
10,000
─────────
60,000
═════════

Appendix 5

Pensions Audit Sub Committee

2.00pm, Tuesday, 25 September 2018

Annual Report on LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited

Item number

5.3

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
Further to the establishment of LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited, as wholly owned and
controlled subsidiaries of the City of Edinburgh Council, in support of the administration of
the pension funds that it administers, this report provides an update on the business and
operation of those entities. This is in accordance with the revised remit of the Pensions
Audit Sub-Committee which gives it the power to scrutinise the Council companies
associated with the pension fund.
Regular reports will ensure compliance with the existing governance requirements of both
companies under their own constitutions and broadly align the governance processes for
these companies with new procedures overseen by the Council’s Companies Hub for
other Council companies.
Most notably:
•

All the Fund staff are now employed by LPFE Limited, which has also appointed
Leslie Robb as a non-executive director to its board.

•

LPFI Limited continues to work collaboratively with other LGPS funds, including
the Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee
(NILGOSC), the Scottish Borders Council Pension Fund (Scottish Borders) and
Fife Council Pension Fund (Fife), alongside the Fund’s longstanding collaboration
with the Falkirk Council Pension Fund (Falkirk).

Report
Annual Report on LPFE Limited and LPFI Limited
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Note the business update on the operations of those two companies provided in
this report.

2.

Background

2.1

The Pensions Committee has previously considered and approved the
establishment of a new corporate structure to facilitate the more efficient
administration of the pension funds (the Fund) for which the City of Edinburgh
Council (CEC) is responsible, reinforce the separate governance and statutory
obligations of the Fund and enable the Fund to more effectively collaborate with
other LGPS pension funds.

2.2

The structure, including two limited companies LPFI Limited (LPFI) (regulated
investments) and LPFE Limited (LPFE) (staffing), was established in 2015/16 and
relevant members of staff were transferred into the employment of LPFE in May
2015 (phase 1) and February 2018 (phase 2) respectively. A diagram of the
corporate structure is set out in Appendix 1 for ease of reference. The costs and
expenses of LPFE and LPFI are contained with the Fund’s finances and
incorporated into its annual budget and service planning process. LPFE and LPFI’s
audited financial accounts for 2017/18 were considered and approved by the
respective boards on 28 May 2018. They are reported within the audit report on
Committee’s agenda.

2.3

Both LPFI and LPFE continue to be audited separately by Scott Moncrieff and their
accounts consolidated with those of the Fund on an annual basis. Scott Moncrieff
also provides tax advisory services to both LPFE and LPFI. CMS continues to
provide low level company secretarial and registered office services to both
companies.

2.4

Risk analysis for both LPFI and LPFE has been incorporated within the Fund’s
existing processes and quarterly reporting to the Pensions Committee (see
separate paper).

2.5

Moore Stephens continues to carry out quarterly external compliance audits on
LPFI to ensure best practice compliance with the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)
rules and guidance.
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2.6

Both LPFE and LPFI have and will continue to be subject to review by internal
audit.

2.7

A more detailed update on the Fund’s collaborative efforts, including future plans of
LPFI, will be provided to the meeting of the Pensions Committee on 26 September
2018.

3.

Main report
LPFE Limited

3.1

LPFE was incorporated on 11 February 2015 and commenced trading on 1 May
2015, when the employment of certain members of the Fund’s investment and
senior management staff was transferred to it. LPFE has since provided senior
management and investment staff resource to the Lothian Pension fund group
responsible for administering the Funds, which includes CEC, LPFE itself and LPFI
(LPF Group).

3.2

LPFE receives certain administrative business support services from CEC
(information compliance, office support, IT etc) and also has in place a shareholder
loan facility from CEC of up to £385,000 for the purpose of working capital support,
incurring interest at a rate of 2% above the Royal Bank of Scotland base rate from
time to time. The LPFE board approved the increase of this loan facility from
£250,000 to the present amount on 28 May 2018 to reflect the increase in staff
overheads resulting from the completion of the phase 2 transfer (see below).

3.3

The provision of payroll services to LPFE was transitioned to a new provider,
Moorepay, in January 2018 reflecting the need for an enhanced provision following
the phase 2 transfer. Payroll Outsourcing was the subject of an internal audit which
was reported to the Audit Sub-Committee in December 2017.

3.4

LPFE continues to be admitted as an employer to the Lothian Pension Fund to
ensure continuity of pension provision.

3.5

The LPFE board is made up of the following:
Role
Executive Director of Resources (Chair
of LPFE)
Convener of the Pensions Committee
City of Edinburgh Council’s Head of
Finance
City of Edinburgh Council’s Head of HR
Chief Executive Officer of Lothian
Pension Fund
Non-executive director

Person
Stephen Moir

Dates to/from
6/9/17 to date

Alasdair Rankin
Hugh Dunn

24/2/15 to date
Incorporation to
date
24/10/16 to date
Incorporation to
date
19/3/18 to date

Katy Miller
Clare Scott
Leslie Robb

The Fund’s Chief Risk Officer is LPFE’s company secretary.
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3.6

The LPFE board has met regularly since the company commenced trading to
monitor the ongoing business of staffing the LPF Group and establish the
company’s HR systems, policies and procedures. Notably the LPFE board has now
appointed Leslie Robb to serve as a non-executive director in order to provide
increased resource and external scrutiny, and to support LPFE’s linkage with the
regulated business and requirements of LPFI.

3.7

As previously reported to Committee, with effect from 1 February 2018, all of the
Fund’s staff transferred into the employment of LPFE following consultation with
staff and trade unions.

3.8

LPFE has agreed to enter into a voluntary recognition agreement (VRA) with
UNISON and Unite, as part of the phase 2 transfer. The terms have been agreed,
albeit the agreement has not yet been signed. LPFE will continue to liaise with the
unions in line with the VRA and to progress the signing of the agreement.

3.9

LPFE is implementing a new performance based pay approach operated and
determined by the board, acting as Remuneration Committee. This has been
designed to align staff to the overall performance of the Fund and ensure the LPF
Group is able to effectively retain staff and is sufficiently competitive in its
recruitment strategy.

3.10

The LPFE board has established a detailed annual agenda cycle to support the
operation of the annual performance review process and all other aspects of the
LPF Group’s human resources strategy. A copy of the cycle is included in Appendix
2.

3.11

LPFE has also appointed a senior HR manager to develop its new HR systems,
structures and governance. The manager joined the Fund on a 12 month fixed term
contract to February 2018, but the Fund is presently in the process of seeking to
extend this appointment.

3.12

From 1 May 2016, LPFE has also been a party to the secondment arrangement
with Falkirk Council, whereby it and the Fund together now provide certain limited
staff secondment services to the Falkirk Council Pension Fund (Falkirk) in relation
to LPFE and other fund staff. It is anticipated that this arrangement will shortly be
terminated and reconstituted as a shared investment services arrangement
between the Fund and Falkirk, delivered through the Fund’s regulated vehicle LPFI.
The Fund may look to keep an element of the secondment arrangement in place
with Falkirk in relation to members of its legal team, but this remains under review.

3.13

Future business of the LPFE board includes:
•
•
•
•
•

Finalise and implement its staff performance review process in time for
implementation during the final quarter of 2018.
Finalise its review of remuneration schemes.
Finalise recruitment of a new Chief Executive Officer of the LPF Group.
Continue to enhance the LPF Group’s HR processes and procedures.
Enhance the Lothian Pension Fund’s market presence, to support
recruitment activity.
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•

Terminate all or the substantial proportion of its secondment arrangement
with Falkirk.

LPFI Limited
3.14

LPFI was also incorporated on 11 February 2015, but it remained inactive until it
received the necessary permissions from the FCA in 2016 to carry out its function
of providing regulated investment advisory and arranging services to CEC and
collaborative partner funds.

3.15

Updates on the fund’s collaboration with other funds have been provided to
Committee on a regular basis. A further update, including future plans, is
scheduled to be provided to the Pensions Committee on 26 September 2018.

3.16

LPFI receives certain administrative business support services from CEC
(information compliance, office support, IT etc) and also has in place a shareholder
loan facility from CEC of up to £250,000 for the purpose of working capital support,
incurring interest at a rate of 2% above the Royal Bank of Scotland base rate from
time to time. The LPFE board approved the increase of this loan facility from
£75,000 to the present amount on 28 May 2018 to reflect the increase in HR intragroup costs and services resulting from the completion of the phase 2 transfer (see
above).

3.17

The LPFI board is made up of the following:
Role
Person
Head of Finance of The City of Edinburgh Hugh Dunn
Council (Chair of LPFI)
Chief Executive of Lothian Pension Fund Clare Scott
Chief Risk Officer of Lothian Pension
Fund
Chief Investment Officer of Lothian
Pension Fund
Chief Finance Officer of Lothian Pension
Fund
Non-Executive Director

Struan Fairbairn
Bruce Miller
John Burns
Leslie Robb

Dates to/from
19/1/16 to date
Incorporation to
date
Incorporation to
date
Incorporation to
date
Incorporation to
date
7/2/17 to date

LPFI does not require a company secretary as the Fund’s Chief Risk Officer is a
member of the board. As above, LPFI does continue to receive low level company
secretarial support from CMS.
3.18

The LPFI board has met regularly since the company commenced trading to
monitor the ongoing business of the provision of services.

3.19

LPFI continues to instruct Moore Stephens to provide regulatory compliance
services on an ongoing retainer basis. As part of this service, LPFI receives
quarterly onsite compliance audits and reports around its systems, controls and
compliance with the FCA rules and regulations, and the LPFI board oversees the
monitoring of these reports and progress in implementing any recommendations
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made. It is anticipated that Moore Stephens will continue to be retained on this
basis, but that the frequency of onsite audits may reduce.
3.20

LPFI carries out a full onboarding process of all its clients for regulatory and antimoney laundering purposes. The LPFI board is kept regularly appraised of the
position and has determined that due to the relative low risk surrounding its
business and client base, from a money laundering process, these checks need
only be refreshed annually.

4.

Measures of success

4.1

The Committee are appropriately informed and up to date as to the ongoing
business and operations of the LPF Group, including its corporate subsidiaries
LPFE and LPFI.

5.

Financial impact

5.1

None.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

To satisfy the reporting requirements to City of Edinburgh Council, as the sole
shareholder of both LPFE and LPFI.

7.

Equalities impact

7.1

None.

8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

None.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Fund and they are invited to comment on the relevant
matters at Committee meetings.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 A link to LPFI’s details on the FCA’s register https://register.fca.org.uk/ShPo_FirmDetailsPage?id=001b000003LFGGaAAP
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A link to LPFI’s details on Companies House https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/SC497542
A link to LPFE’s details on Companies House https://beta.companieshouse.gov.uk/company/SC497543

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: Struan Fairbairn, Chief Risk Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: struan.fairbairn@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 4689

11.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – LPF Group Structure
Appendix 2 – LPFE Annual Agenda Cycle
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LPF GROUP - STRUCTURE AND SERVICES
Appendix 1

The City of Edinburgh Council
(CEC)

Intra-group
business
Support
Services

Intra-group
business
Support
Services

100%
Regulated
investment
services

Lothian Pension Fund (regulated pension fund)

Intra-Group
Staff Resource

LPFI Limited
(FCA Authorised)

LPFE Limited
(A Transfer Admitted Body to LPF)

Intra-Group Staff Resource
Regulated and unregulated
shared investment services

Collaborative
Partner LGPS
Funds

Unregulated shared services

Appendix 2

LPFE BOARD AGENDA PLANNING
Frequency

Month
Standing items:

Each
meeting

Declaration of conflicts and confirmation of quorum.
Review of minutes of previous meeting.
CEO update on relevant LPF Group business and staffing matters.

February
May
August
October
December

Any other business.
Review and calibration of staff appraisals and overall business performance
reporting from LPF management.

October

Staff regulatory or other breach, negligence, performance issue reporting.
Resource gap analysis (including a review of HR systems and resources and
succession planning).
Key person risk analysis.
Review management report on LPF’s annual performance, external climate1,
business requirements.

Annual

December

Review benchmarking2 or other external consultancy papers (if any).
Review and approve annual award proposal for LPF staff.
Consider and set annual awards for LPF management team.
Set tone for CEO Update to staff.
Management feedback from annual award process.

February

Annual review of performance, award and benefits structure.
Celebrating staff and business success and team events.
Board directors’ Atria One floor walk.
Review and approval of LPFE Limited annual accounts.

May

Staff policies and procedures and handbook update (if any).
Staff development, knowledge and training gap analysis.
Non-executive director ‘annual insights’ report.

August

Review and approval of LPFE Limited financial statements.
Risk and compliance update including, HR implications for Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA) compliance, HR systems, data protection.
1

To include accurate independently sourced data on inflation, economic climate and markets, local markets, wider institutional
markets and public sector awards.
2
A refresh of the external benchmarking exercise for all posts in the LPF group is to be carried out at appropriate intervals.

LPFE BOARD AGENDA PLANNING
Frequency

Month
Review terms of reference for LPFE Remuneration Committee.

As
required

Review and approve bank mandates.
Board or company secretarial changes.
NED re-appointment.

2 hour meetings – October, December and February (Atria One)
1 hour meeting – May and August (Waverly Court or City Chambers)

Pensions Audit Sub Committee

2.00pm, Tuesday, 25 September 2018

Pensions Administration Data Quality

Item number

5.4

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
The purpose of this report is to inform the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee of the ongoing
work to enhance the quality of pension administration membership record data.
Aside from poorer service for members and additional costs in areas such as error
correction, compensation claims from members and fines from regulators, poor recordkeeping could potentially necessitate more conservative actuarial assumptions as well as
causing reputational damage. Lothian Pension Fund, therefore, places a high importance
on the quality of its pension administration data.
In accordance with its Pension Administration Strategy, the Fund continues with its efforts
to improve the flow of data from employers through regular reporting and liaison.

Report
Pensions Administration Data Quality
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Note and be assured by the report and highlight any points it would like to raise at
the Pensions Committee on 26 September 2018.

2.

Background

2.1

In previous years, Pensions Audit Sub-Committee has noted reports on the ongoing
work to enhance the quality of pension administration membership record data.
These have also emphasised the importance of good record-keeping, given the
serious negative implications of inaccurate and missing information.

2.2

The information demands of accurate record-keeping increased with the
introduction of a scheme based on career average revalued earnings (CARE) in
2015.The Pensions Regulator expects that an administering authority should:
•
•
•
•

set out responsibilities to scheme employers clearly;
escalate any non-compliance to senior management (of the employers);
utilise the ability to impose (recovery of cost) charges;
report individual scheme employers where their failure has caused a
statutory breach.

2.3

As stated in the Lothian Pension Fund’s Annual Report 2018, the pension funds are
fully compliant with best practice as defined by the Pensions Regulator’s guidance
on record-keeping.

2.4

The Fund sets out standards for provision of data from employers in an agreed
Pensions Administration Strategy (PAS). It includes scope for the Fund to levy
charges to cover any resultant costs if an employer’s performance continues to fall
below acceptable tolerances. This provision ensures that the administrative costs of
the Fund are borne equitably by all the employers. Criteria for passing on costs of
poor performance by employers consist of any of the following;
•
•
•
•

Contributions received later than the regulatory standard;
Not regularly addressing membership data queries;
Consistently failing to meet service standards for new starts, leavers,
retirements and deaths, and no clear commitment to improve; and
Not submitting monthly contributions for each member via the secure portal.
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2.5

As Committee is aware, Lothian Pension Fund introduced a new employer on-line
system in 2013/14. This portal facilitates secure electronic data transfer of member
information from employers to the Fund, serving to increasing efficiency and
reducing the risk of manual errors.

2.6

Following the end of contracting-out of the Second State Pension (S2P) on 5 April
2017, HMRC will be sending a statement to all individuals affected stating the
amount of Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) they will receive and who is
responsible for paying it. As implied, GMP is the underpin that guarantees benefits
will be no lower than the additional state pension a member would have accrued
had their pension not contracted out. As different levels of indexation are applied to
the GMP element of a member’s pension compared to the balance, any incorrectly
calculated GMPs can result in over or underpayment of benefits. Ahead of the UK
Government’s deadline of December 2018, pension schemes need to reconcile the
GMP values they hold for members with those calculated by HMRC.

3.

Main report
Pension Administration Strategy (PAS) performance 2018/19 to date

3.1

Fund-wide performance against PAS standards is reported each year in the Annual
Report. Annual reports are issued to each employer outlining their own
performance and comparing this to other employers of a similar size. Quarterly
reports are also issued to the four councils and also on an exception basis to any
employer whose performance merits specific intervention.

3.2

Overall employer performance for the first quarter of 2018/19 is shown below, with
2017/18 shown for comparison purposes.

Employer performance

Quarter 1 ; 2018/19

Case type

Target
(working
days)

Number
received

Number
%
within within
target target

New Starts

20

1,428

928

Leavers

20

1,140

Retirements

20

Deaths in
Service

10

2017/18
Number
received

Number
within
target

%
within
target

65%

1,066

988

93%

473

42%

207

114

55%

299

118

40%

312

142

46%

4

3

75%

8

4

50%

3.3

Overall, the results show a continuation of poor employer performance in the first
quarter of this financial year, particularly for retirements and leavers.

3.4

The performance levels reported for starters and leavers in the first quarter of this
year is primarily due to the Fund identifying a number of missing new start records
and early leavers from City of Edinburgh Council (CEC). These were identified

Pensions Audit Sub Committee – 25 September 2018

Page 3

through the year-end process. Similar issues prevailed in respect of Midlothian
Council. Excluding these two major employers, there were:
•
•
•
3.5

640 new starts, 86% of which were received within target;
470 leavers, 50% of which were received within target;
157 retirements, of which 51% were received within target.

As in previous years, senior officers from the Fund will be holding annual meetings
with large employers and these meetings will include discussion of the performance
to highlight the key areas where improvement is required. Previous meetings have
revealed that there is an ongoing concern from employers over late notification of
retirements and leavers by line managers to HR and Payroll staff, which
consequently impacts upon notification to the Fund in a timely manner. Ongoing
work in this area will continue across all employers and the Lothian Pension Fund
has offered to help draft communications to enhance awareness of the lead-in
times required for retirements.
Monthly Contribution Return (MCR) position

3.6

As Committee is aware, the Fund’s data transmission portal facilitates reconciliation
of pension contribution payments by employers to member individual records on a
monthly basis. By this means, any missing information, for example, new member,
leaver, or mismatch of member working hours, can be identified promptly. The
introduction of MCR is a significant step in improving data quality and improving the
service to members.

3.7

At the end of 2017/18 the Fund had 92 employers with an active membership and
all employers submitted monthly returns. During the year, 95% of monthly returns
were received within the requisite timescale. The Scottish Fire and Rescue
Service, the last employer to commence submitting monthly returns, did so with
effect from November 2017. For the first quarter of 2018/19, the number of
employers with an active membership had reduced to 89 and 97% of monthly
returns were received by the due date.

3.8

A total of £44,778,399.38 basic member contributions was paid over to the Fund for
the year 2017/18. To-date, 99.74% has been recorded against members’ records.
The Fund was also advised of a total pensionable pay of £727,257,417.46 and
99.48% has been recorded against members’ records.
City of Edinburgh Council – pension record identifier issues and impact

3.9

The Fund continued to experience additional workload as a result of the City of
Edinburgh Council’s payroll “position identifier” also being the identifier for pension
records. A solution to report using a static pension reference has been
implemented and applied to the monthly return with effect from June 2018.
Annual Benefit Statement 2018 – data returns from employers

3.10

A total of 51,156 annual benefit statements were produced by the statutory
deadline of 31 August 2018, representing 100% of records where current member
address details were held. Included in the total number of statements issued are
170 members where we have been unable to produce a benefit statement. We
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have however written to these members advising them of the situation and directing
them to My Pension Online.
Pension Administration Strategy (PAS) – recovery of cost arising from
unsatisfactory data transmission by employers
3.11

The PAS stipulates that failure by an employer to provide the Fund with a year-end
return by 19th April each year shall incur a £200 initial fee plus 5p per active
member per working day from 20 April to date return is received. By the deadline
of 19 April 2018, 89 employers had provided data, of which 22 were returned due to
errors. Corrected data was provided, however 9 of these corrected returns were
received after the deadline.

3.12

One employer missed the deadline, despite repeated reminders being issued. The
return was received on 7 June 2018, and in accordance with the PAS, therefore,
this employer has been issued with a fine. This is an improvement from last year
when 7 employers were issued with fines for later submission.
Actuarial Valuation as at 31 March 2017

3.13

Detailed reports on the assessment of the quality of the pension member record
data provided for the Actuarial Valuation 2017 for each of the three pension funds,
Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension
Fund were received from the Fund Actuary in March 2018

3.14

For all three Funds, the Actuary commented that ‘In general, the data was of good
quality and we believe that it is fit for the purpose of the valuation.’ The Actuary
reconciles membership data to information recorded in the relevant Fund accounts.
The results of these reconciliations are shown below:
Employee
Contributions paid
for 2016/17 (implied
by membership data)

Pensions Paid in
2016/17 (implied by
membership data)

Lothian Pension Fund

Reconciled to around
1.8% of those
recorded in accounts

Reconciled to around
0.1% of those
recorded in accounts

Lothian Buses Pension Fund

Reconciled to around
0.6% of those
recorded in accounts

Reconciled to around
0.5% of those
recorded in accounts

Scottish Homes Pension Fund

Not applicable

Reconciled to around
1% of those recorded
in accounts

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) reconciliation
3.15

Data analyses to reconcile the GMP records held by the Fund to those of HMRC is
continuing. In contrast to many other Funds which have opted to outsource, this
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reconciliation and subsequent member communication is being undertaken entirely
in-house. The current position is that 93% of relevant records align, within
acceptable tolerance, to those held by HMRC. This progress is considered very
satisfactory, in the context of a deadline for full reconciliation by December 2018,
although it is recognised that further work remains to be done.
Other data quality initiatives, including mortality screening and tracing
3.16

To prevent fraud and overpayments of pension, the Fund takes part in the National
Fraud Initiative and has also restarted quarterly mortality validation with the
National Records of Scotland. The Fund also continues to utilise the “Tell Us
Once” death notification service and the Local Government (LGA) National
Insurance number database.

3.17

As part of the process for issuing annual pension forecasts, we carried out an
exercise to trace members for whom we do not hold a current address. In May
2018, details of 2,974 members (including 178 pensioners) were passed to an
external tracing service. The results showed that 64 of these members were
deceased and also provided a new address (or confirmation of the address held)
for 1,071 members. The Fund has written to each of these members for
confirmation. Responses have been received from 722 members and addresses
updated. The updates to pensioner addresses has also enabled suspended
pensions to be reinstated.

3.18

The Fund has been participating as a Founder Authority in the Member Data
Services National Local Government Pension Scheme Framework.

3.19

The Fund will use the Framework to award an initial contract in respect of Pension
Fund Address Tracing and Mortality Screening Services.

3.20

In addition to improving records the service will improve the effectiveness of the
communication between the Fund and Scheme members. This will allow the Fund
to notify deferred members timeously about payment of retirement benefits. It will
also enable the Fund to enable the Fund to check the existence of members, thus
avoiding overpayment of benefits where pensioner members have died, and for
deferred pensioners enabling dependant benefits to be put into payment.
Longevity monitoring and data quality assurance - “Club Vita”

3.21

Lothian Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension
Fund participate in “Club Vita”, which is a specialist company proving longevity
monitoring and experience analyses. Various data quality assurance checks are
undertaken on an annual basis. In this respect, it is particularly important for data to
be clean in a number of key areas for example ‘lifetime’ dates such as dates of birth
and death, and information which may distinguish between those with significantly
different life expectancies (‘longevity predictors’), such as pension amounts or
postcodes.

3.22

As at the last annual report in October 2017, data quality compared very favourably
with other funds. Club Vita’s commercial confidentiality constraints, however, do not
permit more detailed disclosure.
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Management information and data quality monitoring
3.23

The Pensions Regulator (TPR) requires measurement of the presence of member
data items important to the administration of a pension scheme. This has been split
into two sets, “common data” which is applicable to all schemes and “conditional
data” which is dependent on scheme specific type and design. For its Annual
Report 2018, the Fund quoted common and conditional scoring as 99% for each,
these figures being derived using internal calculation tools.

3.24

For future data quality monitoring, the Fund has procured a tool from the pension
administration software supplier. This provides wider analyses of data and, in
tandem with the data validation and interrogation functionality provided separately
by the Fund’s actuarial services provider. These will be reported to Committee in
due course. The tool will be used to develop an improvement plan including
progress monitoring. This will serve to enhance future reporting and ensure more
consistent measurement of data quality.

3.25

Whilst TPR has a framework of data tests and recommend targets for common
data, to-date it has only provided an illustrative list for possible data tests for
conditional (scheme specific) data. The LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) in
England and Wales is currently consulting with administering authorities to
determine the most appropriate definition for a consistent approach across all
LGPS Funds. Fund Officers have raised this issue for consideration by the SAB in
Scotland.

3.26

Pending determination of this definition by the SAB, the software supplier has, in
conjunction with an English authority, created its own interpretation of data tests.
The Fund will utilise this as the basis for its annual report to The Pensions
Regulator in September 2018.

4.

Measures of success

4.1

Data quality performance standards are measured against best practice guidance
from The Pensions Regulator and included in the Annual Report of the Lothian
Pension Fund, Lothian Buses Pension Fund and Scottish Homes Pension Fund.

5.

Financial impact

5.1

There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

There are no adverse risk, policy, compliance or governance impacts arising from
this report. Poor data quality of member records, of course, does represent an
inherent risk. This report advises of measures taken to mitigate this risk and ensure
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compliance with guidance from the Pensions Regulator.
7.

Equalities impact

7.1

There are no equalities implications as a result of this report.

8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

There are no adverse sustainability impacts arising from this report.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Fund and they are invited to comment on the relevant
matters at Committee meetings.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 None.

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: John Burns, Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: john.burns@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3711

11.

Appendices

None
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Pensions Audit Sub Committee

2.00pm, Tuesday, 25 September 2018

Irrecoverable overpayment of pensions – decisions
made under delegated authority
Item number

5.5

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
This report advises Pensions Audit Sub Committee of pension overpayments, during the
period 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018, which have been deemed irrecoverable by
the Executive Director of Resources, in accordance with the Council’s “Scheme of
Delegation to Officers”.

Report
Irrecoverable overpayment of pensions – decisions
made under delegated authority
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Note that the total value of pension overpayments written off between 1 September
2017 and 31 August 2018 is £1,860.33; and

1.2

Highlight any points it would like to raise at the Pensions Committee on 26
September 2018.

2.

Background

2.1

Delegated authority has been granted to the Executive Director of Resources, in
certain circumstances, to write-off pension overpayments up to £3,000. Any
overpayments above this limit require approval of the Pensions Committee.

3.

Main report

3.1

Pension regulations determine the calculation and payment of pension benefits to
scheme members. During the process of administration, overpayments of pension
may occur upon the death of a pensioner, where pensioners return to work when
receiving a pension (this only affects people who retired on the grounds of
efficiency and received compensatory added years when they retired) or where a
mistake occurs.

3.2

Attempts are made to recover overpayments over £250. Occasionally, however, it
may not be in the best interest of the Fund to seek recovery of an overpaid pension.
Depending on the circumstances of the particular case, in line with delegated
functions, certain officers in Lothian Pension Fund may write off the whole or part of
an overpayment up to £3,000. The most likely circumstances would be if recovery
would cause undue hardship to the member’s family, if there are insufficient funds
to repay the overpayment or it is uneconomical to pursue. Any overpayments over
£3,000 are referred to the Pensions Committee. There have been no such
instances of higher value overpayments, since last reported in September 2017.

3.3

The value of pension overpayment write offs between 1 September 2017 and 31
August 2018 is shown below. The total value is £1,860.33.
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Date of
Death

Amount

Reason for write-off

Member A 30/06/2016

£48.30

The Fund was unable to ascertain the 10/11/2017
next-of-kin. The total overpayment
was £853.33. £787.03, however,
was recovered from the deceased’s
bank account.

Member B N/A

£577.72

Member B was in receipt of a child’s
19/12/2017
allowance. In this case, transitional
protections applied, permitting the
allowance to be paid beyond age 23,
subject to continuance of full-time
education. Eligibility checks are
normally carried out each year. In
this case, however, requisite eligibility
checks were missed.

Member C 11/05/2016

£491.27

The death was identified in NFI
2016/17. The overpayment was not
recovered because the next of kin
died shortly after Member C.

Member D 03/05/2016

£390.97

The death was identified through the 27/11/2017
National Records of Scotland
matching exercise. The overpayment
was written off as repeated attempts
to recover proved fruitless.

Member E 05/01/2016

£190.62

The Fund made a mistake by paying
the balance of pension due to the
estate twice. The overpayment was
written off, because the Council’s
Debt Recovery team were
unsuccessful in pursuit of settlement.

25/01/2018

Member F

£161.45

The total overpayment was
£1,550.04. Repayment was being
made from December 2013, through
an agreed repayment plan with the
Council’s Debt Recovery team. The
repayments stopped in November
2017.

29/03/2018

15/04/2012
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3.4

Any overpayment of pension is charged to the respective fund, namely the Lothian
Pension Fund, the Lothian Buses Pension Fund or the Scottish Homes Pension
Fund.

4.

Measures of success

4.1

Not applicable

5.

Financial impact

5.1

As the expenditure has already been reflected in the relevant financial statements
of the Lothian Pension Funds, there is no additional financial impact arising from
the overpayment of pensions.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

There are no adverse risk, policy, compliance or governance impacts arising from
this report.

7.

Equalities impact

7.1

There are no adverse equalities impacts arising from this report.

8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

There are no adverse sustainability impacts arising from this report.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Funds.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 None.

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
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Contact: John Burns, Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: john.burns@edinburgh.gov.uk| Tel: 0131 469 3711

11.

Appendices

None
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Pensions Audit Sub Committee

2.00pm, Tuesday, 25 September 2018

Fraud Prevention

Item number

5.6

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
The purpose of this report is to enable the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee to review and
scrutinise the work undertaken by Lothian Pension Fund to prevent fraud. The report
provides details of participation in fraud prevention initiatives as an integral part of the
control environment and the overall management of risk.
Pensioner existence is one of the biggest fraud risks. Participating in the National Fraud
Initiative (NFI) and matching of records with the National Records of Scotland ensures
unnotified deaths are dealt with quickly. The Fund also uses Western Union to verify that
overseas pensioners are alive.
The Local Government Association (LGA) developed a service that enables all Local
Government Pension Funds access to “Tell us Once”, a national application of registering
a birth or death. The LGA database has two purposes: (i) to prevent the payment of
duplicate death grants and (ii) to enable LGPS to join the Tell Us Once Service. Lothian
Pension Fund has been informed of deaths through the Tell Us Once Service since April
2017.

Report

Fraud Prevention
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Note the report and highlight any points it would like to raise at the Pensions
Committee on 26 September 2018.

2.

Background

2.1

An annual update on fraud prevention is reported to Pensions Audit Sub
Committee.

3.

Main report

3.1

The pensions administration team deliver services to members using a browser
based pension software system. The software stores and controls all aspects of
the membership database, document management and benefit
calculations. Access is restricted to authorised individuals by user identification and
password protection. In addition, the Fund’s compliance policy includes the
restriction that members of staff should not be involved in the computation or
checking benefits payable to a member who is a connected person.

3.2

The operation of internal controls also gives comfort that the risk of fraud is
mitigated or minimised. Procedural controls include:
•
•

•
3.3

obtaining original relevant certificates;
if any beneficiary of a lump sum death grant is a Minor (under age 16), and
their share is over £5000, the payment must be referred to the Accountant of
Court. If their share is under £5,000 their parent or guardian must set up a
Trust Fund. The parent or guardian must also evidence that they are
capable and have the appropriate capacity to act in the best interests of the
minor;
authorisation of payments in line with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.

The Fund processes one-off payments to members and nominated third parties,
such as solicitors and dependents. Controls ensure that payments are made to
authorised recipients only and that all payments are authorised in line with the
Scheme of Delegation. All member movements (for example active member to
pensioner member status) are reconciled against financial transactions monthly.
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3.4

The Fund continues to carry out bank validation checks on all new pensioners,
when a change to a pensioner’s bank account is received and before a lump sum
death grant is paid to a beneficiary.

3.5

The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) is a well-established data matching exercise,
led by Audit Scotland, which is carried out every two years. It is designed to help
organisations identify causes of fraud and detect and correct any consequential
overpayments from the public purse. The matching exercises undertaken include a
comparison of public sector records to death records and other pension related
outcomes, for example, when retirees have returned to work but not reported
circumstances that require their pension to be reduced. Costs are met through the
annual audit fee. The link to the 2016/17 report is provided later in this report. NFI
2018/19 is due to start in Autumn 2018.

3.6

The “Tell Us Once” service has been available to public service pension schemes
since March 2016. The Local Government Association (LGA) on behalf of all Local
Government Pension Schemes (LGPS) across the UK holds a central database,
known as the “National Insurance (NI) database”. Should a match between an NI
Number on the LGPS NI database occur the relevant LGPS Fund is notified that
data relating to a death of one of their members is available for it to access.
Lothian Pension Fund has participated in the Tell Us Once service from April 2017.
From 1 September 2017 - 31 August 2018, 443 death notifications have been
received through the service.

3.7

On a quarterly basis, Lothian Pension Fund usually matches its records to the
National Records of Scotland (NRS). To demonstrate compliance with data
transfer rules under the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), the Fund
undertook a review of the data transfer. Undertaking this exercise highlighted a
safer transfer process. However, a technical problem caused a delay in setting up
the new process. The delay meant that the quarterly matching exercises in 2017
and March 2018 was missed. As Lothian Pension Fund participates in the Tell Us
Once service, the Funds intention was to undertake a review at the end of 2017 to
consider if the NRS matching exercise is still required. However, given the missing
matches the Fund will continue to match records with NRS and undertake a review
at the end of 2018.

3.8

The Fund continues to carry out a yearly overseas pensioner existence check in
partnership with Western Union and its network of agents. There are 162
overseas pensioners with an overseas bank account who must verify that they are
alive by means of a face-to-face meeting at which they must produce a valid form of
identification, such as a passport or driving licence. In this year’s exercise,
overseas pensioners had until 31 August 2018 to complete the procedure. One
pensioner has not yet completed the existence check and consequently payment of
the pension has been suspended. A second existence check designed to cover
pensioners living overseas who have their pension paid to a UK bank account is
also carried out. There are 208 overseas pensioners with an UK bank account.
The pensioner is required to follow the same Western Union process. Following
the 2017 exercise 9 members initially had their pension suspended. Of those 2
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remain suspended and under investigation at present. The exercise will be carried
out again in November 2018.
3.9

The Fund continues to exercise its discretion as to whether to approve transfers to
prevent “pension liberation” scams.

3.10

While the Pension Regulator has issued guidance in terms of identifying potential
cases of liberation fraud, it places the onus on the pension funds themselves to
have sufficient procedures in place to identify any suspicious practices and properly
exercise their discretion as to whether to approve a transfer. Therefore, the Fund
has a procedure which involves additional levels of diligence/enquiry of the member
and the proposed transferee scheme. This is to ensure that any decisions to
approve these types of transfer can be as informed as possible, are clearly
documented and to assert that we are sending a clear external message that these
transfers are not being approved as a matter of course. Over the period 1
September 2017 – 31 August 2018, Lothian Pension Fund received 71 transfer
requests to a Defined Contribution (DC) Scheme. No transfer payments were
rejected.

3.11

On 22 June 2018, “Combating Pension Scams: A Code of Good Practice”, was
published by the Pension Scams Industry Group. The Fund will review its
procedures to ensure compliance with these standards. Also, on 14 August 2018,
The Pensions Regulator (TPR) and Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) launched a
refreshed “ScamSmart” campaign to warn savers about unsolicited pension
communications.

4.

Measures of success

4.1

Lothian Pension Fund is committed to deter and ultimately prevent fraud. Suitable
controls are in place and subject to regular scrutiny. Should any fraud be detected,
however, immediate action is taken to prevent further losses and recover any
overpayment.

5.

Financial impact

5.1

The Lothian Pension Fund budget includes expenditure for fraud prevention. Staff
resource is met within the existing budget for pension administration employee
costs.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

There are no adverse risk, policy, compliance or governance impacts arising from
this report.
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7.

Equalities impact

7.1

There are no adverse equalities impacts rising from this report.

8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

There are no adverse sustainability impacts arising from this report.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Funds.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 http://www.auditscotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_180705_national_fraud_initiative.pdf.

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: John Burns, Chief Finance Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: john.burns@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3711

11.

Appendices

None.
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Pensions Audit Sub Committee

2.00pm, Tuesday, 25 September 2018

Risk Management Summary

Item number

5.7

Report number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All
Delivering a Council that works for all

Executive Summary
In line with the pension funds’ ongoing risk management procedures, this paper provides
an overview of the Fund’s risk analysis for consideration by the Committee.

Report
Risk Management Summary
1.

Recommendations

Committee is requested to:
1.1

Note the Quarterly Risk Overview; and

1.2

Highlight any points that it would like raised at the Pensions Committee on 26
September 2018.

2.

Background

2.1

The pension funds’ risk management procedures require the Fund to:
2.1.1 maintain a detailed operational risk register which sets out all the risks
identified and assessed by the officers on an ongoing basis, the degree of
risk associated in each case and our action to mitigate these risks (the
“Operational Risk Register”); and
2.1.2 produce a summary report of the risk register for the Pensions Committee
and the Pensions Audit Sub-Committee which highlights the material risks
facing the pension funds and identifies any new risks/concerns and the
progress being made over time by the officers in mitigating the relevant risks
(the “Quarterly Risk Overview”).

3.

Main report

3.1

The Operational Risk Register is issued to the conveners of the Pensions
Committee and the Pensions Audit-Sub Committee and the Independent
Professional Observer on a quarterly basis.

3.2

The Quarterly Risk Overview, as at 20 August 2018, is set out in Appendix 1 to this
report for consideration.

3.3

A separate ICT update paper will be presented to Committee in the ‘B’ agenda.

4.

Measures of success

4.1

Improved visibility of the risks facing the pension funds and progress in
analysing/mitigating these risks. Regular, focused and relevant risk updates to the
Committee should increase general awareness and allow productive
analysis/feedback by the Committee members on these fundamental issues.
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4.2

Ultimately, risk management should lead to less third-party exposure, an improved
financial position and have a positive impact on the reputation of the pension funds.

5.

Financial impact

5.1

There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report.

6.

Risk, policy, compliance and governance impact

6.1

Please see the Quarterly Risk Overview appended to this report.

7.

Equalities impact

7.1

There are no equalities implications as a result of this report.

8.

Sustainability impact

8.1

There are no sustainability implications as a result of this report.

9.

Consultation and engagement

9.1

The Pension Board, comprising employer and member representatives, is integral
to the governance of the Fund and they are invited to comment on the relevant
matters at Committee meetings.

10.

Background reading/external references

10.1 None.

Stephen S. Moir
Executive Director of Resources
Contact: Struan Fairbairn, Chief Risk Officer, Lothian Pension Fund
E-mail: struan.fairbairn@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4689

11.

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Quarterly Risk Summary, as at 20 August 2018
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Appendix 1

QUARTERLY RISK OVERVIEW
20 August 2018
UPDATE ON MOST NOTABLE RISKS
Risk & Reference
Number

Update

Adverse Investment
performance leading
to pressure on
employer contribution

Implementation of the Lothian Buses Pension Fund strategy proposal is now
underway. The Fund has held further discussions with Lothian Buses
regarding the merger with the main fund to progress the admission
agreement and guarantee. Discussions are being held with the Actuary
regarding the potential implications on the 2017 actuarial valuation and
employer contributions if the agreement and guarantee are not signed.

(1)

Trend /
RAG
Static

The strategy review for Lothian Pension Fund has commenced in tandem
with our collaborative partners and will be presented to Committee in
December 2018.
Adverse movement
against noninvestment funding
assumptions leading
to pressure on
employer
contributions (2)

The contribution stability mechanism will be reviewed again in advance of
the 2020 valuation. Monitoring of funding levels is also ongoing.

Static

Collapse/restructuring
of an employer body
leading to pressure on
other employers (3)

The funding approach introduced in the 2014 actuarial valuation for
employers close to exiting reduces the overall risk to the Fund and the other
employers. The Fund continues to engage with employers regarding the
potentially adverse financial impact of the funding strategy. Funding
Agreements for payment of cessation debt are being put in place where
relevant for employers exiting the Fund. Where appropriate, the Fund
continues to pursue guarantees and securities from employers and updated
admission agreements in order to further mitigate this risk, which is
becoming more applicable as the Fund considers exits from larger
employers.

Static

The Fund is also working with some employers to improve affordability by
adopting a higher risk investment strategy in consideration for additional
security being provided by those employers to off-set any additional risk to
the Fund and its other stakeholders.

Risk & Reference
Number

Update

Recruitment and
retention of key staff

The Fund continues to assess resourcing in light of future collaborative
initiatives and the increasingly complex nature of its business. The Fund is
also continuing to closely monitor, in the shorter term, the impact on senior
management resource during the negotiation and implementation of these
wider collaborative initiatives in addition to increasing levels of business as
usual.

(4)

Trend /
RAG
Static

The Fund’s management team continue to engage with the LPFE board as
part of the HR relaunch following the transfer. Following the March 2018
review of the Fund’s remuneration structure, policy and procedure, the
Fund are actioning certain key outcomes from the review. The recruitment
and retention of key staff risk will remain static until the HR performance
and award structure for LPFE has been finalised and bedded in. Further
update on progress will be included in the Staffing Update.
The Fund is looking to recruit an operations manager and support staff to
improve sustainability and allow the team to continue to provide continuity
and support that keeps step with the Fund’s expanding business model and
service provision. The Fund will also commence recruitment of trainee
Pension Administrators towards the end of August and separately will recruit
a Modern Apprentice. Further research into additional accounting staff
resource is ongoing and the recruitment of a new Chief Executive Officer will
also to commence towards the end of August.
Staff negligence or
inability to carry out
duties leading to
Maladministration /
lack of specialist
knowledge (6)

An staff training programme in the Accounting team is being implemented
to increase cover for key procedures. This risk will remain at its current level
until the specialist knowledge gap is addressed. Accounting procedures are
also being revised and documented.

Failure of IT leading to
poor ICT
responsiveness, legal
exposure and cost/risk
implications (7)

The Fund continues to experience delays and service disruption across a
number of areas. Operational issues are, to some extent, being dealt with by
liaising directly with the Fund’s ICT relationship manager in the Council and
notifying CGI of delays and disruptions experienced. However, currently
there has been no notable progress on key strategic projects including
document management system and website. At the time of writing, liaison
over the imminent lap-top refresh and software upgrade is ongoing.

Increase

The annual refresher of key policies is due to commence in September, with
the introduction of certain new policies and all group policies having been
reviewed and updated to reflect FCA requirements and the recent staff
transfer. This will include detailed communication and training for staff on
these policies and, in the future, the HR Manager is working on e-learning
which will be rolled out annually and assessed as part of the annual
performance review cycle.

Separately, the Fund is reviewing its ICT service requirements to ascertain
options around it having a separate service arrangement allowing for ICT
service provision tailored to the Fund’s requirements, either via CGI or
another provider.
A separate ICT update will be presented to Committee at September’s
meeting.

2

Static

Risk & Reference
Number

Update

Trend /
RAG

Employers make HR
decisions without
considering the impact
on the pension fund (8)

Although the SPPA has issued a letter of comfort around errors and
omissions within the new and transitional regulations, this risk has been
raised slightly because it continues to carry the technical risk around
administration until such time as the regulations are formally amended to
adequately address the points.

Increase

Employers will need to update their discretions policy in in line with the new
Scheme Regulations. The Fund will provide guidance to employers on
receipt of amendment Regulations to ensure that all employers have a
policy in plan on key discretionary provisions.
Elected members take
decisions against
sound advice (9)

The Fund continues to receive an increasing number of queries or
approaches regarding both its investments and other socio-economic and
environmental matters. Edinburgh MPs have signed up to the Divest Lothian
campaign to divest from fossil fuel companies and Scottish Futures Trust is
exploring LGPS funding in infrastructure projects. The risk therefore remains
on warning given the extent and nature of these approaches.

Static

A responsible investment communication event is being organised for
stakeholders of the Fund.
The Fund has appointed an Independent Professional Observer. Induction
training for the new Observer will take place in September in advance of the
Pensions Committee.
Business continuity
issues (11)

As above, the position around LPF’s IT systems and services is being
progressed as a priority. A separate update will be provided to Committee
regarding IT systems in September.

Static

Business continuity has been discussed with other key third party providers
and procedures added to the Fund’s Business Continuity Plan. It is to be
added to the pensions administration system contract and others as
opportunities prevail.
Business continuity pln has been updated and briefings held for staff.
Members’ confidential
data is lost or made
public. Breach of Data
Protection Act (12)

The Fund continues to implement its best practice compliance programme
following the introduction of new Data Protection legislation (the General
Data Protection Regulations – GDPR) in May 2018. In particular, mandatory
GDPR training for all staff will commence towards the end of August and will
be refreshed on an annual basis.
The Fund is also monitoring cybersecurity risks as part of the ICT review.
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Static

Risk & Reference
Number

Update

Trend /
RAG

Regulatory breach (20)

The Fund completed its MiFiD II compliance programme on schedule and
that is also the case for LPFI’s processes and clients. The Fund is now moving
to phase 2 compliance which will be applicable on the onset of LPFI
providing extended services to collaborative partners.

Static

Moore Stephens continues to be instructed to carry out on-site regulatory
compliance audits of LPFI in order to ensure that it is geared up for best
practice compliance.
The Fund continues to dedicate material amounts of resource to its
compliance at present, with the convergence of the implementation of new
investment, money laundering, data protection, derivatives and financial
services senior management regulations coming into force at various points
during 2018. As above, the Fund’s IT platform is a critical aspect of its
ongoing compliance with existing and enhanced data protection (GDPR) and
financial services (MiFID II, new management permissions) regulations and
so this risk will remain amber until such time as the Fund has sufficiently
addressed this risk to its satisfaction, including that of the board of LPFI.
Acting out-with proper
authority/delegations
(23)

The Fund’s delegations have been revised to take into account the staffing
changes occuring within the Fund’s governance and as a result this risk has
been lowered. However, the Fund will ensure this is monitored and
delegations will require to be refreshed again following the departure of the
current Chief Executive Officer.

Decrease

Further, the Fund is liaising with CEC’s governance team in relation any
necessary updates required to the scheme of delegation, contract standing
orders and other committee terms of reference to ensure that these
continue to reflect the separate governance and established practices of the
Fund.
Procurement/framew
ork breach (25)

The Fund and CEC procurement team are liaising to ensure that the
processes and procedures are sufficiently streamlined for the Fund’s specific
needs and circumstances where appropriate. An update on progress with
current procurements is covered elsewhere on the agenda.

Static

Human Resource
within the Division not
sufficient to carry out
core tasks in
conjunction with
active or anticipated
projects (32)

The risk remains on alert due to the continuing resource drain attributable to
the significant time spent on wider strategic initiatives, including
collaboration, employer initiatives, other national initiatives and liaison with
Council services to manage service provision and/or provide assurance for
oversight functions. The process to recruite a new Chief Executive Officer,
including the success and timscales around that, will continue to be closely
monitored in view of its potiential to adversely impact senior management
resource immediatley before and after the incumbent’s departure.

Static
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NOTABLE RISKS: PROGRESSION OF CURRENT RISK (ACCOUNTING FOR CONTROLS) IN LAST THREE QUARTERS

70
Investment Performance
pressure on employer
contributions (1)
Adverse Movement - pressure
on employer contributions (2)
60
Collapse of an employer (3)

Retention of key staff (4)
50

Failure of IT systems (7)

Employers HR decisions
without consideration of fund
(8)
Elected members take
decisions against sound advice
(9)
Business continuity issues (11)

40

30

Members' confidential data is
breached (12)
Regulatory breach (20)

20

Not acting in accordance with
proper authority/delegations
(23)
Over reliance on single core
service provider (31)

10

Staff negligence,
maladministration or lack of
specialist knowledge (6)
HR insufficient to carry out
active projects (32)

0
Q4 2017/18

Q1 2018/19

Q2 2018/19

*PLEASE NOTE THAT:
RISK 9, 12, 20, SHARE THE SAME SCORE
RISK 32 & 4 SHARE THE SAME SCORE
RISK 11, 6 SHARE THE SAME SCORE
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OTHER KEY POINTS
New notable risks

Comments
None.

Other new risks

Inadequate, or failure of, supplier and other third-party systems (including IT and Data
security) (34). (new as from June 2018)

New controls

Ongoing awareness of the risk of over reliance on single service during tendering for new
services. (31)

Eliminated risks

None.

Notable initiatives /
actions

The Fund continues to carry out detailed impact analysis in relation to MiFID II and the
pending Senior Managers Regime. (20)
A responsible investment communication event is being organised for stakeholders of the
Fund. (9)
The Fund is reviewing its document exchange with employers (12)
Staff key policies and procedures review is ongoing ahead of refresher for all staff due to
commence in September 2018. (6)
The Fund continues to engage with CGI and CEC’s head of ICT in order to mitigate the risk
highlighted around its ICT. It is also reviewing its position with a view to assessing viability
of arms-length ICT service provision. (7, 11, 18, 20)

Material Litigation

None.
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All Risks: Status Overview
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Impact
Q1 2018/19 All Risks: Impact and Likelihood Overview
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Key: Risks by Number
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17

Adverse Investment Performance - pressure on employer
contributions
Adverse Movement of non-investment funding
assumptions- pressure on employer contributions
Collapse of an employer
Recruitment and retention of key staff
Fraud or theft of Council/Pension Fund assets
Staff negligence
Failure of IT systems
Employers HR decisions without consideration of fund
Committee members take decisions against sound advice

18

Disclosure of confidential information

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

Material breach of contract
Regulatory breach
FOI process not in accordance with law
Incorrect communication with members
Not acting in accordance with proper authority/delegations
Inappropriate use of pension fund monies
Procurement/framework breach
Group Structure and Governance not fully compliant and
up to date (including integration of subsidiaries)

Pension Board not operating effectively
Business continuity issues
Members' confidential data is breached
Loss due to stock lending default
Risk of incorrect pension payments
Late payment of pension
Market abuse by investment team or others
Portfolio transition issues

27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34

Claim or liability arising from shared services
Unauthorised access to PensionsWEB
Incorrect data from Employers leading to fines etc.
Inadequate contractual protection for services
Over reliance on single core service provider
HR insufficient to carry out active projects
Breach of health and safety regulations
Inadequate, or failure of, supplier and other third-party
systems (including IT and data security)

Risk Status
Alert (likelihood and impact total 35 and above)
Warning (likelihood and impact total 25 to 34)
OK (likelihood and impact total 24 and below)
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Risk Scoring
Impact
(None)
1 No discernible effect
2 Little discernible effect
3 Some effect noticeable
4 Some effect on service provision
5 Noticeable effect on service provision
6 Some disruption of service
7 Significant service disruption
8 Material disruption to services
9 Major service disruption
10 Catastrophic

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Likelihood
(None)
Virtually impossible
Extremely unlikely
Remotely possible
May occur
Fairly likely to occur
More likely to occur than not
Likely to happen
Probably will happen
Almost certainly will happen
Already happening
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